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Annual Report and Accounts 2006
leadership In formulation science

ICl is one of the world’s leading coatings,
adhesives, starch and synthetic polymer
businesses with products and ingredients
developed for a wide range of markets.

Qur vision is to become the leader in formulation
science. We have, and will continue to build, a
portfolio of businesses that are leaders within their
respective industries, bringing together outstanding
knowledge of customer needs with leading edge
technology platforms to create and deliver
products that provide superior performance.

As a result of significant and sustained
performance improvement, we aim to be one of
the leading creators of shareholder return in our
industry, without compromising our commitment
to safety, health and the environment and the
communities in which we operate.
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Financial highlights

“ Against a backdrop of mixed trading conditions, the Group
delivered good overall results, with solid sales growth, sustained
trading margins, lower net debt and a good improvement in

adjusted net profit.”

Continuing Group Sales*

up
0/
5%
to £4,845m (2005 £4,601m)

Earnings per
£1 Ordinary Share*

down

24%

to 24.9p (2005 32.9p)

Post-retirement
benefits deficit

improved

Comparable Continuing
Group Sales*

up
6%

Adjusted Earnings
Per Share*

up
17%
to 31.6p (2005 27.1p)

Net Debt*

improved

£383m £434m

to £1,305m (2005 £1,688m)

to £329m (2005 £763m)

* For definitions sea pages 156 ang 157 of this report

Adjusted Profit
Before Tax*

up
0/
8%
to £407m (2005 £377m)

Dividend declared per
£1 Ordinary Share

up
16%

to 8.9p (2005 7.7p)

Return on
Capital Employed*

7°/o

to 18.3% (2005 16.6%)
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The Notce convering the Gompany's Annual General Meeting in 2007 13 set out on pages 5 to 8
of the Letter to Shareholdars and Notice of Annual General Meeting 2007 datad i9 March 2007
Tha Group publishes an annual Sustainability Report wiuch is avallable on the corpovate website
fwww ici com) A st of gefinions appears on pages 156 and 157 o! this report “Company™ means
impaertal Chamical Industries PLC “ICI *ICI Group® or “Group® means impenal Chemical Incusiries

PLC and its subsidiary companies

IC's 2006 Annual Report and Annual Review are avallable on the corporate website (www id com}

WWWw ICT Com




2006 2005 Changet

£m £m %
Revenue - continuing operations 4,845 4,601 5
Trading profit* = continuing operations 502 479 5
Profit before taxation and special tems*™ - continuing operations 407 377 8
Net profit before special items attributable to the equity holder of the parent 375 321 17
Net profit afier special items 329 420 (22)
Earnings and dividends
Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share® 249p 329 (24)
Adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share® 31 6p 271p 17
Dividend declared per £1 Ordinary Share 89p 77p 16
Cash flow £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 191 359
Net cash inflow {outflow) from Investmg activities 110 {112)
Net cash inflow before financing activities 301 247
Net debt* 329 763"
interest cover? {times) 71 70

Return on capital employed? - continuing cperations

183% 156%

* Trading proflt is defined as operating prefit before special terns At a Group level

this refers to continuing cperations only Operating profit from conbinuing operations
for 2006 was £431m (2005 £484m) special itsms charged tc oparating profit wera
£71m (2005 credit £5m)

1 Measures of earnings per share anc percentage changes are calculated using

unrounded valuas

 Profit befcre taxation and after spaclal tems - continuing operations was £355m

{2005 £397m} special tems charged to praft befora taxation n the penad wars
£62m (2005 credit £20m)

@ ICI's method of calculating earnings per share adjusted earnings per share interest

cover and return on capital employed 15 defined on pages 156 and 157

+ Net dabt is defined on page 157
A Net debt reported at the end of 2005 was £745m Adoption of iFRIC 4 Oetermuning

whathar an Arrangement contains a2 Lease restated opening nat dabt to £763m

Throughout this Annual Report including pages 4 and 5 references to “comparable”
performance exclude the effects of currency translation differences and the impact of
acquisitions and divestments on the results reported At a Group level this refers to
continuing operations only Comparabla protits and losses are quoted before accounting
for special items Reconciliations between “comparatie™ and "as reported” performance
measuras are provded on page 28

wWww IC1 com
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Statemant by the Chairman and the Chief Executive

Statement by the Chairman and the Chief Executive
During 2006, we made major progress in focusing our business;
as a result of the Quest and Unigema disposals, ICl will have

a focused portfolio of market-leading coatings, adhesives, starch
and synthetic polymer businesses combined with a significantly

stronger balance sheet.

Dunng 2006, we made major progress in focusing
our business portfolio, with the sales of Urigema,
completed in September, and Quest, with completion
expected dunng the first quarter of 2007 These
disposals enable ICI to focus on #ts coatings,
adhesives, starch and synthetic polymer businesses
The restructunng of ICl continues and In May we
announced a further transformation programme that
will take the Company through to 2011

Furthermore, we continued 1o deliver the operating
perfarmance improvements set out in our last
strategic plan Against a backdrop of mixed trading
conditions, the Group delwvered good coverall results,
with solid sales growth, sustained trading margins
and a 17% increase in adjusted earnings per share
These were achieved despite further nses n raw
materal costs and weakness in the North American
market for decorative paint

QOur focus on emerging markets continues to deliver
good results with sales from our Paints and National
Starch businesses In developing countries In Asia
growing over 14% National Starch and Paints
opened a new manufactunng centre in China for
resins and other polymers Construction of a second
Paints plant in Vietnam was also completed In
addition, we continue o develop our businesses in
Latn Amernica, Eastern Europe and the Middle East

We are also pleased to report a significant
strengthening of ICI's balance sheet Including the
Unigema disposal proceeds, Group net debt over

the year fell from £763m to £326m — a major change
from the late 1990s when year-end net debt peaked
at over £4bn Additionally, IC's overall post-retirement
bereft defict fell from £1 7bn to €1 3bn, on an IFRS
basis, during 2006 We expect further reduction in
net debt and the pension fund deficit following the
completion of the Quest disposal

Major business portfolio developments
As a result of the Quest and Urigema disposals,

ICI will have a focused portfolio of market-leading
coatings, adheswes, starch and synthetic polyrner
businesses combined with a s:grificantly stronger
balance sheet

04 ICl Annual Report and Accounts 2006

The Unigema disposal to Croda International Plc

was completed in September for a gross
consideration of £410m We would like to thark all
Unigerma employees for therr great service to IC1, and
therr endeavours to improve the performance of the
business dunng a challenging penod

In November, we announced the agreed sale of
Quest to Gvaudan SA for £1 2bn The consideration
obtained by IC reflects the strategic value of Quest
to Gvaudan as it enables them to increase ther
leadership in the global flavours and fragrance
industry It also reflects the postive trend of Quest’s
performance In recent quarters

We would like to thank the Quaest team for therr
outstanding efforts in rebuilding the performance and
value of the busmess over the past three years

From Turnaround to Transformation

As a result of these recent developments combined
with the performance improvements delvered
through restructunng, IC1 has moved from a
turnaround strategy, which we embarked on in 2003,
to one of transformation, which we signalled in part
with our restructuring plans announced in May 2008
Delvery of our transformation strategy will focus on
three important levers — accelerating profitable
growth, sustaining our iImprovements in operational
effectiveness and developtng a cufture of
sustainable improvement

We will focus on accelerating profitable growth by

* continuing the focus on the successful
development of our core businesses In developing
markets in Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America,

= increased focus on technology our research
resources wiil concentrate on 14 science pillars,
which will support ICI's Innovation programmes
across all our pamts, adhesives, potymer and
starch businesses This will help deliver a more
significant contnbution from new products 1o future
revenues, and

* strangthening our target market postions through
selected acquistions, Innovative technology
alkances and other iInvestments

wWWW IC) Com




Operational effectiveness will continue to be a strong area of

focus for the Group, drnven by a £340m investment expected to
delver £170m of sawvings per annum by 2011 Restructuning savings
delivered In 2006, compared with 2003, amounted to £130m, £122m
from the 2003 programme and £8m from the 2006 programme

Developing a culture of sustainable improvement will focus on

a senes of pan-ICH inhatives that will leverage the crgamisation’s
combined strengths and expertise, underpinned by a set of exght
guiding prnciples that will abgn the values and behaviours of all our
employees around the Group Strategy

The Group's commitment to sustainability 1s reflected in our focus
on economic, social and environmental performance improvement
In May, we published finaf results against our Chaltenge 2005
objectves and launched new Challenge 2010 objectives Whilst not
achieving every goat In the previous five-year plan, we were pleased
with our progress In establishing these new Challenge 2010
objectives we worked with a number of external stakeholders to
lentify a broad and challenging sustanability agenda which focuses
on areas of direct refevance to our business portfolio [n addttion,
ICI remains a member of the Dow Jongs Sustainability Index and a
member of the FTSE4Gocd index, important benchmark indices for
rasponsible investors

People

Duning 2008, Bill Powell stepped down from the IC1 Board and retired
from the Company after 30 years of service with National Starch Len
Berlik, formery Chiel Executive of Uniqgema, retired from the
Company at the end of the year after more than 30 years' service
The Board would ke to thank both Bill and Len for ther contribution
to the successful development of ICI in recent years

WWW ICI COM
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ICl asms 1o be amongst the leading creators of shareholder return in
Its industry During 20086, the Group made significant progress with
a return of over 38% in the year, compared to a FTSE100 return of
15%, reflecting the many positive strategic and operational
developments for the Group

Qutlook

The outlook for ICl remains positive Though there are few signs
of improvement in the North Amerncan market for decorative pant,
our businesses in developing markets look set to deliver a sold
performance Combined with the incremental benefits of further
restructunng, 1G! expects to make {urther progress in 2007

Our shareholders, employees and customers continue to provide
strong support to IC! and we thank thern for therr ongoing trust

and confidence We are mindful of our financial responsibiity to ali
shareholders and the need always to act with the highest standards
of integrity and transparency We reman commitied to achieving
both as we develop ihe business

Peter

A et

ogd CBE Charman

John D G McAdam Chef Execuive

22 February 2007
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IC! Group summary |

ICl Group summary
ICl is one of the world’s leading coatings, adhesives, starch and

synthetic polymer businesses with products and ingredients
developed for a wide range of markets.

- - - - -

'Dulux’ 18 ong of the world's National Starch s ‘EASY-PAC' Hi-mafza’ 15 a fast-growing ICI Paints scientists hava Blotexs spacialty constr.ction
best-known decorative pawrd gves customers the lowast ranga of slowly digestible reformulated Cupnncl exterior  polymers are in demand n
brands with a sirong presence ternperature packaging starches that act as dietary fibre  wood treatment into a poputar,  China's fast-growing

In Asia a fast-growing market adhesive on the market whien addead to foods from easy-to-apply sprayable formal  construction market

for paint alang with low-mantenanca bread to breakfast ceraal

appicatan technology

Specialty polymers from National  Alco Chemical's uriqua natural "We know the colours that go™,  Ablestlk Is a world-leading IGl's paints are markat leaders
Starch gve fixatve, conditonssg  starch-based polymers prowde  ‘Duux’ UK's 2006 advertising suppller cf adhesives that N Argentina and Uruguay with
thickerung, agsthebc or gffectve and environmentally campaign, helped support connect and protect ntegrated @ strong number two posiion
corvenienca properties and safe treatment for effluent water  further growth in a challenging crcuts in phone cameras, n Brazil

charactenstics to balr care and DIY markst. MP2 players, computers and

shan cars products dectronic game systams
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ICi's core coatings, adhesves, starch and synthetic poltymer
businesses compnse ICl Pants and the adhesives, specialty
starches, specialty polymers and electronic materials operations of
National Starch These businesses serve diverse consumer and
industrial markets through some 40 strategic business units, with an
armay of market leadership positions around the world In addition, a

numnber of Regionatl and Industnal businesses remain in ICI's portfcho

Curing the year, the Group has changed tts reporting segments The
National Starch business, previously reported as one sagment, 15
now reported as four segments adhesives, specialty starches,
specialty polymers and electroruc matenals This change reflects a
move to global business units dunng 2006 Current and prior year
segment information has been updated for the change

The businesses are supported by Group functions that provide
expertise In the disciplines of information technology, procurement,
human resources, operations, finance, sustainability, safety, security,
health and the envronment (SSHE), and applied technology

Continuing businesses

1CI Paints

With some of the world's leading paint and decorative product
brands, ICl Paints aims to inspire consumers to transform their
surmoundings with performance products and colour It makes

products to prepare and care for many bulding materials, and

also provides coatings for cans and packaging Headquartered
n the UK, with operations 1n 25 countres

Group revenue by business 2006 -
continuing operations
@ 50% Paris
Q 22% Adhesives

a 10% Specialty Starches

5% Specialty Polymers
4% Blectronic Matenals
9% Regonal and Industnal

Mok W N -

National Starch

National Starch markets an extensive product range to sectors as
diverse as food, healthcare and construction Four dvsions are
grouped arcund adhesives, specialty starches, specialty polymers
and electronic matenals Headquartered in the USA, with
manufactunng and customer service centres In 39 countnes

Regional and Industrial

ICl has a number of Regicnal and Industnat businesses that are
essentially local in scope Principal operations are in Palustan and
Argentina and include the manufacture of pure terephthalic acid,
polyester, sulphur-related chermucals, wine cherrucals and soda ash

Discontinued businesses

Quest

Quest creates and markets flavours and fragrances for the
fast-mowing consumer goods Industries In November 2008,
ICl reached an agreement to sell Quest to Grvaudan SA, with
completion of the deal expected in the first quarter of 2007

Unigema

ICl completed the sale of its Unigema business to Croda International
Plc on 1 September 2006 Unigema prowvides products which deliver
specific effects that influence how customers’ products feel or
perform The formulation of personal care ingredients, natural and
synthetic lubncants and polymers are areas of particular expertise

Paints
Revenue by customer location 2006

N
i
&

National Starch
Revenue by customer location 2006

37% North Amenca

Regional and Industrial
Revenue by customer location 2006

i

1 3% Europe

2 1% North Amenca
3 13% Latn Amenca
4 83% Asta

1 36% Europe 1 28% Europe
2 38% North Amenca 2
3 9% Latn Amenca 3 6% Latn Amenca
4 17% Asia 4 25% Asa
5 4% Other

www i1 com

IC} Annual Report and Accounts 2006 07

ICI Group summary l




IC1 Group summary l

ICl Group summary continues

History and activities

History

The Cornpany was formed in 1926 by the merger of four UK
chemical companies Brunner Mond, Nobe! Industnes, Bntish
Dyestuffs and United Alkal ICl 1s one of a small number of
companes hsted continuously on the leading UK stock index —
onginally the FT 30, now the FTSE 100 - since the 1930s

Dunng the course of ts history, ICI has been an acknowledged lsader
in diverse disciplnes, including fundamental science, engineenng,
manufactunng and human resources The Group's major inventions
have been equally diverse, ranging from the plastics polythene and
Perspex to beta blockers and the antunalanal treatment Paludnne

In 1993, ICI demerged its bioscience husinesses to a publicly isted
company, Zeneca Group PLC {now AstraZeneca PLC) In 1997, ICI
began its transformation from regional manufaciurer of bulk
chemicals to a global specialty chemicals and paints leader with the
acquisibion of Unilever's Speciality Chemucals businesses

Cver the last decade, ICI has transformed its portfolio through a

number of acquistions and divestments worth more than £12bn

Divestment proceeds have been used to repay debt and improve
balance sheet strength

Spread and balance of actities

ICl 1s headguartered in the UK, where it also has a number of major
manufacturing actvities Outside the UK, the Group’s actwvities are
geographically diverse, with Asia and Latin Amenca accounting for
36% of sales, North Amenica 33%, Europe 29% and the rest of the
world 2% Typically, ICI's businesses are staffed almost entirely by
local nationals and, in total, 87% of 1CI's 29,130 employees are
located outside the UK

The Group has operations in gver 50 countries around the word and
its customers are spread across a dverse range of product sectors
More than 60% of ICl's revenue Is In sectors the Group believes are
relatvely non-cyclical, for example, food and beverages, decorative
coatings, personal and household care products, and water
treatment Other sectors with a greater degree of cyclcalty include
electronics, construction and parts of our diverse Industnal markets
(e g automotve)

ICI believes this spread and balance of actvities provides a good
exposure to higher growth markets, for example, In Asia, and to
emerging products and technologies including food nutrition

and electronics

No one customer represents a matenal proportion of Group revenue

Group revenue by customer location 2006 -
continuing operations

5
1

Y

1 29% Europs
2 33% North Amenca
3 9% Latn America
4 27% Asia
5 2% Other

Group revenue by market sector 2006 -
continuing operations

\¢
&
e

45% Decorative & Architectural
16% Food & Beverage

7% Persona) Care

7% Texties & Footwear

7% Diverse Industnal

7% Paper & Packaging

6% Censtruction

5% Electronics

[T T T T R B S B
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Business review - strategy

ICl is now well positioned to focus on transforming the
performance of its core businesses. As a result, ICI's future
development will focus on accelerating profitable growth,
improving operational effectiveness and developing a culture

of sustainable improvement.

ICI's Vision

ICl's visicn 1s to become the leader in formulation science, creating
complex mixtures that deliver the effects valued by consumers and
customers To achieve this leadership goal, and through this create
superior retumns for shareholders, the Group 1s bulding a portfalio of
tusinesses that are leaders in ther respective Industnes, bringing
together consumer understanding, outstanding knowledge of customner
needs and processes, and leading edge technology platforms to
provide a distinctive, competitive advantage for ts customers

Strategic alignment of ICI's businesses

At the last strategic review, ICl’s business units were evaluated In
terms of market attractveness (e @ financial strength and sustainability)
and competitive position (e g quality of products, technology and
market share) Reflecting ther different strengths and weaknesses,
each business was then mapped onto the 2x2 matrix shown below
This matrx 1s fundamental to the strategic development of the
busness For example, ICl intends to invest to support growth in
businesses with strong paositions in ugh-growth markets - the “grow
aggressively” segments — which are more attractive in the long term
In contrast, IC! will nvest to improve cost and capital effectiveness in
its businesses In relatively low growth markets — the “maintain
selectively” segments = with the aim of continued cost effectiveness
and resilient financial performance

ICI's strategic matrix?
Maintain aggrassively Grow aggressively
Pents North Amenca Palnts Asia
§ Pants UK & Irgtand Adhesves Asia
B Paciagng Coatngs Starch Asia
[ Pan-Atiantic Adheswves Elactronic Materials
2 Pan Atlantc Starch
-]
-1
g Mantain selectively Grow selectivoly
0 Regional and Industrial Speciatty Polymers.
Pamts Contnental Europe
Paints Latin Amenca
Adheswves Latn America
Starch Latn America
Strategic approach

1 Continuing businessas only

WWW IC) com

FROM TURNAROUND

Strategic focus on performance improvement

As a result of an underperformance In a number of ICI's businesses
In the years up to 2003, ICl had found itself In challenging financial
circumstances and a turnarcund In performance was required, drven
by operational impravement intatves within IC1 As a result, ICI
pursued a clear strategy to create and capture additional value from
three principal sources

* Differentiated resource allocation
Investing in technology and marketing In those businesses where
sustainable competitive advantage can be created,

» Cost and capital effectiveness
Achieving a step-change in cost ard capital effectveness for
ICl overall = tin the near term through the successiul delvery of
restructuring, and sustainably through changing the organisation,
culture and behawviour in [Cl to congsistently deliver improverments,
and

* Strategy execution
A greater focus on strategy execution, upgrading operational
capabilities and enhancing rewards for short to medium-term
performance delivery

The strategy was underpinned by a clear set of strategic plan targets
that focused attention on delivenng appropriate levels of sales
growth, improving trading margin and returns on capital employed
and generating sustained cash flow

Thus turnaround strategy has continued through 2006 and examples
of what has been done can be found in the following section as well
as n the business descnptions on pages 12 to 16

Strategic Progress in 2006

Overall, 2006 has been another good year with ICH making further
strategic progress Against the strategic plan targets, comparable
sales growth of 6% compared well with estmated real growth n
global GDP of 3 9%" In addiion, after adusting for discontinued
activities, our businesses sustamed thewr improved efficiency despite
some cost pressures, with the overall trading margin unchanged from
2005 at 10 4% Tazken together with improved capital management,
this has helped the Group improve return on caprtal employad on the
same basis by 1 7%, to 18 3%, and again generate positive cash flow
before acquistions and dvestments of £26m in 20086 {2005 £170m)
despite ncreased pension contnbutions and restructunng costs

*Source Oxfard Economics Decembar 2006
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Business review I

Business review - strategy contnued

Overall, comparable sales growth for continuing businesses which

1CI Intends to “grow aggresswvely” was over 10% in 2006 Capral
expendrture for these operations was in excess of depreciation as the
businesses made further investments in growth opportunties Pants
and National Starch commissioned a joint facikty in Shanghar to
manufacture a range of specialty resins and polymers for adhesive
and coating products In addition, ICl began construction of 2 new
technology centre In Shanghat and 1CI Paints invested 1In new
manufacturing projects in China and Vietnam Product innovation was
once agan a strong driver of new business and the Group
mairtained its investments in research and development (R&D), as
well as apphications engineenng, to support growth

Both ICl Paints and National Starch made good progress in the key
developing economies of Asia with ful! year cornparable growth of
16% for the Decorative Paint business and 13% for National Starch
As a result, together with the iImpact of divestments, reperted sales in
Agia were 27% (2005 24%) of the Group total

At the same tme as investing In “grow” businesses ICl sustained its
focus on restructuning, principally benefiting its “maintain” activities
Cumulative savings from the programme launched in 2003 reached
£122m [n May, the Group launched a major new programme that
will take the Group through to 2011, expected to deliver gross cost
savings of some £170m per annum from a net cash investment of
around £340m

2006 key performance indicators

Tida Dascription Performancs to date
Sales Average sales (revenue) Average sales growth over plan
Growth growth at or better than the  period to the end of 2006 15 6%

growth i real GOP over the above the astimated rate of growth
four year peniod 2004 to 2007 inreal GDP of 3 8%

Group Incraase by an average Increased by on average 0 5%
trading ol 0 5% per annum from aver last three years

margin 2003 to 2007

expansion

Improved Increase by an average of Increased by on average 1 8%

ratum on 1% per annum to around over tha last three years
capital 14% n 2007

employed

Cash flow Generata pasitive cash flow Posltrve cash flows every year

bafore acquisiions and since 2004
divestments on a sustainable

basis fom 2005 onwards

*Sourca Oxford Economics December 2006
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TO TRANSFORMATION

There were several major strategic moves made during the year

that will have a significant iImpact on ICl going forward In September
20086, ICI completed the sale of Unigema, its oleochernicals and
denvatives business, to Croda International Plc for £410m In
Nevernber, ICl announced the proposed sale of Quest to Givaudan
SA for £1 2bn

Developing ICP’s strategy for 2007 onwards

As a result of these two major divestments, together with the
improved financial performance ¢f the remaining businesses, IClis
now well positioned to fecus on transferrrung the performance of its
core businesses rather than just securing a furnaround As a result,
IC's future development will focus on three major areas of actaty

* accelerating profitable growth,

* coniinuing to make substantial mprovements to operaticnal
effectiveness, and

s creating a culture of sustanable ymprovernent

Against each of these the Group has set out a number of targeted
key performance ndicators that align the delivery of change and
performance within the organisation with the strategic objectives
These are explained n more detall below

ICl will focus on accelerating profitable growth through a
combination of organic and acquisttion growth The Group has

been successful In leveraging tts strong technologies and consumer
nsight 1o develop products needed by #s customers in therr end
markets Going forward, there will be greater focus on aligning R&D
and preduct deveiopment across the Group, leveraging ICl's vision
of leadership In formulation science with investments in an enhanced
technology organisation In addition, improved organic growth 1s
expected to be supplemented by acquistions in the core coatings,
adhesives, starch and synthetic polymer businesses These will
focus on strengthening ICI's competitive posttion, In terms of regional
and markset exposures, specific target customers and inrovative
technologies Over time, the objective is to strengthen ICl's leadership
positions in its chosen markets where it can sustain profitable growth
and competitive advantage

Related key performance indicators

Title Descnphon Comments

Strengthen Establsh or strangthen #1 Developing strong market posiions with
tanget o #2 peIINONS m atiractve good competitive advantage will help
market markat mches that can secure profitable growth in the long term
positions sustan profitable growth

Gapitafisa on  Grow ICI's business in target  Strong salas growth for IC1%s “growth”

hugh growth daveloping markets at an businesses n target daveloping markeis
developing average three tmes the rate  1s closely aligned to establishng a
markets of growth of global GDP competively advantaged more profitable

busingss in these attractive marksts
Use Sustain at least a 25% Commerczaising new products which
rnovaton contibution to annual sales address key customer needs tor nnovation
to drve from products deveioped i and vaiue will contribute to profitable
profitable the last three years growth and ¥nproved tracing margins
growth
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Al the same time, ICI will sustain its programme of restructuring (o
improve operational effectiveness across the Group The initatives,
started in 2006, bnng a new focus on shared services and pan-ICi
functonal efficiencies This Includes transforming IC!s [T infrastructure,
Finance and Human Resource actmvties Together with strong
commercial management this should enable ICI to sustain good
margins refative to appropriate industry peers

Related key performance indicators

Title Oescription Comments

Top quartile  IC's trading margns should  Against Industry benchmarks defiver

profitabiity be top quartie agans: & performance which positions IC| as one of
ranga of industry peers the best in class Aganst an average of
ncustry paers IC] shoukd expact Lo sustan
upper quartlle performancs
Improved Improve ROCE by on average  Since 2003 ICI has made significant
return on 1 0% over the next four years improvements in ROCE {1 8% per annum
capital to 201G acpssting for the on gverage) With an ncreased focus on
impact of acquesitions and ranstorming the performanca of IC! through
divestments Investng in the growth cpportunibes and

capebiites of the business ROCE growth
1S expectad 10 slow As aresult our new
goal will be to improve retums by on
averags 1 0% per anrum

Underpinning these imitiatves, [C1 will develop a culture of
sustamable improvement, investing where necessary to support
the accelerated profitable growth objectives and tts commitment

to sustanability ICF's people and culture are reflected in a major
inchiatve within the Group to embed a senes of vatlues and pnnciples
collectively known as “The ICl Way” This process 1s expected to take
a number of years and should help align ICI's people around the
transformation strategy In addition, the Group's long standing
five-year Challenge programmes which contan numerous targets
for mprovernent in ICl's operations, health ar safety, environmental
performance, supply chan and other external relationships, undermpin
the commitment to sustainability, which remains at the heart of ICl's
approach to doing business

Related key performance indicators

Title Description Comments

Safe workdng  Achieve the 2010 mdastone
envionment  tolal reportable casa (TRC)
ratg of 0 56

The Group remains focused on contnual
improvamant initiatives which should
sustan the progress to dats and help
achieve the 2010 milestone

Emwonmental  Reduce greenhousa gas
impact emissions per tonne of
producton by 5% by 2010

Greenhouse gas emessions (including CO,)
15 ora of marny emvironmental measures
adopted by the Group and reflects a critical
area of long tarm importancs to the
emvonment IC1s abschute emissions are
aready 95% below the levels of 1990 with
gver hait of this reduct:on actveved through
perfomance improvement during three
Challenge perlods A further 5% reduction
per tonna of production by 2010 would
reflact additonal good prograss
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Functional strategies

Alongside these broad strategic objectives for ICI, the Group has

a number of ;ndrnadual functional strategies These are led by the
senior management boards as outined in the Group Organisation
section of this Annual Report on page 12 The functional strategies
for Technolegy {Research and Development) and Sustainability are
explaned in more detail from pages 17 to 19

Procurement purchases in excess of £3bn of raw matenals,
consumables and services each year Our procurement strategy
looks to reduce the cost of bought-in matenals and services whilst
maximising the secunty and sustanabilty of supply In 2006 the
procurement team completed over 25 key commodity or raw matenal
strategies and put in place five major supplier strategies Dunng
2007, the procurement function will be iImplementng additional
commodity and supplier strategies and undertaking & functional
capability review in several key areas of operation

Finance and Human Resources are implementing organisational
modets that leverage centres of excellence (for example, In taxation,
treasury, recruitment and reward), utiise shared service
infrastructures for routine activities and provide focused resources for
busingss partnering 1o help improve the quality of commercial and
strategic decision making

Within Infarmation Technology, Cl 1s improving its infrastructure
and undertakang a major programme of enterprise resource planning
developrment {ERP), instially within the Paints, Adhesves and
Electronic Materials businesses As a result of this long-term intiative,
the Group should benefit from improved management information
and greater process efficeencies and controls, as well as hugher levels
of customer service

1CI Annual Report and Accounts 2006 11
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Business review - ICl Group and its businesses

Revenue by market sector

1 90% Decoratve & Architectural
2 10% Food & Beverage

Paints 2006

Revenue by customer location

Paints 2006

1 36% Eurcpe

2 38% North Amenca
3 9% Latn Amenca
4 17% Asia

Group Organisation

IC11s argarused arcund three continuing operating businesses

IC! Paints on pages 12 and 13, National Starch on pages 14 and 15
and Regional and Industnal on page 15 The two discontinued
husinesses are Quest on page 16 and Unigema on page 16

The businesses are supported by Group functions that prowide
expertise in information technology, procurement, human resources,
finance, sustainability, safety, securty, heaith and the environment
($SHE), and apphed technology, where value can be created for
iCI's customers through the application of advanced technology
across the Group

A number of semior management functional boards leverage the
combined skills and experences across ICl The functional boards
are responsible for establishing functional strategies and ensunng
Group-wide implementation of best practice

In addition, the Business Development Board ams to accelerate the
commercial explotation of technology cpportunities wathin ICI, and
reflects the desire to develop continuously and strengthen the links
between market needs and technology capability
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Continuing businesses

ICI Paints

Background

ICl Paints 1s a leading international paint business and accounted
for 50% of the Group's continuing sales In 2006 It concentrates
pnmarily on decorative paint {30% of ICl Paints’ szles in 2006) and
packaging coatngs for food and beverage cans

ICl Paints’ global business headquarters 1s located in Slough, UK
Major manufactuning facilities are located in the USA, UK, Braxzl,
Argentina, Germany, the Netherlands, France, China, India and
Malaysia Additional manufacturing faciities are in 14 other countries
{Gl Pants maintains iis own sales distribution netwerk in over 30
countries The business also sells through agents and distnbutors

Strategy

The strategy of ICI Paints is to develop its leading market positions in
the global paints and coatings industry, particularly where it benefits
from strong retal brands 1G] Paints expects to develop its strategy
further by

» differentiated resource atlocation — channelling scarce resources
{revenue expenditure, capial and people) to those areas which
will generate the highest rewards,

* innovation — drving for new major differentiated products and
services, lnking marketing insights with world-leading techrucal
skills,

* cost and capital effectiveness — implementing key restructuring
plans and improving planning/operating processes to reduce costs
and inventory while improving customer delivery reliability, and

*» people and crganisation capability development

Key competencies, which ICI Pants employs across its businesses,
include

* marketing - identifying areas of significant potential through market
understanding and exploiting these through highly professional
category and brand management skills,

* research and development - supporting the increased emphasis on
nnovation N products, packaging and services, and targeting high
impact cost reductions through leading edge colour, polymer and
formulating science,

* operations — mplementing process iImprovements and improved
delvery reliability by shanng expertise and best prachce across ds
businesses, and

* procurement — optimising the mix of central contracts using (Cl's
total purchasing power and focal contracts, bninging the advantages
of tadored solutions and flexibility
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The regional markets for decoratwve paint are at different stages
of growth and maturity and the ICI Paints strategy reflects this

The Asian region 15 one of generally higher growth Paint markets
tend to be fragmented, with a large number of country-specific
competritors Obtaining competitve advantage across the region
requires leveraging marketing and manufacturing capabiliies arxd
transfermng best practice in innovation, purchasing, marketing and
channel development The key focus of the ICI Paints business 1s
to continue the development of core brands N the region, Including
‘Cutux’, and maintain accelerated, profitable growth, with particutar
focus on Ching, Indm, Indonesta, Thaland and Vietnam

The European region has some large mature markets and a number
of developing growth markets in Eastern and Central Europe ICl
Paints has a [eading posihon in the UK and Ireland, with strong
brands underpinned by a focus on innovation There s sigruficant
brand equity with ‘Dufux’, ‘Hammente’, ‘Cuprinol’ and ‘Palycell’
The focus of the European business 1S on improvement of the
product range, expansion in developing markets, reduction of the
cost-base and the improvemnent of operational efficiency and
profitability of the Continental Eurcpean operations

The Latin Amencan business has strong positions in Brazil, Argentina
and Uruguay, where brand strength 1s maintained through capabiliy
in marketing and a focus on innovation

North Amencan markets are generally mature Though ICl has a
significant presence in both trade and retail channels, the business
15 some way behind the market leader, imiting its overall compettve
strength In trade markets, the strategy 15 to establsh nsights into
end user needs that can creats competitive advantages, and In
secunng good distribution density within attractive metropolitan areas
fn the retall business, the route to market 1s highly consolidated with
a few major retallers controlling around 80% of retal distnbution ICI
Paints has a significant relationship in this market with The Home
Depot, a leading retailer

ICI Panis 1s also a leader in internal and external coatings for food
and beverage cans it manufactures and distnbutes a broad product
offening of packaging coatings with significant market positions in the
established markets of Europe and North Amenca and the emerging
markets of Asia and Latin Amenca The strategy 1s threefold to focus
on profitable growth in South East Asia and Latin Amenca, to explore
opporturities for growth in non-metal packaging, in paricutar with
polyethylene terephthatate (PET) bottle coatings, and to optimise the
efficiency and effectveness of its supply chain
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Brief description of activities

The decorative paints business has well-established brands in pant,
woodcare, metalcare, adhesves and fillers These include 'Dulux”’,
‘Glidder, ‘Devoe’, “Valenting’, ‘Coral’, ‘Alba’, Xyladecor®, ‘Cupnnal’,
‘Hammente', 'Polycell’, 'Polyfilla’ and ‘Alabastine’

Paint 15 manufactured through a mixing process that requires a high
degree of control over product measurement, quality control and

continuous assessment Typically manufactunng operations are not
capital intensive and are relatively responsive to changes in demand

Developments in 2006

ICl Paints continued to pursue vigorously growth opportunities in
developing markets, particulary in Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin
Amenca Thes was supported by a number of investments, Including
new facilites in Chuina and Vietnam iCl Paints continued to focus on
strengthening its brands and developing innovative products and
services which anticipate and meet customers' needs around the
world In 20086, 30% of Decoratve Paints’ sales onginated from
innovative products launched within the last three years

These inckided

» 'Light & Space’, a novel product range using patented ‘LumiTec’
technolegy that helps reflect up to twice as much light around
the room

Business review

* ‘Weathershield Max’, a waterborne high performance
masonry pamt

» ‘Weathershield Easyspray’, a spray-appled masonry paint

+ Extenstons to the highly successful ‘Cupninal Sprayable’
woodcare range

*» "Polycell Smoothover' to cover textured wallpapers and ceilings

iCl Paints also generated ncremental benefits in 2006 from the cost
savings intiatives under the restructuring programme announced

in 2006 The Paints restructuring programme includes supply chain
projects n Europe and North Amenca as well as intiatives to Improve
the eftectiveness of the sales forces in the UK, Ireland, North Amenca
and Continental Europe

Despite these numerous positve developments, the performance of
the North Amencan business was adversely affected by a significant
downturn in the housing market which particulary affected the retal
channel This resutted In modest overall profit improvement in 2006
for ICI Paints
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Business review — ICl Group and its businesses connes

Revenue by market sector

89
1%  Decorative & Architectural
1%  Water Treatment

National Starch 2006

26% Food & Beverage
16% Personal Care
16% Construction

15% Paper & Packaging
12% Diverse Industnal
10% Electronics

3%  Textles & Fooctwear

[T= 20 RN - S R U LI

Revenue by custorner location

q 1 28% Europe
2 37% North Amernica
3 6% Latn Amenca
4 25% Asia

v 5 4%  Other

National Starch 2006

National Starch

Background

Natonal Starch, which accounted for 41% of the Group's continuing
sales i1 2606, 15 a leading player in specialty chemicals, with
imporfant positions in specialty ndustnal adhesives, specialty food
starches, specialty polymers and electronic matenals |t provides
many specialty ingredients and formulations to consumer-oriented
markets that, with the exception of electronic industnes, tend to be
relatively non-cychcal in nature

National Starch operatas an internationa! network of 145
manufactunng and customer service centres, located in 39 countnes
on six contnents National Starch believes that s position in these
markets has been achieved through a strong combination of natural
and synthetic polymer technology, appiication understanding and a
high degree of technical support for customers

Nationat Starch 1s headguartered in Bndgewater, New Jersay, USA,
with regional offices in the UK (Europe) and Singapore (Asia) Major
manufactunng facihities are located in the USA, Germany, Mexico,
Japan, Thaland, Korea, China and Brazi, with additional
manufacturing faciibes in 26 othsr countries around the world

Strategy
National Starch’s strategy focuses on delvening value through three
main actmties

* bullding on strengths In areas where t has good opportunities
for proftable growth,

* delivering mnovatve new products to customers, and

» continually improving cost efficiency, particularly in its more mature
businesses

Consistent with the ICI strategic matrix, National Starch allocates
resources preferentially to those businesses within the “grow
aggressively” segment These include the Electronic Matenals and
Spectalty Polymers businesses, in addition to National Starch's other
actvities in Asia

Brief description of activities

Adhesives

National Starch 1s one of the largest and most global producers of
incustnal adhesives In the world, based on both natural and
synthetc polymer chemistry, including waterborne, hot melt and
pressure sensitive products Products from the Adhesives division are
used in packaging applicabons to seal cases and cartons and to fix
labels to bottles and cans Paper applications include laminating, bag
making, paper tissue, paper tube winding and box manufactunng
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Adhesives are also used in bookbinding, disposable nappies/diapers,
personal santary products and disposable hospral supplies Nahional
Starch's adhesves and prmers are used 1n the assembly of sports
shoes and for assembly operations in the woodworking, construction,
recreational vehicle and transportation industnes  The Acheson
business provides process lubricants and application systems used
in metalworking and casting

Speciaity Starches

National Starch also manufactures a wide range of specialty starches,
focused prnncipally on food and industnal applications  The Nationat
Starch Food Innovation business concentrates on modifying food
formulatons to enhance texture, appearance and flavour delvery
Certam products provide effects which enable end-consumer products
to withstand the ngours of ultra-high temperature processing,
microwave cooking, freeze/thaw cycles and extended storage The
nutritional content of food can be improved by a number of Nationat
Starch's products which add health-enhancing ingredients such as
dietary fibre Natonal Starch helps its customers develop new food
concepts to satisfy growing consumer needs for new, wholesome
and nutritious food

Specialty Polymers

The specialty polymers business develops and markets synthetic and
natural polymers for diverse end-use applications including personal
care, construction, industrial water treatment, fabric and home care
and paper coatings

The dwision s organised around three businessas, Alco Chemical,
Elotex and Personal Care Alco Chemical sells dispersants and
antiscalants for water treatment and fabnc and home care, as well
as thickeners for paper coating Elotex manufactures redispersible
emulsion powder polymers, which improve the adhesion, strength,
flow and water resistance properties of cement and mortar products
Specialty polymers for personal care provide the holding pawer in
hair sprays and gels, and add manageability and softness to
mousses, conditioners, shampoos and other styling aids They are
also used to thicken and emuisify cosmetic and beauty products and
ncrease the functionalty of sunscreens, hand and body creams and
lotions

Electronic Materials

National Starch also manufactures, markets and sells a range of
electronic matenals, particularty adhesives, encapsulants and specialty
coatings used i the assembly of semiconductor packages and the
production of electronic, automotive, medical and aerospace devices
Within the Electronic Matenials dwision, Ablestik supplies adhesives
and encapsulants used for sermiconductor packaging and
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Revenue by market sector
45
1 67% Textles and Footwear
2 20% Dwerse industnal
3 8% Personal & Home Cars
4 3% Paper & Packaging
5 2% Food and Beverage
Regional and Industnat 2006

Revenue by customer location

2
V/ 1 3% Ewope
2 1% North Amenca

3 13% Labn Amenca
4 83% Asia

Regional and Industnal 2006

rmicroelectronic assembly Products include adhesive pastes,
printable paste and fims, and underfill encapsulants Emerson and
Cuming supplies adhesives, encapsulants, and coatings used in the
fabrication of electronc, electrical, and electromechanical
components

Developments in 2006

National Starch made good progress in 2006 in developing ts
businesses, through reorganisation, investments in innovation and
improvements in efficiency and effectiveness

National Starch reorgamsed s activities around four global
divisions, each led by a senior management team National Starch
ams to accelerate profrtable growth through closer aignment of
rmanagement to global business strategies and strong product
development platforms

National Starch also made a number of Investments in innovahon
and growth These included an agresment with Roquette Freres,
of France, 1o be the exclusve distnibutor of the NUTRIOSE soluble
ficre product ine in food and beverage segments in the USA and
Mexico NUTRIOSE, a water-soluble fibre ingredient, 1s an excellent
complement to National's 'Hi-marze' resistant starch insoluble

fibre and fits with the company’s focus on health-orientated
nutritional ngredients

In addrtion, a new Customer Applcation and Process Simulation
Centre was opened n March at the adhesives site In Kleve, Germany
The state-of-the-art facility houses more than 20 R&D andd Technical
Service speciakists focused on adhesive technologies for the pressure
sensitve, woodworking and bulding components markets

National Starch also ofiicially opened its expanded adhesves,
synthetc polymers and electronic matenals manufactunng facilities

at 1ts Sahsbury, North Carolina, USA plant The new faciity wil! supply
high-quality, iInnovative adhesves to the pressure sensitve and
transdermal markets, specialty polymers to the har care and skincare
markets, and custom resins and filers used in the manufacture of
adhesves, coatings and encapsulants for electronic assembly

ICI iInvested $20m in a second emulsion polymenzation facility i
China, underlining tts strategic commitment to “aggressive growth”
in the region The plant 15 scheduled for complebion in mid-2007 and
will produce solution-acrylic adheswves for high-end tapes and labels,
specialty polyrmers for water treatment, detergent, packaging
coatings and emulsion for decoraiive coatings iIndustries
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Regional and Industnal

Background

Regional and industnal compnses several businesses which are
essentially local in ther scope, the most significant of which 15 located
In Pakistan The businesses accounted for 8% of the Group's
continuing sales n 2006 In Pakistan, ICl operates through nen
wholly-owned subsidiary companies, quoted on the local

stock exchange

Strategy

ICI has dvested many of the Regional and Industnal businesses in
recent years, and further dvestments wilt be made If they enhance
value The strategies of most of the businesses are focused on
selective areas of growth, with an emphasis on Improving cost and
caprtal effectvenass

Brief description of activities

ICl Pakistan Limited has interests in & number of different market
sectors The more iImportant of these are the manufacture of
polyester staple fibre for the textle industry and soda ash for soaps,

detergents, glass and paper Other businesses of ICI Pakistan Limited

nciude pharmaceuticals and specialty products

Pakistan PTA Limited, located at Port Qasirn near Karach,
manufactures pure terephthalic acid (PTA) for the fibre industry

Developments in 2006

Following reviews of all manufacturing operations within Regional and
Industral, a senes of continuous Mprovement programmes 1S being
implemented This 1s resulting in Increases In productivty, improved
raw matenal efficiencies and reduced energy use

ICI Pakistan has continued to invest in mantaining a strong market

position in the expanding domestic soda ash market A 50,000 tonne

expansion (current capacity s 235,000 tonnes per annum) 1s due to
come on line eary in 2007 and further investment 1s under evaluation
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Business review — ICl Group and its businesses contnues

Discontinued businesses

Business review ~

In September 2006, ICl completed the divestment of Unigema to
Croda Internationai Plc The intended divestment of Unigema was
outhined in the 2005 Annual Report In November 2006, 1C!
announced the proposed sale of Quest to Givaudan SA The decision
to divest Quest was based an the significant shareholder value that
would be defivered by the sale

Quest

Background

Quest 1s a manufaciurer of flavours and fragrances used in a wide
vanety of consumer products The business i1s headquartered in
Naarden, The Netherlands, and 1s organised around two operating
dmisions, Flavours and Fragrances, each of which accounts for
around half of Quest's revenue

ICI's strategy for Quest prior tc divestment

Within the ICE strategic matrix, both the Flavours and Fragrances
businesses were positioned in the “grow aggressively” segment,
reflecting four disttinctive strengths

« qualty of its customer relationships and consumer understanding,
» creative sklls of its perfumers and flavounsts,
+ technological advances resulting from R&D, and

s customer service and support provided by its marketing and
application groups as well as its global network of servicing units

Quest believes these strengths enable the business 1o assist
customers in making ther brands and products successfut During
2006, while a continuing business within the Group, Quest's strategy
was to continue to buld on these strengths while

» focusing on growth with key customers in the markets it chooses
to prioriise,

+ nvesting in consumer understanding and creatmty,

+ creating and making best use of an effective and efficient
mnnovation process, and

+ ensunng excellence In service and costs by focusing on
approprnate parts of the value chain and by conbinuous process
improvement

Brief description of activities

Quest's Innavative Hlavour and fragrance products consist of
compounds of blended ingredients created by expert flavounsts,
perfumers and scientists Certain compounds contamn molecules
which have been created by Quest's chemists and which add
distinctve charactenstics to its products Quest also has a strong
position n nature-dentical flavours for sweet and culnary
applicatons [n additon, Quest manutactures and sells a range of
fragrance ingredients that are the scented bulding blocks of
fragrance formulae They can also contribute additional technical
charactenstics to the finished compound such as deodonsation or
insect repellence

The Flavours dmsicn 1s orgarised around several key markets and
global customer accounts The principal markets are sweet and
savoury foods and beverages

Similarly, the Fragrance dwision 1s organised around product
applications and key accounts The principal markets are fine
fragrance, perscnal care, home care products and oral care

Developments in 2006

Dunng 2006, Quest nvested in developing its growth platform in
Asia, including an investment in a new regional techrucal centre in
Shanghai, China, and several efficiency investments in Europe and
North Amenca

In 2006 Quest also launched new technologies, through leveraging
existing innovation platforms 'Qsense’ for sweet tastes, with
launches like ‘Berrysense’, ‘Citrusense’ and ‘Applesense’, and for
culinary tastes 'Quisine’, with new vegetable and meat flavour
ranges

‘ImpaQ’ continued its market development after the successful
launch in 2005 Quest has now sold the first collection of products

that address flavour aspects of salt, sweetness and umarmi as well

as the acidity, bitterness and frutingss impact in food and beverages
concepts This i1s In line with the Increasing consumer demand for low
salt, low fat and low carbohydrate ntake wia food and beverages

The Fragrance dvision continued iis global creatve expansion
plan with the opening of its new regional Astan Creative Centre in
August Throughout the year, a selecton of novel matenals was
launched internally

Expioitation of the ‘Bio-Captive’ and Malodour management platform
continued under the ‘Neutrozone' trademark Furthermore, Mood
and Emotion Sensory technology has continued to be successtully
exploited in custorners” brands

Fine Fragrances had a good year with launches including
Dolce&Gabbana's The One, Ezabeth Arden's Hilary Duff, Lacoste’s
Inspiration, Donna Karan and Huge Boss

Unigema

Background

ICl announced In 2005 that it was evaluating its options n respect

of Urigerna, with a view to divesting the business, subject to a deal
realising value for shareholders On 1 Septermber 2006 (Cl complated
the sale of the Unigema business to Croda International Ple

Unigerna 15 a leading manufacturer of surfactants, oleochermicals
and related denvatives with major operations 1in North Amenca
and Europe

The performance of Unigema n 2006 15 covered in the financial
review
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Research and development

The Technology Leadership Team, compnsing the senior business R&D
managers and leaders of key IC| Technology areas, and led by the
Senior Vice President of Technology, is responsible for the development
of the Group's technology strategy and its implernentaton by the R8D
stafi employed by the Group's husingsses In 2006, expenditure on
R&D in the contwwing busmesses, excluding Technical Service,
amounted to £88m (2005 £82m) This expenditure represented

1 8% of sales n 2006 (2005 1 8%)

Each of the Group’s businesses 1s responsible for drmang mnovation
to meet the needs of its customers and markets The business
innovation teams are complemented by a central applied research
resource that aims to provide world-class capabilities that are common
to afl the businesses The Group's distnbuted technalogy network
draws ¢n the expertise across IC, allowing new products and
processes to be developed and exploted by indmvidual businesses
rmore rapudly, and sbmulating new options from the combination

of the technical capabilites of the Group’s different businesses

The Group's pnme science and technology areas of matenals
scrence, molecular science and measurement and modeling have
peen established to support its goals for sustainable product
development for selected growth markets and to establish ts
position as a leader in formulation science

Since 2003, the Group has had a Science Advisory Board which
ncludes leading external scientists who work with ICl's senior research
executive The board's remit Is to help challenge and develop the
Group’s expertise across the breadth of rapidly changing science and
technology needed in its busmesses The Science Advisory Board
has been closely involved in developing strategy in key capability
areas such as colloids and complex fluids, novel polymer design,
delivery systems, and filer/resin systems The Science Advisory
Board also contributes to the choice of external partners

Matenals science underpins much of the Group's procluct
development From such research has come the rapidly growing
'EASY-PAC' range of cool adhesive products, where exceptional
packaging bonding ability 1s reached at lower operating temperatures,
gving increased productmvity for key customers Fundamental
research on the matanal physics of filled polymer systems underpins
the growth of the Electronic Matenals business of National Starch,
providing systems which have exceptional robustness and
conducting properties

Molecular sciences underpin several of the Group's product
development activities Thus has lead to the development of new
latex technologies - soft acrylic muini-emulsions, which allow
formulation of premium performance water-based gloss and tnm
paints For the National Starch food ingredients business, research
has led to novel starch-based systems which allow for fat uptake
dunng cooking and frying

These pnme technology areas are underpinned by strong capabilities
In measurement science and i modelling, both cntical elements

of ICI's strong formulation science base Efficient formulations a
mutti-functional business process, and IC s making investment In
desigring and implernenting a world-class process and enabling tools
to support knowledge transfer across ICl's businesses
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With the steady growth of ICI's business in China, the provision

of techmical capabilities in that region s of increasing Importance
Product development labxoratones have been established for Pasnts
and the divisions of Natonal Starch In addition, in 2006 we
committed to the creation of an ICI research laboratory in Shangha
to work as part of our central applied research netwaork Ground was
broken in the auturmn of 2006, recrutment 1S progressing well and
the laboratory Is expected 10 be fully operational by the end of 2007

Sustainability and SSHE

ICl operates according to the “tniple bottom line™ of sustanabidity
econormic, socal and ervronmental A Group Sustainabiity Polhicy
was adopted in 2002, and the sustanability strategy 1s an integral
part of the Group's business strategy, setting out specific indicators
of progress across key actmties in all three areas Since 1990, ICI
has set out five-year “Challenge programmes” with abjectives to
deliver continuous improvement In these actwvities Results for each
chjective are reported in full every year on ICI's corporate website
{(www 101 com/sustainability)

An Executive Director is responsible at [Cl Board level for ICIs
sustainability actvities A sustainabilty board was established n
2004 It 15 made up of senior and middle managers from across the
Group who oversese the Group’s sustainability programmes and 1s
chared by the Group Vice Prasident, Sustainabiity

The Group has an internal recognition programme for sustainability
excellence ICI's Chief Executive gives an award each year to the top
performing team or ste in five categones Safety, Health, Emaronment,
Product Stewardstup and Community involvement ICI's Charman
chooses one of these winners to recewve ICl's iop sustainability
award each year

Regulation, safety, security, health and the environment

ICl's businesses are subject to the normal regulatory framework
applicable to a specialty products and paints company, notably
vanous health, safety and emvironmental rules both at national and
local levels m each of the junsdictions in which 1t operates The scope
of these laws vanes across the different businesses and unsdictions
The vanous manufactunng processes require consents and licences,
including relevant emission permits The Group requires full
compltance by its businesses with all relevant Safety, Secunity, Health
and Environment {SSHE) laws and regulations wherever It operates

Business reviaw [

ICl's businesses also voluntarly conform te many international and
national codes of best practice

IC| attaches great importance to safety and health, to reducing any
adverse emaronmental impact of ts actmvities year-on-year and to
developing products and services with improved environmental features

The main process by which the Group manages SSHE ssues and
seeks to meet its objectives 1s the Responsible Care Management
System (RCMS) This sets out standards along with guidelines,
training, auditing and procedures for reviewing and reporting
performance, all of which are essential to continuous improvement
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Business review - ICl Group and its businesses contnued

The systern covers operations on site as well as secunty, product
stewardship and community refations Loyd's Register Quality
Assurance Limited provides independent verfication that RCMS
comphes with the Amencan Chermistry Council's new Responsibie
Care Management System (2004) and Secunty Code of Managemeni
Practices (2002) as well as the UK Responsible Care Codes, the
certifiable nternational standards for envircnmental and occupational
heaith and safety management systems, 1SO 14001 and OHSAS18001,
and the ICC {International Chamber of Commerce) Business Charter
for Sustainable Development Our main sites in North Amenca are
also ganing certification to the Amencan Chemistry Council's
Aesponsible Care Management System requirements

1CI works to manage and minimise the rnisks associated with the soil
and groundwater on s sites and has procedures to enable the ranking
of prorties for management attention ICI s engaged in research
amed at developing and implementing more cost effective
environmental remediation technologies, some of which 1s being
undertaken in collaboration with other companies and academic
inshtutes

The raw matenals which the Group's businesses use and the
products that they produce are subject to demanding regulations
concerning product safety in all parts of the world These regulations,
which also cover product testing and nsk assessment requirements,
are subyect to review and revision, as Is currently happening in Ewrope
with the REACH {Registration, Evaluation and Authonsation of
Chemicals) regutations Following a detailed assessment process,

the Group 15 now Implementing plans to ensure comphance when

the new European Union regulations come into force

In addition, there 1s constant pressure from legislators, customers
and the general public to reduce the emaronmental and heailth
impacts of products throughout therr life cycle To meet these
requiremnents, IC| has a “product stewardship” programme in place
within each business This voluntary programme embraces, through
robust business practices, product regulatory requirements, societal
pressures, reducing the nsk of harm to people and the environment,
and the provision of relevant mformation to enable correct use and
disposal of products

Anticipating external pressures and concems and prowiding speedy,
innovative solutions with lower environmental and societal impact

15 becoming a key aspect of sustaining competitive advantage ICI
recognises these pressures and is responding with the introduction
of new processes, products and services that improve the efficiency
of use of raw matenals and utilities and reduce adverse effects

Processes are n place for regular reviews of environmental labdities,
and provisions held at 31 Decernber 2006 were in accordance with
the accounting polcy described in the Group accounts on page 61

1C1 believes that, within the existing legislative framework and taking
account of the provisions already established, the ¢ost of addressing
currently sdentified environmental obligations (as 1CI curentty views
these obligations) 1s uniikely to have a matenal adverse effect on s
financial postion or results of operations

Dunng 2008, there were elght instances of breaches of
environmental or product regutations which resulted in prosecutions
or fines totaling £10k. Each was nvestigated and appropnate action
taken
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Sustainability developments 1n 2006

ICI has completed the first year of Sustainability Challenge 2010,
the most recent five-year Challenge programme, which includes
improvernent goals for social, emvironmental and ethical Issues
The objectives were defined in collaboration with representatves
of all ICI's businesses and functions, as well as with external
stakehelders Performance aganst the objectives will be reviewed
with external stakeholders as the Challenge pericd progresses
QOverall, the IC| Board 1s pleased with the progress made and the
Company has made improvemnents aganst most of the new
objectves Detaled resuits are being venfied by Erviros Consulting
Ltd and the performance results and verification statement will be
avallable on ICl's corporate website fwww 1Cl com/sustainablity}

A printed summary will also be avalable

Social elements of sustainability encompass employee health, safety
and staff development as well as engagement with the communities
in which ICl operates worldwide

{Cf and safety

The Company regrets that in 2006 two contractors died while
carrying out work for IC! These are the first fatalibes involng
operations, rather than motor vehicle incidents, since 2000 In the
first case, a maintenance contractor in Argentina was asphyxated
when he made an unauthonsed entry into a silo containing ritrogen,
used as a “fludizng” agent In the second a contractor’s worker went
on to the roof of a product distnbution centre in Indonesia, without
authonsation, and was fatally inured when he fell 4 5 metres onto
the concrete floor Both incidents were clear breaches of existing
Company procedures Full details of the investigations, root causes
and improvement actions have been communicated across the
businesses, requinng each site to take action to ensure that such
events cannot happen again

ICl has achigved an 89% reduction in employee work-related injury
and lliness rates since 1990 The Sustainability Challenge 2010
milestone 1s a Total Reportable Case Rate of 0 56 by 2010 - a 40%
improvernent on the 2005 performance In 2006 we achieved 0 79
which 1s a 10% improvement on 2005 Manual handling 1ssues
remasn a fccus area for improvement Overall Group performance
remams amongst the ndustry leaders, and there are some |Cl sites in
all regions which have reached or exceeded the milestone of 10
years without a lost-time injury

ICI and its people

ICi continues to develop people capatulity requrements to meet its
strategic objectves Dunng 2006, the focus on China included the
China Academy, a programme of training and expenence for general
management recruits, and recrutment of scientists for the new
China Technical Centre in Shanghay Other focus areas include
sales and marketing

ICl continues to monitor the gender, ethricity and nationality dversity
of s management population The data indicates that the 2006
management group of about 1,580 included 16% women Of the
680 located 1n North Amenca there was a 10% ethnic minonty, of the
900 iocated outside North America there was a 53% minonty
nationality {defined as those born outside UK, USA or the
Nethertands where our businesses are headquartered) Since 2002,
the minonty nationality has improved from 48%, the gender and
ethruc diversity measures have remained farly constant
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{CI and its communities

iCl's Responsible Care Management System standards require each
site to engage with its local communsty At a minimum, this involves
regular communication with community leaders to ensure that

any concerns about sites’ impact on ther neighbourhoods are
addressed Employees at many sites also volunteer tims and funds,
and sites provide facilities and funds, for community utiatives
Since 2003, ICI has quantified the extent of the Group's community
involvermnent each year Cash donations to community’humanitanan
causes, both local and international, totalled £2 01m (20056 £3 07m)
of which £1 71m (2005 £2 44m) was from the Company and the
balance from employees’ fundraising actmties Donations in kind,
mainly product, totalled £0 26m (2005 £0 14m) Employee volunteer
time on Company-supported projects totalled about 17,300 hours
{2005 25,100 hours) of which more than 10,700 were on Company
time The total equivalent value of donations and time was £2 53m
{2005 £3 52m), more than 172,500 equivalent hours - or about 0 8
working days per employee

Examples of actvity and recognition include

¢ |Cl Argentina — Wine Specialty Chemicals won the 2006 ICI
Chief Executive Community Involvement Award for using the
ICl operation as a resource to teach local children about natural
sciences, chemistry and environmental care The Palmira site
operates an integrated energy generation and effluent treatment
system Liguid efiluent I1s used to rngate a eucalyptus forest
which in turn prowides some of the fuel for the steam-raising boier
The solid waste 1s used as a soll improver for the local grape and
soft frut growing Industries Waste from wing malang returns as
a Palmira raw matenal, and the waste frut pis are burned in the
Palmira plant boiler The children research practical examples
of recycling, ecology and biodiversity to supplement ther
schaool syllabus,

National Starch's North Kansas Gty plant in the USA has a number
of partnerships to strengthen science teaching in local schools
They work with local industry to run specialist hands-on workshops
for local science teachers, provide expenmental equipment for
students to study genetics, and provide practical support o
students in therr study,

ICl Paunts’ Maua site in Brazil 1s working with an environmental
non-governmental organisation (NGQ), SOS Mata Atlantica, and
Sao Paule University to carry out a ground breaking project to
re-establish the forest surrounding the site as native Atlantic Forest,
and

» |Cl Pakistan was awarded the first Corporate Social Responsibility
National Excetlence Award by Help International Welfare Trust

IC! and the environment

ICl continues to set mprovement objectves and report aganst a
range of environmental parameters Sustainabiity Challenge 2010
includes objectives to reduce the impact of our operations on land,
ar and water Changes are measured from the new baseline year
2005 and both baselre levels and results are adjusted for portfolio
changes In 2006 we achieved 3% energy reduction per tonne of
produchon (2010 target 5% reduction from 2005), 2% reduction

in greenhouse gas emissions per tonne (2010 target 5%) but a 1%
ncrease n water use per tonne (2010 target 10%) We have also
reduced arr emissions of hazardous substances {by 27%) and acid
gases {oy 8%) per tonne of production
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Since 1980 ICI has reported reductions n energy use per tonne of
production in excess of 43%, and again :n 2007 there 1s a specific
focus to improve the overall energy efficiency of our operations,

with cross business actwvity to achieve improvernents The latest have
been achieved through efficiency improvements, asset rationalisation
and redesigned production processes Many of these indicators
remain important not only for environmental performance but also for
business sustanability as energy price nses, global warming issues
and regional water scarcity become more prevalent

iCl's supply chamn

Product stewardship and supply chan improvements are an integral
part of Sustainabiity Challenge 2010 In 2006 a revised annual
product stewardship assessment was camed out by all business
units, in order to monitor progress and target areas for further
improvernents Quest made good progress i piloting a suppler
assessment process which includes social and labour practices
1ssues as well as product stewardship and health, safety and
environmental 1Issues  During the year, #t came to light that one of our
small volume suppliers N Brazl was employing child labour, although
they denied this Following investigation we ceased trading wath them
and have worked with local NGOs to strengthen our assessment and
engagement processes

ICl's corporate governance

Geod corporate governance 1S integral to sustamnable practice, and
ICl's corporate governance practices are reported on pages 38 to 43
ICI's Code of Conduct was updated in 2006 In addition, an updated
Group Antitrust Compliance Policy was adopted in 2006 and existing
antitrust traming programmes have been strengthened to support the
objectves of this Policy I1CI's whistieblowing system, “Speak Up~,
continues to operate wotldwide The system encourages open
reporting and ensures anonymity for callers should they so wash

ICl nvestigates the issue reported in each call (96 n 2006) and
monitors the call rate in each business and region to identify trends

Employee and employment principles
As at 31 December 20086, IC| employed 28,130 pecple in more
than 50 countries

An analysis of employee numbers by business and geographrcal area
may be found in note 5 relating to the Group accounts ICI has a
mixture of umionised and non-uricrised operations around the world
ICl considers tts relations with its employees o be generally good

ICI employment principles

ICl manages tts global organisations through its businesses, each
of which 1s responsible for determining sts own employees' terms
and conditions and employment pobcies within the framework of

the following Employment Principles agreed by the ICl Executve

Management Team

These Employment Principles are fully consistent with the
cemmitments given in both the ICI Sustainabtity Repert and the
ICI Code of Conduct
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Business review — ICl Group and its businesses contnu

Health and safety of employees

The health and safety of employees 1s a core value of ICI Qur

polcy 1s to ensure that all actvibies are conducted safely and that

the health of our employees is protected ICI sets demanding targets
and monitors progress to ensure coniinuous progress m this area

We require every employee, and those who work on our behalf, to
exercise personal responsibility in preventing harm to themselves and
others We communicate openly with our employees about our health
and safety activities and performance, and provide them with training
to drive continuous improvement

Development of people

ICl 15 committed to prowiding support to help release the full potentiat
of all 4s employees, whilst recogrnising that the ultimate responsibility
for personal development must rest with the indvidual The Company
seeks to help every indmvidual understand the personat strengths they
can leverage whist providing the support they need to grow and
develop further, in Ine with the needs of the business

Diversity

Qur ahiity to become a high-performing organisation depends on our
inclusion of people who come from dverse backgrounds and who
think in different ways about creating value for our customers and
stakehelders The indmiduality and creatnity that every person hrings
to the work place 15 welcomed and appreciated and it 15 our policy
that everyone should be treated n a fair, open and honest manner

ICI will provide equal opporturities for all employees, imrespectve of
therr race, colour, creed, religion, gender, ancestry, citzenship, sexual
preference, mantal status, national ongin, age, pregnancy, or any
other reason prohtbited by the laws of the Indwvidual countries in
which it eperates Thus will apply with respect to recrutment,
promotion, compensation, transfer, retention, traiming, benefits, and
other employment actions

Respect for the indvidual

It 1s the nght of all pecple to be treated with dignity and respect ICI
15 commutted to prowiding and fostenng a working environment that

15 free from harassment, discrirmination, victimisation or bullying, and
where all employees are treated with dignity and respect Verbal or
physical conduct that unreascenably interferes with another indmvidual's
waork performance, creates an inbrmdating, hostile, or offensive
working environment, or adversely affects opportunities, will not be
tolerated Allegatons of bullying or harassment will be taken senously
at alt levels and will be dealt with in a sensitive manner

Work/hife balance

ICH aims to create a more productive and efficient workforce that
will meet business requirements while supporting employees In
successfully managing therr personal and family commitments

We aim to explott the opportunivies offered by new technologes to
improve our ability 1o accommodate more flexible patterns of
working, where the nature of the work makes this possible

Qur success in achieving this relies on the co-operation and shared
responsibitlity of the Company and its employees, who are partners
in the process of managing the balance of work/life issues

Organisational change

Change 1s an important arkt inevitable feature of the world in which
we Ive, and responding positively to change 1s vital to our success
and growth as an organisation and as indwiduals From hme to time,
this wailt also include changes to the structure of our businesses
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ICI's commitment 15 to

+ ensure that employees are kept mformed about the 1ssues and
challenges facing the business,

* be sensitive to the implications of change from the perspectve
of our employees, and

* be understanding and supportive of ther needs and to seek to
mitigate the efiects of necessary business restructunng

Communication and consultation

The Company I1s committed to effective consultation k believes
that knowledgeable and well-informed employees are critical to its
success and that there should be clear channels of communication
and opportuniies for dialogue on iIssues which affect employees’
working Ives

The poncipal ams of commumcation and consultation are to
+ mprove employees’ understanding of the business and s goals,
= increase mutual rust and commitment,

* highlight any concems which might have an adverse impact
on the business, and

* allow people to contrbute therr opirion and expenence

Perfarmance and reward

Pay structures for employees at all levels shou!d be designed to
reinforce the lnk between performance and reward Employees will,
wherever possible, be set performance objectives which support the
achievernent of overall team and business geals, and ther individual
reward will reflect therr performance against these objectives

Reward will also recognise the prevailing business chmate and the
cireumstances of the relevant local labour market

ICI disability discrimination policy

The worlang environment of a disabled person may often contan
barners that affect equal Integration and participation withun the
workplace These barmers may take the form of unadapted
equipment, physical access, or discnminatory attitudes and
behaviour By attempting to create an accessible and non-
discnminatory working ervironment, the Cornpany seeks to assist
disabled people to achieve equality alongside ther colleagues,
and to make a full and positve contribution

Unfair discrimination of any disabled worker or visitor 1s unacceptable
and will not be tolerated by ICI Allegatons of disability discnmination
will be taken senously at all levels and will be dealt with in a
coniidential manner Appropriate diseiplinary action, including
summary dismassal for senous offences, may be taken against any
employee who discriminates unfairly aganst a disabled person

In order to ensure that people with disabilities in IC] obtain equality of
opportunity alongside others, and that they are actively encouraged
to contnbute and realise their potential, IC 1s undertaking the
commitments set out by the UK Employment Service to become a
Disability Symbal {the “Symbol™) user and 1s subscribing to the intiatve
“Posttve About Disabled People®, a nationally-recogrised framework
for developing good practice in relation to disabled people As a
Company, IC! 15 commitied to improving work and career
opportunities for all its employees, and the Symbol supports this for
both curent and future employees, some of whom may have a
disability
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ICl's commitments to disabled people include a guaranteed job
interview for apphcants with a disabiiity who meet the minmum
critena for a vacancy, regular consultation on what can be done
to ensure that they can develop and use thexr abilities at work,
wherever possible retaining employees if they become disabled,
improving employee knowledge, awareness and understanding

of disability to make our commitments work, and measurnng the
Group's achigvements aganst these commitments, planning ways
of improving our performance and communicating future intiatves
to employees

Retirement benefits

The Group's policy objective since 2000 has been to provide retirement
benefits for its new employees on a defined contnbution basts 75% of
ICl's employee poputation works In countnes which have now swiiched
to defined contribution provision for new employees In addition, a
further 14% of employees work in countnes where the main retirement
benefit proviston 1S via state and other mandatory arrangements 1CI
also has significant defined benefit retirernent kabiities for its existing
employees, principally In closed pension schemes In addition, post-
retirement healthcare benefits are provided, pnncipally to employees
within the US businesses, and from 2006 these are now on a defined
contribution basis for new employees

The main defined benefit schemes are in the UK {the IC| UK Pansion
Fund and ICI UK Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund}, the USA, the
Netherlands, Germany, Belgium and Canada With the exception of
the retirement benefit schemes in Germany and the post-retrement
healthcare plans, all the tax-approved schemes are funded The
funds are generally admirustered by fund trustees or fiducianes under
trust deeds and iegislation appropriate to the relevant junsdictions
The ICl UK Pensicn Fund 1s by far the largest scheme and makes
up 81% of the total Group'’s defined benefit pension and other
post-retirement plan obligations, in addition to 827 employee
members, this fund has 57,618 retired pensiocner members and
13,835 deferred pension members

Investment and liability decisions for the funded defined benefit schemes
are based on undertying actuanal and economic crcumstances with the
objective of ensunng that the schemes have sufficient assets to meet
liabiities as they fall due Investment strategy 1s generally to ensure an
appropriate balance between nsk and reward having regard to the
matunty of the fund For example, the ICI UK Pension Fund has 84%
invested n bonds and 16% n equities and other retum-sesking
assets This mx of nvestments takes account of the proportion of
labilities relating to pensionar members

The funds are valued regularly, with assistance from independent
actuanes, for funding purposes and are vaiued at least annually
for accounting purposes Gven the size of the pension Tiabilities,
changes In therr value or 1 the value of the assets i the funds due
to fluctuations in investment conditions can result in sigruficant
volatility in funding levels and can have a matenal impact on the
Group A funding valuation of the ICI UK Pension Fund was
completed in 2005 and entified a defict of £€657m at 31 March
2005 Subsequently, the Company agreed to make “top-up”
payments 1o the ICl UK Pension Fund over nine years, compnsing
annual payments of £122m for four years starting m 2006 and
payments of £62m for the following five years
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The sale of Unigema in September 2006 has resulted In a
requirement, under section 75 of the Pensions Act 2004, for the
Company to make additional contributions towards funding the
deficits in the ICl UK Specralty Chernicals Pension Fund and the IC1
UK Pension Fund of £48m that have been paid dunng the first
quarter of 2007 Following the disposal of the Quest business, the
Company expects to make contributions to the ICl UK Specialty
Chemicals Pension Fund and the ICI UK Pension Fund of
approxmately £203m

The total present value of the habifities of the Group's post-retirement
benefit schemes, measured in accordance with IFRS, was £5,348m
at 31 December 2006 The farr value of scheme assets at the same
date was £8,043m resulting n an overall net lability n respect of
pensions and post-retrement heatthcare babilites of €1,305m This
compnses £897m in respect of the ICH UK Pension Fund, £287m in
respect of other funded pension schemes and £321m i respect of
unfunded pension schemes and post-retirement healthcars benefits

For accounting purposes, the Group has adopted the option in
accounting standard IAS 18 Employee Benefits to recogrise n full
each year any actuanal gains and losses in the Statement of Group
recognised income and expense on page 66 The net recogrised
deficit at the balance sheet date 15 based on the assets valued at
market rates on the balance sheet date, and labilites valuad using
discount rates also determined from market rates This net deficit is
thus subject to considerable volatiity based on changes in market
conditions The detailed assumptions are disclosed i note 26 relating
to the Group accounts In the income statement the Group has
chosen to present the net finance expense separately from current
and past service costs which are included within operating costs

Legacy I1ssues

Group legacy ssues relate pnncipally to those businesses divested
following ICI's acquisition of Unilever's Specialty Chemicals
businesses in 1997 Therr management iInveives a range of actvities
corerned with handlng the conseguences of such divestments and
managing ICl's nterests where the Group has retaned certain
cbligatrons

Business raview l

Most legacy i1ssues relating directly to these divestments have been
dealt with However, new 1ssues may anse from tme to time In
addtion, some agreements relaing to divested businesses have not yet
been novated, although the new business owners fUifi! ICT's obligations
under those agreements Over the past few years the scale of the net
contingent kabirties i this area has reduced sigruficantly

Current actvities include managing residual land and property which
was not sold with the businesses and most are subyect to remechation
programmes with the expectation that many of these will be scld In
due course

The Group has made provision for such matters as set out in
more detat n note 25 reftating to the Group accounts More
detats of contingent labihties can be found In note 33 relating
to the Group accounts
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Other Group information
{Comments relate to continuing businesses only)

Markets and distribution
ICI sells its products through an extensive network of subsichanes,
associates and distrnibutors

Specialty products manutactured by National Starch are sold mainly
by drrect sales forces and distnbutors Customers are pnmanfy other
manufacturers in a range of markets from consumer-onentated
manufacturers of branded goods in the food, perfume and personal
care sectors to those involved in lubncants, papermaking and

other chemicals

Pamnts are sold through a range of distribution channels Branded
architectural pants are sold through a combination of independent
{rade and retal outlets, as well as the Group's own trade stores,
particularty In North Amenca and the UK Can ceatings are sold to
packaging manufacturers but suppled directly to beverage and food
manufacturers in Europe, the Amencas and Asia, where they are
used in the production process

The Group's Regional and Industrial businesses sell into a wide range
of industres including consumer products, electronics, engineenng,
extractve industnes, food and beverages, pharmaceuticals and textiles
These products are either marketed directly or through independent
merchants, wholesalers and distributors who resell to consumers
Commodity products are sold through a direct sales force or through
distributors, primarnly to other cperators in the chemical industry

Competition

Owing to the breadth and varety of the products and end markets
served, the Group encounters a wide range of competitors, from
multinational companies 1o many small local and independent firms

Natonal Starch does not compete with any one competitor i all of
its markets However, muluinational competitors in specific markets
include H 8 Fuller, Rohm and Haas, Henkel, Ar Products and
Chemicals and A E Staley

ICI Paints' pnncipal competitors have regional strengths in decorative
coatings and include Sherwin-Wilkams (North Amenca), BASF (Latin
Amenca), Akzo Nobel (Europe} and Nippon Pant (Asia)

Seasonality and cychicalty

Due to the diversity of ther product portfolios and broad international
coverage, seasonality within National Starch and the Regional and
Industnal businesses 15 not significant [Cl Paints, however, 15
affected, with trading patierns influenced by prevaling weather
condrtions With the geographic profile of ICI Paints, this typically
results In higher levels of actwity in the second and thurd quarters

of the year

In addition, over longer penods of time, markets for decorative
paint can exhibit some economic cychealty, typically driven by
levels of Investment in domestic and commerctal property, although
generally maving in ine wath GDP Such cyclicality can have an
adverse impact on the performance of the related decoratve
pants business
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Sources and availlabihty of raw matenals

The raw matenals used by ICI's businesses are from a vanety of
sources, principally comprising petrochermucal-based raw matenals,
renewable resources and a range of other matenals A bnef
descnption of the raw materals and respective sources Is prowded for
each business below |Cl has established a core capability in
procurement, emnbedded wathin its businesses but managed across
the Group by a Procurement Board ICI beligves that the cost savngs
generated by improving s procurement capabiibes have been
significant but there remains scope for significant further mprovement

The prices of raw matenals are subject to normal conditions of
supply and demand However, the prices of sorme raw matenals are
volatile and are affected by cyclical movements in commodity pnces
and the availability of such matenals

The prnmary raw matenals used by National Starch are
petrochemiczal-based or are derved from corn and tapioca A wide
range of supplers s used, and matenals are generally avatable in
most geographic markets Specialty hybnd corns (nigh amylase and
waxy seeds) are planted under contract for National Starch to help
ensure supply of these special strains Many of National Starch's
products, especially in the electronic matenals business, contain one
or more propnetary raw materials, developed and manufactured in-
house These matenals are not avalable to Nahonal Stawch's
competitors, therefore providing a unique position in a number of
markets

Key raw matenals for IC| Paints include resins, solvents and pigments
supplied by major chemical companies Matenals are typically
avallable worldwide, and ICl Pants beheves its strong global

footpnnt provides comimercial advantages in secunng the supply

of essential matenals

The key raw matenals for the Regional and industrial businesses are
internationally traded commodity chemicals such as paraxylene,
monoethylene glycol, acetic acid, caustic soda and sulphur

Intellectual property

ICl has many patents and patent applcations which help to protect
its technology and numerous trademark registrattons which help to
protect ts brands In additon, IC1 derves substantial competitive
advantage from propretary business knowledge relating to formulae,
products, processes and techrnical know-how

ICI uses appropriate terms of employment and management
processes to identify and protect iis intellectual property As
necessary, It enters inte confidentiality agreements with customers,
suppliers and other third parties 1o protect the conftdentiality of its
proprietary, technicat and business infermation
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Business review - financial review
ICI continued to make good financial progress in 2006 despite some
difficult trading conditions for Paints in North America. Paints and
National Starch both grew sales and trading profits, working

capital efficiency improved and cash flow before acquisitions and
divestments was again positive. Net debt improved by £434m, the
post-retirement benefit deficit reduced by £383m and our adjusted
tax rate fell to 17%. As a result, adjusted earnings per share rose

by 17%.

www ici com

Group operating performance

The following review refers to the performance of the
contnuing Group In the review, references to “as
reported” perfarmance include the effects of currency
transtation, acquisiions and divestments References
to “comparable” performance exclude the effect of
currency translation differences and the impact of
acqusitions and dvestments Reconcilaions between
“comparable” and “as reported” performance and
between operating profit and trading profit can be
found on page 28 A more detaled explanation of
“comparable” performance appears on page 156
iCl's reporting segments are defined on page 157

Revenue

Sales for the continuing Group as reported were
£4,845m, 5% ahead of 2005 (2005 £4,601m),
compnsing approxmately 3% volume growth and
ncreased selling prices In response to higher raw
matenal costs Excluding the effects of foreign currency
translation and acquisitions and divestments (-1%),
sales were 6% ahead of 2005 on a comparable basis

Comparable sales growth for Panis was 5% and

for National Starch 8%, whilst sales for Regional and
industnal were 5% ahead on a comparable basis
Regionally, Asia grew 10%, Latin America 8%, Europe
5% on a comparable basis and North Amenca 4%
desprte difficutt trading conditions for the decoratve
Paints business in the regien

Trading/Operating profit

Raw matenal costs continued to nse through 2006
particularly dug to the impact of higher prices for oil
and precious metals and whilst overall the monetary
impact was offset by higher seling prices, gross
margin percentages were lower Costs below gross
margin increased due n part to addiional promotional
spend and also in support of actwities in Key strategic
growth areas Conminung Group trading proft as
reported for the year was £502m, 5% ahead of 2005
{2005 £479m) The effects of foreign currency
translation and acquisttions and divestments were
neghgible and trading proiit was also 5% ahead of
2005 on a comparable basis

After a special tems charge of £71m, discussed further
below, Group operatng profit was £431m (2005
£484m)

Trading profit for both Pants and National Starch was
ahead of last year, by 2% and 13% respectively, whilst
the trading profit ior Regionat and Industnal was 26%
lower on a comparable basis

Associates
The Group's share of profits from associates for the
year was £2m (2005 £3m profit)

Net finance expense

Net finance expense before special tems of £97m for
the year was £8m lower than last year (2005 £105m),
with net interest costs shghtly lower at £79m {2005
£75m) partly as a result of lower levels of debt Post-
retirement benefit finance costs of £18m were lower
{2005 £30m) due pnmanly to favourable movements
In return on asset and discount rates but also to the
impact of additicnal top-up payments made into the
pension funds

Profit before tax

Adjusted proiit before tax for the continuing Group
was £407m, 8% ahead of 2005 (2005 £377m) After
spectal items, continuing Group profit before tax was
£355m, 11% below last year (2005 £397m}

Taxation

The adjusted tax rate for the centinuing Group for

the year was 17% compared with 21% in 2005

Thus pnmanly reflected a reduction in tax prowsions
following the settlement of vanous outstanding matters
with tax authorties Consequently, 1axation on
adusted profit before tax for the continuing Group
was £70m for the year, £7m below last year The
adjusted tax rate 1§ caleulated as taxation on continuing
operations {excluding tax on special tems) dvided by
adjusted proft before tax Including tax on special
temns, taxation was £56m (2005 £68m) The tax rate
of 17% 15 ICl's best estimate of the Group adjusted
tax rate for the next three years, whilst noting that the
volatiity of the tax charge is likely to increase

Business raview '

Special items

After taxation, special iterns for continuing operations
amounted to a loss of £38m (2005 gan of £29m)
Special tems N continuing cperating profit were a
charge of £71m primarily related to the transformation
programme announced In the second quarter of the
year, partrally offset by a gain of £9m on the sale of
fixed assets

Foreign exchange gains on debt previously hedging
goodwill wntten off to reserves were £15m (2005
£2m)

Special lems in operating profit for discontinued
operations of £72m included a provision in respect
of a fine of €91 4m smposed by the Eurcpean
Caommission dunng the year in relation to alleged
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Business review - financial review coninued

cartel actmty in the European methacrylates market dunng a pencd
from 1997 to 2002 The fine related to ICI's penod of ownership of
ICI Acrytics, which ended in 1998 when the business was soid ICI
provided for the fine but has filed an appeal before the European
Court of First Instance

Profit on the sale of discontinued operations of £32m primarily
reflected the £48m gain on the sale of Unigemna, partly offset by
charges for previously divested actmvities

Net profit

Adjusted net profit attnbutable to equity hoiders of the parent was
£375m, compared with £321m in 2005 Net profit after special tems
was £329m compared with £420m [ast year

Earnings per share

Adjusted earnings per share for the year were 31 6p, compared with
27 1p for 2005, a 17% wcrease Earmings per share after special
tems were 24 9p, compared with 32 9p for 2005

Dividend and dividend policy

The Company's dwvidend policy knks growih in profit with growth in
dividends and, at the same time, seeks 1o ensure that sufficient funds
are available to the Group for investment in future profitable growth

ICl's continued intent 1s to grow dvidends at about the same rate

as the growth in net profit before special tems attnbutable to equity
holders of the parent Consequently, the Board has declared a second
interm dividend per £1 Ordinary Share of 4 75p (2005 3 95p), to brng
the total dvidend declared for 2006 1o 8 90p (2005 7 70p)

Cash flow — management basis

The followang analysis of cash flow, which relates to the table alongside,
distinguishes between cash flows which relate to operating actvities
and those which relfate to imvesting actmvities Included within operating
actiities are top-up payments to ICI's pension funds, net finance
payments, tax paid (excluding tax on disposals) and dwidends

paid Included within Investing actmtes are salss and purchases

of property, plant and equipment, net proceeds from disposals of
businesses, payments agamnst disposal provisions which, in some
cases, will continue for a number of years, and acguisition expenditure

Operating activities

Net cash from operatng actvibes for the year was an inflow of £181m
compared with £359m last year The reduced cash inflow was due

to higher post-retirement benefit payments particulary due to a

higher annual top-up payment of £122m to the IC UK Pension Fund
compared with £62m last year, together with higher cash outflows on
restructunng Moverment in workang caprial was a small cash outflow
for the year but overall working capital efficiency measured as average
worlang capital as a percentage of sales once again improved Eamings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (*EBITDA”)} was
ahead of last year

Investing activities

Net cash from investing actvities was an inflow of £110m for the year
compared with an outilow of £112m last year Net proceeds of £324m
were recerved relating pamarily to the divestment of Urigema comparad
with net proceeds from dvestments of £108m N 2005, manly from

the sale of the Vinamul Polymers business Further cash flows relating
to the sale of Unigema are expected to be settled in 2007 The net
proceeds oifset capital expenditure of £150m and payments n respect
of disposals pnor to 2004 of £41m, compared with £159m and £47m
respectively last year

Cash flow before acquisitions and divestiments

Cash flow before acqusiions and divestiments was an mflow of £26m
compared with an inflow of £170m ¢ 2005, the movement mainty
reflecting higher restructunng costs and pension top-up payments
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Management summary of Group cash flow

2005
2006  (as restated)
£m tm
Operating activities
Adpusted net profit 399 352
Net finance expense 88 112
Depreciation and amortisation 150 169
Taxaton 83 92
Earmings betore interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA}) 3 725
Post-retrement benefit charges 46 a1
Taxation on associates 1 1
Movement in working capital 5) 80
Qutflows from special items (68} (53}
Post-retirement benefit payments! (238) (153)
Qther items 1 3
Cash generated from operating actmties 468 B18
Net finance payments {76} (70)
Tax paid excluding tax on disposal of businesses {84) {83)
Dridends paid {(117) (106)
Net cash inflow from operating activites? 1N 359
including net cash inflow from discontinued
operating actvities 29 57
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
and intangibles {150) (159)
Sale of property, plant and equiprment 26 17
Acquisitions (31) (23)
Net proceeds from dispesal of businesses 324 108
Payments n respect of disposals prior to 2004 {41) {47)
Tax paid in relation to disposals [4)] {2)
Movement in current asset investments {17) {6}
Net cash inflow {outflow) from investing
activities? 110 (112}
including net cash mfiow {outflow) from
discontinued investing activities 243 @2)
Cash inflow before financing activities 301 247
Cash flow before acquisitions and divestments* 28 170
Reconcihation of movement in net debt
Opening net debt (763) {1,008}
Net cash inflow from operating actvities 191 359
Nat cash inflow (outfiow) used in
Investing actvities 110 {112)
Cash nflow before financing actvities 301 247
ESOP share purchase/receipts from
options exercised (6} -
Non-cash movernent 139 4)
Total movernent In net debt 4348 243
Closing net debt {329) (763}

1 Defined benefit payments only and excludes amounts paid against
rastructunng provisions

2 In¢luding net cash inflow from discontinued operating actwities
3 tncluding nat cash inflow {outflow) from discontinued investing actmties
4 Cash flow before acquisitions and divestmants 1s as follows

2008 2005
£m £m

Cash flow before financing actvities
finckided in the table above ) 301 247
Acquisitions 31 23
Disposals {324) (108}
Tax paxd 11 relation to disposals 1 2
Movement in current asset INvestments 17 6
Cash flow before acquisthons and dvestmants 26 170
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Net debt

Cash inflow before financing for the year was £301m, compared
with £247m in 2005 Consequently, wath a favourable non-cash
movement of £139m mainly due to exchange movements on the
Group’s US dollar-denominated debt and a £6m cutflow from ESQOP
options exercised, net debt at the year end was £329m, £434m
lower than at the beginning of the year

Financing activities

Further to the cash infiow from operating activities, and the cash
inflow from investing activities, the cash flow from financing actvilies
was an outflow of £212m (2005 outflow of £218m) pnncipally
compnsing repayments of long-term loans of £146m (2005 £137m)
and an outflow In respect of non-operating dervatives of £70m
(2005 inflow of £26m) Moverment in short-term borrowings resulted
in & cash inflow of £7m compared with an cutflow of £114m in 2005
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2006 were £589m, £73m
higher than at the end of 2005

Balance sheet

Total assets reduced from £4,865m at end 2005 to £4,289m at

31 December 20086, due pnincipally ic the £494m of assets disposed
with the Unigema business, together with the effect of exchange
movements

Total abilities reduced from £5,355m at end 2005 to £4,478m at

31 December 2006 The reduction of £877m was primartly due to a
£383m lower post-retrement benefit deficit, a £342m reduction of
total borrowings (as part of the overall £434m reducton in net debt},
and trade and other payables disposed of with Unigema The
reduction in the post-retirement benefit deficit was due to the top-up
contributicns to the UK pension funds, favourable actuanal and
axchange gans and the Unigema disposal

The net assets and equity of the Group increased from £{(490)m at
end 2005 to £(189)m at 31 December 2006 This reflected the net
profit for the year of £329m, and net favourable other items of £78m
included in the Statement of Group recognised income and expense

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Higher trading profit n 2006 of £502m (2005 £479m) and the
continued focus on managing working caprtal contrbuted to a
sigreficant nse in return on caprtal employed to 18 3% for the
continuing Group See page 157 for the method of calculating this
performance measure

06 16 1% | |
Natlonal Starch

05 13 1% ]

o6 [ 2a6%] |
Paints Yo

05 23 0% |
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05 [101%] }
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Review of 2006 business results

Basis of presentation

In the following commentary, references to “trading profit” relate to
operating profit before special tems Special rems are discussed
separately from the underiying business perfermance because of
ther nature Reconciliations between reported and comparable
changes in both revenue and trading profit, and between trading
profit and operating profit, are shown in the tables on page 28
All charts in this commentary show “as reported” figures unless
otherwise stated For defintions of special termns, “as reported
performance” and “comparable performance”, as used in this
section, see pages 156 and 157

Continuing Operations

Pants
£m
alE | 5%
=] ;_ ol [ comparable sales growth
o o™ o™
2%
comparable profit growth
10.6%
L trading margin
05 06 o5 06
24.6%
Revenue Trading profit return on capital employed

Paints sales were 5% ahead of 2005 on both a comparable and

as reported basis Sales growth was particularly strong for the
Decorative business in Asia In addition, Decoratve UK and Ilreland,
Decorative Latin Amernica and Packaging Coatings all defivered good
growth With difficult market conditicns in Narth America, sales for
the decorative business m this region were only sightly ahead of last
year Raw matenal costs were hugher than the prior year, and whilst
increased seling prices recovered the ebsolute monetary value of
the cost increases, overall gross margin percentages were lower
Conseqguently, with the impact of the weak trading in North America,
trading profit was only 2% ahead of 2005 on a comparable basis
and 1% on an as reported basis, and the trading margin of 10 6%
was shghily lower than in 2005 (11 0%)

Business review ‘

The following commentanes on the geographical regions where Paints
operates refer to performance measured on a comparable basis

Desprte mixed market conditions, sales for the decoratve business

in UK and Ireland were 7% ahead of 2005 particularly due to growth
in UK retail sales With shghtly weaker product mix and the impact of
higher raw matenal and supply chain costs, gross margn percentages
were lower than last year, but despte higher costs below gross margn,
due in part to addiional prometional actmties in the run-up to Easter,
trading profit was well ahead of 2005
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Business review - financial review contnued

Sales for Decorative Continental Europe were 1% higher than last
year with good sales growth in Eastern Europe partially offset by
weaker sales in France and Germany With the impact of seling price
increases and stronger mix, gross margin percentages were ahead
of last year However, with higher costs below gross margmn, trading
profit was lower than in 2005

Decoratve North Amenca sales were Impacted by weakness in the
US housing market through the year and consequently were only

1% up on 2005 Higher raw matenal and freight costs were ofiset

by increased selling pnces but gross margin percentages were lower
than in 2005 Trading profit was well down on last year

Decorative Asia sales were 16% higher than in 2005, with both
volume growth and higher selling prices across the region Growth
was particularly strong in China, India, Pakistan and Vietnam and
despite gross margin percentages being lower due to higher raw
matenal costs and soma dilution of product mix, frading profit was
well ahead of last year

Sales for Decorative Lahn America were 8% ahead of 2005 Sales
volumes grew in alt key countnes and there was Some SuCcess In
raising selling pnces Consequently, gross margin percentages
improved and trading profit was strongly ahead of 2005

Packaging Coatings also achieved a strong performance with 8%
sales growth due to strong demand in North Amenca, Latin America
and Asia The impact of raw material cost increases was successfully
mitigated by selling price increases and trading profit was significantly
ahead of 2005

National Starch

£m
BIR HiB 8%
| = m comparable sales growth
s]]8 = [= o
2|« 5 13%
comparable profit growth
12.0%
trading margen:
R
Revenue Trading profit return on capital employed

National Starch's sales were 8% ahead of 2005 on a comparable
basts, with growth in all businesses Overzall, gross margin
percentages increased slightly and trading profit was 13% higher than
last year on a comparable basis Trading margin of 12 0% improved
on 2005 (11 4%)

As reported sales were 7% up and trading profit was 13% ahead of
2005 as reported
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The following commentanes on the four reporting segments within
National Starch refer to performance measured on a comparable basis

Adhesives

£m
wy
-

5%

comparable sales growth

8%

comparable profit growth
05 06 05 06

7.9%
Revenue Trading profit trading margin

Adheswves sales were 5% ahead of 2005 with good growth in North
Amenca despite some slow down of sales of construction-related
products in the latter part of the year There was double-digi sales
growth in Latin Amenca whilst In Asia growth was strong in China,
India and Vietnam Raw materal costs were higher Despite success
N ncreasing seling prices, gross margin percentages were shightly
lower than last year, leaving trading profit 8% ahead of 2005

Specralty Starches
£m
- l 8%
comparable sales growth
] 38%
comparable profit growth
05 06 05 06
11.9%
Revenue Trading profit trading margin

Sales growth was 8% with good growth for food starches,
particularly the prermum ‘Novation' range, throughout the year and
sales for industnal starches strengthening as the year progressed
Regionally, growth was good in Europe, Morth Amenca and Asia wath
Labin America also ahead There was some relief from raw matenal
costs as tapioca costs in Asia were lower than last year This,
togsther with improved product mx and some non-recurning cost
benefits, resulted In trading proftt increasing by 38% compared with
2005

Specialty Polymers
£m
n 18%
2 comparable sales growth

6%
comparable profit growth

05 08 05 06
18.3%

Revenue Trading profit trading margin

Sales were 18% ahead of last year with strong growth in Europe
and Asia and good growth in North Amernica, although sales in
Latin America were lower Sales were well ahead for the three key
businesses of Elotex, Alco and Personal Care Despite selling pnce
increases, ugher raw matenal costs and the full year impact of the
Celanese acquistion resulted in gross margin percentages being
shghtly lower, but trading profit was 6% ahead of last year
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Electrormc Materials

Discontinued operations

£m
[ 1H] 11%
= comparable sales growth
=
8 5%
comparable profit growth
05 08 05 Q6 2 5 . 1 %
Revenue Trading profit trading margn

Sales growth of 11% was pnmarly due to strong growth for Ablestik
as a result of strong dermand from the semiconductor industry in
response to the growth of demand for electronic devices such as
mobde phones, digital cameras and MP3 players Emerson and
Cuming sales were ahead of last year Regionally, sales growth was
good in Europe, North Amernca and Asia, but sales in Latin Amenca
were lower Gross margin percentages were significantly lower due to
tugher raw material costs, particularly for siver, but trading profit was
5% ahead of last year

Regional and Industnal

£m
. | 5%
IR ES 5 comparable sales growth
b3 -
B 26%
comparable profit decling
8.5%
trading margin
05 06 05 06
15.6%
Revenue Trading profit return on capital empiloyed

Sales for the Regional and Industnal businesses were 5% ahead

of 2005 on a comparable basis with all principal businesses ahead
However, gross margin percentages were impacted by a decline in
margins for pure terephthalic acid (PTA), which desprte some respite
in the third guarter, were consistently lower than last year due to
higher raw material costs Despite slightly higher gross margin
percentages for ICl Pakistan, overall gross margin percentages were
significantly lower and consequently comparable trading profit was
26% down from last year After foreign exchange and population
impacts, sales as reported were 1% lower, and trading proftt as
reported was 28% lower than in 2005
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Quest

Quest's sales were 5% ahead of 2005 on a comparable basis, with
growth for both Fragrance and Flavours Sales were ahead in all four
geographic regions, but particulary in Latin Amenca which delivered
double-digit sales growth Overall, gross margin percentages -
benefited from selling price increases and were higher than last year
desprte nsing raw matenial costs Consequently, tradmng profit was
19% ahead on a comparable basis Trading margin iImproved to

10 4% (2005 9 3%)

Sales on an as reported basis were also 5% higher than in 2005
and trading profit as reported was 18% ahead

Tne following commentanes refer 1o performance measured on
a comparable basis

Flavours sales were 7% up on last year with growth in alt four
geographic regions  Sales growth was also good at key target
accounts and gross margin percentages were ahead of 2005
Consequently, with costs below gross margin only shightly higher,
trading profit was significantly above 2005

Sales for the Fragrance division were 3% ahead of 2005 with good
growth for the personal care and fine fragrance sectors but fragrance
ingredients sales were weaker Higher raw matenal costs were
partially offset by stronger product mix and increased selling prices
but gross margin percentages were lower than last year Trading
profit was ondy shightly ahead of 2005

Unigema

ICI's oleochemicals and surfactants business, Unigerna, was sold to
Croda International Plc In September for £410m Proceeds from this
sale helped to reduce the Group’s net debt

Sales in the first eight months were 2% ahead of 2005 on a
comparable basis but trading profit was 7% higher

As reported sales were 3% higher than in the first eight months of
2005 and trading profit as reported was 8% higher
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Business review — financial review connued

Reconciliation of “As reported” change to “Comparable” change in revenue - 2006 vs 2005

Forexgn
*As reparted exchanga *Comparable”
changa transiation {Acquistion) change
Revenua Increase/ effects and Increase/
“As reported” {decrease) Agverse/ divestment {decrease)
2006 2005 2008 vs 2005 {favourable) effects 2006 vs 2005
£m £m £m % £m £m €m %
Continuing operations
Paints
Decorative UK and Republic of Ireland 518 484 34 7 - - 34 7
Decorative Continental Europe 247 261 (14} (6) - 17 3 1
Decorative North America 862 857 5 1 - - 5 1
Decoratve Latin America 212 180 22 11 {12) 4 14 8
Decorative Asia 34 297 a4 15 2 - 46 18
Packaging Coatings 230 21 19 9 [vd] - 17 8
Other 4 8 @ {32) 3 - 1 10
Total Paints 2414 2,306 108 ) 9) 21 120 5
Adhesives 1,052 1,005 47 5 B - 53 5
Specialty Starches 502 485 37 8 - - 37 8
Specialty Polymers 266 228 38 17 4 - 42 18
Electronic Materials 203 187 16 3 - 19 11
Total National Starch 2,023 1,885 138 7 13 - 151 8
Regional and Industnal 43 433 (2) (1) 1 12 21 5
Total reporting segments 4,868 4,624 244 § 18 33 292 g
Corperate and other 3 3 - - - -
Inter segment revenue {26) (26) - (1) {3) (4)
Jotal 4,845 4,601 244 5 14 30 288 5
Reconciliation of operating profit to trading profit - 2006 vs 2005
CGperating profit (loss) Spedial tems In
after special tems aperating proftt (loss} Trading profit {loss)
2006 2005 2008 2005 2096 2005
Em £m em £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Paints 240 248 {17) (5) 257 253
Adhesives 61 76 (22) 1 83 75
Specialty Starches 58 43 {2) - 60 43
Specialty Polymers 45 46 (3) - 48 46
Electromc Matenals 49 50 {2) - 51 50
Total National Starch 213 215 29) 1 242 214
Regional and Industrial a0 51 {7) - 7 51
Total reporting segments 483 5i4 (53) {4} 536 518
Corporate and other {52) (30} (18) g (34} {39}
Total 43 484 1) 5 502 479
Reconciliation of “As reported” change to “Comparable” change in trading profit - 2006 vs 2005
Foraign
“As reported” exchange Comparatia
Trading profit change translabon  {acquistion) changa
) Increase/ effects ang Increase/
As reported” (dacrease) Adversa! drestment (decrease)
2006 2005 2008 vs 2005 (favourable) stfects 2008 vs 2005
£m £m em % £m £m £m %
Continuing operations
Parnts 257 253 4 1 (3 3 4 2
Adhesives 83 75 8 10 1 2) 8
Specialty Starches 60 43 17 39 {1) - 16 38
Specialty Polymers 48 46 5 1 - 3 &
Electromic Matenals 51 50 3 1 - 2 5
Totaf Natonal Starch 242 294 28 13 2 2 28 13
Regional and Industral 37 51 {14) {28) - - (14 (26}
Total reporting segmeants 536 518 18 4 (1) 1 18 4
Corporate and other {34) (39) 5 1 - 6
Total 502 479 23 5 - 1 24 5
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Capital expenditure

The analysis in the tables below summanses the Group's capital
expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
over the two-year penicd ended 31 December 2006 Capital additions
on the balance sheet of £156m for 2006 were £2m below 2005 and
represented 104% of depreciation, excluding non-cash asset write-
downs related to restructunng (2005 94 %)

In 20086, capital expenditure was incured on a large number of relatvely
minor projects undertaken with the intention of maintaining existing and
developing additional production capacty as well as delvering further
productrvity simproverments  Investment was also made in additional
stores capacty for Paints, manufacturing capacity for resins and ather
polymers in China and a second Pants plant in Vietnam

Capital expendrture in support of the 2006 transformaton
programme amounted to £5m in the year

Commitments for capital expenditure not provided in the Group's
consclidated financial staterments totalled £115m at 31 December
2006 (2005 £100m)

These commitments for caprtal expenditure are analysed further in note
33 relating to the Group accounts between those for which contracts
have been placed and those authonsed but not vet contracted

Group expenditure on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

2006 2005
Business segments £m £m
Continuing Operations
Paints 61 45
Adhesives 22 23
Specialty Starches 17 16
Specialty Polymers 8 [}
Electronic Matenals 7 8
Total Natranal Starch 54 53
Regional and Industrral 15 18
Total reporting segments 130 116
Corporate and other 1 3
Total continuing operations 131 119
Discontinued Operations
Quest 15 22
unigemna 10 17
Total discontinued operations 25 38
Total Group 156 158
Depreciation and amortisation 163 172
2006 2005
Geographical segments £m £m
United Kingdom 18 20
Continental Europe 29 27
North Amenca 54 64
Latin America 8 8
Asia 45 37
Other countnies 2 2
Total Group 156 158
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Liqutchty and capital resources

Treasury policies

The Graup's Treasury seeks to reduce financiat nsk, to ensure
sufficient lquidity 1s avaidable to meet foreseezble needs and to invest
cash asseis safely and profitably It operates within policies and
procedures approved by the Board, which include stnct controls on
the use of financial nstruments In managing the Group’s nsk The
Group does not undertake any trading actraty in financial
instruments The Group reviews the credit qualty of counterparties
and imits individual and aggregate credit exposures accordingly

Frnancing and interest rate risk

At 31 December 20086, the Group’s net debt was £329m {2005 £763m
after IFRICA restatement) Debt 1s pnncipally sourced from bonds,
medwm-term notes, commercial paper, secuntised receivables and
bank debt The Group’s berrowings are pamarily raised centrally by
Group finance companies and subsequently lent to operating
subsidianes on commercial terms  The Group borrows in the major
global debt markets in a range of currencies at both fixed and
floating rates of interest and uses dervatives to generate the desired
currency and interest rate profile of borrowings

The Group's exposure to interest rate fluctuations on 1ts borrowings
1S managed through the use of interest rate swaps and forward rate
agresments The Group’s target 1S to mantain interest cover abaove
four imes It maintains its debt book principally In floating rates, but
fxes debt, selectively, 1o support its pohicy of trying to ensure that
interest cover does not fall below four tmes Notes 23 and 31 relating
to the Greup accounts show the overall interest rate structure of the
Group's borrowings at the end of 2006 The currency disposition of
the borrowings Is used as a partal, long-term hedge of the cash
flows arising from investments overseas and as a hedge aganst
future business disposal proceeds due to be received Consequently,
a large part of the Group's borrowings (after taking account of swaps
and forward contracts) 1s denominated in US dollars Detalls of the
currency mex of borrowings are shown in note 31 relating to the
Group accounts In addition, in determining currency mix, the

Group takes into account the availlability and costs of funds, and

the sensitivity of Group geanng and earnings ratios to exchange

rate movements

Business revigw

The matunty of loans 15 shown In note 23 relating to the Group
accounts The Group's objective In determining borrowing maturity
15 to ensure a balance between flexibility, cost and the continuing
avallabilty of funds

Funding policy aims to produce a reasonzably even matunty profile
for long-term debt up to five years' maturty The average matunty for
fong-term debt was 2 7 years at 31 December 2006

Liguidity and investments

At 31 December 2008, the Group had at its disposal US$700m
{£357m} of undrawn, comimitted borrowing facilities, maturning March
2010 These faciliies prowide a cover for short-term funding as well
as flexibility to meet future cash flows

In addition, facities of US$240m {£122m) are avaitable in relation to
two recevables securttisation programmes which the Group runs in
the USA
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Business review - financial review contnued

The Group's net debt position has histoncally changed over the
course of a year, and, In particular, short-term debt has generally
increased in the early part of the year to fund working capital
requrements These worlang capital needs anse prncipally from the
seasonalty of the Paints business, which experiences higher sales of
products used on the extenior of buidings, and thus working capital,
dunng the North Amencan and European summer {the second and
third quarters of the year) The Group's commercial paper
programmes and other short-term borrowings are normally used to
fund these working capital fluctuations At 31 Decernber 20086, the
Group had £16m of short-term borrowings outstanding (as shown
in note 23 relating to the Group accounts)

Dunng 2006, the principal movernent n long-term debt was the
matunty of a $250m 10-year bond in November 2006

During 2006, there have been no changes in ICIs debt ratings,
although the outlook from Moody's Investors Service has improved
from stable to posive Standard & Poor's Ratings Services rating

15 BBB/Stable/A-2 and Moody's Investor Service rating Is
Baa3/Positive/P-3 Access to the range of debt markets which

{Cl currently enjoys requires ICI to maintain its investment grade
credit rating Any downgrade of ICIs credit rating would reduce ts
funding options, signuficantly increase s cost of borrowings and
have an adverse effect on its results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition

Off-balance sheet arrangements
Off-balance sheet financing compnses the leases descnbed in
note 32 relating to the Group accounts

Contractual obligations

The following table summarises ICI's pnncipal contractual obligations
at 31 Decemnber 2006, including instaiments, which are described in
the accounis and related notes The table below excludes contractual
obligations such as dernvatves, and other hedging mstruments, and
also the non-novated contracts referred to in the narrative of notes
33 and 36 refating to the Group accounts Further analysis of the
indnadual obligations can be rewewed by reference to the notes
relating to the Group accounts indicated n the tabie below

Contractual obligations
Payments dueg In
Netes 2m2
ratating to 2008 % 2008 and
the Group  Tatal 2007 2009 2011 alter
As at 31 Decembar 2006 accounts £m £m £m tm £m
Loans 23 981 457 255 23 248
Finance lease obligations 32 8 2 2 2 2
Cperating lease obligations 32 274 56 B5 49 84
Capital expendiure a3 26 26 - - -
IC1 UK Pension Fund
—top-up 4 676 122 244 124 186
ICI UK Specialty Chemicals
Pension Fund - top-up 34 111 12 25 25 49
Purchase obligations 403 44 209 80 70
Total 2479 719 820 303 637

Foreign currency risk

Mast of the Group's net assets are denominated in currencies other
than Steriing with the resuit that the Group's Sterling balance sheet
can be sgrificantly affected by currency movements The Group
partialty hedges this effect by borrowing in currencies other than
Sterfing The Group does not hedge transtation exposures other
than by the passive use of currency bormrowings
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The Group selectively hedges ts anticipated future trading cash flows
up to 12 months ahead using forward contracts The majonty of this
hedging s performed by Group Treasury The Group's profits are
denominated n many curencies across the world, the most
significant of which are the US dollar and related currencies

Based on the 2008 currency mix of profits, the adverse annual
1mpact due to transtation exposures on the Group operating profit
{before special items) of a 5% strengthening of Sterling agamnst the
US dolfar and related currencies compared with the average rates
prevailing in 2006 would be approxmately £11m The eguwvalent
mmpact of a 5% strengthening of Sterling against the Euro would lead
to an adverse impact of approxmately £3m

Counterparty credit nsk

The Group's counterparty credit nsks anse manly frorm non-central
operating cash held on short-term bank depostt, the positive *mark to
market” effect of swaps and counterparty nsk ansing from the
lquidity of the Group’s captive Insurance company The Group
considers the nsk of matenal loss in the event of non-performance by
a financial or non-financial counterparty to be low

Quantitative disclosure about market risk

The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the market value or the
fair value of the Group’s financial Instruments to selected changes in
market rates and prices The rates of change chosen reflect the
Group's view of changes that are reasonably possible over a one-
year penod Far velues are guoted values or, where these are not
available, values obtained by discounting cash flows at market rates
of using option valuation models The fair values for interest rate nsk
are calculated by using a standard zere coupon discounted cash flow
preing model

Market risk - Interest rate sensitivity

The sensmty analysis in the table which follows assumes an
nstantaneous 1% movement 1IN interest rates of all currencies from ther
levels at 31 December 2006, with all other variables held constant

Market risk - Interest rate sensitivity
Fair vaue Faw vatua change
+1% ~1%
movemant movement
31 December in interest in intarast
2008 2005 rates rates
£m Em £m £m
Loans (1,001) (1 280) 22 (23}
Interest rate swaps 5 {8) 3) 3

An ingrease n short-term interest rates of all currencies of 1% would
increase Group net interest payable for the year by £10m

Market risk — Foreign currency sensitivity

The sensitvty analys:s in the table which follows assumes an
wstantaneous 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates
agamnst Stering from thexr levels at 31 December 20086, with all
other vanables (including interest rates and cumrency option volatiity)
held constant
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Market risk - Foreign currency sensitivity
Fair value Fair valua changa
+10% -10%
strangth wezk-
31 December aning ot aning af
2008 2005 Sierlng Stedng
£m £m £m £m
Loans (1,001} (1,280) 61 {75)
Currency swaps - - 23 {28)
Forward contracts
hedging debt 6 5 32 (39)
Forward contracts
hedging working
capital - - 1 (1)
* Aganst of curenckes

The Group's debt after financial denvatves at the 2006 year end was
held 60% in US doilars and refated currencies, 51% in Euro and
related currencies, 10% in Yen and (21)% In other currencies

Changes from movements n currency rates In loans, currency swaps
and forward contracts hedging debt, and similar movernents in the
values of the investments being hedged, are taken through the
Staternent of Group recognised incorme and expense in accordance
with LAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates and
IAS 38 Financial Instruments  Recogntion and Measurement

Changes due to exchange movements in forward contracts hedging
working capital are recognsed In trading profit immediately, but are
offset by gans/lossas an the warking capital thay ara hedang

Accounting policies and standards

New Accounting Standards

international Financial Reporting Standards

IFRIC 4 Deterrmineng whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
came into effect dunng the year and provides gudance on whether
complex arrangements include a lease As a result of this
requirernent, certain arrangements have required reclassification as
lsases Further detals of this and other new Accounting Standards
adopted but not yet effective can be found In note 1 relating to the
Group accounts on page 69

New US Accounting Standards are disclosed in note 36 relating to
the Group accounts on page 124

The Company accounts have been prepared in accordance with UK
GAAP Detatls of new accounting standards can be found in note (i}
relating to the Company accounts on page 138

Related party transactions

The main related party transactrons are with 1C Insurance Limited,
ICI Pensions Trustee Limited and [Cl Specialty Chemicals Pensions
Trustee Limited (detads are in note 34 relating to the Group accounts}

US GAAP resuits

The financial statements of the ICl Group are prepared in accordance
waith [FRS IFRS differs in certain respects from US GAAP Net income
from continuing and discontinued operations and sharsholders’
equity calculated in accordance with US GAAP are set out n the
following table Note 36 relating to the Group accounts descrbes the
significant differences between IFRS and US GAAP affecting the IC!
Group's net income for the three years ended 31 December 2006
and shareholders' equrty for the two years ended 31 December
2008
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US GAAP results

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m m

Net income (l0ss)

Contnumng operations 264 181 i27 80 (140)
Discontnued operations 1 27 (22) (256} 149
Net income (loss) 265 208 105  (166) 9

Basic earnings {loss)
per €1 Ordinary Share

Continuing operaticns 221p 153p 108 76p {126)p

Discontinued operations 01p 23p (19p 2i6p 134p

Net earmings (loss) per

£1 Ordinary Share 222p 176p 89 (140p 08
£m £tm fm £m £m

Shareholders’ equity 2,063 2,010 2,279 2359 2,805
Total assets 6,543 7,280 731 B093 8,753

Under US GAAR, net income: in 2006 was £265m {2005 £208m)
compared with net income of £295m (2005 £390m) under IFRS
Under US GAAR, shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2006 was
£2,053m (at 31 December 2005 was £2,010m), comparad with
£313m defictt (2005 £616m deficd) under IFRS These differences
primanly result from the diffenng accounting treatment of post-
retirement benefit expense, tax accounting adjustments, purchase
accounting adjustments, disposal accounting, dervatve instruments
and hedging activities, caprtalisation of interest, nventory provisions,
restructuning costs, and the tax effect of these differences

Dividends

Draidends pad (including the related UK tax credt} on each Amencan
Depositary Share (ADS) translated into US dollars at the rates of
exchange on the respective dvidend payment dates (or, In the case
of the secand intenm dmdend for the year 2006, to be pad on

13 Apnt 2007, the rate on 7 February 2007), were

Dividends per ADS

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
$/ADS $/ADS $/405 $/ADS $/AD8

Dmadends declared per ADS 069 054 053 043 048
Dnndends paid per ADS 059 (056 049 048 069
Note Each ADS represents four Ordinary Shares

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

For the purpose of computing this ratio, earnings consist of the
income from conttnuing operations before taxation of Group
companies and mcome recenved from companies owned 50% or
less, plus fixed charges excluding captaiised interest Fixed charges
consist of interest (including capialised interest) on all indebtedness,
amortisation of debt discount and expense and that portion of rental
expense representative of the interest factor

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

For the Group

{under IFRS) 43 43 48 n/a n/a
For the Group
{uncter UK GAAR) nfa n/a 33 15" 23

For the Group with
adjustments to accord
with US GAAP 26 34 22 22 07

Extracted from data i 2004 accounts

The deficiency of earnings to {xed charges for the year ended
31 December 2002 was £66m
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Business review - financial review contnued

Market trends and sensitivities

ICl's husinesses market and sell ther products within a wide vanety
of Industry sectors and geographic regions The Group strategy
focuses on achieving higher levels of profitable growth, including
where the markets are considered to be nherently attractive

(e g high levels of GDP growth, increasing consurner demand

for pariicular products or services or opportunities to expand 1CI's
coverage quickly) Key areas of focus include Asia (particularty the
fast-growing economes of China, India, Indonesia and Vietnamy,
the global electronics compaonents indusiry and the global specialty
polymers businesses of National Starch

There are underlying trends n these chfferent markets that the Group
believes make them attraciive for its businesses, but similarly there
are assoctated nsks to growth expectations should the relatve rates
of growth change matenally ICl's exposure to these markets Is set
out 1n the strategic review and the indwdual strategies of ts
businesses are explained i thew descnptions starting on page 12

The following comments prowde more detail on the trends that
the Group believes will benefit long-term growth as well as some
of the sensitmbies that may affect performance relatwve to these
trends More detall on these and other nisk factors can be found
in the following section These comments should also be reviewed
in conjunction with the forward-locking staterments disclosure on
page t55

Agsia Pacific 1C! has a well-established positon in Asta, particulary
ICI Pants and National Starch Thesr products are sold into growth
segments of local economies ICIs businesses in Asia are well placed
to benefit from the expected GDP growth in these economies

In addition, [CH's mayor international customers are Investing in
capacity to service domestic and export markets Growth estimates
remain strong for the region and one or two countries i particular
Recent figures supplied by Oxford Economic Forecasts indicate
that China’s Gross Domestic Preduct in 2007 1s expected to grow
9 6% and India 7 6% |CI's “grow aggressively” businesses are 1o

a large extent dependent on the successful development of these
economies and, should the economic outicok change, this would
impact favourably or unfavourably the Group's rates of growth

Healthy eating National Starch's starch operations are currently
benefiting from the trend towards healthier eating In general,
processed foods have histonically had higher levels of fat, salt, sugar
and other carbohydrates to overcome 1ssues with coolang cycles,
storage and mouth feel The development of resistant starches that
can substitute the culinary mpact of other carbohydrates creates a
range of market opportunities, driven mainty by consumers’
preferences for convenience, but also for a healtheer product
Changes in these trends could impact, favourably or unfavourably,
upon the performance of this business

Electronic matenals Mational Starch manufactures a range of high
performance adhesives and protective coatings for the electronics
industry The trend towards mimaturisation and more powerful
electronic devices has histoncalty contributed to greater demands on
the technical capability and value of ICl's products, as well as drmang
higher volumes As a result, the business has grown successiully
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ICI believes that the electromics market, whilst Iikely to remain more
cychcal than most, will continue to grow ang present National Starch
with sustained opportunities to introduce new technologies Against
thus backdrop, ndidual market cycles may have a short-term impact
on the business

Other markets to which ICI has a large exposure or other facters -
which ICl believes can influence its performance are described below,
together with ICI's views on the underlying trends and sensitvties

Western European and North Amencan markets for fast-moving
consumer goods products and construction matenals ICl's businesses
manufacture and sell a wide range of products used in the home or
censtruction industnes ICI's performance In these markets is Iinked to
undertying GOP growth, consumer spending and other market-specific
trends For example, ICl Paints s currently expenencing fower
demand in the USA, related to a weak housing market

Qil pnices and raw matenal costs |Cl s exposed to changes in the
relationship betwesn supply and demand for key matenals For
example, the cost of acrylates (used by both National Starch ancd
Pamts) increased rapidly dunng 2005 and the cost of corn, used by
the specialty starch business, has already nsen sharply in 2607

Higher oil costs impact the petrechermical raw matenals bought by
the Group More detalls of the types of raw materals bought by ICI
are included on page 22 As in 2005, ICl Pants and National Starch
were able to pass on these raw matenal cost increases dunng 2006

Energy costs Approximately 80% of ICl's continuing businesses by
sales value manufacture therr products using mixang ¢r compounding
operations, rather than capital intensive, energy intensive processes,
for examnple, paints, adhesives and electronic matenals 20% are
capital and energy intensive processes — the starch manufactunng
facilities of National Starch and the Regional and Industnal actvities
in Pakistan These businesses have some exposure to energy pnce
fluctuations, for exarnple, Natonal Starch's starch operations suffered
from significant increases in natural gas prices dunng 2005

PTA to paraxylena {PX) differential margin the profitabiity of the
Regional and Industrial business in Pakistan 1s significantly affected
by the market pnce differential between PTA seling prices and the
cost of the key PTA feedstock, paraxylene Pakistan PTA Ltd
currently benefits from local tanff protection due to expire in 2008,
the continued sustainabilty of the business would be dependent on
the outcome of discussions with the government to review ongoing
tanff protection
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Business review - risk factors

The followtng comprises a summary of what ICI believes are the man
nsks to which the Group 15 exposed, which could adversely affect

the business, results of operations, cash flow, financial condition,
turnover, profits, assets, iquidity, and caprial resources of the Group

The Group operates in competitive markets If the Group does not
continue to compete in its markets effectively by developing innovatve
produets and responding effectively to the actities of its
competitors, 1t could lose customers and its results of operations,
cash flow and/or financial condition could be adversely affected

The Group has a wide portfolio of business units competing across
a diverse range of geographic and product markets The Group's
business may be adversely affected if it does not

= continue to develop INnovaive products that satisfy custormer
neads and preferences,

+ develop new fechnology or enhance existing technology that
supports product development or provides cost or other
advantages over its competitors, and

+ attract and retain skilled employses who are key to achieving
these objectives

As the Group 1s subject to pnce competiton, it must also continue
to satisfy these objectives whils maintairing a competitive cost base
In addition, some of the Group's competitors In certain markets are
larger and have greater financiat resources than the Group This may
enable them to deliver products on more attractive terms or to invest
larger amounts of capital mto ther businesses, Including expenditure
for research and development If any of the Group's current or future
competitors develops proprietary technology that enables them to
produce new products or services or to deliver existing products

or services at a sigrnificantly lower cost, the Group's products and
services could be rendered uneconomical or obsolete

While some of the Group's product range comprises products and
services that are protected by propnetary knowledge or patents,
some of its businesses use technology that 15 widely available
Accordingly, certain product segments of the Group's business may
be vulnerable to new competitors and may be adversely affected by
increased pnce competiticn Any of these developments could lead
to a loss of customers and could adversely affect the Group's results
of operations, cash flow and/or financial condition

The pnce volatiity of some of the raw matenals the Group uses
could adversely affect its results of operations, cash flow andfor
financial condition

The Group uses significant amounts of vanous chermicals and other
rnatenals as raw rmatenals in manufactunng its products Pnces far
sorme of these raw materials are volatle and are affected by cyclcal
movements in commodity pnces, avalability of such raw matenals,
demand for a vanety of products which are produced using these
raw matenals, levels of price competition among local and global
suppliers and general econemic condibons  The Group's dverse
peortiolic of value-added products provides some ability to pass on
higher input prices to its customers, but this ability 1s, to a large
extent, dependent on market conditions There may be times when
the Group 15 not able to recover Increases in the cost of raw matenals
for some products due to weakness in demand for such products or
the actions of ts compettors Thus could adversely affect the Group's
results of operations, cash flow and/or financial condrtion

The occurrence of major operational problems could have an
adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition
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The Group's revenues are dependent on the continued operation
of s vanous manufactunng facilites Operational nsks include

» equipment and systems falures,

= fafure to comply with applicable regulations and standards and
to mantain necessary permits and approvals,

* raw matenal supply disruptions,

» fabour force shortages or work stoppages,

= events smpeding or Increasing the cost of transporting products,
« natural disasters, and

+ terronst attacks

While the Group matntains insurance at levels that it believes are
appropnate for its industry, some of these operational nsks coulkd
result in losses and liabilites in excess of its insurance coverage or
n uninsured losses or labikties The occurrence of major operational
problems resulting from the above or other events may have an
adverse effect on the results of operations, cash flow and/or financal
condition of a particular manufactunng facility or, with respect to
certain of these nsks, the results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condiion of the Group as a whole

The Group undertakes a number of sigruficant projects each year and
poor execution of, or faillure to complete, such projects could have an
adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition

The Group, or any of the Group's business units, may undertake
signdicant projects including restructunng, capital expenditure,
disposals, acquistions and outsourcing, all of which require significant
project management from iniztion through to implementation  Falure to
manage such projects appropnately or to implernent such projects may
have an adverse effect on the results of operations, cash fiow and/or
financial condliton of a particular business unit andfor the Group as a
whole

Loss of a significant number of key personnel could adversely affact
the Group's resuits of operations, cash flow and/or financial
conaition

Business review ’

The Group relies on key personnel such as business leaders and
technical experts whose knowledge 1s imporiant to the success of the
Group Although the Group has procedures In place to identfy and
retain key personnel, events beyond its control may lead to loss of
such personnel Where this happens, there are processes designed
to enable the transfer of know-how from key personnel However,
falure to transfer such know-how prior to the loss of key personnel
and an inabilty to replace such key personnel in a timely fashion
could have an adverse effect on the Group's results of operations,
cash flow and/or financial condition

The Group derves a significant percentage of its revenue n some of
ifs businesses from sales to major customers and, if 1t 1s unable to
retain these customers, Its results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition could be adversely affected

While no single customer accounted for more than 10% of Group
sales n 2008, sales to major customers In some of s businesses,
particularly Paints, are significant The Group believes that the wide
selling range and nature of the specialty products it supplies reduce
the potental adverse consequences of the loss of business from
any one customer for any one of #s products or i any one of its
businesses Nevertheless, the loss of major customers, without
reptacement, could have an adverse effect on the Group's results
of operations, cash flow and/or financial condition
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Business review - risk factors contnued

The Group's relance on key supphiers in some of its businesses could
result n an adverse effect on results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condrtion

Some of the Group's business units refy on a small number of
suppliers for their key raw materials If any of these suppliers s
unable to meei its obligations or increases its prices, the Group may
not be able to find a reptacement supplier that 1s able to provide such
raw matertals on similar terms  Consequently, the Group may be
forced to pay higher prices to obtain raw matenals, which it may not
be able to pass on to its customers i the form of increased prices for
its fiushed products In addition, some of the raw matenals used may
become unavallable and there can be no assurance that the Group
will be able to cbtain sutable and cost-effective substiutes
Furthermore, any consolidation in the industries that supply the
Group's raw matenals could further reduce the number of avalable
suppliers

Any interruption of supply or price Increases caused by these or
other factors, which the Group s not able to mitigate by secunng
satisfactory replacement suppliers, could have an adverse effect
on its results of operations, ¢ash flow and/or financial condrtion

The Group's indebtedness and resulting leverage could reducs its
operational and competitive flexibility, increase its vulnerabiiity to
adverse econornic and industry conditions, increase its interest costs
and adversely affect results of operations and cash flow and/or
financtal condition

The Group’s outstanding net indebtedness amounted to £328m
as of 31 December 2006 The Group's Indebtedness could affect
the Group In adverse ways, In particular by requinng the Group to
dedicate a significant portion of its operational cash flow to service
payments on such ndebtedness, and by miting its abiity to borrow
additiona! funds or refinance existing iIndebtedness on attractive
terms Furthermore, its indebtedness could Increase s vulnerablity
to adverse economic and industry condrions, kmit ds ability to

fund future caprtal expenditures, research and development and
other general corporate requirements, and Imit s flexibity to
react to changes In its business and the industries i which the
Group operates

In addition, like many other companies, the Group I1s dependent on its
ability to obtain short-term financing to fund a porton of its financing
requirements While the Group has access to £479m in comemutted
and undrawn bank facilities as of 31 December 2006, Iimitations on
the Group's ability to access short-term financing could increase its
interest costs and could adversely affect its results of operations,
cash flow and/or financial condition

A decision by the rating agencies o downgrade ICI's credit rating
would reduce its fundiing options, increase its cost of borrowings and
have an adverse impact on results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition

A number of factors, some of which are not within the Group’s
control, may, indsdually or in combination, affect the rating agencies'
view of the Group’s credit profile and lead them to place the Group
on crednt watch or downgrade its credit rating, including

+ a significant deterioration In the Group's operating performance,

«» the occurrence of matenal, unexpected additional cash charges
leacing to a weakerung in cash flow/debt metncs,

» a significant detenoration In the economic emaronment i which
the Group cperates,

» the occurrence of any of the evenis descnbed in the other nsk
factors contained In this document, and
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» significant ncreases n the defict of the Group’s pension funds
or sigruficant increases In the top-up contributions of such funds

Whilst ICI currently has a Standard & Poor's Ratings Services
rating of BBB/Stable/A-2 and a Moody’s Investors Service rating
of Baa3/Positve/P-3, any downgrade of such credit ratings would
reduce ts funding options, sigmificantly increase s cost of
borrowings and have an adverse effect on ts results of operations,
cash flow and/cr financial condition

Previcusly disposed businesses may expose the Group to costs that
could have an adverse effect on its results of operations, cash flow
andfor financial condition

In recent years, the Group has carried out a programme of strategic
disposals, in the course of which 1t has given to other parties in those
transactions certain indsmnities, warranties and guarantees, including
Indemnities, warranties and guarantees relating to known and
potentiat latent environmental, health and safety liabiities There are
alsc a number of contracts relating to businesses that ICI exited as
part of its disposal pregramime which have not been novated to the
purchasers of these businesses

The extent tc which ICI wilt be required In the future to incur costs
under any of the indemnifications, warranties, guarantees or
contracts referred to above or any similar contractual provision which
the Group entered into In connection with ts disposal programme 1s
not predictable and, «f the Group should incur such costs, the costs
could have an adverse effect on results of operations, cash flow and
financial condition For a more detalled description of these
exposures see note 33 relating to the Group accounts

Risks assocrated with the Group's international operations
could adversely affect its resufts of operations, cash flow and/or
financial condition

ICl 18 an international business with operations in over 50 countries
and conducts business In many currencies These operations are
subject to the risks associated with international operations which
include

» slowdown or recession in global, regional or national
€CONOMIC growih,

¢ imposiion or remeval of tanffs and trade bamers,
* exchange controls,

« fluctuations in national currencies,

+ social and poltical risks,

* national and regronal labour disputes,

* required complance with a vanety of foreign laws, regulations
and standards, and

* the difficulty of enforcing legat claims and agreements through
some foreign legal systems

Furthermore, some of the Group's businesses are subject to cyclical
fluctuations in the iIndustries and ecoromies in which they operate
Finatly, ke all iInternational businesses, the Group faces the nsk of
exposure when costs anse n a different currency from sales and the
nsk ansing from the need to translate foreign currency denorminated
profits into pounds Sterling, the Groun's reporting currerncy Any of
the nisks drscussed above coufd adversely affect its results of
operations, cash flow and/or financial condition
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Economic, social and poftical conditions i developing economies
could advarsely affect the Group's resulis of operations, cash flow,
financral condition and/or future growth

The Group has operations In many developing economies N Asia

and Latin Amenca, and its strategy includes continuing to expand its
business in these regions However, many developing economies
have recent histones of economic, social and political nstability
brought about by a number of factors, including unexpected changes
in local laws, regulations and standards, substantial depreciation and
volatiity in national currencies, and the imposition of trade barriers
and wage and price controls Any of these factors could adversely
affect the Group's results of operations, cash fiow, financial condition
andfor future growth

The Group's exposure to consurmer markets exposes it to legal nsks,
regulation and potential habilities from product liability claims asserted
by consumers which could have an adverse effect on the Group's
results of operations, cash fiow and/or financial condition

A significant proportion of the Group's products 1s sold directly or
inchirectly to end-user consumers, even if the Group does not tself
provide these products directly to consumers This exposure to
consumer markets exposes the Group to legal nisks, regulation by
relevant authorities and potential labilities to consumers of these
products, which may not be covered by the Group's existing
Insurance coverage or may exceed Its Insurance coverage Any

of these factors could have an adverse effect on the Group’s results
of operations, cash flow and/or financial condition

Certain compares in the Group are the subject of various claims and
proceedings which, if successfully asserted agamst them, could have
art adverse effect on its results of operations, cash flow and/or
financial conaition

Certain companies in the Group are the subject of various clams and
proceedings These concern 1ssues such as alleged product liability
and contract disputes Further detalls of such claims and
proceedings are set out at note 33 relating to the Group accounts

The ultimate outcome of these matters 15 subject to many
uncertainties, including future events and the uncertainties inherent
in itigation The Group has made prowision in its financial statements
for such matiers to the extent that losses are presently considered
probatsle and eshmable However, these matters involve substantial
sums, and an unfavourable outcome of one or more of these matters
could have a matenal effect on the Group’s results of operations,
cash flow and/or financial positicn

Violations of environmental, health and safety and other laws,
regulations and standards could restnct the Group's operations,
expose it to hability, increase its costs and have an adverse effect
on its results of operations, cash flow andfor financial condition

The Group 1s subject to a broad range of laws, regulations and
standards in each of the Junsdictions where t operates, including
those relating to pollution, the health and safety of employees,
protection of the public, protection of the environment and the
generation, storage, handing, transportation, treatment, disposal
and remediation of hazardous substances and waste materials
These regulations and standards are becoming increasingly stringent

In the ordnary course of businass, the Group is subject to
inspections and monitoring by the appropnate enforcement
authorties The Group also requires relevant permits and approvals
for its operations which require comphance with ther terms and
which may be subject to renewal, modification and, In some
circumstances, revocation
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It 1s the Group's policy to require that s subsidianes comply with
relevant laws, regulations and standards However, violations of
applicable laws, regulations and standards, in particular provisions
of envircnmental, health and safety laws (including spills or other
releases of hazardous substances into the emvironment) or of permit
or approval regurrements, could result in restrictions on the operation
of the Group's facilties, damages, fines or other sanctions, Increased
costs of complance, and reputational damage The Group 1 also
subject to environmental laws and regulations, prncipally in respect
of soll and groundwater remediation, that in the future may require it
to take action to correct effects on the environment of pnor disposal
or release of chemical substances by the Group or other parties

The Group has established provisions in respect of future
environmental, health and safety labilties for which expenditure 1
probable and the cost of which can be estimated within a reasonable
range of outcomes These actual and potential labilities, however,
are inherently difficuli to predict and to quantfy Existing provisions
could therefore be inadequate to cover these labiities, and additional
costs to meet such actual and potential obligations could have an
adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flow and
financial condition

Failure to comply with corporate governance requirements could have
an adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flow
and‘or financial condition

The Group bas in place a corporate governance framework which
meets the requirements set out in Section | of the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council
N July 2003 Processes are In place to ensure that this framework 1s
complied with and maintaned

Failure by the Group to implement, update, manage and maintain its
corperate governance compliance and control framework or failure to
comply with such a framework could have an adverse effect en the
Group's results of operations, cash flow and/or financial condition

ICI has given undertalungs and guarantees refating to pension funds,
including the solvency of the ICI UK Pension Fund, which could have
an adverse effect on s results of operations, cash flow andfor
financial condition

Business review ’

The Group provides retirement benefits for the majority of its former
and current employees through a vanety of defined benefit and, more
recently, defined contnbution schemes These include the IC! UK
Pension Fund {the “Fund™), which is ICI’s largest defined benefit
scheme Af 31 December 2008, the Fund had labilities of £7,568m,
offset by scheme assets with a market value of £6,871m, giving a net
deficit of £697m which 1s recorded on the Group's balance sheet
under International accounting standard 1AS19 Emplovee Benefits
The Fund represents 81% of the Group's total post-retrement
scheme habities and 86% of the Group's total post-retirement
scheme assets at 31 December 2006

The most recent funding valuation of the Fund revealed a funding
shortfall of £657m at 31 March 2005 Given that the Fund 1s
extremely mature, the funding deficit shortfall has to be rectified
through funding from the Company Factors such as the nsk of poor
future investment returns on scheme assets, changes in actuanal
assumptions including mortalty of scheme members, higher rates of
inflation and/or falling bond-return rates used to discount the scheme
liabmties coutd ail serve to Increase the Fund defictt, thereby requinng
increased future funding contnbutions from the Company wath a
resulting adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, cash
flow and/or financal condibon
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l Boartd of Directors, governance and remuneration

Board of Directors and Executive Management Team

1 Peter B Ellwocd, CBE
Chairman

Appointed Deputy Chasman on 27 June
2003 and Chairman with effact trom

1 January 2004

Pater Ellwoed Joined Barclays Bank in
1961 where he held a number of senlor
10es including Chiaf Execttve of
Barclaycard from 1985 to 1989

In 1989 ha |cined TSB Bank as Ghief
Executive Retall Banking was appointad
a Directar of TSB Group n 1890 and
becama Group Chiaf Executrve in 1952
Following the mecger with Lioyds Bank
in 1995 he becama Daputy Group Chie!
Exacutiva of tloyds TSB Group ple,
subsequantly becoming Group Chlef
Exscutve In 1997 until nis retirement

in 2003 He was Chairman of Visa
Internatonal from 1994 to 1999

Poater Eltwood was made a Commander of
the Order of the Britisn Empira tor sarvices
to banking in 2001 and Is a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers He has
recaved Honorary Doctorates from both
Leicester University and the University of
Central England He s Charman of the UK
Rovyat Parks Advisery Board The Royal
Parks Charitable Foundation ard The
Work Foundation of Great Britalin

He is also a Director of the Royal
Phitharmonic Qrchestra and a Non
Executve Director of First Data
Corporation Inc In his business career
Pater Eltlwood has baen a leadar In driving
sirategic and structural change and
afficiency improverneant and he brings to
his rcle as Chalrman axtensive business
experfence, energy and determunation
Aged 63

2 John D G McAdam

Chlet Executlve

Appointed a Director on 1 March 1999 and
Chuef Executive on @ April 2003 He Joined
the Company in 1997 following the
acquisition of the Specizlity Cherrscals
businesses from Unilaver

John McAdam graduaied trom
Manchester University with a first class
honours degres In Chemical Physics and
after completing hrs doctorate was
awardec a researchi laflowship
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In 1974 he joined Unilaver as a
management trainee and hald a variaty
of managerlal posltions within Birgs

Eya Foods before joining the Beard of
Unilever s flavours and fragrance busingss
PPF International as Technlcal Directar
In 1987 he joined the Board of Quast
International as Serwor Vica Preswdent in
charpa of Manutacturing Logistics and
Procuremant betors returning 1o Birds
Eye Walls whare he assumed Board
rgspensibility for Manutacturing Research
and Deveaiopment

In 3993 he was appointed Charman of
Unichema international and following

1Cl 3 acquisition of the Unilever Spaclality
Chemical businesses in 1997 bacama
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofilcer of
Quest and a mamber of the IC Executive
Managemen: Team In January 1598 he
was appointed Chawman and Chief
Exacutiva of IC1 Paints and the following
year ha was elactad to the Board of ICI
with additignal responsibility for Rasearch
Davalopment and Techinology and ICI's
actities in Asia

John McAdam s a business laader with
astrong focus on results and axtensive
knowledge of ICI's oparations arcund the
world The Board believes that the
combination of knowladge drive and
leadership he is bringing to bear on the
1ssuas facing ICI is serving both the
Company and Its shareholders well

He is Senlor Indapendent Director of

- Sainsbury plc and is a member of the
Univarsity of Cambridge Chemistry
Advisory Board Aged 58

3 Alan Brown

Cruef Financlal Otticer

Appaintad a Diractor and Chiet Finanelal
Qtficer on 14 November 2005

Alan Brown read law at Liverpaci University
and was called to the Bar In 1981 Ha s
also a member of the Charterad Institute
of Management Accountants

Ho joined Unllgver In 1980 and during the
first seven years of hus career worked In
Birgts Eye Walls in the UK After four years
n Mergers 8 Acquisitons Treasury and
Investor Relations at Unilever Head Cifice
Alan Brown returned to Birds Eye Walls as
Finance and Conynercial Director in 1961

in 1994 he movad to Unilever Food &
Beverages Europe as Senior Vice
President Finance and Information
Technology In 1997 he moved to Asia as
Executtve Chairman Unllever Talwan and
then In 2001 assumed the rela of
Exegcutive Chairman, Unllever China and
e cecently of Unilever Hong Kong as
well Alan Brown has nad a distinguishad
carear as a senicr {inanca professional
and general managar within Unilever and
possesses a considerabla breadth of
commercial and internationa! experience
naving worked extanstvety in Asia and
Continental Evrope Aged 50

4 pavid C M Hamill

Director

Appointed a Diractor on 8 Dacamber
2003 He Is Chalrman and Chlet Executve
of ICI Paints

David Hamill joined the Company from
Rayal Philips Blactronics where he was
a member of the Group Management
Committea A graduate In Production
Engingering and Managemant from
Strathclyde Unvessity David Harrdl
worked for Honeywell and General
Instruments bafare joining Phiips
Semicontucions as product manager

In 1988 He held a number of senior
positions within Phiips' Power
Semiconductors and Lighting businessas
becoming President of Philps Lightng
Asla Pacific in 1996 and Execitive Vice
President ot Philips Ughung and Chist
Executiva Officer of the Lamps business
group two years later

In May 2001 he became Prasident and
Chiat Executrve Officer of Phllips Lightng

David Hamill has held senior management
roles In Europe and Asia wherg he has
gaineg considerabla production
commaerclal marketing and finance
experignce Whilst his experience with
large vetal customers has speciflc
retgvanca for ICl Paints his broader
business expertise, and in particutar his
undarstancing ol Asian markets s of
valua ta the Group a5 a wholg

untlt Dacember 2005 David Hamili was
a Non-Executve Tlrecter of BPB plc
Aged 49

5 Charles F Knott

Diractor

Apporited a Cirector on 1 September
2004 Heis Chalrman and Chiet Exaecutive
of Quest International ard has regional
oversight responsibllites for Group
activities in Eurape the Middle East and
Atnca Chales Knott atso has Soad
responsibility for Sustalnability throughout
the Group

Charles Knott graduated from Newcastle
University in 1976 with an honours degree
in Mzthernatics and Staustics He jelnad
National Starch and Chemical Company
in 1984 as Commarcial Director of Laing-
National In Manchaster and subsequently
sarved n Germany and the Nathaerdancs
befora returning ta the UK in 1990 as
Managing Oiractor of National Starch's
UK Adhesivas aperations

Charles Knott was appoinied Divislonat
Vice President Pertormance Adheslves,
in tha USA and in 1984 became Senior
Divisional Vice President and General
Manager for the US Adhesveas business

In 3995 he retocated to Singagora to lead
Natlonal Starch's Asia-Paafic oparations
as Corporate Vice Prasident He was
appointed National Starch Chisf Operating
Otficer in January 2001 In March 2003 he
became Chairman and Cheef Exacutive of
Quest internatonal end Executive Vice
President and member of the Exacutive
Management Team of ICI

In Apnl 2008 Charles Knott was
appointaed a Non Executive Cirector of
Impenal Tobacco Group PLC Aged 52

€ Adri Baan

Non-Executive Directar

Appointed a Non Executve Director on
25 June 2001 He has a Masters degreeln
Physics from the University of Amsterdam
and joined Phllips as a project manager

n 1969

He has held a series of seruor positions
with Phillps in Europe anc Narth America
From 1984 to 1984 ha was Vice Charman
of Phillps tndustrial Electronics in
Eindhovan and two years latar was
&ppointed Executve Vice President

North Amarican Philips Hs was Managing
Director of Philips Business Elactronics
from 1993 t¢ 1996 and Chief Executive
Otficer and a Member ¢f the Group
Management Commuties from 1996 o
1998 In 1998 he was appointad Executive
Vice Prasident Royal Philps Elecironics
and Member of the Management Board,

8 position which ha held untd 2001
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In addltion he was forrnerly the Chairman
of Integrated Production and Test
Enginearing NV and a Diractor of
Medguist NPM Capiiaf PSA Corporation
Linuted {Part of Singapore Autherity)
Hesse Noord Nate Port of Antwerp ASM
Internationat NV and PSA Europe Limited

Ha is currently tha Charman of Wolters
Kuwer NV the Charrman of Hagemeyer
NV, a Director of OCE NV, a Non-
Executive Director of International Power
ple Chalrman ot the Trust Offica of KAS
BANK NV and Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of AFM (the Authority
for Financial Markets in the Netherlands)
He 1s also on the Board of the University of
Amsterdam and the Amsterdam Medical
Centre and is Vice Chalrman of Koninklijke
Velker Wessels Stevin NV AdnBaanisa
Dutch natonal Aged 64

7 Rt Hon Lord Butler of
Brockwoll, KG, GCH, CVO

Senlor Independent Director
Appointed a Non-Executive Dlrector on

1 July 1988 Since 1 January 2002 he has
bean the Beard's Senior independent
Drector

After graduating with a deuble first In
tdads and Graats {Literae Humaniqras)
from Unuiversity College Oxford Lord
Butler joined the Treasury in 1961 where
he hald a succession of posts befors
becoming Private Secratary 1o the
Financial Secretary In 1964 and Secratary
cf the Budget Cormmuttes fram 1965 to
1969 He was seccnded to the Bank of
England in 1969 and subsaguently actad
as Private Secretary to three Prime
Mimisters (At Hon Edward Heath 1972-
74 Rt ron Harold Wilson 1874-75 and
Rt Hon Margarat Thatcher 1982-85)

In 1985 Lord Butler became sacond
Permanent Secretary, Public Expenditura
HM Treasury and in 1988 he was
appointed as Secretary of tha Cabinet and
Head of the Home Ciwil Service He retired
from the il Sarvice in 1998

He Is currently Master of University
College Oxford anc a Non-Executive
Diractor of HSBC Holdings plc In 198G
he served on the Royal Commission on
Rgform of the House of Lords and in 2004
charred the UK Revisw of Intelligence on
Weapons of Mass Destruction Heisa
trustee of the Ahodes Trust a Visitor of
the Ashmalean Museum and a member
of the Marsh & McLennan Intarnational
Advisory Board In addiion heis a
member of The Foundation of the College
of 5t George Windsor Castle the
Mitsublshi Oxtord Foundanon and a
Coungil member ¢f Tha Ditchlay
Foundaticn Aged €9

8 Joseph T Garman
Non-Executive Director

Apponted a Non-Executive Director on
20 September 2000 He is Chairman of
the IC] Audit Committee

A graduate of Kent State University and
helding a doctorate from Yate Law School,
Joseph Gorman practised law for five
yaars before 1n 1962 joining the fegal
department of TRW Inc  a muiti national
dwersi{ied company specialising in space
defence and autometive systems
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He became Secretary of TRW In 1870 and
Vica President in 1972 He served as Vice
Presldent and General Counsel from 1976
to 1980 when he was elected Exacutive
Vice President and gven responsibliity for
the Industnat & Energy business unit In
1985 ha was apnointad President and
Chiet Operating Officer of the Company
and three years later became Chairman
and Chuaf Executive Officer

A past Chairman of the US-Japan
Business Council he recerved Japan's
1994 Prime Mirister's Trade Award for his
contribution to promating improved US-
Japan trade relations He has served on
the Boards of the US-China Business
GCouncil and the Prince of Wales Buslness
Leaders Forum and was a mamber of

tha President s Expors Council Hels a
trustee of the Centre for Strategic and
Internaticnal Studies and alsc serves

the Council on Competitivenass as a

ce industry vice chalr and member of

the executve commities

Joseph Gorman 15 a Diractor of Alcoa
Inc The Procter & Gambla Company,
Naztional City Corporation and TMG
Internaticnal AB Joseph Gorman s a
US citizen Aged 69

9 Richard N Haythornthwaite
Non-Executive Director

Appeointed a Non-Executive Diractor on
20 February 2001 Ha Is Chalrman of the
ICI Remuneration Coemmittes

A graduate of The Quear's College
Oxford with a degrae n Geology and a
Slean Fallow of the Massachusetts
Institute of Technolegy Richard
Haytharnthwalte has ovar 25 years of
intarnatignal ndustry experience covenng
& broad mix of strategic and operational
roles

He has extensive experlence in
organisational and cultural change
leadership cost reduction programmes
rasylts-driven performance nitiatves and
nagotiating and executing acquisitions
and divestments worldwide

Richard Haythornthwaita's caresr began
with BP ple where he he'd avariety of
positions in its European and Amernican
operations from 1978 to 1895 including
General Mznager of the Magnus Qilfiald
and President of BP Venezuela

In 1495 he jeined the Board of Premier Ofl
whare he was responsibla for corporate
and commercial affalrs end two years
latar jolned Blue Circla Industries pic as
Chlef Executive of Heavy Building
Matarials in Europe and Asia He was
appointed Group Chiet Executive of Blue
Cuclein 1999 Following its acquisition

ot Blue Circle In 2001 he became a

Non Executive Director of Lafarge S A
standing down from that Board in July
2002 From 1999 to 2003 he was a
Non-Executive Directer of Cookson
Group ple In addition, from 2007 untl
2005 Richard Haythornthwaite was
Group Chief Executive Officer of invensys
plc

Ha 15 currently Managing Director of Star
Capital Partners Non-Exacutive Chalrman
of Mastercard Inc Chalrman of the
Better Regulation Commission Chawrman
of the Almeida Theatre Company Lirmuted
and a Board Membser of the British
Council Tha Naticnal Museurn of Scienca
& Industry and a Director of Otus
Associates Limited Aged 50

10 Baroness Noakes, DBE
Non-Executive Director

Appointed a Non-Executve Drector on

1 March 2004 A law graduate of Bristol
University, Baroness Noakes has
extensive axperience bothin tha City as a
seror pariner of KPMG  from whuch she
retired 1n 2000 and as an adwiser to the
UK Government

She joned Peat Marwick Mitchell & Co
(now KPMG) in 1970 and was made a
partner in 1983 Her axperience was a
combinaton of corporate and public
sector work and she led KPMG s
International governmeant practice

From 1979 to 1981 she was seconded 1o
HM Treasury In a further secondment In
1988 she [cined the Department of
Health as Diractar of Finance and
Corporate Infarmation on the NHS
Managament Executive the Board chalred
by tha NHS Chief Exacutive Shewas a
Director of the Bank of England from 1994
te 2001 becoming the Senior Non-
Exacutive Director In 1998 She was a
Non-Executive Director of John Lalng ple
from 2002 1o 2004 and has also served
as President of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants In England and Wales

Barcness Noakes Is currently the Senior
indapendant Cirector at both Carpetright
plc and SThrea plc Shelsalsoa
Non-Executrve Director of Hanson ple
and the English National Opera and Is
als0 a trustee of the Reuters Founders
Share Company Aged 57

Executive Management Team
The Executive Managemant Team
compnses the Exacutve Directors anc
the following

11 Rolf Deusinger

Agpointed a mamber of the Executive
Management Team on 1 July 2002

He is Exacutiva Vice President Human
Resources Ha joined the Company in
QOctober 1999 as Senior Vice Presidant
Human Resources for ICI Paints
Pravicusly he was Head of International
Human Rasourcas for Messer Gneshein
GrnbH based in Germany Ha has mare
than 20 years ot Internaticnal experlence
in the tielt of Human Rescurces
predominantly in consumer businesses
inctuding PepsiCo covering the Americas
Europe anc Central Asia Rolf Deusinger
15 2 German national Aged 489

12 Andy M Ransom

Appointed a member of the Exacutive
Management Team on 1 July 2005 Helis
General Counse! Executive Vice President
Mergers and Acquisitions and Company
Secretary A graduate of the Unversity of
Southampton Andy Ransom quaiified as
a safiaitoer in 1987 and joined ICI in the
samg year speclalising as a senior
mergers and acquisitions lawyer in the
Corporate Centre He was seconded to
ICI Explosives in Toronte Canada in 1996
and became Vice President and General
Counsel for ICI in the Americas based in
New Jarsey USA two years later in 2000
he was apponted Group Vice President
Mergers and Acquisitions before being
appointed to his current role Aged 43

Officers of the Company

The persons listed above together with
Dawd J Gee Executive Yice President
Regiona! and Industnal businesses ara
regarded as the Officers of the Company
for the purpesas of the Annual Repert and
Accounts teonard J Berlik was an Officer
until the compfetion of tha divestment of
Unigema on 1 September 2006 )

Key managemenrt persannel

For the purposes of disclosure urdsr

1AS 24 Related Party Drisclosures as In
nete 2 refating to the Group accounts on
page 71 key management personnel are
considered to compnse the Directors and
Officers of the Company

New Drractors appointed betwean
Annual General Mestings to fill casual
vacancies or as addihonal Directors
retre &t the Annual General Maating
following thalr appoimtment and are
eligible for election At gach Anpual
General Mesting one third of the other
Directars cr if thelr numbes is not three
or a muttiple of thres, the nearest to
one third (being those longest in otfice
since thaw last elachion or ra-elechion),
alsa retre and are eligible for
re-glactien In additton any Director
whao has been i office for threg years
or more s5ince his or her last re-elsction
shall retire at the Annual General
Meeting

Willtarn H Powell stepped down from
the Board in Aprll 2006 and retired from
tha Group at the end ol October 2006

Adri Baan David Hamill and Baroness
Noakes ratire under Artlcle 96 of the
Company's Articlas of Association

All threa Directors are recommended
for re-slecticn

In acciion Lord Butler retiras in
accordance with the policy sat out
on page 38 He1s recommended for
re-slection

All Executve Diractors are employed
on rolling contracts subject to not
more than one year s notice

No Director or Officer has a famity
redationship with any other Diractor
or Officer

I Board of Directors, governance and remuneration
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I Board of Directors, governance and remuneration

Corporate governance

Corporate governance

ICl s commutted to hugh standards of corporate governance

The Group has applied the pnnciples contained n Section | of the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the Financial
Reporting Council in July 2003 (referred to below as the Combined
Code) and has complied throughout 2006, and to the date of this
Annual Report, with the prowisions set out therein as they apply to
the Group

The Group has taken steps to ensure that it will comply with the
provisions of the Combined Code, as amended and reissued in
2006, with effect from 1 January 2007

The Board

Within the overall strategy and objectves for the Group agreed by the
Board, day to day management 1s delegated to the Chief Executive
and Executive Management Team (EMT), with indvidual chief
executive officers being responsible for the performance of each

of the businesses

The Board reviews the operational performance of the Group on
a regular basis and also exercises a number of reserved powers
which include

» responsibility for setting the strategic direction of the Group and
agreeing the Group Strategic Plan,

» approving the annual budget and Group Finance Plan,

» appontment and disrissal of the Chief Executive and any member
of the Board or EMT, and successicn pfanning for these roles,

= gstablishing, via the Remuneraticn Committee, the remuneration
pohicy for Executive Directors and members of the EMT,

» approving the Group’s Sustainatylity policy and iargets including
those for safety, health and the emvronment,

* approving and monitoning compliance with ICl's Code
of Conduct (the Group ethics policy) and associated
whistleblowing procedures,

s authonsation of matenal borrowings and any 1ssue of
equity secunties,

* commitiing to major capital expenditure, acquisitions
or dvestments,

* agreeing treasury policy including the agreement of foreign
currency and interest risk parareters, and

+ dmdend policy

The Board 15 also responsible for satisfying itself as to the integnty
of financial information and the effectiveness of the Group's system
of internal control and nsk management processes

The dmision of responsiblities between the Chairman and the Chuef
Executve, which 1s set out in writing, has been approved by the
Board In overall terms

«» the Chairman leads the Board and rs responsible for enswring iis
effectiveness, and

» the Chief Executive has direct charge of the Group on a day-to-day
basis and 15 accountable to the Board for its financial and
operational performance

All Dwrectors are equally accountable under the law for the proper
stewardship of the Company’s affars and share a responsibifity for
setting and ensurnng the highest standards of ethics and integnty
across the Group
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The Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) have a parbicular responsibility to
challenge constructively the strategy proposed by the Chief Executve
and Exacutive Directors, to scnutimise and challenge performance, to
assess nsk and the integnity of financiat nformation and controls, and
to ensure appropnate remuneration and succession planning
arrangements are in place in relation to Executive Directors and other
senior executive roles Each NED continues to demonstrate that he
or she has sufficient time tc devote to the Compary's business

Lord Butler, the Senior (ndependent Director, leads any Board
discussions impacting on the Chawrman ffrom which the latter absents
himsalf), n particular in relation to performance and succession

He 1s also available to the Chairman as a source of advice on

matters affecting the operation of the Board generally

Currently, the Board compnses ten Directors the Chairman,

Mr P B Eliwood, the Chief Executive, Dr J D G McAdam, three i
Executve Directors and five independent NEDs, including the Senior

Independent Director Biographical detalls of the Diwectors are set

out on pages 36 to 37 These indviduals demonstrate & range of

business, financ:al and global expenence and expertise from a variety

of commercial sectors and public life, which 1s wital to the successful

direction of a multi-national company The Board 1s balanced, both

numencaily and in expenence, so that no indardual or small group

of indwvduals can dominate the Board's decision making

The Board has assessed the independence of the NEDs aganst

the cateria set out In the Combined Code and the New York Stock
Exchange corporate governance rules, save that in the case of the
latter the Board has not scught to enguire into the interests of
Dwectors’ family members other than their spouse On this basis, the
Board has concluded that all the NEDs are independent in character
and judgment On the same basis, Mr Ellwood was also independent
when appointed Charman

Mr Ellwood 1s & Non-Executive Director of the US company,

First Data Corporation, Inc, but ts not otherwise a director of any
other company, and his agreement with ICI prohibits him from
becorming charman of another company without ICI's consent He
does perform a number of pro-bono roles, but these commitments
did not change matenally in 2006 and the Board remains satisfied
that they are not such as to interfere with the performance of his
duties as Chairman of ICI, which are based around a commitment
of approximately 150 days per annum

Mr Powell stepped down fram the Board on 6 Aprl 2006

All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at least every
three years Subject to satisfactory performance, NEDs are normally
expected to serve two three-year terms, commencing with the first
Annual General Meeting after the date of ther appointment and they
have no entitliement to compensation (except in relation to fees and
expenses due at the date of terminattom) if the appointment
termunates prior to the end of the three-year term for any reason
There may be circumstances where NEDs are invited to remain on
the Board after the expiry of therr second three-year term for a further
penod of up to three years Any such invitation will be subject to the
Director In question standing for annual re-election by shareholders

In accordance with this policy, Lord Butler wilk retire and stand for
re-alection at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company
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The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Board and to the Nomination, Rermnuneration and Audit Comimittees He assists the Chairman
n ensuring that all Directors have {ull and timely access to all relevant nformation The Company Secretary is respansible for ensunng that the
correct Board procedures are followed and advises the Board on all corporate governance matters He also admnisters the procedure under
which Directors can, where appropnate, obtain independent professional adwvice at the Company's expense The appointment or removal of the

Company Secretary 1s a matter for the Board as a whole

Attendance at scheduled Board and Board Committee meetings held in 2006

Full Nomenation Remuneration Audit
Board Commyttes Commttes Cormimuttes

Number ot meetings n 2006 Ebg.ble Ebghble Eligible to Ebgble

1o attend Attenciec to attend Attendled attend Atftandect 1o attend Attendad
P B Eilwood B 8 17 1 - - - -
Dr J D G McAdam 8 8 - - _ _ _ _
A Baan 3] 8 1 1 4 3 4 4
A J Brown 8 8 - - - - - -
Lord Butler 8 7 1 1 4 3 4 3
J T Gorman 8 8 1 - 4 2 4t 4
D C M Hamill B 7 - - - - - -
R N Haythomthwaite B 8 1 1 4t 4 4 3
C F Knott B 8 - - - - - -
Baroness Noakes 5] 8 1 1 4 4 4 4
W H Powell 2 2 - - - - — -

t Committee Charman

In additon to the meetings noted above, an unscheduled Board
meeting was held to approve the divestment of the Quest business to
Gaudan Dirsctors were provided with comprehensive background
information for this meeting and nine members of the Board were
avallable to participate in the proceedings

In accordance with ICl's Articles of Association, the Directors and
Officers of the Company are all indemnified out of the assets of the
Company to the extent permiited by law in respect of babilities
incurred as a resudt of ther office In addition to the general indemnity
contained in the Arictes, the Company has also put in place a
specific deed of iIndemnity (a copy of which may be viewed upon
request at the Company’s registered office) setting out In greater
detall the terms and conditions of the Company’s indemnity The
Company also purchases and maintains a dwectors' and officers’
llability insurance policy The Board believes that these arrangements
are in the best interests of the Company, to enable tt to attract and
retain high quality Directors and Officers Nedther the Company's
indemnities, nor Insurance, provide cover in the event that a Director
or Officer has acted fraudulently

Board Committees

The principal Board Committees, which report to the Board, are the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Cornmittee and the Audit
Committee The Remuneration and Audit Committees meet at least
quarterly and the Nomination Committee meets as and when
required Summary remits of the Committees are set out below and
full terms of reference are avalable via the Investors section of ICl's
corporate website (www i com) and 1 paper form from the Company
Secretanat on request Directors' attendance at scheduted Board and
Board Commuttee meetings dunng 2008 15 set out in the table above

www (cl com

Nominatton Committee

The Nomination Committea 15 responsible for proposing new
appaintments of Directors to the Board and reviews succession plans
and arrangements for the Board and EMT It met on ong occasion m
2006 to conduct a review of its effectveness

The Nomination Committee compnses the Non—Executve Directors,
under the charmanship of Mr Ellwood

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee determines, on behalf of the Beard,
the Company's policy on the remuneration of the Chairman,
Executive Directors and the most senicr management of the
Company The Committee determines the total remuneration
packages for these indviduals, including any compensation on
terrmination of office

It met on seven occasions N 2006, three of which were unscheduled
These unscheduled meetings were pnmarily to confierm finalisation of

matters discussed in detad at scheduled meetings and were atiended
by those Committee members avalable at the time to participate

The Committee compnses the NEDs under the chairmanship of
Mr Haythornthwaite The Charman of the Committee normally
rwvites the Charman, Chief Executve, Executive Vice President
Human Resources and Vice President Performance & Reward to
attend meetings, to respond to specific questions raised by the
Commuttee This specifically excludes ary matter concerrung thewr
own personal remuneration

The work of the Remuneration Committee dunng 2006 has ncluded
consideration of the {ollowing matters

» approving the 2006 Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) ranges and key
strategic objectives for the Chief Executrve and the EMT,

+ areview of the reward components compnsing the executive
remuneration package and making changes as required to ensure
it remained fully aligned with the remuneration policy,
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Corporate governance conunued

s approving annual grants, awards, performance conditions and
payments under the AR, the Executive Share Option plan and
the Performance Growth Plan (PGF) for the Chief Executve
and the EMT,

= reviewing and approving the 2005 Remuneration Report,

= approving the required IFRS restatement for existing EPS
performance conditions for the Executive Share Option plan and
approving the outcome of those performance conditions due to
be tested in 2006,

* reviewing and approving the retrement arrangements for Mr
Powell,

» approving Mr Knott's appointment as Non-Executive Director
of Impenal Tobacco Group PLC,

« conducting a review of the effectiveness of the
Rermuneration Committes,

« approving changes to the Commuttee’s Terms of Reference
to ensure alignment with the rewised Combined Code,

» considenng and approving revised fee and base salaries for
the Chairman, the Chief Executive and the EMT,

¢ approving changes to the rules of the PGP, following the
introduction of new age discnmination legislation, and

* approving required rewmisions to the peer group companies for the
Total Shareholder Return {TSR) performance measure of the PGP

The Remuneration Repert on pages 45 to 56 includes details of
remuneration pohcy and practices, and the remuneration of Directars

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the discharge of its
responsibilities for corporate governance, financial reporting and
comporate control It met on four occasions In 2006 The Committee
comprises the NEDs under the charmanship of Mr Gorman

The dates on which these indwduals were first appointed to the
Committee are as follows

4 T Gorman September 2000
A Baan June 2001
Lord Butler July 1998
R N Haythornthwaite February 2001
Baroness Noakes March 2004

The Board has determined that Mr Gorman and Baroness Noakes
are the Audit Committee’s financial experts

Audit Committee Report
The work of the Audit Commuitee dunng 2006 included consideration
of the icllowing matters

s i1 respect of the 2005 year end the full year results release, the
Annual Report and Accounts, and the annual report from the
external auditor,

« the quarierly financial results and the Intenm Report 2006,
= developments in accounting standards and the Group's responses,
+ the Group's nsk management processes,

» the 2005 full year report on internal audt and the effectveness
of internat control,

» the progress of the 2006 internal audit programme and matters
ansing therefrom,
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+ areview of the strategy for the nternal audit function,

* reviewing the Group's progress in achieving compliance with
Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxdey Act 2002, regarding
internal control over financial reporting,

* the recommendation to the Board of the reappantrment of KPMG
Audit Plc as the external auditor and approval of the 2006 external
audit plan and fee proposal,

¢ the policy on auditor iIndependence and provision of audit and
non-audit services by the auditor,

= the Group's compliance with the Combined Code and the
New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance rules,

» the proposed format of the 2006 Business review,
« matenal Iitgation affecting the Company,

+ the Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Aucdht
Committee, and

= reporting on the Group’s whistleblowing programme which ensures
that appropnate arrangements are in place for employees to be
able to raise, in confrdence, matters of possible improprety, with
surtable subseguent iollow-up action

Regular attendees at Audit Committee mestings, at the invitation

of the Chairman of the Cornrnittee, include the Chairman, Chuat
Executive, Chief Financal Officer, Generat Counsel, Chief Internal
Audrtor, Group Financial Controller and the external auditors, KPMG
The Commuttee rmeets regulary with the external and internal auditors
without the presence of management

The Audit Committee has established a policy which s intended

to preserve the independence of KPMG Audit Plc, when acting as
auditor of the Group Accounts Thus policy governs the provision of
audit and non-audit services by the audtor and its associates It
identifies certain non-audit services which the auditor 1s prohibited
from providng Certain defined categornes of permitted service are
approved by the Audit Cornmittee on an annual basis and the
Chairman of the Audt Committee may approve additional categones,
subsequently ratifying these with the Audit Committee at its next
meebng Audit and non-audit engagements are also subject to formal
authonsation procedures based on the level of fees involved, with
major engagements reqguiring specific authonsation by the
Committee

Internal control and audit

In accordance with the Turnbull Guidance on internal control, the
Board confirms that there 15 a process for dentifying, evaluating and
managing the significant nsks to the achieverment of the Group's
strategic objectves The process has been in place throughout 2006
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts,
and accords with the Turnbull Guidance This process Is regutarly
reviewed esther directly by the Board or by the Audit Committee,
which reports its findings for consideration by the Soard

The Board also confirms that it 1s responsible for mantasung the
Group's system of internal controls and for reviewing s effectiveness
The intermal control systems are designed to meet the Group's
particular needs and the risks to which it 1s exposed They are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the nsks to the
achievermnent of business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance aganst misstatement or loss
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At the core of the nsk management process ts the Group nsk
regisier, and the support prowded to the Board by the Group Risk
Committee (GRC) The GRC is charred by the Chief Financial Officer
and comprises the heads of major corporate functions, the Chief
Internal Auditor and the Group Vice President Legal

The GRC consclidates, reviews and pnontises input from the
businesses and management and reports its conclusions to the Audit
Commitiee and the Board Normally, the Audit Committee reports to
the Board the resuits of its review of the nsk management process
for the full Group nsk register The full Board then reviews the Group
risk register and draws its collective conclusions as to the
effectveness of the system of internal control However, in 2006 the
risk management process and performance were reviewed by the full
Board, allowing Directors the opportunity to review the
appropnateness of the Group's approach to nsk Further information
on the nsks faced by the Group 1s included in the Risk Factors
section of the Business review on pages 33 to 35

The processes to identify and manage the key nsks to the success
of the Group are an integral part of the internal control evirenment
Such processes nclude strategic planning, the appointment of senior
managers, the regular monitoring of performance, control over capital
expenditwre and investments and the setting of high standards and
targets for safety, health and envircnmental performance Businesses
are responsible for meetng the defined reporting tmetables and
compliance with Group accounting manuals, which set out
accounting peticies, controls and definions  The Chief Executive
receves a monthly summary of financial results from each business,
and the Group's publshed quarterly financial information 1s based

on a standardised and timely reporting process

The Group's strategic direction has been regularty reviewed by the
Board Annual plans and periormance targets for each business were
set by the Chiel Executive and were reviewed 1n total by the Board

in the kght of the Group's overall objectives

Responsibility for monitoring compliance with Group policies and
guidelines rests with the chief executive officers of the businesses
and with senior managers at the Corporate Centre Annual
statements of compliance are prowided to the Chief Executive, and
these statements are reviewed by the relevant functional leader for
each polcy area In turn, there 1s an annual report to the Audit
Commuttee, on behalf of the Board, on the degree of comphance
with Group policies and guidelines Corrections to any weaknesses
found are monitored and controls are developed to match changing
circumstances

The Internal Audit function reviews internal controls in all key financial
actmvities of the Group, typicallty over a three-year cycle It acts as a
service to the businesses by assisting with the continuous iImprovenent
of controls and procedures Actions are agreed In response to its
recommendations and these are followed up to ensure that satisfactory
control 1Is mantained Quarterly reviews have been conducted

duning the year between internal audit management and the senior
rmanagement of the businesses to assess their current control status
and to identfy and address any areas of concem

In accordance with the provisions of the Turnbull Gudance, the
Board has undertaken its annual assessment of the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal controls, key inputs to the 2006
assessment have included

+ the review at the full Board meeting in November of the Group nsk
register, of the nsk management processes and of opportunities
to further improve nsk mitigaton actvities, following proposals from

www icl com

the GRC,

+ the findings from the annual process of statements of compliance
with Group policies and gudslnes,

* an evaluation of the Group-level controls using the framework
included in the Turnbull Gudance,

+ the findings from the 2006 intemnal audit programme,

+ the programme to achieve comphance with the requirements of
Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002 This programme
has assessed the design adequacy and operating effectiveness
of the internal controls over financial reporting The nsk-based
approach has focused on the controls at the Corporate Centre,
business headquarters and karger operating units, management’s
testing of the operating effectveness of these controls has been
undertaken primarily using Independent external consultants, and

* regular updates to the Board from the Vice President Sustainabibty
on the Group's safety, health and environment performance

Whilst areas for improvement in control have been dentified and
actions iniiated as a result of the above processes, no significant
shortcornungs In Internal conirol have been identified from the annual
assessment

Board effectiveness

Inductron and continuing development

On appointment all new Directors recenve a formal induction, tatdored
to ther particular needs, which includes, as appropnate, visits to key
locations and meetings with senior executives Throughout therr
penod n office, Directors are continually updated on the Group's
business and the competitive and regulatory emvironment in which

it operates Directors are advised on appointment of therr legal and
other duties and oblgations as a director of a listed company and are
penodically updated on these as part of ther continung
development

Evaluation

All Directors, incluckng the Chairman, receive a formal performance
evaluation to which all other members of the Board have an
cpportunity 1o contribute The reviews are led as indicated below

Board Member Review led by

Charman Senior Independent Director
Sentor Independent Director/other

Non-Executive Directors Chairman

Chief Executve Chairman

Executve Directors Chief Executive

The NEDs meet twice a year with the Chairman and Chief Executive
These discussions include evaluation of Board and indmdual Direcior
performance and succession plans The Cheef Executive and
Chawman each absent themselves when ther own performance 1S
being assessed Discussions are led by the Charrman (except n
retation to his own performance and succession when the Senior
independent Director takes the char) and feedback 1s provided

In addition, n 2006, a review took place of the effectiveness of the
Board and its prnincipal Commuttees The Directors were asked to
complete questionnares and to provide commenis on Board and
Commuttee procedures and effectiveness The results of the
evaluations were reviewed by the Chairman and the Company
Secretary, prior to being presented to the Board as a whole The
collective view of Directors was that the Board and its Committegs
were operating effectively
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Corporate governance connues

Discussions, dunng and following the review, focused on a number
of detaded areas including the following

Board Composition

In reviewing the skills, atinbules and expenences of those Directors
currently in office, the Board has identfied possible specific areas of
knowledge and expertse that it wall look for in future NED appontments

In addition, the following ponis were highlighted in the evaluation

* the Board's remit reflects what is required of an effective Board and
Its mestings, agendas and actwvities address the elements
contained in its remit,

» the Board compnses a diverse mix of indwiduals with appropriate
levels of skil, knowledge and expenence, and

+ the Board operates in an open and constructive manner, with
high quality discussion and debate, with valuable and effective
contnbutions made Dy all Directors and with a collective desire
for the Company to succeed

US corporate governance compliance

As a consequence of its US listing, the Company 1s required to
comply with the provisions of the US Sarbanas-Oxley Act 2002, as
it applies to foreign 1ssuers As at 31 December 2006, the Company
was In comphance with all apphcable rules and regutations ansing
from Sarbanes-Oxdey [n particular, the Group has designed ds
processes, controls and procedures to meet the requirements of
Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act

In accordance with recommendations issued by the SEC, the
Compary has estabhshed a Disclosure Commuittee comprsing
appropnate senicr executves from the ICI Corporate Centre the
General Counset and Company Secretary, the Chief Financial Cfficer,
the Vice President, lnvestor Relations and Corporate Communications,
and the Cheef Internal Auditor and Group Financial Controller

The Disclosure Committee's responsibilities include

* desigring, mantaning and evaluating the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures and reporting its evaluation to the Chief
Executive and Chief Financial Officer,

» reviewing the Company's Annual Reports, intenm results
announcements and other matenals disseminated to shareholders
before they are released,

+ satisfying itself as to the venfication processes for all
announcements and the formal sign-off of related documents, and

* recommending appropnate employee training 1n respect of the
handling of inside information and the ICI Disclosurse Policy

In accordance with the ICI Disclosure Pokgy, the Committee provides
a formal report to the Board on an annual basis, through the
Company Secretary, stating how the Committee has performed its
cuties in respect of monitonng inside infermation
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As a NYSE-lsted foreign private 1ssuer, ICH s subject 1o the NYSE
corporate govemnance rules and must disclose any significant ways

in which its corporate governance practices diifer from those required
to be followed by US companies under the NYSE listing standards
We beleve the following to be the significant differences between our
corporate governance practices and the NYSE corporate governance
rules applicable to US companes

Independent Directors
Under NYSE listing rules applicable to US companies, ndependent
directors must compnse a majonty of the board of directors

The NYSE rules nclude detalled tests for determining director
independence while the Combined Code prescribes a more gereral
standard for determiming director independence The Combined Code
requies a company's board to assess director independence by
affimatively concluding that the director 1s independent of

management and free from any business or other retationship that
could matenally interfere with the exercise of ndependent judgment

The ICl Board does not have a majponty of independent Drectors
However, the Board includes a balance of Executive Directors and
independent Non-Executive Drectars such that no individual or
group can dorminate the Board's deciston making and the Compary
comples with the Combined Code

The Board of ICl has assessed the ndependence of the NEDs
agamnst the cntena set out In the Combined Code and the NYSE
corporate governance rules, save that, In the case of the latter, the
Board has not sought to engqurre into the interests of Directors’ family
members other than therr spouse and has concluded that alf the
NEDs are independent and that [Cl complies wath the requirements
of the Combined Code

Nomunating/Corporate Governance Comrnittee

US companies isted on the NYSE are required to have a
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee composed entirely of
independent directors with a charter that addresses the Committes's
purpose including the responsibility to develop and recommend to
the Board a set of corporate governance princples

ICI does not have a Nomunation/Cerporate Governance Committes
ICl's Nomination Committee comprnises the Company's independent
Non-Executive Directors and the Charman who was deemed, under
the Combined Code, to be independent on appointment

The responsiiity for developang the Company’s corporate
governance principles rests with the Board

Non-management Directors’ meetings

Pursuant to NYSE listing standards for US companies,
non-management directors must meet on a regular basis without
rmanagement present and independent directors must meet
separately at least once per year ICl's NEDs meet twice a year with
the Chairman ard Chief Executive These meetings nclude evaluation
of Board and indmdual Director performance and succession plans
The Charman and Chief Executive both absent themselves when
thewr own performance 15 besng assessed Discussions are led by the
Chairnan, except when his own performance and succession are
discussed, when the Senor Independent Director takes the charr
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Adoption and disclosure of corporate governance guidelines

US comparues isted on the NYSE are required to adopt and disclose
corporate governance guidelines The Listing Rules of the UK
Financial Services Authenty require each listed company incorporated
1N the United Kingdom to include in s Annual Report and Accounts
a narrative statement of how 1t has apphed the principles of the
Combxned Code and a statement as to whether or not it has
comphed wath the prowsions of the Combined Code throughout the
accounting period covered by the Annual Report and Accounts

As stated on page 38, ICl has applied the pnnciples contamned
in Section | of the Combined Code and has complied throughout
2006, and to the date of this Annual Report and Accounts, with
the provisions set out therein as they apply to the Company The
Combined Code does not requrre [CI to disclose the full range of
corporate governance guidelnes with which it complies

In comphance with the governance rules of the NYSE and Rule 10A-3
of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has determined
that each member of the IC| Audit Committee satisfies the SEC
independence requirements As part of this determmnation the
Company confirms that no compensation from the ICl Group has
been receved by any child or stepchild shanng a home with an Audit
Committes member The Company has filed with the NYSE a wntten
affirmation that the Audit Commitiee complies with Section 303A of
the NYSE's bisted Company Manual

Pninciples of business conduct

As a leading international company, ICl's reputation for high ethical
standards 1s central to its business success ICI's Gode of Conduct,
(“the Code") was updated in 2006 and provides guidance in this
area It applies to alt ICI employees, including Directors and Officers
A confidential, ndependently operated, whistieblowing service 15 also
provided to enable staff {o report any suspected non-compliance
The Code 15 published on ICI's corporate website {www ic1 com) and
1s available in paper form from the Company Secretanat on request

In 2006 the Board adopted a new updated Group Antitrust
Complance Policy This Policy sits within the framework of the
Company's Code of Business Conduct and 1s a key element of
effectiva corporate governance The Policy states the Company's
zero tolerance approach to breaches of antitrust law The Company
15 also updating and strengthening its existing antitrust training
programmes to support the obyectves of the Policy

Shareholder communications

Communications with shareholders are given a high priorty The
Company's financial reports are avalable to shareholders in paper
and electronie form ICH's corporate website (www ict com) provides
financial and other information about IC! and contains an archive of
past announcements and Annual Reports

Shareholders have the opporturity to receve documents such as
the Notice of Mesting, form of proxy, the Annual Report and Annual
Review n electronic form wa the Internet rather than in paper form
through the post Sharehelders choosing this option will receve

a notification by e-mail each time the Company publishes such
documentation on ts website Shareholders may also appont
proxies electronically
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Overall responsibility for ensunng that there 1s effective
commurucation with investors and that the Board understands the
views of major shareholders on matters such as govemance and
strategy rests with the Chairman, who makes himself avadable to
meet shareholders for this purpose Cn a day-to-day basis the
Board’s pnmary contact with major shareholders 1s via the Chief
Executive and Chief Financial Officer, who have regular dialogue
with indmdual institutional shareholders and deliver presentations to
analysts after the quarterly results The Senior Independent Director
and other members of the Board, however, are also availlable to
meet major investors on request The Senior Independent Director
has a specific responsibility to be available to shareholders who have
concerns, for whom contact with the Chairman, Cheef Executive or
Chief Financial Officer has erther falled to resclve thew concerns, or
for whorn such contact 1s inappropriate

The Board commissions an independent survey of investor views
covenng both the UK and USA on a bienmial basts which provides
valuable feedback from investors The survey includes a specific
opportunity for investors to comment on the qualty of the
communicabion they recewve in ther contact with the Chief Executive
and Chief Financial Officer

Indmdual shareholders have the opportunity at the Annual General
Meeting to question the Chairman and, through him, the Charrmen
of the Remuneration and Audit Committees As an alternative,
shareholders can leave wntten questions for response by the
Company After the Annual General Meeting, shareholders can meet
informally with the Orrectors  To ensure transparency, and in
accordance with the principle that every share should be entitled to a
vote, all votes at shareholder meetings, other than on procedural
Issues, are taken by way of a poll

Annual General Meeting

The Notice convening the Annual General Meeting, to be held on
Wednesday 23 May 2007, 1s contained in a separate letter from the
Charman accomparnying this Annual Report and Agcounts [n line
with Combined Code recommended best practice, at least 20
working days’ notice of the AGM is provided by the Company

The following Directors will seek re-election at the AGM Lord Butler,
Mr Baan, Mr Hamill and Baroness Noakes

Further details on the business to be transacted at the Annual
General Meeting are contaned in the Notice

Companies Act 2006

The Companies Act 2006 was enacted on 8 November 2006 and
will replace the major part of the Companies Acts 1985 and 1989
and much of the Compasies (Audit, Investigations and Commurity
Enterpnse) Act 2004 The Company is developing plans to ensure
that it will comply with the requirements of the new legistation as and
when these become effectve

Corporate Governance Rating

In a report ssued In July 2006 Governance Meincs Intermational, a
global corporate governance ratings agency, IC| was ranked among
the top UK companies, with an overall globa! corporate governance
rating of 8 5 out of a possaible 10
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Directors’ report

The Directors of Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC have pleasure
n presenting therr Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended
31 December 2006

Principal activities

The pnncipal actvities of the Company are research, manufacture
and sale of paints and other chemical products A review of the
Company and its subsidianes’ businesses, Including research and
development and an indication of likely future developments i1s given
on pages 6 to 35 of thus Report

Dividends

The Directors have declared the payment of a second intenm
dndend of 4 75 pence per Ordinary Share to be paid on 13 Apni
2007 to Ordinary sharehelders on the Company’s Share Register on
2 March 2007

A first iIntenm dvidend of 4 15 pence per Ordinary Share was paid on
6 October 2006 making a total of 8 90 pence (2005 7 70 pence)

Share capital
Changes in the Company's ordinary share capital dunng the year are
given tn note 27 relating to the Group accounts

Substantial shareholders

Details of parties holding significant interests in the ordinary share
caprtal of the Company as at 19 February 2007 are given on page
151 of this Report

Purchase of own shares

Al the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 20086, the Company
was given authonty to purchase up to 119,242,306 of its Ordinary
Shares This authonty will expire at the 2007 AGM  Although no
Ordinary Shares have been purchased by the Company dunng the
penod from 24 May 2006 until the date of this Report, a special
resolution will be proposed at thes year's AGM to renew the authority
to make market purchases up to a maximum of 10% of the ssued
share capital of the Comparny

Directors

The names and biographues of the Directors of the Company at the
date of this Report and details of Board changes that have occurred
since the last Annual Report are given on pages 36 to 37 of this Report

Corporate governance
A review of the Group's corporate governance arrangements 1S given
on pages 38 to 43 of this Report

ICt employment principles
A summary of the Group's employment principles 1s given on pages
19 to 21 of this Report

ICI disability discrimination policy
A summary of the Group’s policy on disability discnminabion s given
on pages 20 and 21 of this Report

Fmancial nsk policies
A summary of the Group's Treasury policies relating to financial nsk
are given on pages 29 to 31 of this Report

Payment to suppliers

The Company agrees terms and conditions for its business transactons
with suppliers Payment s then made to these terms, subject to the
terms and condiions being met by the supplier Payment tenms can
differ in the marty markets in which ICl trades Trade creditors of the
Company at 31 December 2006 were equivalent to 60 days (2005 62
days) purchases, based on the average dally amount nvoiced by
suppiers to the Company cunng this year

Chamtable and poltical donations
The Group's workhwade chamable donations in 2006 amounted to
£2 0m (2005 £2 6my Of thus total, £0 1m was spant in the UK (2005
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£0 5m)
The Group made no donations for polttical purposes dunng 2006

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc has expressed is willingness to continue in office as
Auditor of the Company and resolutions proposing its re-appaintment
and authonsing the Directors to agree its remuneration will be
submitied to tha Annual General Meeting

The total audit fees of the Group wege £1 4m {2005 £1 3m) Included
In services other than audit ~ remuneration ¢f the auditor and
associates 1s £1 9m (2005 €2 1m) wiich relates to fees for audits of
subsidiary comparies in the UK and overseas, both for the purposes
of consolidation into the Group accounts and to meet stalutory
requirements of the countnes in which subsidiaries cperate

Feas paid to the Auditor (and its asscciates) of the Company for
services other than statutory audit supplied to the Group including
fees for audits under section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxiey Act
2002 dunng 2006 are gven on page 80 of this Report These fees
have been fully reviewed by the Audt Committee

Disclosure of information to Auditors
Each person who is a Director of the Company at the date of
approval of this Report confirms that

1} so far as the Director 15 aware, there 1s no relevant audit information
of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and

) each Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken
as a Director to make himseli/herself aware of any information and to
establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that nformaton

This information 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985

Directors’ remuneration and interests

A statement of Directors’ remuneration and therr interests n the
shares, debentures and optons of the Company and s subsidianes
15 set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 45 to §6

Business review

Pursuant to the requirements of the Comparves Act 1985, the Company
has prepared a Busness revew which contans inforrmation on the
development and the performance of the business dunng the financial
year and the position of the Company at the end of the year 1Cl's
Business review can be found on pages 9 to 35 of this Annual Report

Going concern

The operation of the Group's control procedures gives the Directars
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in operation for the foreseeable future Accordingly,

they continue to adopt the going concern basis In prepanng the
Group accounts

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on Wednesday 23 May
2007 at the Queen Elizabeth Il Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary,
Westminster, London SW1 The Notice of Meeting, together with an
explanation of the business to be dealt with at the Mesting, s set out
in the separate letter from the Charman accompanying this Annual
Report and Accounts

On behalf of the Board Regstered Office
20 Manchester Square
o . S London W1U 3aN

mpary Secretary

22 February 2007 Registered number 218018
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Remuneration report

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors

The Company's remuneration policy for Executive Directors 1s
determined by the Remuneration Committee and seeks to attract,
retan, motivate and reward high calibre ndmduals, whilst mantaining
a clear focus on shareholder value Furthermore it requires that ICI's
reward plans reflect the scale and the structure of reward avalable
n those organsations with which ICI competes for talent

Consequently, the remuneration package for Executive Drectors
15 hased upon the following pnnciples

» there should be a clear Iink between required performance and
achievable reward Performance related elements should form
a significant proportion of the total package,

« the total package for on-target performance should be fully
competitive In the relevant market,

« incentives should akgn the interests of executives and shareholders
and reward the creation of long-term value for ICl within a
framework which enables nsk to be assessed and managed, and

+ there should be flexbility, within clearly defined parameters, to meet
cntical resource needs and to retam key executives

The Remuneraticn Committee seeks to take a prudent and
responsible approach when applying this policy

Reward components

Base salary

Base salaries for all Executive Directors are reviewed each year and
are adjusted, where appropnate, to recognise the Indmwidual's role,
performance and posion in ther salary range and expenence, as
well as developments in the external executive pay market The policy
15 to set base salanes within ranges positoned around the mid-market
level for similar large international companies n the relevant national
market (& g UK-based companies form the comparator group for
UK-based executives) This I1s conststent with the remuneration
principle that the total package for on-target performance should

be fully competitive In the relevant market Market pay data is
supphed by iIndependent external advisers appointed by the
Remuneration Commitiee

Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan 1s designed to motivate Executive Directors
towards the achievement of the annual financral and strategic goals
of the Company and its businesses The level of annual reward
opportunity for target bonus s set around the market median in the
relevant natonal markets The financial targets are derved from the
Company's planning processes, thereby providing alignment between
key annual business targets and reward indwidual objectives for
each executive are aligned with the Group's wider key strategic goals
and are agreed annually by the Remuneration Committee

Long-term incentives

ICI's long-term incentives are designed to focus Executve Drrectors
on sustasnable longer-term business performance of ICH,
strengthening the alignment with sharehclders Long-term incentves
are provided through a Performance Growth Plan (PGF) and an
Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP) with performance conditions
aligned to business strategy Together, these plans are designed to
deliver competrive rewards, relative to the appropnate national
markets, for improved financial performance, share price appreciation
and supenor shareholder returns

WWW IC1 Com

Retirement and other benefits
The nature and scale of the Executve Directors’ benefits packages
are positioned around the median of the relevant national market

The major element of the retirement and other benefits package 1s
the retirement benefit Since October 2000 (UK} and Apnl 2002
{USA4) all new employees, including Executve Directars, have .
retiremnent benefits provided on a defined contnbution basis or receve
an equivalent cash allowance, so that the costs to IC! are stable and
predictable Where Executive Direciors participated in a defined
benefit pension plan prior to October 2000 (UK) or Apnl 2002 (USA)
they retan this entitlement on equivalent terms to those that had
applied at the tme they joined the ICI Group when ther business was
acquired from Unilever Where possible, plans provide flexibikty and
choice to sncrease participant commitment, and enable executives to
make theirr own contributions in addition to those made by ICI In this
way, the Company encourages and supports its Executive Diractors
to play an active role in planming for their own retirernent needs It 1s
ICI's policy, where thus 1s in ine with local practice, to fund for its
retirement benefit labiliiles

Personal shareholdings

Executive Directors and senior executives are expected to buld up
personal shareholdings of ICl Ordinary Shares through the retention
of shares acquired via Company share-based plans

For Executive Directors, the target level of shareholding 1s as follows

Target valug of sharahalding
Two times base salary
One tmes base salary

Chief Executve
Executive Directors

Overview of changes to application of pelicy for 2007
Dunng 2006, the Remuneration Commitiee reviewed the
remuneration policy and proposes to make the following changes
for 2007, subject to shareholder approval where required

* ensure that the reward opportunity frorn both the short and
long-term incentive plans remains market competitive,

* re-balance the mix of long-term incentives between share options
and the PGP,

* pay dwdends in respect of vested awards under the PGP, and

« change and simplify the PGP performance critena for
dmsional executves

The propesed changes were discussed in detall with the Company's
mgjor nstitutional shareholders and a number of ther suggestions
were Incorporated The changes provide for a higher degree of
leverage and are set out i detail later in this report Indicatively, for
the Chief Executve the total value of the package remains no higher
than the UK market median

2007 Remuneration structure

The relative values of the main elements of the remuneration
packages for the Chief Executrve and the other Executive Directors,
followng the policy changes set out above, are illustrated in the
charts below The performance related elements, when valued at
target performance levels, compnse more than 60% of the package
{excluding pension and other benefits)
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Remuneration report continuea

Chief Executive

<
>

Relative values of remuneration 2007

1 37% DBase salary

2 26% Annual incentve Plan

3 25% Performance Growth Plan
4 12% Share options

Other Executive Directors

]
>

Relative values of remuneration 2007

1 39% Base salary

2 23% Annual Incentive Plan

3 2% Performance Growth Plan
4 11% Share options

Base salaries

As in pror years, salanes for Executive Directors have been reviewed
for 2007 n hne with the policy set out above The average increase
was 8 7% The maximum increase was 13 3% and the muinimum was
3 9% The largest increases were applied to high performing
executives whose salanes were substantially below the median of the
external market This was part of a mult-year program to ensure
base salanes for high performing executives are appropnately
positioned around the market median

Annual Incentive Plan

The target bonus opportunity available to the Chief Executive for
2007 will be increased from 50% to 70% of salary to ensure it
remans competitive with the external market The maximum
opportunity that will be poassible for significant over-achievernent of
the pre-set targets will be increased from 100% to 140% For other
Executve Directors the target annual bonus will be increased from
50% to 60% and the maximum from 100% to 120%

These increases are (N Ine with the remuneration policy and ensure
the levels of bonus potential (both target and masamum) remain
competitve with 1Cl's comparator group of simiar large intemational
companigs The Remuneraton Committee 15 satisfied that the rewsed
levels of target and macamum bonus potential, combined with iCl's
target setting process, will result in equitable payments appropnate
for the levels of performance delvered, particutarly recognising the
salary levels from which the bonus Is referenced which are also set
around market median levels
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The 2007 bonus targets for Executve Directors are a combination of
profit, cash fiow, sales, return on capital employed and performance
aganst key stratege objectives Financial targets, related performance
ranges and key strategic objectves are approved by the Remuneration
Commuftee, which retans discretion in the final determination of
awards by takang intc account the Group's broader performance

and special perforrmance items, n addiion to the achievement of

the specrfied financial targets In all cases at least 75% of the

bonus opportunity 1s based on financial perforrmance measures The
performance ranges associated with target and maximum payments
will continue to be challenging with a very high degree of stretch
representing a clear progression of year on year performance

Long-Term Incentives Grant Policy

Executives are granted a mix of options and PGP awards There 1s
flexibihty for the Remuneration Commitiee to alter the mix between
the two different types of long-term incenive, subject to iIndmdual
limits withen the PGP and option plan rules The Committee reviews
this mix annually to ensure it remains appropriate

Following three annual grant cycles under the ESOP and six under
the PGP, the Remuneration Committee undertook a detated review
of the long-term ncentive plans The Committee wanted to ensure
the design and structure of the long-term incentive plans remaned
fully aligned with the prnciples of the remuneration policy as set out
earler in this report and that they continued to reflect both best
practice and external market norms

The Remuneration Commities believes that for 2007 the balance

of the total long-term incentive package should be changed so that
PGP awards form a greater proportion of the long-term incentve
package, with a scalng back of option grants This change waill
place a greater emphasis on achievement of sustaned long-term
performance relative to ICI's peer group and afso reflects evolving
market practice, which 1s showing a greater emphasis on long-term
incentve plans, such as ICI's PGP, rather than share option schemes

The proposed changes to the grant levels are set out below for the
Executive Directors

2006 grant poicy 2007 grant policy
{% salany} {% satary)
Options PGP Cptions. PGP
Chief Exgcutive 300% 100% 200% 180%
Other Executive Dvactors 300% 50% 175% 180%

To further increase the leverage in the PGP awards, the threshold
vesiing level for the PGP for achieving medtan TSR performance
versus the peer group will be reduced from its current level of 40%
of the meaxamum award to 20% of the maximum award level set out
in the above table Maxamum payment will be achieved for upper
quartile perforrmance versus the peer group Thess changes are
designed to increase the hnkage between pay and business
performance The Remuneration Committee will keep this leverage
under review and will make further adjustment in the future,

where appropnate

The change to the mix between options and PGP and the changes
to the vesting schedule have increased the value of the long-term
ncentves margnally, but the leverage in the package has been
changed markedly through a significant recuction in the level

of vesting at threshold performance (from 40% to 20% of the
maxmum award) to increase the emphasis at the upper end

of the performance range
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In addihion to changing the balance between PGP awards and options,
PGP awards granted from 2007 will have a nght to the value of
dmdend payments over the vesting pernod, to the extent that awards
ultimately vest The Remuneration Committee believes that this wall
mprove alignment between executives' packages and mnvestors'
interests and has taken into account the additional value when
determining the mix of awards, performance conditions and the grant
levels under each plan This change 1s also in ine with the guidefines on
fong-term incentives published by the Association of British Insurers

The indmdual lirnit in the PGP Rules currently restnicts awards over
shares to no more than 100% of base satary (200% of salary for US-
based employees) and the Rules do not perrmit the value of dividends
over the vesting period to be paid Therefore, 1t 1s proposed to seek
shareholder approval at this year's AGM to increase the indmdual
hrmits which apply to awards to UK and US executives and allow

far the payment of dmdends on vested shares Detalls of these and
other proposed changes to the PGP are disclosed in the Letter to
Shareholders and Notice of Annual General Meeting 2007

Performance Growth Plan (PGP}

Under the PGP, conditional awards of IC! shares are granted to
Executve Directors which are linked to performance over a fixed
three-year period In previous years the Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officer have had therr entire PGP award based sotely on

a Total Shareholder Return {TSR) based performance condition
TSR 1s the change in share price plus reinvested dividends For the
other Executive Directors, each of whom has responsibility for the
performance of one of ICI's businesses, half of the PGP award has
been subject to a TSR performance condition and half has been
subject to a performance condition based on Economic Profit of the
dvision Economic Profit 1s based on profit after tax less a charge for
the use of capital

From 2007, the policy for PGP awards granted to Executve Directars
responsible for ICI's businesses will be changed by the rermoval of the
Economic Profit performance condition applying to 50% of the
award, so that the entire award wil be subject to the TSR
perfarmance condition This 1s in line with ICIs strategic focus on
delvering sustamned long-term performance through a commeon
corporate agenda

Therefore, the performance condtions applying to PGP awards from
2007 to all Executve Directors will be as follows

= the number of shares earned under the PGP will depend wholly on
the Total Sharsholder Return (TSR) for ICI relative to the TSR of
each of the compantes in ICl's peer group as set out below, and

* in addtion, the Remuneration Commitiee must be satisfied that the
undertying proft perfermance of ICl 1s sufficient to justify the receipt
of shares under the PGP, notwithstanding the refatrve TSR achieved

The peer group for the TSR element represents key compettors

of ICY's businesses and companies comparable to ICI, selected on
the basis of market location, size, portfolio and performance The
peer group 1s approved by the Remuneration Comrmittee with advice
from external independent adwisers |t 1s reviewed annually and also
on the occasion of a significant event impacting either ICI or one of
the peer group companies

The peer group companies for the conditional awards made in 2006
were Arr Products and Chemicals, Akze Nobel, BASF, BOC,
Chemtura, Ciba Specialty Chemicals, Clanant, Degussa, Dow
Cherical, DSM, DuPont, Givaudan, International Flavors & Fragrances,
Rohm and Haas, PPG Industnes, and Sherwin-Willams During 2006,
corporate evenis relating to BOC and Degussa required these
companies to be replaced

WWW IC1 com

The selected replacements were Johnson Matthey and Valspar
respectively The peer group for 2007 will be reviewed by the
Remuneration Committes following the completion of the divestment
of the Quest business to ensure the constituent companies remain
refevant to ICI's ongoing business portfolio The agreed 2007 peer
group will be disclosed in the 2007 Remuneration Report

For the maximum awards to be pad on the TSR element,
performance of ICl must be at the upper quartile or ligher compared
with the comparator companies in the peer group For achieving
median TSR performance, 20% of this maxsmum award wil be pad
Awards are pro-rated between the median and upper quartle

No award will be pad for below-median TSR performance

TSR has heen selected as a performance measure as it will reward
any relative out-performance of IC versus its global competitors
TSR 1s calculated by Independent axternal advisers and approved
by the Remuneration Cormmittee

The shares required to make awards under the PGP are purchased
in the market There 1s, therefore, no diution of the Company's 1ssued
share capital

Executive Share Option Plan (the Plan)

The Plan grants options that vest and become exercisable provided
demanding performance condtions are met For grants made wn
2007, an earnings per share (EPS} performance condition will
require average annual growth over three years in Adusted EPS

{1 e EPS before special tems) of between RPI+4% per annum and
RP1+8% per annum for between one third and 100% of the awards
to be exercisable respectively Options become exercisable three
years from the date of grant, to the extent determined by the
Perfarmance Condition There 1S no retesting

The Remuneraton Committee considers that an EPS-based
performance condition remains appropriate for share options, as

it provides a financal underpinning to the pnmary performance
regurement inherent in an optien, that 1s, to grow the share price
The growth rarge 15 considered to be appropriately challenging,
takng account of the reward opporturity avalable, industry-specific
{actors and the markets in which the Company operates

2006 Actual remuneration

Base salaries

Salanes tor Executive Directors were reviewed and increased with
effect from i January 2006 when indmdual increases for those

due for review on 1 January 2006 ranged from nil to 9@ 7% with an
average ncrease of 4 4% Irkdvidual increases reflected both the
performance of the indmdual executive and ther base salary position
relative to the external market In Ine with the policy on setting base
salanes within market ranges, a nil Increase was applied to any
executve whose base salary was positioned above therr market
range The nil increase I1s a reflection of the application of the base
salary policy and not the executive’s performance Details of base
salanes are shown in the Directors' emolumenits table on page 49

Annual Incentive Plan

The bonus opportunty available to Executive Directors for 2006 for
the achievement of on-target performance was 50% of base salary,
with @ maxamum opportunity of 100% of base salary for significant

over-achievement
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Remuneration report contnues

The targets {ocused on the delvery of profit, cash flow, return on
capital employed (ROCE), sales and key strategic objectves, with
greatest weighting on the financial measures of profit and cash flow
For those executives responstble for the performance of one of ICl's
bustnesses, the heaviest weighting was on the profit of the executve'’s
own business, with the other financtal measures being the cash flow,
ROCE and sales performance of ther business plus an element on
ICI Group profit and cash flow performance

Cn-target performance and the ranges defining rmsrimum and
maximum payment were agreed by the Remuneration Committee
and were set to be appropnately challenging for the ICH Group and for
each business Indicatively, the financial performance required to
achieve maximum payment in 2006 on the ICl Group profit measure
was 10% greater than the level for on-target performance

Bonus payments made to the executives in respect of ICI's
performance in 2006 reflected good performance, particularty
against a backdrop of mixed market conditions The Group exceeded
the target tevel of performance for adjusted profit before tax and
cash flow Return on capital employed reached the on-target level for
the Group More than 75% of the bonus payments were linked to
financial targets Performance agawst key strategic objectives reflects
targets that were focused on drang profitable growth and operating
efficiency, implementing the restructunng plans and further
developing the executive and senior management tafent pool The
level of performance, aganst both financial targets and key sirategic
objectives, has been reviewed in detail by the Remuneration
Committee which has approved the level of indvidual payments

The payments under the 2006 Annual incentive Plan are shown in
the Drreciors' emoluments table on page 49

Long-term incentives

For the 2004 to 2006 performance penod of the Performance
Growth Plan (PGP}, ICl's share pnce growth and dwidend yields
resulted in a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) that ranked ICI at
Position 1 out of the 17 comparues in the peer group At this level of
TSR performance the maximum of the TSR related awards made in
2004 will vest Details of the shares released to indwidual Executive
Directors are set out on page 50

Total Shareholder Return
ICl and peer group companies
1 January 2004 to 31 December 2008
[ Tl ] {1 peer group
[ ] companies
[ ]
[ ]
I ]
A —
C—— —
C———— 1
C————1
1
I
[ ——
—
L
0
8]
25% 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 12‘5% 150% Sowce Kepler Associaras
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Three current Executive Directors recaved an award under
the Economic Profit measure of the PGP for the 2004 to 2006
performance penod and this 1s shown on page 50 together
with detatls of the perfermance achieved

Details of the share option plan under which opbions were granted in
2006 are lad out on page 47 and the performance conditions arg set
out on page 52

There were no options exercised by current Executive Directors
during 2006

Performance graphs
{not subyect to audrt)

The first graph shows ICI's five-year performance versus the peer
group of companies for the TSR performance condition for PGP
awards made In 2006

Five-year cumulative Total Shareholder Return
ICl and peer group Indices
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As required by UK disclesure legislation, the second graph illustrates
the performance of ICl and a "broad equity market index” over the
past five years The index shown s the FTSE 100 as IC} has been

a constituent of this ndex throughout the five-year penod
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Directors’ emoluments

{auchited)
Basa salaries Annuzl noentive Benafits and other Tota)
and fees {(note 1) payments amchuments (notas 2 3} {nota 4)

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Nates £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 2000
P B Ellwood 5 275 260 275 260
Dr J D G McAdam [ 768 700 518 478 19 23 1,305 1,201
A J Brown 37 415 54 278 137 23 830 77
0 C M Hamill 38 430 406 200 263 121 134 751 803
C F Knott as 388 381 252 199 88 B9 728 669
W H Powell 1478 102 414 63 179 5 19 170 612
A Baan 10 45 36 45 36
Lord Butler 10 55 46 55 46
J T Gorman 10 55 46 55 45
R N Haythornthwaite 10 55 a6 B85 a6
Baroness Noakes 10 45 36 45 36
Directors in prior years 11 268 185 20 453
Total 2,633 2,683 1,311 1,284 370 308 4,314 4,285

1

e

%)

{4)

5
{6

{7

@)

@

(10)

(1

Base salanes and fees for 2008, included in the table, are the same as the annual rate of base salares or fees in payment at
31 December 2006, except in respect of Mr Powell whose annual base salary dunng 2006 was US$754,500

Benefits include company car, medical insurance and life and long-term disability iInsurance {where not provided within pension benefit
plans) and, for UK-based Directors in 2005, external advice provided to them on the new UK pension regime

Other emoluments compnse retrament benefit allowances payable in cash to Mr Brown and to Mr Harnill {see notes 6 and 8 to
pension benefits table on page 53), a car allowance paw to Mr Brown in ieu of provision of a company car and an overseas allowance
payable to Mr Knott

No compensation for loss of office payments were made to Mr Powell or any other Directors dunng 2006 and no such payments were
made to any Directors in 2005 There are no termised disclosures included in the Total figures in connection with expense allowances pad
in respect of services chargeable to UK income tax as no such payments were made to any Directors in 2006 or 2005

During 2006, Mr Ellwood elected to receve 30% of his fees in the form of 1C] Ordinary Shares {2005 30%}

Dr McAdam and Mr Hamill participate in “Pensave” which 1s an all-employee arrangement related to pension contributions Base salanes
for these executives are reported in the table excluding Pensave related adjustments

Mr Brown was appointed an Executive Director on 14 November 2005 and Mr Powell stepped down as a Director on 6 Apni 20086 prior to
his retrement from the company later that year The amounts reported for these individuals are in respect of the part of the year for which
they were employad as a Owectar

Mr Kriott has service agreements with Quest in both the Netherlands and in the UK Mr Knott's annual base salary as at 31 Decernber
20086 under these agreements compnsed €400,000 and £114,750 respectively The base salary disclosed 1s the total Sterling equvalent
The Eure-denominated salary is translated at the average exchange rate (2006 £1 = €1 466, 2005 £1 = €1 462)

Mr Powell receved an annualised base salary dunng 2006 of US$754,500 (2005 US$754,500} The US dollar-denominated salary

I1s translated at the average exchange rate {2006 £1 = US$1 842, 2005 £1 = US$1 820) During the period from 6 Apnl 2006, when
Mr Powell ceased to be a Director of the Company, to his retirement on 31 October 2008, he remained an employee of National Starch
and Chermical Company The emoluments he receved relating to this perod was USE710,546 (£394,039) In addition, Mr Powell was
gwven title to his company car on his retirement, which had an estimated valug of US3$35,000

For 2006 the remuneraton of Non—Executive Directors compnsed an annual feg of £45,000 (2005 £36,000) An addtional £10,000 per
annum {2005 £10,000} was paid to the Chairmen of Board Committees and to Lerd Butler in respect of his position as Senior Independent
Director Fee levels were reviewed effective 1 January 2006 and were Increased at that time to ensure they were at the market median fee
level for similar UK FTSE 100 comparnies

Directors In prior years relates to remuneration to the late Mr Scott pror 1o his death in 2005
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Awards under the Performance Growth Plan

(audited)
Shara pace Ordinary Shares that would be
Date of datermining awarded for median TSRAN targe Mavarmum number of Ordinary
award award [note 1} Economc Profit performance Shares that coukl be awarded Performance perdod
TSR Economic Profd TSA  Econora: Profit
Notes mAasre measure MEASLIY measurs
Dr J © G McAdam 120204 221 115,837 nfa 289,592 n/a 0101 04-3112 06
1802 05 28t 99,644 n/a 248,110 n/a 01 01 05-31 12 67
240208 347 88 530 n/a 221 325 n/a 01 01 06-3112 08
A J Brown 2 1411 05 n 35,584 n/a 88 960 n/a 01 01 05-31 12 07
240208 347 47,838 n/a 119,556 n/a 010106-311208
D C M Hamill 120204 221 35,204 35 294 88§ 235 70,588 0101 04-3112 08
180205 281 28 861 28,861 72153 57,722 01 01 05-31 12 07
240206 347 24,783 24,783 61,959 49,566 0101 06-3112 08
C F Knott 120204 221 32 488 32,488 81,221 64,976 0101 04-3112 06
180205 281 26,583 26,583 66,459 53,167 1 0105-31 12 07
240206 347 21 959 21,859 54,899 43,918 0101 06-3112 08
W H Powell 34 120204 221 78,786 78,796 192,612 167,662 01 1 04-3112 06
34 180205 281 63,808 63,908 156,224 127,820 0101 05-31 12 Q7
34 24 02 06 347 57108 57,108 139,604 114,220 01 01 08-3112 08

{1)

2

3
(4)

=)

The number of shares compnsing the PGP awards is determined by the average share price of ICl Ordinary Shares for the three days
preceding the date of grant [n accordance with applicable disclosure legislation the Company 18 required to state the market price of
its shares on the date of the award and these were as follows 12 February 2004 €2 22, 18 February 2005 £2 77, 14 November 2005
£315 and 24 February 2006 £3 40

The 2005 award to Mr Brown was made on appointrnent, at & level of two thirds of the standard annual grant to reflect his prospective
service In the performance penod refating to this award

Mr Powell's awards are in the form of ADRs, but for the purpose of this table have been disclosed in terms of Ordinary Share equivalents

The treatment of Mr Powell's PGP awards following tus retirement on 31 October 20086 have been determined by the PGP rules The
awards remain subject to the same performance conditions that applied pnor to his retirement For awards made in 2004 and 2005,
any release of shares as determined by the performance condition will also be pro-rated to his perod of employment dunng the relevant
three-year performance cycle No shares will be released from the award made in 2006 because, as at the date of retirement, less than
12 months of the plan cycle had elapsed

No vanations o awards were made dunng 2006

Shares vested under the Performance Growth Plan
{audited)

The following shares in respect of the performance period 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2006 vested on 14 February 2007

Percentage of maximum number of

Ordinary Shares vested Ordinary Shares that could be awardad
Value ol

Number of shares at date TSR Econemic

shares Prica at cate of vesting measura Proft
vested of vasting {nata 1) {rote 2 maasure Total
Notes £ £ 000 % % %
Dr J D G McAdam 289,582 478 1,384 100 n/a 100
D C M Hamill 3 158,823 478 758 100 100 100
C F Knott 3 138,442 478 662 100 88 95
W H Powsll 34 324,096 478 1,549 o4 90 93

0]
@

3

4

For comparative purposes, the value of shares vesting in 2005 was £1,453,000

ICI's TSR perfermance was the tighest of the 17 companies in the PGP peer group which resulted in maximum vesting of this element
of the award, as stated earlier in the report

The awards vestng to Mr Hamill, Mr Knott and Mr Powell from the Economic Profit element of thewr 2004 to 2006 PGP awards reflect the
Econormic Profit performance of Paints, Quest and National Starch respectively Paints® economic profit performance exceeded the level
required for maximum vesting that was set at the start of the 2004 to 2006 performance ¢ycle Quest and National Starch econormuc profit
performances were marginally below the level required for maximum vesting All economic profit measurements are macde on a consistent
accounting basis

The award to Mr Powell, who retired on 31 October 2006, 1s made pro rata to his 34 months of service n the three-year performance
pericd It was made in the form of ADRs but for the purposes of this table has been disclosed in terms of Ordinary Share equivalents at the
pnce of ICl Ordinary Shares on the date of vesting
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Directors’ interests in share options
{audited)

Grants dunng 2006 were made subject to a shding scale performance condison that determines the number of shares that could vest
The condition 15 set out on page 52

There were no options exercised by current Executive Diectors dunng 2006 or 2005

Options Options
outstanding at granted Options
1 January 2008 during 2606 Bpsed

{nate 1 2) {nota 2)  during 2006 Cptions outstanding at 31 December 2006 {nota 3)
Earllest date Latest
Nurnber of Number of HNurnber of Number of Exercisa Data of trom whech expiry
shares shangs. shares shams poces grant axercisania dara

notas {nota 4 5) £ {nots 6}

Dr J D G McAdam 24,545 24,545 10077 180598 18 05 ¢1 17 0508
7 108,121 108121 5454 230499 200402 280409
90,416 90 416 4242 210200 210203 200210
138,564 138,564 4202 050301 050304 040311
149,647 149,647 2840 130302 130305 120312
465,251 465,251 1340 170303 1703086 160313
654,761 654,761 1680 110803 11 08 06 100813
831168 831,168 2310 300804 300607 290614
747,330 747.330 2810 180205 18 02 0B 17 0215
662,068 662 068 3480 030406 030409 (20418
81451 B14s5f 1580 131203 010209 310709
A J Brown 357,758 357,758 3480 030406 030409 020416
C C M Harruil 386,138 386,138 2020 1012 03 1012 06 091213
506,493 906,493 2310 300604 300607 290614
432,918 432,918 2810 180245 18 02 08 17 0215
370,689 370 689 3480 030406 {30409 02 0416
C F Knott 10,909 10,909 10077 180598 18050 17 0508
40,825 40,825 4333 080399 080302 070309
47,535 47,535 4242 210200 210203 200210
138,564 138,564 4202 050301 050304 04031
8 154 448 154,448 2840 130302 1303 05 12 0312
8 394,288 394,288 1340 170303 170306 160313
466,233 466,233 2310 300604 300607 29 0614
398 754 398,754 2810 180205 180208 17 0215
328,448 328,448 3480 030406 030409 02 04186
W H Powell B9 39,104 39,104 8466 040897 040800 030807
89 31,284 31.284 10077 1805498 1805 01 17 0508
89 92,380 92,380 4482 080399 080302 070309
8,9 98,708 98,708 5690 2805899 280502 270509
89 192,696 192 696 4242 210200 210203 200210
89 272816 272 816 4292 050301 050304 040311
89 337,452 337 452 2840 130302 130305 12 0312
39 820,808 820 808 1340 170303 170306 16 0313
8.9 778,608 778608 2310 300604 300607 29 06 14
89 639,104 6539 104 2810 180205 1802 08 17 0215
89 561,428 561,428 3480 030406 030403 020416

t Grants awarded under 2 UK all-amployes Sharesave Scheme i which UK Executive Directors could partlcipate No performance conditions are attached to
options granted under ts scheme as s an all-employee share option scheme

{1) No vanations were made to Directors' opbons or the terms and condimons of any Directors’ ophions dunng the year 2008 or the penod
ended 19 February 2007

{2) No amount was paid for the award of any options

{3) Share options autstanding at the year end for Mr Powell are stated as at the date he stepped down as a Director on 6 Apnl 2006
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Remuneration report contnued

{4) Grants under the Executive Share Option Plan in 2004 and 2005 were made subject o the following shiding scale performance conditions
These Adjusted EPS target figures are after the requued adjustments for the impact of IFRS accounting changes on the EPS targets as
onginally set under UK GAAP at the time of the grants The Remuneration Commuttee have ensured that these required adjustments were
made on a far and equitable basis

Adiusted EPS targets in 2006 Adiusted EPS targets In 2007
Percentage of shares vesting {for grants made in 2004) (for grants mada in 2005)
33 3% 28 3p 317p )
100% 34 7p 36 0p

The performance condition for the 2006 grants requires average annual growth over three years of between RP1+4% per annum and
RP1+8% per annum for between one third and 100% of the options to be exercisable respectively There 1s no retesting of the condition
after the three-year performance penod The percentage of shares vesting will be pro-rated, on a straight-line basis, between ponts on
the above scales

The performance condition for the awards made in 2004 was tested in February 2007 following the end of the requisite three-year period
The Remuneration Committee concluded, after due consideration of the underlying performance of the Compary, that the Adjusted EPS
performance for 2006 of 31 6p will result in 67 7% of the awards granted to Executive Directors i 2004 becoming exercisabls from therr
third annwersary The balance of the awards made in 2004, as set out in the above table detabing the indnvidual grants, will lapse

{5) Grants made under the share option scheme in operation prior to 2004 were made subject to an EPS performance condition which
requires that over a three-year penod in the ife of the option the growth in ICl's Adjusted EPS must be equal to, or greater than, the
increase n the UK Retak Prices Index plus 3% per annum To test the condition agamst 2006 EPS, baseline EPS for 2003 1s required on
an IFRS basis The Remuneration Committee ensured that all appropriate factors were included in the adjustment and this resultad in the
2003 UK GAAP EPS before exceptional tems and goodwill amortisation of 18 Sp being adjusted to an IFRS Adjusted EPS baseline figure
of 21 3p The 48% growth in 2006 Adjusted EPS from this baseline was significantly greater than the 19 5% growth required for the
condition 10 be met The Remuneration Commitiee concluded, after due consideration of the underlying performance of the Company, that
the vesting should be in accordance with the EPS condition All options granted between 1987 and 2003 have now therefore passed their
performance conditions and are now exercisable The shares to fulfil options granted under this plan do not dilute ICI's 1ssued share capital
as they are bought in the market

(6) The eartest date from which an option is exercisable 1s subject to any outstanding performance condition being mat

(7) In accordance with the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authonty, the annual grant of share options made on 29 Apnl 1999 to
Executive Directors involved with the then proposed disposal of businesses to Huntsman ICI Holdings LLC was delayed As a resuli of this
delay, those participants were granted fewer options at a hugher exercise price than would have been the case had the grants been made to
them at the same time as they were made to all other participants at an exercise price of £4 33 The Remuneration Committee decided that
those indmduals so affected should receve the sarme gross gain at the time they exercise their options as if the grant had not been delayed

(8} Awards made under the US Stock Apprecration Rights plan and denominated in ADRs have been disclosed in terms of Ordinary Share
option equivalents at the pnce of the ICI shares at the date of grant Any gain on exercise of these awards 1s delivered i the form of ADRs

{9} Under the Plan Rules for retirement that govern awards made to Mr Powell prior to 2004, the performance condiion was wanved and
the Stock Apprecation Rughts became exercisable in full for a penod of two years For the option grant made i 2004 and 2005 the
periormance condition was not wawed but tested early based on Adjusted EPS for the year pnor to his retrement against the onginal EPS
target figures As a result, all Stock Appreciation Rights awards made to Mr Powell n 2004 and 2005 lapsed on his retrement The award
made in 2006 has also lapsed because, as at the date of retrement, less than 12 months of the performance period had elapsed Following
his retirement, Mr Powell exercised SARs dunng 2006 over a total of 405,943 ADRs at a market price at exercise of US$30 02 with a
weighted average SAR pnce at grant of US$15 14

(10) The market price of the shares at 31 December 2006 was £4 52 and the range dunng 2006 was £3 30 to £4 52 The Register of Directors'
Interests (which 15 open to inspection by shareholders) contans full details of Directors’ shareholdings and options to subscnbe for shares

(11} There are mits on the number of newly 1ssued shares that can be used to savsfy awards under the Group's employee share schemes in
any 10-year penod The lmits (which are in accordance wath investor guidelines) and the Group’s current position against those kmits are

set out below
Lirmut Gurent Position
5% of Group’s share capital can ba Q 7% used
used for discretionary share schemes
10% of Group's share capital can be 1 3% used

used for all share schemes

New 1ssue shares may be used to sahsfy awards made under the UK all-empioyee Sharesave scheme and the 2004 Executve Share Option
Plan The total member of shares committed under all IC! share option schemes durning the two years to 31 December 2006 i1s set out in note 7
retating to the Group accounts on page 82 Between 1994 and 2003 all dscretionary share schemes have operated using shares purchased in
the market by an employee benefit trust Detals of shares held in this trust are in note 27 relating to the Group accounts on page 109
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Retirement benefits

Detalls of the accrued pension to which each Director 1s entitled on leaving employment, and the transfer value of those accrued pensions,

are shown in the table below A transfer value 1s the present value lump sum equivalent of the accrued pension and 15 calculated in accordance
with the Guidance Note published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuarnies (GN 11)

Directors’ pension benefits

{audited)
Detined cortribution
Defined beneft pension pians pension pans
Increase in
Additienal Azcrued Transter vahie Transfer valug transfar value
pensIon penslon at of accrued of accrued of accrued
accrued N 31 December pension al pensional  paension durng Contnbutions
2006 2006 1 January 31 Decernber the year 2008 Contributions
{note 1} {nota 2} 2006 2006 {notes 3 4; {nota 4) 2005
Notes £000 p.a £000 p.a £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Or J D G McAdam 5 69 580 9,257 10,853 1,351 - -
D C M Hamll § n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 27 26
C F Knott 5 14 213 2,414 2,773 338 - -
W H Powell 7 {31) 308 4,712 4,200 (512} 5 39

{1
2
@)

)

(3)

@)

n

@

&)

The addihonal annual pension accrued during the year, payable at normal rebrement age
The accrued annual pension at the end of the year, payable at normal retrement age

The transfer value calculations take into account the combined effect of notional interest and the individual's age which will typically increase
transfer values by 8%-9% year on year Additional factors that impact the transfer values (which are net of conirbutions by Directors) over
the year are changes In pensionable pay and the service of each Director, as well as changes in actuarial assumptions, partcularly for
equity and bond returns The increases in transfer values are in accordance with the rules of the relevant pension fund

Dr McAdam and Mr Hamill are participants in Pensave, which is an all-employes arangement related to pension contnbutions
Empioyer and employes contnbutions for these executives are on a notional basis to exclude Pensave related adjustments

Dr McAdam and Mr Knott participate in the ICl Specialty Chemicals Pensien Fund Pensionable salary under this plan includes annual
bonus, subject to a maximum of 20% of base salary for Dr McAdam and 15% of base salary for Mr Knott The pensionable elerment of
bonus s particutar to these two Executive Directors and reflects their terms of employment and conbinuous pensionable service prior to
thew transfer from Unilever to IC1in 1997, on the acquistion of certan specialty chemicals businesses This pensionable bonus element
entitliement has been frozen since the time of transfer and has not been increased In ine with promoticn or increases in ICI's bonus levels
In the event of voluntary earty retirement for these two executives the accruad pension is reduced actuanally where the penston i1s drawn
early For early retrement at the Company’s reguest, In certain circumnstances the Company has an established practice of allowing the
Executive Director to draw the {ull accrued pension ymmediately

Mr Hamill participates in the ICl UK Retirernent Plan, a defined contnbution plan, in respect of base salary up to a Company specified
earnings cap (currently £108,600 for 2006/7) He also receves a retirement benefit allowance, payable in cash and subject to income tax,
n respect of base salary above this cap This allowance 1s reported in the Directors’ emoluments table on page 49 and for the 2006
penod totalled £96,645 (2005 £90,240)

Prior to his retrement from the company on 31 October 2006, Mr Powell participated in the National Starch and Chermical Company
Pension Plan for Salaned Employees and the Supplementary Retirement and Savings Plan of National Starch and Chemical Company
Under these Plans, pension 1s based on average pay, including annual bonus  The figures in the above table for these plans, n accordance
with the disclosure regulations, reflect Mr Powell's senace up to the date he retired from the company on 31 October 2006 Mr Powell also
participated in two defined contnbution plans, for which the employer’s contributions are set out ahove up to the date he stepped down as
a Director on 6 Apnl 2006 Mr Powell’s figures reflect not only the change in value of benefits but also movernents in exchange rates used
for the translation to Stering The actual additional pension accrued in the year was US$20,277 and the actual transfer value increased over
the year by US$119,297 When translated into Sterling, the resulting reduction in pension accrued was £30,864, compnising £11,006
translating the US dollar additional pension inte Sterling and a £41,870 exchange loss translating the closing accrnual at a spot rate of £1 =
USS1 962 (2005 £1 = US$1 723) Swnilarly, the Stering decrease in transter value of accrued pension was £511,849, compnsing £64,755
translating the US dollar movernent into Sterling and £576,604 exchange loss translating the accrual at the differing spot rates at end 2005
and 2006

Mr Brown participates in the 1C1 UK Retrement Plan only i respect of ife insurance benefits for base salary up to a Company-specified
earrungs cap (currently £108,600 for 2006/7) No pension contributions are paid on hus behaff Instead he receves a retrement benefit
allowance, payable In cash and subject 1o income tax, in respect of full base salary This allowance 1s reported in the Directors’ emoluments
table on page 49 and for 2006 {otalled £123,508

The Usting Rules of the Financial Services Authonty require disclosure above and beyond that set out in the Companies Act Specifically
the following disclosures for defined benefit plans which are calculated on an alternative basis 1o those disclosed in the table above
Additional annual pension accrued in 20086 (net of inflaton} Dr McAdam £51,600, Mr Knott £7,330, Mr Powell £(31) Transfer values at

31 December 2006 of the increase In accrugd pension {net of inflation and contributions by the Director) Dr McAdam £889,800, Mr Knott
£73,700, Mr Powell £(512} The calculation for Dr McAdam includes pension contributions on a notonal basis due to Pensave
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Remuneration report contnued

UK !nland Revenue pensions simplification tax regime
The Remuneration Comnitee has agreed ICIs approach n response to the UK pensions simphfication legislation, which became effective on
6 Apnl 20086, for those Executive Directors who are members of UK pension plans Such Executive Directors were gven the option of esther

* maintaining the existing pension amangement, in which case the executive would take personal responsibdity for any additional taxation
ansing, cr

» ceasing to accrue pension benefits in respect of future service and Instead recenng a cash retrement benefit allowance, subject to income
taxation Past service benefits would remain inked to future salary increases

This cash alternatve 15 N ine with ICI's defined contribution benefits pokcy and the level of retrement benefit allowance payable will be in ine
with existing Company contnbution rates to the |G UK defined contnbution plan These arrangements will not increase the cost o the Group
of pension provision

Directors’ Interests in shares

{audited)

31 Decamber 31 December
IG1 Grehinary Shares notes 2006 2005
Oirectors at 31 December 2006
P B Elwocod 53,484 41,104
Or J O G McAdam 12 268,897 173,054
A J Brown 12 1,305 1,305
D C M Hamll 12 3,000 3.000
G F Knoit 12 113,334 80,721
A Baan 18,000 18,000
Lord Butfer 1,636 1,636
J T Gorman 3 14,624 14,624
R N Haythornthwaite 12,791 12,791
Barcness Noakes 13,600 13 600

Consistent with the policy on persenal shareholding, no Executive Directors have disposed of shares acquired via Company share-based plans
except to meet consequent income tax iabifties

All shares held by Directors are held beneficially

{1) In addition to the interests in the table above, on 14 February 2007 Dr McAdam, Mr Hamill and Mr Knott became entited 1o shares
awarded to them under the Performance Growth Plan, as detaited in the table of “Shares vested” on page 50 Dr McAdam, Mr Brown,
Mr Hamil and Mr Knott have conditional interests in PGP awards as set out on page 50

{2) Dr McAdam, Mr Brown, Mr Hamill and Mr Knott are potential beneficranes of the Company’s ernployee benefit trust, which 15 used to
satisfy awards under the senior staff share plans, and are thersfore treated as interested in the 2 5m {2005 4 3m) shares, including ADRs
expressed as Ordinary Share equivalents, held by the trustee at 31 Decermnber 2006 Therr interests at 19 February 2007 were 13 5m shares

{3} Mr Gorman's interest in shares at 1 January 2006 and at 31 December 2006 compnsed 3,656 ADRs {representing 14,624 Ordinary Shares)

Bunng the penod 1 January 2007 to 19 February 2007 there wera no changes in the interests of Directors in shares other than as set out
above In respect of the vesting of PGP shares and the movement in shares held by the employes benefit trust
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Remuneration policy for Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors
{not subject to audt)

The remuneration policy for the Chairrman 1s determined by the
Remuneration Comnrmittee

The remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directars (NEDs) 1s
determined by the Board, within the kmits set out in the Articles of
Association Remuneration compnses an annual fee for acting as a
NED of the Company and an additional fes for acting as the Chairman
of a Board Commuittee or as the Seruor Independent Director

The Charman and NEDs are not eligible io participate in incentive plans

ICl operates a scheme which enables the Charman and NEDs to
receive payment of part of therr fees in the form of ICI Ordinary
Shares

Remuneration Committee

Role and membership

The Remuneration Committee determines, on behalf of the Board,
the Company’s policy on the remuneration of the Chairman,
Executive Directars and the most semior management of the
Company The Committee deterrmines the total remuneration
packages for these indwviduals including any compensation on
termination of office

The Committee 1s compnsed exclusively of the independent NEDs of
the Company The members of the Remuneration Committee dunng
2006 were

Mr R N Haythormnthwaite (Chairman)
Mr A Baan

Lord Butler

Mr J T Gorman

Baroness Noakes

The Committee members have nc personal financial interest, other
than as shareholders, i the maiters to be decided

The constitution and operation of the Cemmittee comply with The
Combined Code

The terms of reference of the Committee are avallable on ICHs
corporate website (www ict com) or, on request, from the Compary
Secretanat at the Registered Ofiice

Advisers

To ensure that ICl's remuneration practices are market competitive,
the Remuneration Commitiee has access to detaled external
research on market data and trends from independent and
experienced international consultants Since 1 January 20086, the
Committee has receved matenal advice from Towers Pernn, New
Bndge Street Consultanis and Kepler Associates These adwisers
have been appointed by the Remuneration Committee The terms
of engagement are available on ICl's corporate website {www 1¢1 com)
or, on request, from the Company Secretanat at the Registered
Office In relation to their services prowided to the Group, Towers
Pernn also provides actuanat services in respect of the Group's
pension plan in the Netherands and all three consultants provide
certain employee benefit services and/or remuneration advice to
the Group below Board level

The Chairrnan, Chief Executive, Executive Vice President Human
Resources and Vice President Performance & Reward are normally
invited to attend mestings to respond to specific questions raised by
the Committee Thus specifically excludes any matter concerning the
detall of their own personal remuneration The Company Secretary
acts as Secretary to the Commuties

Directors’ service agreements and letters of engagement

{nct subject to audt)

Executive Directors

it 1s the Remuneration Committee’s policy that Executive Directors are employed on ¢ontracts subject to no more than 12 months’ notice,
In accordance with current corporate governance best practice The Remuneration Committee strongly endorses the pnncple of mtigation

of damages on early termination of a service agreement

The dates of current Executive Directors’ service agreements, the dates on which therr appointments took effect and the current expiry dates

of therr agreements are as follows

Executive Dwecioes. Date of service agreement Effective data Expry date

Dr J D G McAdam 1410 03 09 04 03 Terminable on 12 months' notice

A J Brown 0211 05 1411 05 Terminable on 12 months' notice

D C M Harnill 281003 081203 Terminable on 12 months' notice

C F Knott 02 09 04 0109 04 Terminable on 12 months' notice (note 1)

(1) As set out in note 8 to the table of Directors’ Emoluments, Mr Knott has two Service Agreements, both dated as set out above
Mr Knott's appointment as an Executive Director of the Company I1s non-remunerative and 1s covered by a separate letter of appontment
Mr Knott’s employment 1s terminable on 12 months’ notice from the Compary To comply with statutory employment legrslation n the
Netherlands, Mr Knott is required to give six months’ notice of termination of employment to the Company An ICI subsidiary company In
the Netherlands has agreed to provide Mr Knott with certain protection agamnst any future loss on disposal of the house he has purchased
as his residence in the Netherdands In the event that he ceases employment in the Netherlands with an IC Group company, other than by
resignation or for a reason relating to his conduct, dunng a penod of 10 years from 31 August 2003 and in the event the house 15 sold at
a pnce less than the onginal purchase prce, the ICI subsidiary will remburse hum for 75% of the difference between the sate pnce and the
ongnat purchase pnee The exact amount of the beneiit to lum as a result of this arrangement witl not be known untll the house 1s sold
Al the current valuabon of the property a reimbursement by the IC! subsidiary would be required, under the circumstances set out above,

of approximately €75,000
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Remuneration report connues

Mr Powell, who stepped down as a Director on 6 Apnl 2006, had a service agreement dated 17 February 2000 with an effective date of
2 February 2000 Prior to his retirement this agreement was terminable on 12 months’ notice

There are no express provisions for compensation payable upon early termination of an Executive Director’s coniract other than as
detaled above

External directorships
Executive Directors are encouraged to take ong external Non-Executive directorship In order to avoid any conflict of interest all appontments
are subject o the approval of the Remuneration Committee and the Board Directors retain payments recenved in respect of these appontments

Dr McAdam recened fees as a Non-Executive Director of J Sainsbury plc of £50,769 For the penod 1 April 2006 to 31 December 2006
Mr Knoit recerved fees as a Non-Executive Director of impenal Tobacco Group PLC of £35,000 Mr Powell receved fees as a Non-Executive
Director of Granite Construction Incorporated of US$21,950 refating o the penod that he was an Executve Director of ICI

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The dates of the Charman’s and current Non-Executive Directors’ (NEDs) letters of engagement, the date on which their appointment took effect
and the current expiry dates are as follows

Chaiman and

Non-Executive Drectors. Date of letter of angagement Effactive date Expury cata

P 8 Elwood 1512 03 010104 Terminable on 12 months' notice
A Baan 24071 250601 {note 1)

Lord Butler 12 06 98 0107 98 {note 1)

J T Gorman 251000 2009 00 {note 1)

R N Haythornthwaite 220201 2002 M {note 1}

Baroness Noakes 050204 010304 {note 1)

{1} Subject to sahsfactory performance, NEDs are normally expected to serve two three-year terms commencing with the first Annual General

Mesetingpiter the date of ther appointment However, there may be circumstances where NEDs are nvited to remain on the Board after the
expry of their second three-year term for a further penod of up to three years Any such invitation will be subject to the Director in question
for annual re-election by shareholders NEDs have no nght to compensaticn on the early termination of therr appointment

n of the Remuneration Committee

22 February 2007
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Directors’ responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and
the Group and parent company accounts in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Cornpany law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
company accounts for each financial year Under that law they are
required to prepare the Group accounts n accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elected to
prepare the parent company accounts In accordance with UK
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice)

The Group accounts are requrred by law and IFRSs as adopted by
the EU to present farly the financial position and the performance

of the Group the Companies Act 1985 prowides in relation to such
financial staternents that references in the relevant part of that Act to
financial statements giving a true and farr view are references to ther
achieving a far presentation

The parent company accounts are required by law to give a frue and
farr view of the state of affarrs of the parent company

In prepanng each of the Groug and parent company accounts,
the Directors are regured to

* select sutable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

* make judgments and estmates that are reasonable and prudent,

« for the Group accounts, state whether they have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

» for the parent company accounts, state whether applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the parent company
accounts, and

» prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it 1s
inappropnate to presume that the Group and the parent company
will continue In business

The Birectors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent company and enable themn to ensure that its
accounts comply with the Comparnies Act 1985 They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and cther iregularities

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for prepanng a Directors’ Report, Directors’
Rernuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that
comptly with that law and those regutations

The Directors are respansible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may ditfer from legslation

in other junisdictions
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Independent auditor’s report to the Members
of Imperial Chemical Industries PLLC

We have audited the Group accounts of Impenal Chemical Industries
PLC for the year ended 31 Decernber 2006 which compnse the
Group income statement, the Group balance sheet, the Group cash
flow statement, the Statement of Group recognised ncome and
expense and the refated notes These Group accounts have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out theremn

We have reported separately on the parent company accounts of
Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC for the year ended 31 December
2006 and on the information in the Directors' Remuneration report
that 15 described as hawving been audited

This report Is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,

In accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 Cur
audit work has been underiaken so that we might stata to the
Company's members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s repart and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted Dy law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members

as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors

and Auditors

The Dectors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group accounts in accordance with applicable faw and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
EU are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibiliies on page
&7

Our responsibility ts to audit the Group accounts in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

Woe report to you cur opinion as to whether the Group accounts give
a true and far view and whether the Group accounts have been
propery prepared in accordance with the Comparnies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulaton We also report to you whether in our
opinton, the information given in the Directors' report 1S consistent
with the Group accounts The information given in the Directors’
report ncludes that specific information presented in the Business
review that 1s cross-referred from the Business review section of

the Directors’ report In addition, we report to you if, in our opision,
we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require
for our audit, or if nformation specified by law regarding Directors’
remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Staterment reflects
the Company's compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003
Cominwned Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authornty, and we report if it does not We are not
required to consider whether the board's statements on internal
control cover all nsks and controls, or form an opimon on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures

or its nsk and control procedures
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We read the other information cortained in the Annual Report and
consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the audited Group accounts
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or matenal nconsistencies with
the Group accounts Qur responsibilities do not extend to any
other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audt in accordance with International Standards
on Audiing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board
An audit mncludes examnation, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
te the amounts and disclosures in the Group accounts It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group accounts,

and of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's
orcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit 50 as to obtain all the !
information and explanations which we considered necessary n order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the Group accounts are free frem matenal misstaternent, whether
caused by fraud or other wregulanty or error In forming aur opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the Group accounts

Opinion
In our opinion

« the Group accounts give a true and far view, in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group's affars as
at 31 December 2006 and of s profit for the year then ended,

* the Group accounts have been property prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation,
and

« the information given in the Directors' report 1s consistent with the
Group accounts/w D LL

KPMG A({c(ﬂt/!g:

Chartered Accourtants

Registered Auditor

London

22 February 2007
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Group accounting policies

Group accounting policies

As used n ihe financial statements and related notes, the term
“Company" refers to Impenal Chemical industries PLC, the terms
*ICI" and "Group” refer to the Company, its consolhdated subsidiaries
and its proportionally consolidated joint venturas but not to its
associates

The financial statiements are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the
European Union {"adopted IFRS") and those parts of the Companies
Act 1985 apphcable to companies reporting under IFRS The
presentation of these accounts \n accordance with full IFRS would
result n no changes to these financial statements The following
paragraphs describe the man accounting policies Note 36 relating
to the Group accounts descrnives the significant differences between
IFRS and US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (*US GAAP”)
and presents a reconcthation of net iIncome and shareholders' equity
from IFRS 10 US GAAP as a result of each difference

Basis of consohdation

The Group accounts include the accounts of the parent undertaking,
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates The results of businesses
acquired during the year are Included from the effective date of
acquesition The results of businesses disposed of during the year
are included up to the date of relinquishing control A discontinued
operations a compenent of the Group’s business that represents

a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation,
oris part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operation, and which has
been sold, permanently terminated or classified as held for sale at
the period end Classification as a discontinued ogeration occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the critenia to be classified
as held for sale If earlier Prior years income statements are restated
to reflect that business as discontinued

Assoclates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control over the financial and cperating policies

The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of
the total recogrsed income and expense of associates on an equity
accounted basis, from the date that significant influence commences
until the date that significant influence ceases When the Group's
share of losses exceeds Its interest i an associate, the Group's
carrying amount 1s reduced to mil and recognition of further losses

1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

an associate

Joint ventures

Joint venitures are those undertakings over which the Group has joint
control, estabbshed by contraciual agreement The consolidaied
financial statements include the Group's preportionate share of the
enlities’ assets, habilittes, revenue and expenses with ttems of a
simiiar nature on a line by Iine basis, from the date that joint control
cammences untl the date that joint control ceases

Revenue

Revenue rapresents the farr value of consideration received or
recelvable for goods supplied to customers, excluding intergroup
ncome and after deducting sales allowances, rebates and value
added taxes Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
been transferred to the customer the revenue and costs incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured rebably and collectability
Is reasonably assured

Revenue includes the Group share of the revenue of joint ventures,
net of the Group share of any sales 1o the joint ventures already
ncluded in the Group figures, but does not Include the Group’s share
of the revenue of associates
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Operating leases
The cost of operating leases 1s charged on the straight-line basis
over the period of the lease

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group's pelicy is to write off the book value of property, plant
and eguipment, excluding land, and ntangible assets other than
goodwill to therr residual value evenly over ther estimated remamning
Ife Residual values are reviewed on an annual basis Reviews

are made annually of the estimated remaining Iives of indnidual
productive assets, taking account of commercial and technalogical
cbsolescence as well as normal wear and tear Under this policy, the
lves approximate to 30 years for butldings, 12 years far plant and
equipment and 3 10 5 years for computer software Depreciation

of assets quahfying for granis i1s calculated on their full cost No
depreciation has been provided on land Impairment reviews are
performed where there s an indicaton of potential impairment

If the carrying value of an asset exceeds the higher of the discounted
estimated future cash flows from the asset and net realisable value
of the asset, the resulting imparment i1s charged to the income
statement

FOI’BIQI‘I currencies

Income statements of foreign operations are translated into Sterling
at average rates for the relevant accounting periods where itis a
good approximation of the actual rate Monetary assets and labihties
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
transtated to Sterling at exchange rates ruling at the date of the
Group balance sheet

Foreign exchange differences on borrowings, except foreign currency
loans accounted for as net nvestment hedges and deposits are
ncluded within net finance expense Exchangs differences on all other
balances are taken to the income statemeant within operating profit

in the Group accounts, exchange differences arising on consohdation
of the net investments in averseas subsidiary undertakings and
associates together with those on foreign currency loans accounted
for as nat investment hedges, are taken {o equity

An intergroup menetary item for which settlement i1s nesther planned
nor likely to occur n the foreseeable fulure 1s, In substance, a part
of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation Exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group's
net investment in a foreign operation 1s recognised In a separate
component of equity and 1s recognised in profit and loss on disposal
of the net mnvastmant

One of the requirements of IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foregn
Exchange Rates 1s that on disposal of an operation, the cumulative
amount of exchange differences previously recogmised directly In
equity for that foreign operation are to be transferred to the income
statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal The Group has
adopted ithe exemption allowing these cumulative transiation
differences to be reset to zero at the transition date to IFRS

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period campnses current
and deferred tax Income tax s recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to itemns recognised directly in
equity, In which case it 1s recagnised in equity

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year and any adjstment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet kability method,
providing for tax on any temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and habilites for financial reporting purpases and
the amounts used for taxation purposes using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the bafance sheot date

www ICl Com




No deferred tax i1s provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries where the Group 1s able to control the
timing of the reversal and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future Deferred lax assets are
recognised {or deductible temporary differences to the extent that

1t 1s probable that taxable profit will be available against which they
can be utiised

Special items

Special items are those items of financial performance that should
be separately disclosed to assist in the understanding of the financial
perfarmance achieved by the Group and in making projections

of future results, as explained in 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements Special items include items relating 1¢ both continuing
and discentinued businesses iCI thus believes that the detailed
disclosure of special tems and of profit measures both before and
after special items enables shareholders to cbtain greater understanding
of the overall and underlying performance of the Group Profit
measuras before special tems should be considered in addition to,
and not as a substilute for or as superier to, measures of financial
performance including special items

Management judgment s required o determine which sterns of pre-tax
expense or Income are classified as “special items”, with consideration
being given to size, frequency of incidence and nature, particularly

In respect of ther relation to the undertying trading performance

of the Group and/or the reporting segments Specific items which
have been treated in these financial statements as special n¢clude
the following

* gains or losses on disposal of businesses and any subsequent
rewvision to divestment provisions since these are not part of
ongoing actvities,

gains or losses on disposal of property plant and equipment
where sigruficant,

major Group restructuring programmes,

material one-off past service post-retirement benefit credits,

the fine mposed by the European Commission for alleged
cartel actrvity,

foreign exchange gains or losses ansing on the retranslation of
debt previously hedging goodwill written off to reserves, which
cannot under IAS 21 ba taken to reserves, and

income tax relating to the above items

IC! uses the term “trading profit”, defined as operating profit before
special items, as the key measure of profit performance by its
businesses at all levels within the Group Trading profit 1s also the
primary profit measure used in other internal and external performance
measures such as trading margin and return on capital employed

Business combinations and goodwill

On the acquisttion of a business, far values are attributed to the net
assets, babihities and contingent labihbies acquired Goodwaill arises
where the far value of the constderation given for a business exceeds
the fair value of such assets, habiives and contingent habilities The
Greoup has chosen not to restate business combinations prior to the
transition dats on an IFRS basis Goodwill anises where the fair value
of the consideration given for a business exceeds the far value

of such net assets Goodwill ansing on acquisitions IS capitaksed
and reviewed for impawrment at least annually Any impairment

Is recogmsed immediately In the income siatement and 1s not
subsequently reversed On disposal of a subsidiary, associate

or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill 1s
ncluded 1n the determinaton of profit or loss on disposal Goodwill
arising on acquisiiions before the date of transition to IFRS has been
retained at the previous UK GAAP amount, subject to being tested
for mparrment at that date Goodwlll taken to reserves under UK
GAAP prior to 1998 has not been rewnstated and 1s not included n
determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal
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Nan-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

{FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations was effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2005 The standard sets out the requrements for the
classification, measurement and presentation of non-current assets
held for sale and replaces |AS 35 Discontinued Operations The
Group has applied IFRS 5 prospectively from 1 January 2005

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and far value less
costs to sell Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale when the sale 1s highly probable and the asset

{or disposal group) 1s available for immediate sale in 1ts present
condition Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualfy for recogmition as a compleied sale
within cne year from the date of classification

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and aquipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {(see accounting
policy on depreciation) Whera parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful ives, they are accounted for

as separate items of property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets other than gaodwill

Research and devefopment

Research expenditure 1s charged to income in the year in which 1t
1$ Incurred

Development expenditure 1s charged to income in the year in which it

15 Incurred unless it meets the recagnition criteria of 1AS 38 Intangible
Assets Regulatory and other unicertainties generally mean that such

criteria are not met Intangible assets, If capitalised, are amortised on
a straight-lina basis over the period of the expected benafit

Other intangibhle assets

Other mtangible assets that are acquired by the Group, principally
computer software, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (see accounting policy on amartisation)
Expenditure on internally generated brands 1s recognised in the
Income statement as an expense when incurred Subsequent
expenditure on capitalised intangible assets 1s capitabsed only

when it increases the future economic benefits embodied i the
specific asset {0 which it relates All other expenditure 1s expensed
as incurred

Valuation of inventories

Firished goods, raw materials and other inventones are stated at

the lower of cost and net realisable value, the first in first out or

an average cost method of valuation is used consistently across
inventory classes of a similar nature In determining cost for inventory
valuation purposes, depreciation s included busi selling expenses and
certain overhead expenses are excluded

Secuntisation of receivables

The Group runs two recevables secuntisation programmes in the
USA under which funds are borrowed from a financial ingtitution,
secured on recevables up o the value of the berrowings Depending
on Group cash flows and working capital requirements, the extent of
use of these secunitisation programmes 10 barrow funds fluctuates
on a short-term basis As the Group retains the risks in respect of the
receivables, It recognises separately on the balance sheet the trade
receivables as assets and the short-term borrowings as liabilities

Environmental habilities

The Group 15 exposed to environmental habilities relating primarily
to s past operations, principally in respect of soit and groundwater
remediation costs Provisions for these costs are made when
expenditure on remedial work s probable and the cost can be
estimated within a reasonable range of possible cutcomes
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Group accounting policies cntiued

Disposal provisions

The Group 1s exposed to certamn habilittes when businesses are
divested and disposal provisions are created as part of the gain or
loss on disposal caloulation Typical costs include post-retirement
benefit habilities, environmental costs transaction costs and
separation costs Provisions are only established when the Group has
a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event
Iti1s probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required

to settle the obhigation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amournt of the obhigation The Group reviews its disposal provisions
regularly to determine whether they continue to reflect accurately the
present obligations of the Group based on the latest avalable facts

Contingent habihities

Contingent habilities are possible obligations that anse from past
events and whose existance will be confirmed only by the occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Group’s
control or are present obligations arnising from past events that are
not recognised as it 1s not probable that a transfer of economic benefits
will oceur or the amount cannot be measured with sufficient certainty

The Group reviews its obligations regularly and provides disclosures
of its cantingent habilittes in note 33 relating to the Group accounts

Employee benefits

The Group accounts for pensions and simitar benefits {principalty
healthcare) under IAS 19 (revised) Employee Benefits The Group's
net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans 1s calculated by
independent, qualified actuaries and updated at least annually
Additional updates are performed when one-time events or market
fluctuations, which do not include regular, ongoing changes n
actuarnal assumptions, indicate that the benefit obligation and
pension assets differ significantly from the most recent valuation

These events could occur as the result of a change in benefits,

a redundancy exercgise or a disposal Material settlements or
curtalments are examples of the one-time events that would trigger
such an update Obligations are measured at discounted present
value whilst plan assets are recorded at far value The operating
and financing costs of such plans arg recognised separately in the
income statement, service costs are spread systematically over the
ives of employees and financing costs are recognised in the periods
in which they arise Actuarial gains and losses are recagnised in full
in the penod in which they occur and presented in the statement of
recogrused income and expense Payments to defined centribution
retirement benefit schamas are charged as an expense as they fall
due Cumulative actuarial gains and losses at 1 January 2004 were
fully recogrused in equity at the transition date to IFRS

Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)

The financial statements of the Group include the asset and related
liabilities of the Impenal Chemicat Industries PLC Employee Benefits
Trust and Impkemix Trustees Limited, a subsidiary company of

the Group, which acts as trustee for the Group's employee share
ownership plan The cost of shares held by the ESOP are deducted
from equty

Share-based payments

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment and has elected not to adopt the exemption to apply
IFRS 2 anly to awards made after 7 November 2002 Instead a

full retrospective approach has been followed on all grants not
fully vested at the date of transition to maintain consistency across
reporiing perlods The faiw value of these grants in pricr periods
has been disclosed previously as part of the ongoing US GAAP
disclosure requirements

The Group 1ssues equity settled share-based payments to ceriain
employees Equity settled share-based payments are measured

at farr value at grant date Far value 1s measured using the Black-
Scholes maodel, taking into account the terms and conditions upen
which the instrumants were granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions
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The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period 1s
determined by reference {o the farr value of the equity instruments
granted and the number of equity Instruments which eventually vest
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises Its estimatas of the
number of equity iInstruments that are expected to vest It recognises
the impact of the revision of oniginal estimates if any, In the mcome
statement, and a corresponding adjusiment to equity -

Financial assets

Investments and current asset investments are classified as held-to-
matunty financial assets and gther loan investments are classified
as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 38 Financeal
Instruments Recognition and Measurement Both thesa classes of
financial assets are recognised at amaortised cost using the effective
nterest method

Financial derivatives

As described further in note 1 refating to the Group accounts,
financtal instruments in the 2004 comparative information are
reported In accordance with UK GAAP, whereas they are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS in the 2006 and 2005 resuits The
accounting policies for financial instruments in accordance with both
IFRS and UK GAAP are detallad below

Financial derivatives - IFRS (from 1 January 2005}

Hedge accounting

The Group uses various derivative financtal nstrumants to manage
exposure to foreign exchange nsks These include currency swaps
and forward currency contracts The Group alsc uses interest rate
swaps to manage interest rate exposures The Group does not use
denvative financial nstruments for speculative purposes

The accounting for the Group's various hedging activities 1s
detalled below

Transachion exposure hedging
Forward currency contracts hedging transaction exposures are far
valued through the income statement No hedge accounting 1s applied

Cash flow hedging

Derivatives used to economically hedge the currency nisks assocrated
with forecast cash flows are far valued through the income statement
Whare these derivatives form part of designated, effective cash flow
hedges, the pertion of the gain or loss that 1s determined to be an
effective hedge under I1AS 39 Financial instruments Recognition
and Measurement IS recognised directly in equity as a separate
comgonent of reserves Amounts that have been recognised directly
In eguity are recogmsed In the income statement in the same period
or perieds during which the hedged forecast {ransaction impacts the
ncome statement

For effective hedges that include a purchase of a forecast
non-monetary item, the gan or 108s on the derivative, at the end
of the hedge relationship, s capitalised into the carrying value of
that non-monetary item

interest rate hedging

Interast rate dervatives are fair valued through the income statement
Where interast rate dervatives form part of designated, effective

fawr value hedge relationships the gain or loss from remeasuring the
hedging instrument at fair value 1s recegrised in Ihcome or expense
and the gain or lass on the hedged item attributable to the hedged
nsk adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged itern and s recognised
In Income or expense Where interest rate dervatives form part of
designated, efiective cash flow hedge relationships, the portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging nstrument that 1s determined to

be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly in eguity Amounts that
have been recogrised directly in equity are recogrused in the iIncome
statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged
forecast transaction impacts the income statement The ineffective
portian of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immediately in the iIncome staterment
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Net investment hedging (currency hedging}

Currency derivatives are far valued through the income statement
excep!, where currency derivatives and foreign currency loans form
part of designated effective net investment hedge relatvonships,
the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s
datermined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly s equity
The ineffective portian of the gatn or loss on the hedging instrument
15 recognised iImmediately in income or expense For netinvesiment
hedges the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been
recognised In equity 1s recogmsed In incame or expense on the
disposal of the foreign operation

Commodity hedging

Derwvatives used to manage commadity price exposures are fair
valued through the income statement Where these derivatives form
part of designated, effective hedge relationships, the portion of the
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an
effective hedge I1s recogrised directly in equity until the underlying
hedged item I1s recognised At this point any deferred gain or loss
adjusts the carrying value of the underlying hedged item

Discontinuance of hedge accounting

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively when the hedging
instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated, or exercised, or no konger
qualifies for hedge accounting At the time, the following accounting
treatment will be adopted

Fair value hedges

Any adjustment made to the carrying amount of the hedged item,
as a consequence of the far value hedge relationship, shall be
amortised to profit or loss through the income statement over the
remairung fa of the hedged item

Cash flow hedges

Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised
In equity 1s retained in equity untll the forecast transaction occurs or
impacts the ncome statement If a forecast transaction 1s ne longer
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in
equity 1s transferred 1o net profit or loss for the pericd through the
Income statemeant

Fair values

The far value of the Group s debt and derivatives has been estimated
using discounted anticipated cash flows utilising zero-coupon yeld-
curves for the relevant currencies

Financral denivatives - UK GAAP (2004)

Hedge accounting

The Group uses various derivative financial instruments to reduce
exposure to fareign exchange nsks These include currency swaps,
forward currency contracts and currency opticns The Group alsc
uses interest rate swaps forward rate agreements and interest
rate caps 10 adjust interest rate exposures The Group consilers
its derivative financial instruments to be *hedges” {I e an offset of
foreign exchange and interest rate risks) when certain critena are
met Under hedge accounting for currency options, the Group defers
the instrument’s iImpact on profit until it recognises the underlying
hedged item n profit Other matenial instruments do not involve
deferral s:ince the profit Impact they offset occurs during the terms
of the contracts

Foreign currency derivative instruments
The Group's criteria to qualify for hedge accounting are

+ The instrument must be related to a foreign currency asset or
habtlity that 15 probable and whose characteristics have been
dentrfied,

= [t muest invelve the same currency as the hedged itern, and

+ |t must reduce the nisk of foreign currency exchange movements
on the Group's operations
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Interest rate derivative instruments
The Group's critenia to qualify for hedge accounting are

» The instrument must be related to an asset or a liability, and

* It must change the character of the interest rate by corverting
a variable rate to a fixed rate or vice versa

Derwvative financial instruments reperted 1n the financial
statements are

* The unamortised premium paid on purchased currency options
1s included in debtors in the balance sheet

Cash flows related io foreign currency derivative transactions are
reported along with related transactions in net cash inflow from
operating actvities or financing activities, as appropriate, in the
Group cash flow statement

Currency swaps

Principal amounts are revalued at exchange rates ruling at the date
of the Group balance sheet and included in the Sterling value of loans
Exchange gans/losses are included in the statement of recognised
income and expense along with similar movemenis In the values of
the investments baing hedged

Forward currency contracts

Those forward currency contracts hedging transaction exposures
(purchases and sales held in the books of account) are retransiated
to balance sheet rates with net unrealised gains/losses being shown
as debtors/creditors Both realised gatns and losses on
purchases/sales and unrealised gains/losses on forward contracts
are recognised In operating profit

Those centracts used to change the currency mix of net debt are
revaied to balance sheet rates with net unrealised gains/losses
being shown as part of the debt they are hedging The difference
between spot and forward rate for these contracts 15 recognised as
part of net interest payable over the pericd of the contract Realised
and unrealsed exchange gains/losses are shown In the financial
statements in the same place as the underlying borrowing/deposit

Currency options

Option premia are recegnised at ther histonic cost in the Group
balance sheet as “other debtors” At matunty, the option premia net
of any realised gains on exercise, are taken to the income statement
as cperating prefit

Interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements

Interest payments/receipts are accrued with interest Income/expense
as appropnrate They are nat revalued to fair value or shown on the
Group balance sheet at period end If they are terminated early the
gain or loss Is spread over the remaining maturity of the original
nstrument

Interest rate caps

The option premia are recognised on the Group balance sheet as
"other debiors™ The option premia, net of any realised gains on
indmidual caplets are taken to net interest payable and spread
evenly over the fetime of the cap
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Group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006

2006
Befors
speciat Special
terns items Total
noles £m £m £m
Conlinuing operations
Ravenue 48 4,845 4,845
Operating costs 38 (4,382 (80) (4,462
{including special terns of
restructunng costs 3 (80) (80)
post-retrement benefits) a - -
Other operating income ] 39 - 39
Profits less losses on disposal of property, plant and egusprment a 9 9
Operating profit (loss) 346 502 (r1) 43
Profits less losses on sale of continuing operations 3 4 4
Share of profils less losses of associates B 2 - 2
Interest expense 9 (123) - {123)
Interast ncome 9 44 - 44
Foreign exchange gains on debt previously hedging goodwill written off to reserves 3.9 15 15
Post-retirement benefit nterest cost 926 {422) - {422)
Post-retirement benefit expected return on assets 926 404 - 404
Net finance expense (97) 15 (82)
Profit {loss) before taxation 407 (52) 355
Income tax expense 10 (70) 14 {56)
Net profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations 337 (38) 299
Discontinued operations
Profit (loss) for the peniod from discontnued aperations 62 (69) (¥4
(including special items of
fine 3 (62) (62)
restructunng costs 3 {7} {7)
post-retirement benefits) 3 - -
Profit less losses on disposal of discontinued operations a7 37
Net profit {loss) for the period from discontinued operations " 62 {32) 30
Net profit {loss) for the penod 399 {70) 329
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 375 80) 295
Altrbutable to minonty nterests 24 10 34
Earnings (loss) per £1 Ordinary Share 12
Basic - Continuing operations 233p
— Discontinued operations 16p
- Totat 24 9p
Diluted - Continung cperations 230p
- Discontmued operations 15p
- TJotal 24 5p
Dividend proposed per £1 Ordinary Share 28 89p

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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2005 {as rastated - note 1}

2004 (a5 restated - note 1)

Betors Befors
special Spacia) specal Spacal
ftems tems Total tems tems Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
4 801 4,601 4,419 4,419
{4,159) 2) {4 161) (3,870} (2} (3,972)
(5 (5) 2 {2
3 3 - -
37 - 37 32 - 32
7 7 {1 (1}
479 5 484 481 {3) 478
13 13 185 185
3 - 3 2 - 2
(131) - {131) (172) - (172
56 - 56 B85 - B5
2 2 15 15
(411) - (411} (407) - (407)
381 - 381 381 - 381
{105) 2 {103) {i13) 15 (a8)
377 20 397 370 197 567
{77) g (68) {78) (19) a7
300 28 329 292 178 470
52 39 91 42 1 43
2 2 i 1
37 37 - -
- - 5 {5)
52 39 91 42 (4} 38
352 68 420 334 174 508
321 69 390 306 168 a74
31 (1) 30 28 6 34
25 5p 37 1p
7 4p 3 Op
329p 40 1p
25 4p 37 1p
7 4p 3 0p
32 8p 401p
77p 7 3p
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1 Accounts

Statement of Group recognised income and expense

for the year ended 31 December 2006

2008 2005 2004
notes £m £m £m

Net profit 329 420 508
Exchange differences on translating foresgn operations {88) 83 (32)
Recycling of cumulative exchange differences 6 - 1
Actuanal gams and losses 58 (B25) (92)
Changes in fax value of cash flow hedges 1 2 -
Tax on items taken directly to equity 101 38 30
Total income and expense recognised directly in equity 78 {502) @3}
Total recogrused income and expense for the penod 407 82) 415
Adtributable to equity holders of the parent 27 385 {120) 381
Aftributable to minority interests 27 22 as 34

See accompanying noies to consoldated financial statements
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Group balance sheet
at 31 December 2006

2005
{as restated
2008 nota 1)
notes £m £m
Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 523 501
Property, ptant and equipment 14 1,065 1,612
Investiments n associales 15 21 19
Financial assets 16 28 73
Deferred tax assets 17 229 254
Other recervables 19 35 42
Post-retirement benefit assets 26 12 11

1,917 2,612

Current assets

Inventories 18 486 658
Trade and other recewables 19 Eiy 1,028
Current tax debtor 17 15
Financial assets 16 110 30
Cash and cash equivalents 20 596 522
Assets classified as held for sale 1 ar2

2,372 2,253
Total assets 4 4,289 4,665
Liabilities
Current habllitles
Trade ang other payables 21 (1.272) (1,484)
Financial habilites 23 (487) (245)
Current tax habiities 22 {217) (360)
Prowisions 24 {193) (106)
Liabilities classified as held for sale ] (201)

(2,370) (2,195)

MNon-current habthties
Financial habilites

23 (548) {1,103)
Other creditors 21 (28) (39)
Provisions 24 (277) {298)
Deferred tax liabilies 17 (18) (21)
Post-retirement benefit habilities 26 (1,237} (1,699)
{2,108) {3,16Q)
Total Liabtlities 4 (4,478) (5 355}
Net assets (189) (490}
Equity
Called-up share capital 27 1,193 1,192
Share premmum account 27 936 934
Retamned earmings and other reserves 27 {2,442) {2,742)
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 27 {313} {816)
Minosity interests 27 124 126
Total equity 27 {189) {490)

See accompanying notes te consobdated financial stataments

The accounts on pages 60 to 133 were 4
P B Ellwood CBE Director

A J Brown Director /&

f D|rector571 22 February 2007 and were signed on its behalf by
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Group cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December 2006

2008 2004
(as restated  (as restated
2006 note 1) nole 1)
nates £m tm £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for penod 329 420 508
Adusted for B
Net finance expense 99 112 120
Depreciation and amortisation 150 168 170
Post-retrement benefit charges 46 44 63
Special tems after taxation 70 (68} {174)
Taxation {including taxation on associates) 84 93 a0
{Increase) decrease i nventories (32) 24 (74}
{increase) in recevables (47) ("N (29}
Increase i payables 74 53 116
Quitflows relating to operating special items (68) (53) (81}
Post-retirement benefit payments 28 {238) {153) (151}
Interest paid (118) (125) {156)
Interest received 42 55 87
Tax paid excluding tax on disposal of businesses (84) 83) (43}
Draddends paid to equity holders of the parent (96) {91) 82}
Drdends paid to minonity Interests {21) (19) {13)
Other items 1 {3) {24)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 191 359 327
fincluding net cash flows from discontinued operating activities} 29 57 &1
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangibles {150) {159) {158}
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 26 17 8
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired 30 {31) (23) (4)
Net proceeds from disposal of businesses’ 30 324 108 279
Payments i respect of disposals prior 10 2004 {41) (47} (95)
Tax on disposal of businesses (1) 2} (1)
Increase n current asset invesiments 29 (17 6) (38)
Net cash inflow {outflow) from investing activities 110 (112} 9
fincluding net cash fiows from discontinued mvesting activities) 243 {92) {100}
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in long-term loans 29 4 6 12
Repayment of long-term loans 29 (146) (137) (521)
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 29 7 {114) 84
Movement in non-operating dervatives 29 {70) 26
Other financing cash flows {including capital repayment of finance leases) 29 {13) 1 (1)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 6 - -
Net cash (outfiow) from financing activities (212) (218) (426)
fincluding net cash flows from discontinued financing activities) - 4) -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 29 516 469 588
Net cash inflow (outflow) from all actmties 28 89 29 {108)
Mgvement ansing on foreign currency transiaticn 29 {25) 18 1)
Other 29 9 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pertod 29 589 516 469

! Imcluctes payments In respact of disposals in 2004 and later (see note 30)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes relating to the Group accounts

1 Basis of presentation of financial mformation

These consoldated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
International Accounting Standards {IAS) and related IFRIC interpretations inissue that have been endorsed by the European Commisston
and are effective at 31 December 20086, or where ICl has chosen to adop! early at 31 December 2006 {'adopted IFRS’)

New accounting policies and future requirements
The following standards or interpretations, 1ssued by the IASB or the IFRIC that have been adopted by the European Commission, came Into™
effect during the year and have been applied by the Group

Amendment to [AS 39 Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intra-group transactions

Amendment to |IAS 39 Financial lnstruments Recogmtion and Measurement and IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
Amendment to LAS 19 Employee Benefits - Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures
Amendment to [AS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

IFRIC 4 Determurung whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests ansing from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
IFRIC 6 Lrabiities anising from Participating in a Specific Market — Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipmaent

The standards listed above did not have a significant effect on the consolidated results or financial posttion of the Group, except for IFRIC 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease IFRIC 4 came into effect from 1 January 2006 and provides guidance on whether
complex arrangements include a lease As a result of this requrement certain arrangements have required reclassification as leases In
accordance with the transitional provisions, this has resulted in additional assets of £15m being recognised on the balance sheet at 1 January
2004, offset by the recognition of associated finance lease creditors of £19m, which are included withun net debt As a consequence net
assets at 1 January 2004 wera restated from £{572}m to £(576)m Net debt at 1 January 2004 has been restated from £1,326m to £1,345m
Operating profit for 2005 and 2004 has increased by £3m and £2m respectively and net finance expense for 2005 and 2004 has increased
by £3m and £2m respectively Profit before tax 1s unchanged in both years and therefore there 1s no impact on earnings per share

The following standards or interpretations, 1ssuad by the IASB or the IFRIC, have been adopted by the European Commussion, but only become
effective far accounting periads beginning after 31 December 2006

Amendment 1o IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Capital Disclosures

IFRS 7 Financial instruments Disclosures

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting i Hypennflationary Economies
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

IFRIC 9 Re-assessment of Embedded Derivatives

The Group does not currently believe the adoption of these standards or interpretations, which are not yet effective, will have a significant
effect on the consohdated results or financial position of the Group

The following standards or interpretations, 1ssued by the IASB or the IFRIC, have not yet been adopted by the Eurapean Commussion and only
become effective for accounting periods beginning after 31 December 2006

IFRS 8 Qperating Segments
IFRIC 10 Intenm Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The Group 1s currently assessing the impact of these standards or interpretations, which are not yet effective

Changes in presentation

Duning the year, the Group changed its reporting segments The National Starch business, previcusly reported as one segment, 1s now reported
as four segments Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers and Electronic Materials Thus change reflects a move to global business
uruts during 2006 Information s also provided for the entirety of the National Starch busmness as it 1s an important part of the organisation
Current and prior year segment information has been updated for the change

The revenuea recogrition policy for the treatment of certain co-operative allowances paid to custemers has been revised to better refloct
internal reporting where the allowances are now treated as a deduction from revenue rather than a promotonal expense This revision, which
only impacts the Pants business, has besn included in the results for 2006 and comparative information adjusted accordingly As a
consequence, total sales for the Group for the full year 2005 and 2004 have decreased by £25m and £32m respectively There 1s no effect on
operating profit

During the year, the basis of presentation of the Group’s current and deferred tax balances at 31 December 2005 was reviewed 1n hght of the
offset requirements in 1AS12 Income Taxes As aresult of this roview, certain current taxation assets were offset with current taxation habilities
and certain deferred taxation habiliies were offset with deferred taxation assets Pnior year presentation of these amounts has been changed
to conform to the revised presentation Deferred taxation assets at 31 December 2005 ornginally stated at £507m have been revised to £254m
and deferred taxation hiabiities onginally stated at £274m have been revised to £21m Current taxation assets 31 December 2005 originally
stated at £81m (E42m non-current and £39m current) have been revised to £18m {£15m current and £3m non-current) and current taxation
iabifities stated at £423m have been revised to £360m

During the year the Group also reviewed the basis of presentation of current asset mvestments within the cash flow statement As a result

of this review, current asset investments are now presented as part of investing activities as opposed to therr previous classification within
financing activittes  Theuwr inclusion within the definition of net debt 1s unchanged Prior year presentation of these amounts has been changed
to conform to the revised presentation

IFRS transition exemptions

These are the Group's second consolidated fnancial statements in accordance with adopted IFRS The Group's transition date for adophion
of IFRS was 1 January 2004
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contined

1 Basis of presentation of financial information (continued)

The complete accounting policies are set out on pages 60 to 63 of this report IFRS 1 Airst-time Adoption of international Financial Reporting
Standards permits those companies adopting IFRS for the furst time 10 take certan exemphons from the full requirements of IFRS The
exemptions taken by IChin accordance with IFRS 1 have been described in the accounting policy to which they relate and are repeated below
These policies have been consistently apphed 10 all the years presented and in preparing the opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2004
for the purpose of the transition to IFRS, except for those relating 1o the classification and measurement of financial Instruments

ICI has taken the following key exempticns on transition to IFRS

(a)

{v)

)

(d}

Business combinations The Group has chosen not to restate business combinations prior to the transition date on an [FRS basis
Consequently, goodwill has been accounted for up until the transition date of 1 January 2004 in accordance with UK GAAP as applicable
at that time and goodwill has been accounted for subsequent to 1 January 2004 in accordance with IFRS 1 on transition and IFRS 3
Business Combinations on a prospectve basls from that date

In partrcular the acquisition of the Unilever Speciahty Chemicals business in 1997 for a consideration of £4 2bn was accounted for in
compliance with UK GAAP at that time The net assets acquired were recognised on the balance sheet at far value (EO 7bn} and the
goodwilt on the transaction, amounting to £3 5Sbn, was taken directly to reserves and included as a debit balance in the profit and loss
account reserve In addition, further acquisitions made since 1298 were accounted for under FRS 10 goodwill arising on these
acquisitions has been included as an intangible asset and subject to amortisation

If the Group had not elected to adopt the exemptions in IFRS 1 relating te business combinations then all acquisittons made by the Group
prior to 2004 would hava been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3

Consequently, In the 1997 and subsequent Group balance sheets

+ The far value relating to all acquisitions would have been evaluated under IFRS 3
* Goodwill of circa £3 Sbn would have been recognised in 1997 subject to the recognition of intangible assets

+ Intangible assets would have been recognised in accordance with IFRS 3 which contains different requirements from UK GAAP 1Lis
therefore possible, but we have not evaluated this, that same of the goodwill would have been reclassified as intangible assets

+ It s likely that the goodwill relating to the Unigema business and the Pants business in Latin America would have been impawed and
written down to zero Under SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, impairments of £122m and £255m were recogrused in
relation to the Latin Amencan Paints business in 2002 and Unigema business in 2003, respectively {being the entire goodwill relating to
these businesses under US GAAP at that time)

Specifically, these accounts would have been impacted in the following ways

+ The 1 .January 2004 IFRS transition balance sheet and subseguent balance sheets would include significant goodwill and intangible
assets subject to the initial recognition criteria, including impairment testing on transition, and annual imparrment and amortisation
charges discussed below

* The prohit on the disposal of the Quest Food Ingredients business included in the comparatve 2004 income statement of £163m
would have bean significantly reduced as goodwill and intangibles held on the balance sheet would have been inctuded in the assets
disposed

* Thencome statements for the periods ending 31 December 2804, 2005 and 2006 would have included charges for amortisation
of intangibles

The main impacts on subsequent penods would be

* The proiit on the planned disposal of Quest would be significanily reduced as goodwill and intangibles held on the balance would
be included in the assels disposed

* The goodwill recogmsed on the balance sheet would be assessed for imparrment at least annually

* Any intangible assets determuned to have a finite hife weould be subject to amortisation 10 the Incoma statement each year and
impairment iesting In accerdance with I1AS 36 Imparrment of Assets

* Goodwil held in foraign currencies would alse be retranslated annually through reserves

Employee benefits All cumulative actuarial gains and losses have been recognised in equity at the transition date This 1s to maintain
consistency with prospective Group palicy whereby all actuanal gains and losses wilk be recognised directly in reserves via the statement
of recogrused income and expense If the Group had not adopted such a poliey, then the cumulative actuarial gains and losses would have
been split into a recognised portion and a larger unrecogrised portion The unrecognised portion offsetting the post-retrement benefit
hability on the balance sheet would be charged to the income statement on a systematic basis over a period of time

Cumulative translation differences One of the requirements of IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 1s that on
disposal of an operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences previousty recogrised directly in equity for that foreign operation
are to be transferred to the ncome statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal The Group has adopted the exemption allowing these
cumulative translation differences to be reset to zero at the transition date If the Group had not taken this exemption, a different amount of
net foreign exchange gains and losses would be transferred o the income statement on disposal of a foreign operation

The Group tock the exemption under IFRS 1 not to restate comparative information in respect of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 As a consequence
financral iInstruments included in the 2004 comparative information are still in accordance with UK GAAP, whereas they are accounted

for in accordance with IFRS in the 2005 and 2006 results In accordance with the transiional provisions of IFRS, this had been treated

as a change in accounting policy The accounting policies for financial instruments under both UK GAAP and under IFRS are detalled on
page 62 to 63 of this report The adjustments made 1o reserves as a result of adopting IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 are detalled
in note 27 The resultant effect on opening net debt Is detailed in note 29 1f the Group had not taken this exemption a number of financial
insiruments would have been recognised or revalued in the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2004 and accounted for during the year
ended 31 December 2004 1n accordance with 1AS 32 and |AS 39

70 ICl Annual Report and Accounts 2006 WWW G COMm




1 Basts of presentation of financial nformation (continued)
The exemptions IC| has elected not to adopt include the following

{a) Share-based payments The Group has not adopted the exemption to apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payment only to awards made after
7 November 2002, instead a full retrospective approach has been followed on all awards granted but not fully vested at the date of
transition to maintain consistency across reporting penods Far value disclosures in respect of share based iIncentive schemas have
been previcusly made 1n the Group's US GAAP net income reconciliation in the Annual Repert and Accounts -

{b) Far value or revaluation at deemed cost The Group has not adopted the exemption to restate items of property, plant and equipment
to far value at the transitton date Such items have been maintained at historical cost in order to maintain consistency with previous
Group policy

IAS 32 Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentatron and tAS 39 Financial instruments Recogmition and Measurement came into
effect on 1 January 2005 The European Commission has adopted a 'carved-out’ version of IAS 39, which excludes certain aspects of
hedge accounting The endorsement of the full IAS 39 by the Eurapean Commussion would have no effect on the results of the Group

Continuing and Discontinued Operations

For reporting purposes, the results in these financial statements differentiate betwean the Group's continuing and discentinued operations
Discontinued operations are components of the Group representing separate major lines of business or geographical areas of operations,

or are part of a single co-ordinated plan 10 dispose of a separate major ine of business or geographical area of operation and which have
been sold, permanently terminated or classified as held for sale at the period end A component of the Group comprises eperations and cash
flows that can he clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity All other operations

are classified as continuing operations Transactions in these financtal statements which are identified as relating to discontinued operations
comprise 1tems {and associated tax effects) in respect of the following operations, Quest (currently held for sale, with the exception of the
Quest Foad Ingredients business divested in 2004 which is classtfied as continuing), Unigema {sald in 2006}, and the Polyurethanes business
Tioxide business. selected Petrochemicals businesses, Acrylics business, Chlor-Chemicals business, Polyester business, Exploswes business
and Ethylene oxide business all of which were sold or terminated before 1 January 2004

Non co-terminous year ends

One subsidhary made up 1ts statutory accounts to a date earler than 31 December, but not earler than 30 September, additionally three
subsidiaries made up thewr local statutory accounts prior to 30 September All subsidianes, including those with non co-terminous year
ends, are required to prepare and submit therr financial iInformation for Inclusion in the Group consolidated accounts in ling with the Group's
accounting period 1 January to 31 December There are consequently no adjustments to be made for the effects of significant transactions
or events that occur between the date of the subsidiarias’ financial information and the date of the parent’s financial statements

Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financral statements in confermity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of asseis and liabiites at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses durning the reporting penod and refated disclosures Actual results could differ from those estimates Judgments
made by management on the apphcation of IFRS that have had a significant effect on the financral statements and estimates with a significant
nsk of materral adjustments in the next year are discussed n note 37

2 Directors’ and Officers’ remuneration and interests

The Directors and Officers are regarded as the key management personnel of the ICl Group Information covering Directors' remuneration,
interests in shares, debentures, share options and pension benefits 1s included 1n the Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 56

Charges In relation to remuneration received by key management personnel for services 1n all capacities dunng the years ended 31 December
are as jollows

Accounts

2006 2005 2004
Directors Officers Total Cwectors Officers Total Ditactors Officers Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m €m
Shert-term employee benefits 43 18 61 43 25 68 41 24 65
Post-retirament benefits 03 02 05 04 02 06 03 02 a5
Termination benefits - - - - - - 04 - 04
Share-based payments* 13 06 19 23 10 33 17 07 24
59 26 85 70 a7 107 65 33 98
Far value charge In respect of Directors and Officers, as descnbed in note 7
£1 Omhnary Opbons Options granted?
Shares! at outstancing at Subscription Data iatast
19 Febnary 2007 19 February 2007 rices SOUon
Nurnber Numbar £ expres
Directors (for further details see Remuneration Report pages 50, 51 and 54) 851,499 7,138,256 1 340t0 10077 02 0418
Officers 179,395 2,606,137 13401010077 02 0416

T Includes ADRs disclosed in terms of €1 Ordinary Share equivalents/Ordinary Share option equivalents
No indmidual Director or Officer had interests in shares or options exceeding 1% of the 1ssued Ordinary Share capital of the Company
Loans and guarantees to Officers

At 31 December 2006 an interest-free housing loan to an Officer of the Company amounting to £100,000 (2005 £100,000, 2004 £100,000)
was oulstanding
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

3 Special items before taxation

2006 2005 2004
£m £m fm
Credited (charged) in armving at contnuing operating profit (foss}
Restructuring [a) 80) (5) {2)
Post-retirement benefits ] - 3 -
Profits less losses on disposal of fixed assets (ch ] 7 {1
(71} 5 3
Profits less losses on sale of continuing operations
Profits )] 6 16 194
Losses (& (2} {3) {9)
4 13 185
Foreign exchange gains on debt previously hedging goodwill written off to reserves {t 15 2 15
Special items within continulng profit (loss) befora taxation {52} 20 197
Credited (charged)} in amiving at discontinued profit (loss)
Fine [iv) {62) - -
Restructuring (& (10} [65)] 3
Post-ratirement benefits (b - 37 -
(72) 29 3
Profits less losses on sale of discontinued operations
Profits ) 72 60 19
Losses U] {40) (53} {29)
32 7 (10}
Special items within discontinued profit {{oss) before taxation (40) 36 (13}

(a) A detailed descnption of those spacial tems charged/credited in arriving at operating profut (toss) 1s prowided in note 25

The 2008 charge of £80m for continuing operatiens includes £70m primanly relating to the rastructuring and transformaticn programme announced in the
second gquarter of 2006 and £10m relatng to earller restructuring programmes, compnsing Paints £28rm charge Adhesives £22m charge, Speciaity Starchaes
£2m charge Specialty Pelyrmers £3m charge, Electronic Matarlals £2m charge, Regional and Industrial E7m charge and Corporate E£18m chargs Included in
the restructuring charge for Adhesives are amounts relating to aceelsrated depreciation of £19m 2006 charge for discontinued operations ¢f £10m includes
restructuring for Quest £7m charge and Urmiqoma £3m charge (including £2m of aceelerated depraciation)

‘The 2005 charge of £5m for continuing cperations relates to eariler restructuring programmes compnsing Paints £5m charge Adhesives £2m charge and
Corporate £2m release Inctuded in the rastructunng charge for Adhasives are amounts relating to accelerated depreciation of E1m 2005 for discontinuad
cperations relates to rastructuring programmes Quest £12m charge {including £2m of accelerated depraciation) and Unigama £4m relsase

2004 includes £5m relating to earker restructuring programmes comprising within continuing operations Specialty Starches £1m charge and Corporate
£1m charge relating to severance costs and dis¢ontnued operations Quaest E6m charge relating to sevarance costs and Unlgema £3m release of prior
yaar provistons

{b) In 2005 changes to the tarms of the Natherlands post-retirement pensions and healthcare pfans resulted in a benefit of £3m relating 1o continuing operations
and a further bersfit of £37m n disconttinued cparations

{c)] Other items included within special operating itéms include a protit of £9m {2005 E7m profit 2004 £im loss) ansing from the disposal of fixad assats

{d) The profits on sale of continuing operations in 2006 includas a releasa of provislons of £5m ralating to the disposal of Quast Foad Ingredients The profits on
sale of continung operations In 2005 include the gain from the sate of the Naticnal Starch Vinamul Polymers business of £6m and a gain of £3m from the sale
of the Paints Wood Firush business in Germany The profits on sale of continuing operations in 2004 include the gain on sale of the Quest Food Ingredients
tusiness £183m, a gain o £28m from the sale of part of the Group s intarest i Pakistan PTA Ltd and a gain on the sats of the mitrocelluloss and trading
businessas n India of £5m

(8) Thelosses on sale of continuing operatiens in 2005 relate to the loss on disposal of 51% of the rubber chemicals business in India of E3m The losses on sale
of continuing operations I 2004 ralate pnmarily to the loss on tha ¢losure of the polyethylens business In Argentina of £4m and the loss on sale of the Metro
{wallcoverings) business in Canada of £5m

{f) Under IFRS, the exclusion of goodwill in raserves from the assets in the net vestment hedgea calcutation has introduced volatility to the income statement
This rggults from the impact of faraign exchange rate movements on that part of the dabt that cannot be considerad a part of the hedge The £15m (2005
£2m, 2004 £15m) credit ansing in the iIncome statement from this traatment Is included within the net finance expense and presented as a spacial tem

{g) The charge of £62m in 2006 retates to a fine Imposed by the European Commigsion following an investigation into alleged cartsl actmty in the Eurcpean
maethacrylates markets

{h} The profits on sale of disconunued operations in 2006 include tha £48m gain ansing from the divestment of Unigema  a release of prowsions of £18m following
resolution of an environmental Issue and E4m recaipt from the Ineos Group The profits on sale of discontinued operations i 2005 relate primanly to credits of
£23m ansing from changes to post retrement healthcare plans in the USA relating to divestad businesses classified as discontinued in prior years a release of
prowisians foliowing a land transaction in tha narth of England of £28m and a £4m receipt from the Inees Group The prefits on sals of Qiscontinued operations
In 2004 include a E7m gain In selation to the release of provisions creatad for the sale of Synetix in 2002 {sea nota 25)

(1 The lossas on sale of discontinuac operatons in 2006 includae additional pension aamimstration cost of £14m, increased employer hability costs of £9m and
a further provision of £8m ralating to the Polyurethanes, Tioxide and selected Patrochemical businesses The losses on sale of discontinued operations in 2005
relate prmarily to increases in prowvisions relating to long-tarm residual actities of £37m, principally relating to tha pension adminisiration costs £23m and
ncroased employer fability costs of €10m and a further prowision of £10m relating to the costs of divestment of the Chler-Chemicats Klea and Crosfleld
busingsses The losses on sale of discontinuad operations in 2004 relate primarily to a £13m charge in retatlon to an incraased provision 1n relation o the
Polyurethanes Tloxide and selacted Petrochemical businasses, a £6m charge in relation to cosis of the divastments of the Chior-Chemicals Klea and Crostietd
businesses and a £5m charge relating to iCI's axit from Ineos Chlor

Under US GAAP, these special items would be included n operating income, unless they related to discontinued operations or foragn
exchange gains on debt hedging goodwill ansing under US GAAP
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4 Segment information

The Group 1s managed 1 SIx reporting segments, differentiated by business, primanily by the nature of products manufactured in each
together with a segment for discontinued operations Discontinued includes Unigema, which was divested in September 2006 and Quest, the
disposal of which was announced in November 2006 An explanation of the basis on which operations are classified as discontinued 1s set out
in note 1 Duning the year, the Group changed its reporting segments The National Starch business, previously reported as one segment 1
now reported as four segmenis Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers and Elecironic Matenals This change reflects a move to
global business units during 2006 Information 1s also provided for the entiraty of the National Starch business as 1t is an ynportant part of the
organisation Current and prior year segment informatien has been updated for the change

The major products of each business segment are as follows

Business segments Products
Contirurng operations
Pants decorative paini and packaging coatings for food and beverage cans
Adhesves industnal adhesives, including waterborne, hot melt and pressure sensitve adheswves and
process ubncants
Specialty Starches specialty food and industnial starches
Specially Polymers redispersible powder polymers, rheology modifiers and other specialty palymers for water treatment
and personal care
Electronic Materials adhesves, encapsulants and specialty coatings
Regional and Industral polyester stapte fibre, pure terephthalic acid soda ash seeds, pharmaceuticals, sulphur-related products

and wine chermcals

Discontinued operations

Questt flavours, fragrance products and fragrance ingredients

Unigemalt oleochermicals (process intermediates), polymers, base stocks and additves for lubricants, persanal care,
performance specialties for the manufacture of agrochemicals and coatings oilfield chemicals, textile
auxiharies spin firush, polymer additves and specialty cleaning

t Disposal announced in November 2006
T Dvested in September 2006

Corporate and other represents the shared costs that are not directly aitributable to ndividual segments

The geographical segments of the Group are the United Kingdem, Continental Europe, North America {USA and Canada), Latin America
(Central and South America), Asia and the Other countries (principally Austraha)

The accounting pohicies for each segment are the same as those appearing on pages 60 to 63 The Group’s pelicy s to transfer products
internally at external market prices

Business sagments
Segment Revanua

2006 2005 2004
Inter- Total Intar- Total Inter- Total
External sagmant sagment Extornal segment segmant Extarnat segment segment
£m £m £m £m £m £m om £m £m £
Contimang operations §
Painis 2,411 3 2,414 2304 2 2,306 2,127 2 2,129 2
Adhesves 1,048 4 1,052 1000 5 1,005 1,056 25 1,081 ——
Specizlty Starches 493 9 502 457 8 465 460 8 468
Specialty Polymers 265 1 266 227 1 228 178 12 190
Electronc Matenals 201 2 203 183 4 187 172 3 175
Total Natonal Starch 2,007 16 2,023 1,867 18 1,885 1,866 48 1,914
Quest Food Ingredients - - - - - - 50 - 50
Regronal and Industrial 425 & 431 428 5 433 377 3 380
Total reporting segments 4,843 25 4,868 4,599 25 4,624 4,420 53 4,473
Corporate and other 3 - 3 3 - 3 3 - 3
4,846 25 4,871 4,602 25 46827 4423 53 4 475
Inter-segment revenue (26} (26) (26) (26) (57) (57}
Total continulng segment revenue 4,846 m 4,845 4,602 (1) 4,601 4,423 4) 4,418
Discontinued operations
Quest 588 - 588 560 - 560 533 1 534
Unigema 434 1 435 625 1 626 621 3 624
Total discontinued segment revenue 1,022 1 1,023 1185 1 1,186 1,154 4 1158
Total Group revenue 5,868 - 5,868 5,787 - 5,787 5577 - 5,577

WWW IC1 COM ICl Annual Report and Accounts 2006 73




| Accounts

Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

4 Segment information (continued)

Business segments

Segment profit Segment profa
betore special ntems after special items
2005 2004 2005 2004
{as restated  {as restated {as restated  (as restated
2006 note 1) note 1] 2006 note 1) note 1)
£m £m £m £m £m Em-
Continung operations
Paints 257 253 235 240 248 235
Adheswves 83 75 84 61 76 84
Specialty Starches 60 43 46 58 43 45
Specialty Polymers 48 46 4 45 46 41
Electroric Matenials 51 50 43 49 50 43
Total National Starch 242 214 214 213 215 213
Quest Foed ingredients - - 7 - - 7
Regional and Industral 37 51 52 30 51 52
Total reporting segments 536 518 508 483 514 507
Corporate and other (34) (39 {27) {52} (30) 28)
Total continuing segment result 502 479 481 431 484 478
Reconcihations
Operating profit/segment result 502 479 481 43 484 478
Profit less losses on sale of contnuing operations 4 13 185
Share of profits tess losses of associates 2 3 2 2 3 2
Net finance expensa (97} (105) {113 {82) {103) {398)
Income tax expense {70) 77 {78) (586) (68) o7
Continuing operations net profit 337 300 292 299 329 470
Discontinued operations
Quest &1 52 40 54 63 34
Unigema 16 22 19 13 40 22
Other - - - (62) - -
Total discontinued segment result 77 74 59 5 103 56
Reconcihations
Operating profit/segment result 77 74 59 5 103 56
Profit less losses on sale of discontinued operations - - - 32 7 (10)
Net finance expense 2 7 7 (2) {1 i
Income tax expense (13) (15) (10) {5} {12) (1)
Discontinued operations net profit 62 52 42 30 H 38
Total Group net profit 399 352 334 329 420 508

In the above table, the columns headed “segment profit before special iems™ are provided to give additional information on segment
performance consistent with the approach used by executive management
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4 Segment information {continued)

Business segments

Depreciation™ {note 14) Amortisatton {note 13)
2008 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m om &m £m tm £m
Continuing operations
Paints 45 43 a9 3 4 4
Adhesives 28 18 24 1 2 3
Specialty Starches 21 20 18 1 2 2
Specialty Polymers 6 5 1 1 1
Electronic Matenals 5 5 4 1 1 1
Total National Starch 6G 48 52 4 5] 7
Quest Food Ingredients - - 1 - - -
Regional and Industrial 18 ig 20 - - -
Total reporting segments 123 110 112 7 10 1
Corporate and other 3 3 3 1 2 2
Total continuing operations 126 113 115 8 12 13
Discontinued operations
Quest 12 19 15 3 3 3
Unigema 12 21 20 2 4
Total discontinued operations 24 40 35 5 7 7
Total Group 150 153 150 13 19 20

* Includes depreciation ralating 1o special tems

Capital expenditure*

(note 13 and note 14} Significant non-cash expenses’
2006 20058 2004 2006 2005 2004
Em £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Paints 61 45 48 2 2 2
Adhesives 22 23 20 (1 1 (1)
Specially Starches 17 16 34 - - (1]
Speciaity Polymers 8 6 - - -
Electronic Matenals 7 8 7 - - {1)
Total National Starch 54 53 54 (1) 1 3)
Quest Food Ingredients - - - - - -
Regional and Industrial 15 18 10 (1) 1 -
Total reparting segments 130 116 122 - 4 5] -
Corporate and other 1 3 3 - - - ‘g
Total continuing operations 131 119 125 - 4 (1) 8
Discontinued operations <
Quest 15 22 17 m 1 1
Unigema 10 17 18 - 1 1
Total discontinued operations 25 39 35 1) 2 2
Total Group 156 158 160 (1} 6 1

* Capita) expenditure relates to tha ¢cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expacted to be used durlng more than one period

[proparty, piant and equipment and intangible assats)

t Significant non-cash expensas consist mainly of falr value gains/losses on derivatives and foretgn exchange movements

WO 1T COMmL

I\ Annual Report and Accounts 2006 78




| Accounts

Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

4 Segment information (continued)

Geographical segments
The figures for each geographic area show the revenue earned by, and the total assets and llabiities owned by, companies located in that area,
export sales are included in the areas from which those sales were made

Revenue
2006 2005 2004

Inter- nter tnter- h

External segment Total Extemnal segment Total Extermal segment Totad

fm £m £m fm £m £m £m £m £m

United Kingdom®* 858 221 1,079 809 216 1,025 829 230 1.059
Continental Europe 1,089 313 1.412 1,182 299 1,481 1,182 315 1,607
North America 1,927 186 2113 1,923 176 2,009 1,908 198 2,106
Latin America 472 49 521 4 48 479 358 44 402
Asia 1,363 183 1,546 1,283 370 1,463 11558 159 1,314
Other countries 149 2 151 149 2 151 135 2 137
5,868 954 6,822 5,787 a1 6,698 9,577 948 6,625

Inter-segment elrmmations {954) (954) @11) (911} (948) {948)
Total Group revenue 5,868 - 5,868 5787 - 5,787 5577 - 5,577

* The ictal export sales madse by 1G] companies located in the United Kingdom was £375m in 2006 (2005 £3685m, 2004 £392m}

Business segments

Sepment assats Segmant liabilties

2005 2004 2005 2004

(as restated  (as restated {as restated  (as rastated
2008 nate 1) nate 1} 2008 note 1) note 1)

£m £m £m &m £m £m

Pants 1,186 1,231 1155 528 516 452
Adhesves 649 715 779 217 221 216
Specialty Starches 409 447 a7 71 78 68
Specialty Polymers 138 144 112 40 38 22
Etectroruc Matenals 148 159 142 24 24 21
Total National Starch 1,344 1,465 1,450 352 361 327
Quest 366 374 364 98 96 100
Unigerma - 459 468 - 1186 122
Regional and Industrial 270 309 294 1 94 102
Total reporting segments 3,168 3,838 amn 1,069 1,183 1103
Corporate and other 68 B3 89 150 144 137
3,234 3,921 3,820 1,219 1,327 1,240

Unallocated’ 1,055 944 1,078 3,259 4,028 3,923
Totat Group 4,289 4,865 4,898 4,478 5,355 5,163

t Unallocated assets mainly compresa post-retirament benehit assets, deferred tax assets Investments in associates cash and cash equevalents financial assets
and ather non-cperating debtors Unallocated habilities mainly comprise post-retirament benalil habilitgs prowvisians, tax habilwes, financial iablities curent tax
llabihties and other non-operating creditors

Goodwil inciuded

in segment asgaty
2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m
Paints 252 256 252
Adhesives 163 1831 161
Spectalty Starches 7 7 7
Specialty Polymers 5 6 -
Electronic Matenals 55 62 56
Total Natonal Starch 230 256 224
Quest 18 17 16
Umgema - 13 "
Regicnal and Industrial 12 14 13
Total reporting segments 512 556 516
Comparate and other - - -
Total Group 512 556 516
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4 Segment information (continued}

Geographical segments

Segment assets Segment liabilities

2005 2004 2005 2004

{as restated  {as restated (asrestated  (as restated
2006 ncte 1) nate 1) 2006 note 1) nate 1}

£m Em £m £m £m £m

United Kingdom 502 542 602 308 307 315
Continental Europe 582 825 879 194 24 255
North America 1,080 1,378 1,243 304 357 272
Latin America 250 267 294 124 15 123
Asia 752 840 802 272 287 263
Other countnes 58 69 30 17 20 12
3,234 3,921 3,820 1,219 1,327 1,240

Unallocated’ 1,055 944 1,078 3,259 4,028 3,923
Total Group 4,289 4,865 4,898 4,478 5,355 5163

t Unallocated assats mainly compnse post-ratrement benefit assets, defarred tax assats, investments in associates, cash and cash equivalents financlal assets
and ather non-operating debtors Unallocated liabilites mainty compnise post-retirament benefit hzbiities provisions 1ax llabilties, financial habilitles current tax

abilities and other non-cperating creditars

Geographical segments

Capital expenditure*
{note 13 and note 14)

2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m

United Kingdom 18 20 23
Continental Europe 29 27 38
North America 54 64 59
Latin America B 8 g
Asia 45 37 ao
Qther countries 2 2 1
Total Group capital expenditurg 156 158 180

* Capital expenditure refates to the cost incurrad during the panod to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than cne period (proparty

plant and equipment and intangible assets)

Revenue by location of customer

’ Accounts

2006 2005 2004
fm £m £m
Continuing operations
United Kingdom 603 529 543
Continental Europe 794 813 833
North America 1,598 1,560 1,544
Latin America 422 31 310
Asia 1,319 1,216 1,080
Other countrigs 109 102 109
Total continueng operations 4,845 4,601 4,419
Total Group
United Kingdom 690 611 &28
Continental Europe 1,145 1,251 1,264
Nerth America 1,861 1,870 1,856
Latin America 502 460 382
Asia 1,467 1,395 1,252
Other countries 203 200 195
Total Group revenue 5,868 5,787 5,577
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contiued

5 Employee numbers and costs
Average number of people employed by the Group

Business segments

2006 2005 2004
Continuing operatons
Paints 15,010 15,160 15,330,
Adhesves 4,860 4,800 5,240
Specialty Starches 2,200 2,240 2,340
Specialty Polymers 690 700 690
Electronic Materials 1,170 1170 1,140
Total Natonal Starch 8,920 8,810 9410
Quest Food Ingredients - - 830
Regional and Industnal 1,890 2,190 2290
Corporate
Board suppart and parent company activities 110 110 110
Group technical resources and other shared services 140 130 220
Total continuing operations 26,070 26,500 28,290
Discontinued operations
Quest 3,340 3,450 2,800
Un:gema 1,660 2,580 2,730
Total discontinued cperations 5,000 6,030 5,630
Total Group 31,070 32,530 33,820
Geographical areas
2006 2005 2004
United Kingdom 4,210 4,520 4,790
Continental Europe 4,880 5,300 5,660
MNorth America 10,280 10 650 11,350
Latin America 2,960 3,050 3,070
Asta 8,170 8,430 8,400
Qther countries 570 580 550
Total employees 3,070 32 530 33,820
2006 2005 2004
Number of people employed by the Group at the year end 29,130 31,910 33,300
Continutng operations 25,850 26 010 28,080
Discontinued operations 3,280 5,900 5,220
Total Group employee costs
2006 2005 2004
£m £m €m
Salaries 863 886 893
Social security costs 91 90 38
Pension costs
Defined benefit plans 62 ar 79
Defined contribution plans 20 16 1B
Post-retirement healtheare plans (o} (25) 1
Other employment costs 13 2 14
1,040 1,006 10N
Less amounts allocated to capital (6} 8) (4)
Severance costs charged in arrving at profit (loss) before tax 38 14 8
Post-retirement benelit finance expense 20 37 a3
Total Group employee costs charged in arrving at profit (loss) before tax 1,002 1,049 1,128
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€ Operating profit
{a) Operating profit by funcuon

Betom special tems

Atter spacial itemsg.

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £m fm £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 4,845 4,601 4,419 4,845 4,601 4,419
Operating costs
Cost of sales {3,084) (2,908) {2,757} {3,104) (2,883} {2,756)
Distribution and selling costs (774) 744) 731) (784) 741 (732)
Research and development (88) (82) (87) (88) (82) (87)
Admiristration and other expenses {436) {427) (395) {486) (445) {397)
(4,382) (4,159) {3,870) {4.462) {4181 (3.972)
QOther operating income
Royalties 2 4 1 2 4 1
Other income 37 33 3 a7 33 3
39 7 32 39 37 32
Profits less losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 7 1
Continuing operations operating profit 502 478 481 431 484 478
Gross profit 1,761 1,695 1,662 1,741 1,708 1,683
' Before special items Aftor special items
2008 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £ £m &m £m £m
Total Group
Revenue 5,868 5,787 5,577 5,868 5,787 5,577
Operating costs
Cost of sales (3,731} (3,682} (3.532) (3,751) {3,669) {3.531)
Distributien and seling costs (880) (862) {85Q) {890) {859) {851)
Research and development (183) (147) {146) (153) {147) {146)
Administration and other expenses (565) (583) (544) (687) (572) (549)
(5,329) {5,274) (5072) (5,481) (5,247) (5,077}
Other operating income
Royalties 2 4 1 2 4 1
Other iIncome 38 36 34 38 36 34
40 40 35 40 40 a5
Profits less losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment a 7 {1}
Total Group operating profit 579 553 540 436 587 534
Gross profit 2,137 2,105 2045 2117 2,118 2 048
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contiues

6 Operating profit {continued)

{b) Total Group operating costs have been arrived at after {charging) crediting

Beforo special items After spacial tems
2006 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004
£m £€m £m £m £m £m

Employee costs (1,051) (1,067} (1,101} {1,092) {1 049) {1.128)
Depreciation expense (137} {150} (150) {150) {153) (150}
Amertisaton expense 13) {19) {20) {13) (19) {20)
Expense for share-based payments (6} {7 {8 (6 @ 8
Foreign exchange gan 1 6 1 1 3] 1
Total Auditor Remuneration {B) {6) (5) {8) (6} {5)

2008 2005 2004

£m £m £m

Statutory audit of the Group - Remunsaration of Auditor (1 4) {13 12
Services other than audit - Remuneration of Auditor and associates
Auditing of accounts of subsidiaries of company pursuant to legistation {19) {2 1) 19
Other services supplied pursuant to such legrslationt as (11) 09
Other services relating to taxation® {0 4) 05 o7
Employee benefit plan audits (0 4) ©3) 02
All other services 0 5) {02 {01)

87 42 (38
Total Auditor Remuneratian 1) (55 (50)

" Tax sarvices for 2006 related to adwsory services £0 1m (2005 £0 3m, 2004 £0 4m) and compliance serwcas £0 3m (2005 £Q 2m 2004 £0 3m)

¥ Other services suppiied pursuant 1o such legistation inciude an amount of £3 1m in 2006 relating to audits under section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxiey Act 2002

-

7 Share-based payments

The Group has three share option schemes and three share award schemes The principal features of these schemes are as follows

Share option schemes

2004 Executive Share Option Plan

Options granted under this scheme are principally made to Executive Directors and members of the Executive Management Team This
scheme grants oplions that vest and become exercisable providing earnings per share targets over a three-year period are satisfied Vesting
levals will vary based on earning per share levels achieved There is no retasting after the three-year performance period Options under the
plan must be held for a minimum of three years from date of grant before they can be exercised and lapse If not exercised within ten years The
prices at which options are granted under the 2004 Executive Share Option Plan must not be less than the neminal value of an Ordinary Share
nor less than the average of the middle market quotation of an ICI Ordinary Share on the London Stock Exchange on the three business days
immediately preceding the date on which the optton 1s granted For US participants the awards are made as Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs}
denominated v American Depository Receipts (ADRs)

1994 Share Option Scheme

The last options granted under this scheme were in 2003 Share options outstanding under the 1994 Share Option Scheme were granted
subject to performance conditions over a three-year period, which are retested each year until the 10 year terms of the grants are reached
Earnings per Share was used as the periormance condition The prices at which options were granted under the scheme must not be less than
the nominal value of an Ordinary Share nor less than the average of the middle market quotation of an ICI Ordinary Share en the London Stock
Exchange on the five business days ummediately preceding the date on which the option 1s offered Grants under the 1894 Stock Appreciation
Rights Plan are made on the same terms as the 1994 Share Option Scheme For US participants the awards are made as SARs denominatad
in ADRs

UK Savings-related Share Option Scheme (UK - Sharesave)

Under the UK Sharesave scheme, the price at which options were granted could not be less than the greater of the norninal value of an
Ordinary Share, or 80% of the average market value of an Ordinary Share on the three business days preceding the day on which the offer
of options was made The gptions may narmally be exercised within a period of six months, after a vesting period of three or five years,
depending on the length of the opton period chosen by the employee The total purchase cost in respect of options granted under the UK ~
Sharesave Scheme 15 deducied from salary over a penod of three or five years at the choice of the employee, and vest subject to employees
meeting minimum service reqguirements Grants are no longer made under this scheme

The grants to non-US participants under both the 1994 Share Option Scheme and the 2004 Executive Share Option Plan have been referred
ta caollectively n the following tables as *Senior Staif™ and grants to US participants as "SARP*

7 Share-based payments {continued)
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Share award plans

Performance Growth Plan

Awards under the Performance Growth Plan are made 1o Executive Birectors and members of the Executive Mapagement Team, and are
described on page 50 The Performance Growth Plan makes conditional awards of ICI shares or for US-based participants ADRs, and s
Iinked to performance over a fixed three-year period

Parformance Share Plan ;
The first award under this plan was made in the year ended 31 December 2004, to senior staff below the level of the Executive Management
Team These awards are conditional on preset earnings per share targets over a three-year penod Awards are delivered  IC| shares or for
US-based participants, ADRs

Restricted Share Plan

Awards under the Restricted Share Plan are made to a small number of sentor executives below the levet of the Executive Management Team
The length of retention period before awards vest 1s flexible, and may vest in annual tranches The scheme involves awards of IC| shares or for
US-based participants ADRs with the release being conditional upon achievement of certain conditions which vary by employee

Share-based expense

The Group has apphed the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment and has elected not to adopt the exemption to apply IFRS 2 only

to awards made after 7 November 2002, instead a full retrospective approach has been followed on all grants not fully vested at the date of
transiion (1 January 2004) in order to maintain consistency across reporting periods At 31 December 20086, there was £6m of unrecognised
compensatign cost related to nan-vested awards granted over a weighted average pencd of 22 manths

The Group recognised total expenses all of which related to equity settled share-based payments transactions of

2006 2005 2004
£m £m tm
Expense B 7 8

Fair valug assumptions of share-based payments
The tar value of all options and share awards granted is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, and the following weighted
average assumphions

2006 2005 2004
Shara Share Sharg Share Shara Shara
options awards options awards options awards
Weighted average fav value £079 £3 23 £110 £2 58 £0 92 £1 95
Waighted average share price £3 49 £3 46 £2 81 £277 £2 31 £2 22
Waelghted average exercise price £349 £0 00 £2 81 £0 00 £2 3t £0 00
Dandend yeld 21% 2 2% 25% 2 5% 30% 37%
Expected volatility 31% 3% 54% 53% 55% B1%
Expected life 4 years 3 years 4 years 3 years 4 years 3 years
Risk-free interest rate 4 5% 4 4% 4 6% 47% 50% 4 5%

The Group uses histonical volatihty figures as an input to the Black-Schotes valuation model For each new grant, the histencal volatility 1s
constdered for a period In line with the expected life of the option or equity instrument granted

The Group assumes an expected Iife of cne year after vesting for options and for other equity instruments the expected life s equal to the
vesting period

The risk-free interest rate 1s based on the UK gilt yield curve n effect at the time of grant for the expected Iffe of the cption

Participants in the Group's share-based incantive schemes are not entitled to receive dvidends during the vesting pericd Therafore, dvidands
expectad on the underlying shares during this period must be taken into account in determining the far value of share options and other equity
insiruments granted The Group assumes that until each share-based incentive award vests, the dwvdends per share will foliow the same
pattern as for the previous two years The Group then considers whether any adjustments are required to the expected dividends based on
knowledge of the Company

A proporiton of equity Instruments awarded to members of the Executive Management Team 1s based on the TSR performance of the
Company retative i0 a peer group This market-based performance condition 1s taken inte account in deterrmimng the farr value of these
awards It 1s assumed the market 1s effictent and hence all available infermation about the peer group performance 1s already reflected in
its share price IC| therefore assumes that each company within the peer group has equal probabilities of attaining each ranking within the
peer group
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7 Share-based payments {continued)

Tranisactions on Optionn Schemes

Senior Statf Schems UK - Shargsave SARP
Weghted Weighted Waighted
average average Number average
Number exsrcise Number exercise of options exercise
of options price of options prica In ADRs prica
000 £ 000 £ 000 S
Qutstanding

At beginning of 2004 31,786 306 11,376 223 5414 i8 62
Granted 2,700 231 - - 337 16 83
Forfeited/Exprred (2,342) 388 {2.665) 274 {224) 2365
Exercised {778) 134 (32) 173 {131} 1019
At beginning of 2005 31,366 297 8679 208 5,396 1850
Granted 2,584 281 - - 277 2125
Forfated/Expired (3 424) 44 {1,686) 266 (253} 2975
Exercised {3058 176 (434) 216 (331) 12 48
At beginning of 2006 27,468 299 6,559 193 5,088 18 48
Granted 2,228 348 - - 243 2419
Forteited/Expired {2,576) 518 {355) 226 (683) 2319
Exercised (3121} 162 {1,135) 232 (1,107) 16 21
At the end of 2006 23,999 289 5,069 182 3,542 18 67

Number of options exercisable at
31 December 2004 7,335 482 3 225 1,090 31,02
31 December 2005 6,128 429 169 210 2,702 24 86
31 December 2006 3,175 490 845 183 690 3 22

Qn 7 February 2007, 14 2m Senior Staff Scheme options and 2 5m ADRs {equivalent to 10m Ordinary Shares) under SARP became exercisable

Summary of share options outstanding at 31 December 2006

Total options outstanding Exercisable options
at 31 December 2006 at 31 December 2006
Waighted
averaga Woeiglttad Weighted
romaining average average
Number contractual exercise Number exarcisa
outstanding lite prica  exsrcisable price
000 Years /8 Qo0 £3
Exercise prnce range
Senior Statf Scheme
£0 -€5 23 082 6 06 268 2,295 384
£5 =110 504 221 572 467 553
£10-£15 413 138 10 08 413 1008
23,999 2 89 3175 490
UK - Sharesave
£0-£5 5069 143 182 845 183
5,069 182 845 183
SARP (ADRs)
%0 - $20 207 601 11 36 118 11 38
$20 - $40 1,350 426 2612 451 28 44
$40 - $60 46 059 54 37 46 54 37
$60 - 880 75 138 65 49 75 65 49
3,542 18 67 690 I 22

At 31 December 2006 there were options outstanding i respect of 29 1 million (2005 34 0 miliion, 2004 40 O million) Ordinary Shares of

£1 each under the Sentor Staff and UK - Sharesave Option Schemes normally exercisable in the period 2007 to 2016 (2005 2006 to 2015,
2004 2005 to 2014} at subscnpton prices of €1 34 to £E10 0B {2005 £1 34 to £10 08 2004 £1 34 to £10 08) Movements in the number of
shares under option during 2006 comprised new gptiens 2 2 million, options exercised 4 3 million, and options forfeited or expued 2 9 million
The number of Ordinary Shares 1ssued during the year wholly in respect of the exercise of options totaited 1 1 mitlion (2005 0 4 mullion,
2004 0 03 milbon) The weighted average subscription price of options outstanding at 3t December 2006 was £2 70 The weighted average
grant price 15 equal to the weighted average exercise price detalled in the tables above

The weighted average share price for options exercised during the year ended 31 December 20086 for the Sentor Staff, UK-Sharesave and
SARP schemes was £3 86, £3 76 and $28 93 respectively
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7 Share-based payments (continued)

Transactions on non-vested shares
Pertormance Growth Plan Other share awards®

Weghted Weightad
average far averaga far
Number value at Number vaha at
of awards grant cate of awards grant data
000 £ 000 €

Outstanding
At begnning of 2004 2,688 263 - -
Granted 1,585 186 2,254 200
Vested (25) 453 - -
Forfeited (546} 453 {59) 200
Al begnning of 2005 3902 204 2,195 200
Granted 1,384 260 1,906 260
Vested {181} 234 - -
Forfeited (1055} 245 (127) 221
At beginning of 2006 4,060 211 3,974 228
Granted 1,142 316 1,618 327
Vested {726} 194 (34) 224
Forfeited (1,016} 23 (304) 259
At the end of 2006 3,460 244 5,254 257

* QOther shara awards constst of Performance Share Plan awards and Restricted Share Plan awards
The weighted average share price for the Performance Growth Plan and Other share awards vested during the year ended 31 December 2006
was £3 51 and £4 16 respectively

Intrinsic Values
For the Senior Staff Scheme, the Intrinsic values of the options outstanding and exercisable at 31 December 2008 were £39m and negative
£1m, respectively and the total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year was £5m (2005 £3m, 2004 £imj

For the UK-Sharesave Scheme, the intrinsic values of the options outstanding and exercisable at 31 December 2006 wera £idm and £2m,
respectively, and the total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year was £2m (2005 nil, 2004 nil}

For the SARP, the intninsic values of the optiens outstanding and exercisable at 31 December 2006 were $59m and $3m, respectively, and
the total intrinsic value of options exercised durlng the year was $14m (2005 $3m, 2004 $1m)

For the share award plans, the intrinsic value of the awards outstanding at 31 December 2006 was £39m, and the total far value of shares
vested during the year ended 31 December 2006 was £2m (2005 £1m 2004 nil)

Cash recewved from the exercise of options under the share options schemes was £6m and the tax benefit realised from options exercised
during the year was £5m

Shares used to satisfy the Group's obligations under the employee share plans can be newly issued shares, or shares purchased n the open
market by the employee share trust No cash was used to settle equity instruments granted under share-based payment schemes

8 Share of profits less losses of assoctates

2008 2005 2004
£m £m £m

Continuing operations
Share of operating profits less losses 2 3 4
Associates net finance income 1 1 -
Taxation on prohis less losses of associates 1] {1} 2)
2 3 2
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9 Net finance expense

2005 2004
{as restatec  (as restaton
2006 note 1) nate 1)
£m £m
Continuing operations
Interest expense and simular charges
Loan interast
Bank loans {3) (5} 8)
Qther loans {89) (92} (122)
[nterest on obkgations under finance ‘eases {3) (3 2)
(95) {100} (132)
Interest on short-term bomowings
Bank borrowings (11) (12) {7}
Other borrowings {2) @ (11)
{13) (19) (18)
Amortsation of discounted provisions {9) (10) (10}
Forexgn exchange losses {6) {2) {12)
{123) (131) {172)
Interest income and simiar income
Interest incormne on financial assets 42 48 72
Fair value gains 2 1 -
Foreign exchange gains - 7 13
44 56 85
Post-retirement benefit finance
Interest cost (422) (411) {407}
Expected return on assets 404 ag1 as1
{18} (30) (26)
Net finance expense before special items for continuing operations 97) {105) (113
Foreign exchange gans on debt previously hedging goodwill written off to reserves 15 2 15
Net finance expense after special items for continuing operations (82} {103} (98)
Net finance expense after special tems for discontinued operations (see note 11) {2) (7) (7}
Total net finance expense after special items (84} {10} (103}
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10 Income tax expense

2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m
Profit before taxation 15 analysed as follows
United Kingdom 90 138 178
QOverseas 300 362 428
390 500 606
Discantinued operations {see note 11} a5 103 39
Continuing operatons
Bafara
special Spacial Discontinued
items tems Total  operations Total
&m £m £m £m Em
2006
Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
Current year corporation 1ax 186 ) 182 1) 181
Adjustments for prior years {150) - (150) (%) (151}
Double taxation relief (26) - (26} - (26}
10 (L] [ @) 4
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences (31) {10) {41) 7 (34)
Changes In tax rates {4) - (4} - 4
Benefit of tax losses recogrised (10) - {10} - (10}
write-down of deferred tax assets 105 - 105 - 105
60 {10} 50 57
Total income tax expense in Income statement 70 (14} 56 5 61
Continuing operatons
Befare
specal Special Oiscontinued
items ermns Totat operatons Total
£m £m £m £m £m
2005
Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
Current year corporation tax 153 [tg] 146 7 153
Adjustments for prior years (35) - (35) (13 {36)
Double taxation relief (33} - (33) - (33)
85 ) 78 6 84
Deferred tax expense
Ongnanon and reversal of temporary differences {13) 2) {15) 7 [12)]
Changes n tax rates 4 - 4 - 4
Benefit of tax losses recognised (9) - @) (1) (10)
Write-down of deferred tax assets 10 - 10 - 10
& 2 (19} 6 4)
Total ncome tax expense in ncome statement 77 (9) 68 12 80
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

10 Income tax expense {continued)

Continung operations
Before
special Specai Discontrued
tems tems Total operations Totai
£m £m £m £m m
2004
Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
Current year corporation tax 105 18 123 1 124
Adjustrnents far prior years (25) - (25) 2) 27)
Double taxation relief {15) - {15) - (15)
65 18 83 {1} B2
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 45 1 46 2 48
Changes n tax rates (1) - {1) - {1}
Benefit of tax losses recognised (31) - B - (31
Whrite-down of deferred tax assets - - - - -
13 1 14 2 16
Total income tax expense In income statement 78 19 97 1 gg

The tax expense for 2006 consists of UK taxation credit of E7m (2005 £27m charge, 2004 £18m charge)} and an overseas tax expense of
£68m {2005 £53m, 2004 £80m) The UK taxation craedit of £7m (2005 £27m charge, 2004 £18m charge) is calculated after applying double
taxation relief of £26m {2005 £33m, 2004 £15m) The UK taxation credit consists of £1m charge in respect of special items (2005 £9m credit
2004 £4m charge), £nil charge in respect of discontinued operations (2005 £6m charge, 2004 £7m charge} and £8m credit in respect of
continuing operations before special tems (2005 £30m charge 2004 £7m charge) The overseas tax expense of £68m (2005 £53m, 2004
£80m) consists of £15m credi in respect of special tems (2005 £nil credit, 2004 £15m charge}, £5m charge in respect of discontinued
operations {2005 £6m charge, 2004 £6m credit} and £78m charge in respect of continuing operations before special items (2005 £47m
charge, 2004 £71m charge)

UK and overseas taxation has been provided on the profits (losses) earned for the pertods covered by the Group accounts UK corporation
tax has been provided at the rate of 30% (2005 30%, 2004 £30%)

The benefit m the period ansing from a previcusly unrecagnised tax loss, tax credit or temparary difference of a prior penod that I1s used
to reduce cumrent tax expense ts £10m, and to reduce deferred tax expense £13m This reduction in deferred tax expense anises principally
n the Netherfands and reflects positive changes in the forecast profitability following the Unigema disposal and the planned Quest disposal

The tax charge (credit) In 2006, 2005 and 2004 1n relation to special items was n respect of disposal and restructuning programmes,
as discussed i note 25

Tha tax charge of £5m for discontinued operations (2005 £12m chargs, 2004 E1m charge) relates to the profit on disposal of an operation
and profit made by a discontinued operation

The table below reconciles the total tax charge {credn) at the UK corporation tax rate to the Group's mcome tax expense

2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m
Profit before tax

Contnuing operations 3565 397 567
Discentinued operations 35 103 39
390 500 606

Taxation charge at UK corporation tax rate (2006 30%, 2005 30%, 2004 30%) 117 150 182
Movement on provisions permanently disallowed or not deferred tax effected 17 (1) (8)
Local taxes (L] 1 o]
Capual {gains) losses not taxable/deductible (22) {12) (23)
Taxable intergroup dmdend income 23 22 16
Qverseas tax rates {18} (5) (10)
Current year tax losses not relieved 5 1 -
Prior year tax losses utiised (10) {31} (31)
Tax holdays/manutacturing exemptions N 12)) 8}
Adusiments for pnor years — deferred tax 1 {33) (20)
Adjustments for prior years - current tax {17 (8} {12)
Write-down of deferred tax assets 105 10 -
Adjustment for prior years — tax exposures (134) (28) (15)
Adjustments for current year — tax exposures 15 1 32
Other 0) 8) (16)
income tax expense 61 80 a8
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10 Income tax expense (continued]

In 2008 due to government enactments, there were changes to national income tax rates in Hungary from 18% to 16%, Mexico from 30% to
26%, Netherlands from 31 5% to 29 6%, Philippines from 33% to 35%, Portugal from 30% to 27 5%, Sri Lanka from 30% to 35%, and Turkey

from 30% to 20%

In 2006 "utiised pnor year tax losses” pnmarily arose in Germany The net 1ax losses utilised in Germany amounted to £7m reprasenting

losses for which no deferred tax benefit had previousty been recogrused

In 2005, "utiised prior year tax losses” primarily arese in Pakistan and in 2004 1in Pakistan and the Netherlands The net tax losses uiilised n
Pakistan amounted to £5m in 2005 and £15m in 2004 In both periods, the accounting reflected positive changes in the current and forecast
profitabiity of the Pakistan business, wtich had been loss-making for a number of years In the Netherlands tax losses were utilised agamnst
the tax gains made an the disposal of the Quest Food Ingred:ents business, which accounted for £14m, absent this one-off transaction, the
losses had not been recognised due o the absence of forecast future prefits in the Netherfands In both periods the remainder of the balance

(£6m 11y 2005 and £2m i 2004) related to a number of small items in varous junsdictions

11 Discontinued operations

In February 2006 the Group announced that as part of its strategic update it was evaluating its oplions with regard to its oleochemicals
and surfactants business, Unigema The Group, having considered further restructuring opportunities to improve overall profitability of the
Urugema business and tn view of other investment opportunities available across the Group, where there is the prospect of greater strategic
and financial returns, announced Its intention to divest the businass, subject to a deal realising valve for shareholders

In June 2006 the Group reached an agreement to sell Unigema to Croda International Pic for a gross consideration of £410m  The transaction
was completed in September 2006 after approval from Croda shareholders, regulatory approval and employes consultation The transachion
gave rise to a profit after taxation of £41m which has been accounted for as a special item The operations of Unigema have been classified

as discontinued

In Novernber 2006, the Group reached an agreement to sell Quest to Givaudan SA, for a gross cash consideration of £1,200m, subject to
clasing balance sheet adustments, including working capital and net debt Approval by ICI shargholders was obtained on 25 January 2007
The transaction 1s expected to be completed in the first guarter of 2007 The transaction is expected to give rise to a profit after taxation of
around £900m As the operations of Quest represent a separate major line of business and meet the held lor sale criteria at 31 December
2008, the operations have been classified as discontinued The related assets and liabilities have been classified as held for sate and
prasented separately In the balance sheet at 31 December 2006 The results of Unigema and Quest which have been included in the

consoldated income statement are as follows

Total
Discontinued
Unigema Quost Other  operations
£m £m m £m
2006
Revenue 435 588 - 1,023
Operating costs (422} (535) 62) {1,019)
Other operating ncome - 1 - 1
Operating profit* 13 54 62} 5
Profits less losses on sale of operations 48 - {16) 32
Interest expense = (1) - (1)
[nterest Income - 1 - 1
Post-retirement benefit finance
Interest cost {10} {19} - (29)
Expected return on assets 9 18 - 27
Profit before taxation 60 53 (78) a5
Income tax expense - taxation before special items (2) {11) - {13)
- taxation on special itemsT (6) 2 12 8
Profit for the penod 52 44 (66) 30

* Operating prefit Includes a speciat tems charge of £72m, relating to a restructunng charge of £10m (Unigema £3m charge Quest £7m charge) and the fine of

£62m imposed by the European Commission

t Incoma 1ax on special tems includes a tax credit on special cperating items of £3m {Unigema £1m credit and Quest £2m cradit) and a tax cradit on prodis less

losses cn sale of operations of £5m (Urigema £7m charge and Other E12m credit)
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

11 Discontinued operations {continued)

The major classes of assets and habilities comprising the Quest operations classified as held for sale at 31 December 2006 are as follows

2006
£m
Intangible assets 30
Property, plant and equipment 159
Deterred tax assets 7
Inventaries 66
Trade and other recenvables 110
Assets classified as held for sale arz2
Trade and other payables {97)
Provisions (10}
Deferred tax liabilities (14}
Post-retrament benefit habilites (80}
Lrabilities classified as held for sale (201}
Totat
Drscontinued
Urugema CQuest Other operalions
£m £m £m £m
2005
Revenue 626 560 - 1.186
Operating costs (587) (499) - {1,086)
Other operating inccme 1 2 _ 3
Operating profit” 40 63 - 103
Profit less losses on sale of operations - - 7 7
Interest expense - {1} - (1)
interest ncome - 1 - 1
Post-retrement benefit finance
Interest cost {22) {18) - {40)
Expected return on assets 18 15 - 33
Profit before taxation 36 60 7 103
Income tax expense — taxation before special items 5) (10} - (i5)
- taxation on special temst 7 3 7} 3
Profit for the period 38 53 - =1}

Operating profit Includes a spocial tems credit of £29m (Unigema £18m cradit, Quast £11m cradit) relating to & post-ratrement benafit credit of £37m (Unigema

£14m credt, Quest £23m credit) and a charge of £8m (Unigema £4m cracit, Quest £12m charge) in relation to restructuring

1 Income tax on special items Includes a tax credit on special operating items of £10m (Unigema £7m crocil and Quest £3m credit) and a tax charge on profits less

Igsses on sale of cperations of £7m (Other £7m charge)

Total
Discontinued
Uniqama Cuest Other  operations
£m £m £m £m
2004

Revenue 624 534 - 1,158
Qperating casts {60} (502) - (1,105)
Other operating Income 1 2 - 3
Operating profit” 22 34 - 56
Profits less losses on sale of operations 10 - {20} (10)

Posttetrement benefit finance
Interest cost {22} (18) - {40)
Expected return on assets 18 15 - 33
Profit hefore taxation 28 3 {20} 39
Income tax expense — taxation before special tems 3) {7} - {10)
— laxation on special temst {1 4 6 9
Protit for the period 24 28 (14) 38

* Operating profit includes a special items charge of £3m relating 10 restructuring {LUinigema £3m cradit, Quest E6m charge)

1 Income tax on special vems includes a tax credit on special operating tems of £4m (Quast £4m credit) and a tax ¢redit on profds less losses on sale of operations

of £5m {UUnigema £1m charge and Other £6m credit)
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12 Earnings (loss) per £1 Ordinary Share

Contnuing Discontinued

oparatiens operatians Totat
2006
milllan mullien rmillion
Weighted average Ordinary Shares in issug during year 1,193 1,133 1,193
Weighted average shares held by Group's employee share cwnership plan 4) (4} 4
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares i 1ssue duning year 1,189 1,189 1,189
Dilutve effect of share options 15 15 15
Diluted weighted average Ordinary Shares 1,204 1,204 1,204
£m £m £m
Adpsted earnings” 315 60 375
Special tems after tax and minorities (38} (42) (80)
Earningst 277 18 295
penca pence pence
Basic adjusied earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 265 51 Ne
Total basic eamings per £1 Crdinary Share 233 16 249
Diiuted adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 262 50 312
Total diuted earmings per £1 Qrdinary Share 230 15 245
* Adjusted earnings Is the nat profit (loss) for the financial year before special items attnbutable to equity holders of the parent
t Earnings 1s the net profit (loss) for the financial year attributaile 1o equity holders of the parent
Continuing  Discontinuad
operations. aparations. Total
2005
million riilion milfion
Weighted average Ordinary Shares in1ssue during year 1,192 1192 1,192
Weighted average shares held by Group's employee share ownership plan {7} {7 6]
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in issue durnng year 1,185 1,185 1,185
Dilutive effect of share opticns 3 3 3
Dituted wesghted average Ordinary Shares 1,188 1,188 1188
£m £m £m
Adjusted earnings” 272 49 321
Special tems after tax and mnorities a0 39 63
Earnings! 302 88 350
panca pencs pence
Basic adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 230 41 271
Total basic earnings per £1 Orcinary Share 255 74 329
Diuted adpusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 229 41 270
Total diuted earmings per £1 Crdinary Share 254 74 328

* Adjusted earnings s the net profit {loss) for the financial year before special items attnbutable to equity holders of the parent
t Earnings 1s the net profit {loss) for the financial year attributabla to equily holders of the parent
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12 Earnings (loss) per £1 Ordinary Share {continued)

Continuing  Discontinued

operations  operations Tosal
2004

milion miBon méflion

Weighted average Ordnary Shares n issue during year 1191 1191 119
Weighted average shares held by Group's employee share ownership plan 8) 8} (8)
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in 1ssue dunng year 1183 1,183 1,183
Dilutive effect of share options 1 1 1
Diluted weighted average Ordinary Shares 1.184 1184 1184
£m £m £m

Adusted earnings” 267 39 306
Special items after tax and mmorities 172 e 168
Earrungs’ 439 35 474
penca penca penca

Basic adusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 225 33 258
Total basic earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 371 30 401
Diluted adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 225 33 258
Total diuted earnings per €1 Crdinary Share a7 30 401

Adjusted sarmings 1s the net profit {loss) for the financial year befora special itams attzibutable to equity helders of the parent

! Earrungs 1s the net profit (loss} for the financeal year attributable to agquity holders of the parent

There are no options, warrants or nghts outstanding in respect of unissued shares in all penods presentad except for the share optian

schemes for employees (note 7) Adjusted earmings per £1 Ordinary Share has been presented in order to show separately the impact of special

items and assist in understanding underlying performance of the Group earnings and thus warrants separate consideration

13 Intangible assets

Computer
Goodwill software Other Total
£m £m £m £m

2006
Cost
At beginning of year 556 112 15 683
Additions - 4 1 5
Acqurred as part of business combinations 10 - 11 21
Disposats (20) {27) {1 (48)
Classified as held for sale {18) (17} {6 41)
Exchange and other adjustments 34 (1) (1) (36)
At end of year 494 71 19 584
Amortisation
At beginrung of year 75 7 B2
Amortsation for the year 11 2 13
Disposals {20} ] (21)
Classified as held for sale {11) - {11}
Exchange and other acjustments (1) {1 (2}
At end of year 54 7 61
Net book value at end 2006 494 17 12 523
Net book value at beginning of 2006 556 37 B 601
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13 Intangible assets (continued)

Comperer
Goodwll software Other Total
£m £m m £m

2005
Cost
At beginning of year 516 105 12 633
Reclassification - - - -
Additions - 5 - 5
Acquisihions through business combinations - 3 12
Disposals 4 {3 {1 -
Exchange and other adjustments 27 5 1 33
At end of year 556 112 15 683
Amortisation
At beginning of year 58 6 64
Reclassification - - -
Amortisation for the year i7 2 19
Disposals (2} m &)
Exchange and cther adjustments 2 - 2
At end of year 75 7 az
Net book value at end of 2005 556 37 8 601
MNet book value at beginning of 2005 516 47 5] 569

Substantially all of the Group’s goodwill arose on the purchases of Acheson Industrias In¢ and the European Home Improvemnent business of

Willams Plc in 1998

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

Significant amounts of goodwill have been allocated for imparment testing purposes to the following cash-generating urits

2006 2005 2004

£m £m £m

Paints Decorative UK and Republic of treland 164 1588 155
National Starch Adhesves 163 181 161
327 339 316

Muttiple units without indvidually significant amounts of goodwill 185 217 200
512* 556 518

* Includas £18m classified as held for sale

The recoverable amount of both urits 15 based on value in use calculations and 15 higher than the carrying value of the assets and goodwall

aliocated to those units The calculations use cash flow projectons based on actual operating results and a four year business plan A growth
rate of 2 75% (2005 2 75% 2004 2 75%) has been used for both Paints Decorative UK and Republic of Ireland and Nattonal Starch Adhesives
to extrapolate beyend the most recent forecasts rapresenting the long-term average growth rate for the countrles i which the entities operate

A discount rate of 8 73% for Paints Decorative UK and Republic of Ireland and 8 19% for National Starch Adheswes has been used In

discounting the projected cash flows

The key assumptions and approach to determining their value are

Cash generating uut Assumption How datermined
Pants Decoratve UK Sales growth Farecast GDP growth and ferecast paint market growth
and Repubilic of reland Cost growth Forecast nflation
National Starch Adheswves Sales growth In line wath industry expectations
Cost growth Expected to grow in line with business growth
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

14 Property, plant and equipment

Payments on
account and
assals n
Land and Plant and courss of
buBdngs equipment  construction Total
£m £m £m £m
2006
Cost
At begnning of year 842 2173 S0 3,105
New subsidiary undertakings - 1 - 1
Capital expenditure g9 51 91 151
Transfars of assets nto use 20 64 (84) -
Disposals {i11) (487) (1) (609)
Classified as held for sale {98} {153) 12y (263)
Exchange and other adjustments (63) (152) (8) (223)
At end of year 589 1,497 66 2,162
Depreciation
At beginning of year 268 1,225 1,493
Charge for year 30 120 150
Disposals {50) {300} {350)
Classiied as held for sale {26) {78} (104)
Exchange and other adjstments (20) {76) {96)
At end of year 202 891 1,093
Net book value at end of 2008 397 e0s 68 1,069
Net book value at beginning of 2008 574 948 ac 1612
Payments on
account and
- assats in
Lanc and Ptant and course of
bulldings equipment  construchon Total
£m £m £m £m
2005
Cost
At begnning of year 813 2.051 17 2,981
JFRIC 4 adustment - 17 - 17
At January 2005 (as restated) 813 2068 117 2,998
New subsidiary undertakings - B - &
Capital expenditure - - 153 153
Transfers of assets nto use 26 127 (153) -
£ Disposals 48) (147) an (232)
§ Exchange and other adjustments 51 19 10 180
2 At end of year 842 2173 90 3,105
— Depreciation
At beginning of year 247 1135 1,382
IFRIC 4 adjstment - 4 4
At 1 January 2005 {as restated) 247 1,139 1,386
Charge for year 27 126 153
Disposals {21) {105) (126)
Exchange and cther adustmenis 15 B5 B0
At end of year 268 1,225 1493
Net bock value at end of 2005 574 948 80 1612
Net book valug at beginning of 2005 (as restated) 566 929 117 1,612
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14 Property, plant and equipment {continued)

The net book value ot tand and bulldings comprises

2008 2005

£m £m

Freeholds 378 541
Long leases {over 50 years unexpired) 5 13
Short leases 13 20
g7 574

The Group depreciation charge of £150m comprises £137m charged in arrving at operating proft before special items and £13m charged to

special tems relating to rastructuring programmes (see note 3}

Net book value of land and bulldings (excluded from the table above) compnising £70m in freeholds, £1m in long leases and E1m in short leases

has bean included within assets held for sale (ses nete 11)

Capital expenditure i the year includes capitalised finance leases of £3m, creditors for capital work done but not paid increased by £3m, the
resulting cash expenditure on praperty, plant and equipment, including computer software of £4m and other intangibles of £1m was £150m

The net book value of the property, plant and equipment of the Group Includes capitalised finance leases of £9m (2005 £20m) compnsing
cost of £16m (2005 £30m] less depreciation of £7m (2005 £10m} The depreciation charge for the year in respect of capitalised leases was

£2m (2005 £2m) and finance charges wera £3m (2005 £3m)

Included in land and bulldings 1s £88m (2005 £128m) in respect of the cost of land which is not subject to depreciation

15 Investments in associates

Equity accounted shares

2008 2005
£m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 5 1
Disposals - (B
At end of year 5 5
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses
At beginning of year 14 11
Retained profits less losses 2 3
At end of year 16 14
Balance sheet value at end of year 21 19
Balance sheet value at beginning of year 19 22
The Group's principal associates at 31 December 2006 are
haid ty a
Issued sharg capital at date of subsidiary
tatast avalabla audted accounts ot ICI
Class of capital % Prncipal acthities  Incorporation
IC Insurance Ltd Ordinary 49 Insurance and reinsurance underwriting  England
Metlac Spa Ordinary 44 Packaging coatings Italy
2006 2005
£m €m
Investments in assoclates
Financtal information is given based cn 100% holding
Agsels B4 84
Liabilities (32) {35)
Equity 52 49
Revenues 44 46
Profit 3 5

The Group's associates have the same annual reperting date as the Group
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16 Fimancial assets

2008 2005
notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Other invesiments 6@ 28 40
Derwvatve assets greater than 1 year 31{a) - 33
28 73
Currant assets
Cumrent asset mvestmenis 47 28
Dervative assets less than 1 year 3a) 63 2
110 30
{a) Other Investments
2006 2008
Investments Loans Total ¥rasuments Loans Total
£m £m £m £m fm £m
Cost
Al beginning of year 21 20 41 18 18 36
Additions 2 - 2 2 - 2
Disposals - - - {1) - (1)
Reclassifications” - (10) 10 - - -
Exchange and other adjustments {3} 1) 4 2 2 4
At end of year 20 9 29 21 20 41
Provisions
At beginning of year {1 - {1) {1) - {1
Additions - - - - - -
Disposals - - - - - -
Exchange and other adjustments - - - - - -
Al end of year (1) - {1) (1) - {1)
Balance sheet value at end of year 19 9 25 20 20 40
Balance sheet value at beginning of year 20 20 40 17 18 35

Reclassifications include an amount of £9m reclassified to cash and cash equivalents
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17 Deferred taxation assets and habilities

Deterred taxation

Deferred taxation accounted for in the Group financial statements and the potential amounts of deferred taxation were

Baanceat Recognsed Racognised

Balance at

Recogmsed Rocogrused

Other

Balance at

1 Jan 2005 In mecome inequiy 1 Jan 2006 In incoma In equity movements 31 Dec 20068
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Deferred tax assets
Restructuring provisions 10 [5)] - 5 7 - {2) 10
Post-retirement benefits 146 52) 50 144 (13 29 23 183
Employee iabiiies 50 12 i 63 9 @ (50) 15
Other provisions 38 {18) 2 22 (30} 4} 17 5
Stock valuation 7 9 1 17 {1} (1) {11} 4
Provisions on disposal of businesses 8 7 i 18 {3) 2) 15 26
Losses 43 (24} 7 26 {5} {4) 52 69
Intangibles 47 (1) 4 50 4) {2) (26} 18
Forewgn tax credits 54 1 4 59 (31} {8) - 20
Other 56 42 7 105 10 {9 (48) 58
459 (29) 77 507 €1 8) (30) 408
Reclassified as assets held for sale - (14]
Oifset with deferred taxation habiities (253) {172)
Amount recognised on the balance sheet 254 229
Deferred taxation habilities
UK property, plant and equipment {29) 7 - {22) 1 - 6 {15}
Non-UK property, plant and equipment {172) 2 (16} (186) (13) 20 43 {136}
Dihers (84} 24 (6) (66) 16 4 {n {53)
(285) 33 (22) (274) 4 24 A2 {204)
Reclassified as iabilities held for sale - 14
Qffset with deferred {axation assets 253 172
Amount recognised on the balance sheet {21) (18)

The amount recogmised in equity includes £44m credit (2005 £38m credit) in respect of deferred tax on items taken diractly to equity and
£28m charge (20605 £17m charge} in respect of the retransiation of foreign currency deferred tax assets and habiities Other movements relate

to amounts disposed of during the year and reclassifications between the line items

At 31 December 2006

At 31 Decernber 2005

Gross Net Gross Net
defemed  Valuatlon deferred deterrad Valuation defasred
tax allowance tax 1ax altowance tax
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Deferred tax assets
Restructunng provisions 12 (2} 10 8 {3) 5
Post-retrement benefits 370 (187} 183 450 (316) 144
Employee hkabuities a0 (65) 15 102 {39) €83
Qther provisions 39 (34) 5 24 2) 22
Stock valuation 4 - 4 17 - 17
Provisions on disposal of businesses 73 (47) 26 25 @) 16
Losses 145 (76) 69 1m (85) 26
Intangibles 63 {45) 18 50 - 50
Foreign tax credits 54 (62 20 59 - 59
Other 54 4 58 143 {38) 105
BY94 {486) 408 999 (492} 507

‘The change In valuation allowances during the year ended 31 December 2006 was £6m (2005 £233m)

Operating losses of £460m (2005 £351m) are carnied forward and available to reduce future taxable income in a number of jJunisdictions these
Iosses have given rise to deferred tax assets of £145m (2005 £111m} against which are set valuation adjustments of £76m (2005 £85m} Ina
number of jurisdictions {UK, Netherlands and the USA) there are insufficient taxable temporary timung differences to allow recognmition of these
assets and either forecasts in these junsdictions show recurring taxable losses or the forecasts do not indicate that it will be more likely than
not that there will be sufiicient taxable profits to support recogmtion £13m {2005 £3m) of these losses, net of valuation allowances, have
expiry dates through to 2015 and the balance can be carried forward indefinitely 1n addition, there are deductible temporary differences of
£749m (2005 £888m} against which are set valuation allowances of £410m (2005 £407m) There are also contingent deferred tax assets
related to certain potential capital loss carry forwards that are under discussion with the relevant taxing aushorties As the extent of those
fosses 1s uncertain management has not quantified them or any related deferred 1ax asset

Www IC1 COom

G} Annuat Report and Accounts 2006 85

I Accounts




| Accounts

Notes relating to the Group accounts continued

17 Deferred taxation assets and habilities {continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)
The deferred tax adjustments to net income and net equity to conform with US GAAP are disclosed in note 36

No taxes have been provided for fiabilities which may arise on the distnbution of unremitted earruings of subsidianes on the basis of control,
except where distributions of such profits are planned Cumulative unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and associates totalted
approximately £1,071m at 31 December 2006 {2005 £1,174m) 1t s not practicable to calculate the tax which wauld anse on rermittance of
these amounts 1t would be substantially lower than statutory rates after grang effect to foreign tax credits

18 Inventories

2006 2005
£€m £m
Raw materials and consumables 142 21
Stocks in process 10 i8
Finished goods and goods for resale 334 429
486 658
2008 2005
£m £m

Analysis of inventory write-downs recognised in period
Write-down of Inventory 15 23
Reversal of inventory write-downs {6} (13)
9 10

Reversals of inventory wnte-downs relate to the inventary provisions no longer required primartly due to sale of snventory at a higher value than
the estimated net realsable value

19 Trade and other receivables

2008 2005
gm £m
Curmrent
Tracle debtors 646 866
Less amounts set aside for doubtful accounts {28) {37)
6518 829
Other prepayments and accrued income 62 80
Other debtors 1 19
791 1,028
Non-current
Cther debtors 28 35
Other prepayments and accrued income 53 7
as 42
826 1,070

Trade debtors includes £177m (2005 £196m) of recevables eligible for secuntisation with a financial iInstitution However at 31 December
20086, the amount borrowed and ncluded within shori-term borrowings as habiliies under the securtisaton pregramme was £nil (2005 £nil)

The Company has also prowded an asset-backed guarantee via a wholly owned subsidiary, ICI Recevables Funding Ltd {“the SPV™) specifically
ncorporated to provide the guarantee, for £250m to support the Company's commitments to the ICI Pension Fund {see note 34} The asset-
backed guarantee 1s secured by way of fixed and floating charges over certamn trade debtors and cash of Group companies, which have been
assigned to the SPV At 31 December 2006, £228m (2005 £268m) of trade debtors included above were assigned to the SPV and £57m
{2005 £5m) of cash and cash equivalents
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

2006 2005

£m £m
Cash at bank 491 366
Investments and short-term deposits® 105 156
Cash and cash equivalents per balance shest 596 522
Overdratts U] {6
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement 589 516

* Investmants and short-term deposits had a maturity of three months or less

The amount of cash and cash equivalent balances that 1s not available for use by the Group ts £75m {2005 £69m) and retates to balances held
by the insurance captive and by the subsidiary, ICI Receivables Funding Limited {see note 34)

21 Trade and other payables

2008 2005
£m £m
Current

Trade crediiors 677 807
Value added taxes payroll taxes and social securnty 25 28
Accruals 199 250
QOther creditors 371 399
1,272 1,484

Non-current
Accruals 10 28
Other crechtors 18 n

28 38
1,300 1,523

Under US GAAF, provisions for labilities and charges {note 24} would be shown under other creditors, split between current and non-current

22 Current tax hability

The current tax hability of £217m (2005 £360m) represents the amount of mncome taxes payabls in respect of current and prior penods
Included within this balance 15 the prowision for potential liabilities for taxation ansing (n prior and current years and various tax exposures and
tax due 1o revenue authorties of £148m (2005 £248m)

Due to the different trming and natura of revenue audit processes In different nsdictions not all exposures can be specifically inked to enquines

The nature and amounts of the most significant exposures which are provided for are set out below

2006 2005 "
£m £m =]
Nature of Exposure §
Transfer pncing and related 1ssues 54 60 4
Internal restructuring 55 87 —
Oisposals 27 51
Double tax relief/foreign tax credits 2 13
Special regimes, other rehefs 8 17
Other 2 10
Total 148 248
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

22 Current tax labulity {continued)

The movements In the year are summarnised below

2008 2005
£m £m
Prowvisions at beginning of year 248 264
Cash settlements 1) {7)
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (157) {115)
Additions for tax positions of prior years 23 87
Additions based on current year tax positions 15 1
Reaclassifications from income tax payable to exposwes 35 -
Impact of foreign exchange movements (15) a
Prowvisions at end of yvear 148 248

Reductions for tax positions of prior and current years and cash settlements anse from the resoclution of enquines or audits Addions 1o tax
positions relating to both prior and current years anse principally fram management’s assessment of the status on angoing enguines

The Group expecis a number of tax audits to continue during 2007 and it 1s not possible to forecast with any certainty which 1 any, of these
will be substantially resolved during 2007 Consequently 1t 1s not possible to indicate with a sufficient degree of certainty the likely timing or
amount of cash flows as associated with the provisions as currently recorded, particularly as any habidities may be met from the utilisation of

brought ferward losses or other {ax benefits

23 Financial iabilities

2008 2005
notes £m £m
Current iabilibes
Short-term borrowings 23{a) 16 14
External loans !ess than 1 year 23(b) 457 166
Dervative labilies less than 1 year 31 12 51
Obligations under finance lease 3z 2 14
487 245
Non-current llabilities
External loans greater than 1 year 23{b) 524 1,072
Dervative lizbilities greater than 1 year 31 18 25
Obligations under finance lease 32 ] 6
548 1103
{a) Short-term borrowings
Average interest rate*
2006 2005 2008 2005
£m £m % %
Bank borrowings
Secured - by floating charge 3 -
Unsecured 13 14
16 14 26 25
Other borrowings
Unsecured - -
16 i4
Maxenum shart-term bomowings outstanding during year 277 455

* Based on borrowings outstanding at 31 Decermiber

Vanous short-term lines of credit, both committed and uncommutted, are available to the Group and are reviewed regularly There are no facility
fees payable on uncommutied lines nor 1s there a requrement for an equivalent deposii to be mamtained with any of the banks
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23 Financial liabilittes (continued)

{b) Loans
Repayment 2006 2005
dates £m £m
Secured loans
Other curencies 2007 - 2014 1 2
Total secured 1 2
Secured by fixed charge - bark loans - -
Secured by floatng charge - bank loans 1 2
Unsecured loans
Sterling
7 625% Bonds 2007 304 316
Others 2007 10 10
314 326
US dollars
8%% Debentures 20086 - 141
7% Notes 2007 127 141
5%% Notes 2013 245 282
4%% Notes 2008 247 282
Variabile rate medum-term notes 2010 20 24
Others 2007 - 2003 18 33
657 903
Other cumencies 2007 - 2012 9 7
Total unsecured 980 1,238
Total loans - before financial derivatives (ses table below) ag1 1,238

The financial instruments disclosures n note 31 detail the farr valus hedge relationships between the Group's foed rate loans and interest

rate swaps

The secured debt referred to in this note and the secured short-term borrowings referred to above were secured by property, plant and other

assets with a net book value at 31 December 20086 of £5m (2005 £4m)

I Accounts

Repayrnent Rate Amount
dates Currency % £m
New finance Bank loan 2008 - 2007 Various Various 4
Eure commercial paper 2006 Varnous Varous 279
Money market loans 2008 Vanous Various 1973
2256
Finance repaid Bank loan Vanous Varnous 9)
Euro commercial paper Varicus Various {279)
Money market leans vVarigus Various (1.973)
Bond repayment Us$ 888% {130
(2.391)
Etffects of financial derivatives
The following analysis reflects the effects of financial derivatives on the Group's borrowings at 31 December 2006
Before financial After tinanicial
dervatives dertvatives
2008 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m
Sterling 34 328 u 16
US dollar 657 901 925 1,146
Euro 5 7 5 60
Japanese yen - - - 25
Other curencies 5 2 5 2
981 1,238 946 1,249
Fixed rate loans 923 1,170 - -
Floating rate loans 58 68 946 1,249
981 1,238 946 1249
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Notes relating to the Group accounts coninued

23 Financial habilities {continued)

{b) Loans {continued)

2006 2005
€m Em
Loan maturities
Bank loans
Loans or instaiments thereof are repayable -
After 5 years from balance sheet date - 2
From 4 to 5 years 1 -
From 3 to 4 years - -
From 2 to 3 years - 7
From 1 to 2 years ] 13
Total due after more than one year 7 22
Total due within one year 15 14
22 36
Qther loans
Loans or nstalments thereof are repayable
After 5 years from balance sheet date 246 283
From 4 to S years 1 25
From 3 to 4 years 21 1
From 2 to 3 years 1 282
From 1 to 2 years 248 459
Total due after more than one year 517 1,050
Total due within one year 442 152
959 1,202
Total loans
Loans or nstalments thereof are repayable
After 5 years from balance sheet date 246 285
From 4 to 5 years 2 25
From 3 to 4 years 21 1
From 2 1o 3 years 1 288
From 1 io 2 years 254 472
‘Total due after more than ona year 524 1,072
Total due within cne year 457 166
Total toans 981 1,238
Aggregate amount of loans any instalment of which falls due after 5 years 261 297
24 Prowvisions for habilities and charges
Disposal  Restructunng
Environmental provisions roviskons Other
provisions® (note 25) {ncta 25) provisionst Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2006 25 295 33 51 404
Provisions made during the year 2 162 62 67 293
Provisicns used dunng the year {4) {118} 45y @& {175)
Provisions reversed duning the year (1} {26) 2) {4 (33)
Increase due o effluxion of time - 9 - - 9
Reduction due to dispesal of subsidiaries 3} 1) {5) @) (10)
Classified as held for sale (4 ~ {B) - (10}
Exchange and cther movements - (4} 2 2) 8)
At 31 December 2006 16 N7 35 102 470
Current 4 a5 30 64 193
MNon-current i2 222 5 38 277
16 317 35 102 470

* Other than ansing on disposal

t Other Includes £62m relating to a fine inposed by the Eurcpean Commission following an investigation into alleged carte! activity in the European methacrylates

markets

Under US GAAP. provisions for habilites and charges would be shown under other credifors (note 21}
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25 Disposal and legacy, and restructunng provisions

Disposal and tegacy Restructuring
provisions provisions

2006 2005 2006 2005

£m £m Em £m

At beginning of year 295 310 33 73

Prowisions made dunng the year 162 77 62 19

Prowstons used during the year {118} (71} {45) 50)

Prowsions reversed during the year (26} (33} {2) (6)

Increase due to effluon of ime 9 10 - -

Reduction due to dispesal of subsidiaries 1) - {5} -

Classified as held for sale - - (6) -

Exchange and other movements {4) 2 @ {3}

At end of year 317 295 35 33

Cornprising

Severance costs 12 18 26 27
Direct disposal provisions (other than severance) 89 52
Long-terrs residual provisions 216 225

Other 9 B

N7 295 35 33

Disposal and legacy provisions

Disposals prior to 2004
Betwesn 1997 and 2004 the Group sold over 25 businesses as part of the reshaping of its portfelio, consistent with plans to focus its
resources on Paints and Specialty Chemicals

Pravisions were created far both long-term residual obligations resuliing from the divestments and direct disposal costs The [ong-term residual
prowisions, created to cover legacy managerment, legal, estates pension administration and environmental costs, amounted to £225m at end
2005 Dunng 2005, revisions had been made to estimates of future cash flows resulting in a charge of £23m refating to pension admimstration
costs a charge of £10m relating to increased employer hability costs and a release of provisions of £28m following a land transaction in the
North of England During 2008, further revisions were mada to these estimates resulting in further charges of £14m for additional pension
admmnistration costs and £9m for increased employer hatility costs, a release of £18m also eccurred following the resolution of an environmental
issue Expenditure in 2006 amounted to £28m At 31 December 2006, £216m remained to be spent The nature of the provisions 1s such that
expenditure 1s expected 10 occur aver the period from 2007 to at least 2030

The direct disposal provistons amounted to £50m at end of 2005 During 2005, changes In estimates resulted in an additional charge of £10m
n relation to the costs of divestment of the Chlor-Chemicals, Klea and Crosfield businesses During 2006, changes in estimates rasulted in an
additional prowasion of £8m relating 1o the Polyurethanes, Tioxide and selected Petrochemicals businesses, expenditure in the year amounted o
£17m At 31 December 2006, £37m remained to be spent, including severance costs £10m and site separation costs £7m, thess provisions arg
aexpected to be substantially utiised by the end of 2007

Eisposals in 2004

Provisions of £10m were held at end 2005 for the Quest Food Ingredients disposal Durning 20086, changes in estimates were made resulting in
arelease of £5m, £1m was spent and at 31 December 20068 £4m remaned to be spent The majority of the prowisions 1s expected to be
utibsed by the end of 2007

At 31 December 2008, £1m remained to be spent retating to separation costs on other disposals in 2004 and this 15 expected to be utiised
by the end of 2007

Disposals in 2005

In 2005, provisions of £23m were charged i1 respect of the sale of the Nationat Starch, Vinamu! Polymers business At the end of 2005
£7m remamned During 2006, £2m was spent and at 31 Decermnber 2006, £5m remained 1o be spent mainly on post-retirement bensafit
and environmental costs Full utiisation 1s expected by the end of 2007

As at 31 December 2006 a provision of £1m was held in relation in relation to separation costs for other 2005 disposals and this 1s expected
to be utitised in 2007

Disposals in 2006

The Group completed the sale of Unigema on 1 September 2006 Prowvisions of £121m were established in respect of transaction costs
{£29m) and post-retrement benefit iabilites relating to employees transferring to the purchaser (£92m) Dunng 2006, £68m was spent
As at 31 December 2006 £53m remained to be spent, including posi-retrement benefit costs {£41m) and transaction costs (£12m)
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

25 Disposal and legacy, and restructuring provisions (continued)
Restructuring provisions

2003 restructuring programme
In 2003 the Group launched a series of restructuring programmtes to improve cost effectiveness across each of the following operations

{1} Natwonal Starch reporting segments - staff reductions mainly in administration and the restructuring of manufacturing assets,
predominantly across the Specialty Starch business

(n) Quest - staff reductions in the Foods business and in supporting administrative functions and the restructuring of manufacturing assets

{m)} Unigema - a major reduction in support overheads and the ratignahsation and relocation of manufacturing capabilities in the USA

{nv) Paints - a programme to restructure supply chain acimvities in Europe and North America

{v) Corporate and other - staif reductions resulting 1in a smaller and more focused corporate centre

At end 20085, provisions remained outstanding for £29m Charges of £19m relating to termination of employees were incurred 1n 2005

and releases of £6m (Unigema E4m and Corporate £2m) were made, £49m was spent dunng 2005 Charges of £7m were incurred in 2006
By segment these charges were Paints £1m, Adhesives £3m, Specialty Polymers £im and Quest £2m During 2006, £22m was spent anc
at 31 December 2006 £7m of provisions remainead to be spent, including £3m relating to the severance of 28 employees This provision 1S
expected to be utiised in 2007

2006 restructuring programme

In 20086 the Group initated an extensive new restructuning and transformation programme This programme will include a number
of key actmties

» sgparate projects to integrate many of ICl's Human Resource and Finance actmties across the Group,

+ manufacturing plant improvement and plant network restructuring activities to create significant efficiency and supply chain
performance improvements

« mprovements in sales force effectiveness and customer service projects across ICI, and

» general efficiency and overhead reduction imtiatives

Charges of £55m relating to the 2006 programme were incurred in 2006 By segment, these charges were Paints £24m, Adhesives £9m
Specialty Starches £2m, Specialty Polymers £2m, Electroruc Materials £2m Regional and Industnial £8m, Quest £5m and Uniqgema £3m

£23m was spent during 2006 As at 31 December 2006 £28m of provisions remained (o be spent including £23m relating to the termination
of 781 employees
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26 Post-retirement benefits

The Group accounts for posi-retirement benefits in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits Analysis 1s also provided in note 36 of
the aggregate net periodic benefit cost and funded status of the Group's post-retirement schemes restated in accordance with US GAAP
and in comphance with the requiremeants of SFAS No 158 Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-retirement Plans,
SFAS No 87 Employers” Accounting for Pensions, SFAS No 88 Employers' Accounting for Setttements and Curtalments of Defined Benefit
Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, SFAS No 106 Employers® Accounting for Post-retirament Benefits other than Pensians and
SFAS No 132 Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits {revised December 2003}

The Group operates retirement schemes which cover the majonty of employees (inclucing Directors} of the Group ICI policy, where
practicable, 1s to provide retirement benefits {or new employees on a defined contribution basis The Company pays pension contributions for
each employee inte an indvidual retvement account which 1s used to provide pension benefits at retrement This policy 1s now in place in the
majority of countnies in which ICl operates However, retwement plans for many existing employees are of the defined benefit type under which
benefits are based on employees' years of service and average final remuneration and are funded through separate trustee-administrated
funds Full actuanal valuations of the Group's man defined benefit schemes are undertaken regularty, by independent qualfied actuaries,
normally at least triennually and adopting the projected umit method The last full actuanal valuation of the IC! Pension Fund and the C)
Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund, commussioned by the respective trusiees of these funds, was obtained as at 31 March 2005 In addition to
this, full accounting valuations as at 31 December are obtained each year under both IFRS and US GAAP

The largest pension plan tn the Group s the IC] Pension Fund n the UK which accounts for approximately B2% of the Group's pensicn plan
obligations and 81% of the Group's total post-retrement defined benafit obligations There are also other large, funded pension plans in the
UK, USA, Canada, the Netherlands and Belgiuum that account for approximately 15% of the Group's pension plan defined benefit obligations
and other large, unfunded pension plans tn the USA, Canada and Germany that account for approximately 2% of the Group's pension plan
defined benefit obligations The remainder of the obligations compnise a large number of small plans, funded and unfunded, located
throughout the werld in the countries in which ICl operates

The Group provides in North America, and to a lesser extent in some other countries, unfunded healthcare and hife assurance benefits for
retired employees At 31 December 2008 approximately 16,000 (2005 17,000, 2004 18,000} current and retired employees were eligible
to benefit from these schemes The habilities i respect of these benefits are fully accrued over the expected working fetime of the
existing members

Key financial assumptions - Group

The principal weighted average rates used at 31 December were

2006 2005 2004
% pa %pa %pa
Discount rate 51 48 53
Inflation rate 29 27 26
Long-term rate of increase n future earmings 44 42 40
Increase in pensions m payment 27 27 24
Past-retirerment healthcare cost inflation rate 20 90 97
Expected rates of return on plan assets
Equities 83 82 82
Baonds 52 47 49
Other 83 57 46
Expected rate of return on rambursemant nghts - 56 46

The averall expected long-term rate of return on asset assumption (s determined on a country by-cauntry (and Euro-zone} basis The ratas
are based on market expectations by asset classes, at the beginning of the penod, for returns over the entire life of the related obligations
The assumption setting process 15 based on short and fong-term historical anatysis and investment managers' forecasts for equities, hedge
funds and private equity, and the availlable market yields for bonds

Mortahty assumptions - UK

The Group analyses the mortality experlence in the twoe mamn UK funds ("Funds”) both in terms of the current mortality table applied and

the allewance for fulure improvements in longevity The moriality tables werse PMAS2C0OSMC with & +1 75 year age-rating for male members
retinng in normal health and PFA92COSMC with a +2 25 age-rating for female members retiring 1in normal health, with allowance for future
mortality improvements in ine with the medium cohart

The table on the following page illustrates the effect of this change on the expected age at death of an average member retining currently
at age 62 and one who retires at age 62 1n 10 years time The figures at 31 December 2004 are based on the demographic assumptions
underlying the previous formal valuation of the ICI Pension Fund as at 31 March 2003 and wera applied in the calculation of the pension
habihties at 31 December 2004 The figures at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2006 are those derved from the 31 March 2005
valuation Shorter icngevity assumptions are used for members who retire on grounds of ll-health
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

26 Post-retirement benefits {continued)

At At At
3 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
2006 2005 2004
in years In years in yaars
Retring today at age 62
Male 851 850 839
Female 876 875 86 6
Retrring in 10 years at age 62
Male 858 858 847
Female 883 88 2 87 3
Sensitivities
Assumed inflation rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised n the Group Income statement and balance sheet
A Q 1% movement n the assumed inflation rate would have the following effects
o1% 01%
norease decreass
£m £m
Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost (increase) decrease (5 8) 56
Effect on the total post-retrement benefit cbligation (increase)} decrease {99 6) 98 6
Assumed discount rates have a significant effect on the amounts recogrused in the Group income statement and balance sheet
A 0 1% movernent in the assumed discount rate would have the following effects
01% 01%
INCrease decreasa
Em
Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost {increase) decrease {13} 19
Effect on the total post-retirement benefit obligaton decrease (increase} 1141 (125 4)

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Group income statement and balance sheet

A 1 0% movement in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects

10% 10%

dacraase

m £m

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost {increase) decrease ©3) 03
Effect on the other post-retirement defined benefit obligation {increase) decrease (3 8) 33
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26 Post-retirement benefits (continued)
Defined benefit plans - pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures

Ampounts recognised on the Group balance sheet

Qther
Peansion plans post-retirement plans Total
2006 2005 2002 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m fm £m £m em £m £m £m £
Plan assets
Equities 1,246 1,51 1,439 - - - 1,246 1,511 1,439
Bonds 6,407 6,355 5,795 - ~ - 6,407 6,355 5,795
Other 386 323 398 4 5 5 390 328 403
Total farr value of plan assets 8,039 8,189 7,632 4 5 5 8,043 8194 7.637
Present value of defined
benefit obhgation (9,198) {9,680) (8,569) {144) (202) (252) {9,342) {9 882} (8,821)
Net {deficit) in the plans (1,158) {1.481) {837) (140) (197) (247) (1,299) {1 688) (1,184)
Far value of rembursement nghts
recognised as an asset ~ - = - 1 5 - 1 5
Unvested past service costs - - - (8} - - (6) - -
Restricttons on assets recognised - {1} (1) - - - - (1) {1)
Liability recognised in the Group
balance sheet {1,159) (1492) (938) {146) (196) (242) {1,305) (1,.688) (1.180)
Represented by
(Deficis)” (1.171) (1,503} {948) {146) (196) (242) (1.17)" (1,699) {1,180)
Surpluses 12 1 10 - - - 12 N 10
Analysis ot net recognised (deficit)
ICl UK Pension Fund {697} 817) 411} - - - {697) 817) (411)
Other funded pension plans (287) (449} (3386) - - - (287) (449) (336)
Total funded plans (984) (1,266} (747) - - - (984) {1,266} (747)
Total unfunded plans (175} {226) (191) {146) (1986) (242) (321} (422) {433)
Liabiity recognised in the
Group balance sheet (1,159 (1,492} (938) {146} (196} (242) {1,305} {1,688} (1.180)
Includas an amount of £80m classified as held for sale in the Group balance sheet (see note 11)
Analysis of the amounts reccgmsed in the Group income statement
Othar
Pension plans post-retirement plans Tota)
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Amounts In net operating costs *E
Current service costs 58 50 57 4 5 5 62 55 62 §
Past service cost 3 12 22 n (13) (3 {4) (0 19 <
Curtailments - (23) - (6} a7 () (8 40 () I
Settlements 1 {2) - - - - 1 {2) -
62 37 79 9} {25) 1 53 12 80
Amounts in profits less losses
on disposal of operations
Past service cost - - - - 23) - - (23) -
Curtalments 2 - - - {12) - 2 (121 -
Settlements {B0) {11) {19) 9) (1) 2 (89} {12) (17}
78) 11| (15) 9 36) @) &7 %id) (17}
Amounts n net finance expense
Expected return on plan assets {431) (414} (414) - - - (431) {414) (414)
Interest cost 443 440 435 8 11 12 451 451 447
12 26 21 8 1 12 20 37 33
Total amounts {credited)/charged
to the tncome statement {4) 52 85 (10} (50) 1 (14) 2 96
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

26 Post-retirement benefits (continued)

Defined benafit plans - pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures (continued)

Analysis of the amounts recogmsed in the statement of Group recognised income and expense

2006 2005 2004
Other post Qther post- Other post _
Pensicn ratirement Ponson retrament Pension retrement
ptans plans plans. ptans plans plans
£m £m £m £m £m £m
(Shortfall) excess of actual returm over expected return on plan assets {40) - 495 - 229 -
as % of plan assets {0 5)% - 6 0% - 30% -
(Shortfall) excess of actual retum over expected retum on reumbursemnent rights {1} - -
as % of plan reimbursement nghts - - -
Expenence {gains) losses ansing on plan kablities (94) (5) 1,430 {10) 291 30
as % of plan habilites {1 D)% {3 5)% 1 7% {5 0% 34% 11 9%
Net actuarial (gains) losses recognised n the statemenit
of the Group recognised ncome and expense (54) (4) 635 {10} 62 30
as % of plan habitties {0 6)% {2 9)% 5 6% {5 0Y% 07% 11 9%
Cumulative amount of actuanal {gains) losses recognised in the
statement of Group recognised income and expense 643 16 697 20 62 a0
History of experience adjustments - penslon plans
2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obhgation 9,198 9,680 8,568
Fair value of plan assets 8,039 8,189 7.632
Deficit in the plan 1,159 1,491 937
Experience adjustments on plan liabilihes (94) 1,130 291
Expenence adjustments on plan assets (40) 495 229
History of experience adjustments - other post-retirement plans
2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligation 144 202 252
Far value of plan assets 4 5 5
Deficit in the plan 140 197 247
Experence adjustments on plan llabilities (5} (10) 30

Expenence adjustments on plan assets

The history of experience adjustments starts from 1 January 2004, the date of transitien to IFRS
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26 Post-retirement benefits {(continued)
Defined benefit pfans — pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures (continued)

Movements in present value of defined benefit oblhgation during the year

CQthar
Pension plans post-ratirement plans Total
2006 2008 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m £€m £m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 9,680 8569 8375 202 252 238 9,882 8,821 8,613
Movement in year
Current service cost 58 50 57 4 5 5 62 55 62
Past service cast - vested 3 12 22 (4] {41) (1)) 4) (29} 19
Past service cost — unvested - ~ - (2} (5) - 2 {5) -
Effect of curtadments 2 {23) - (6) (29) (1) 4) 52) (1)
Effect of settlements {180) (38) {40) (9} (1) 2 {199) 37) {42)
Interest cost 443 440 435 8 1 12 451 451 447
Contributions by plan parteipants 1 4 5 - - - 1 4 5
Benefits paid (594) (541) {541) {17 (13) {16} (611) (554) (557)
Aciuarial [gans} losses {94) 1,130 291 (5} {10) 30 {99) 1120 321
Exchange adjustments {111) 75 {35) (24) 33 (n {135) 108 (48)
Closing defined benefit cbligation 9,198 9,680 8 569 144 202 252 9,342 9,882 8,821
Split between
Funded 8,955 9,406 8 335 - - - 8,955 9,406 8,335
Unfunded 243 274 234 144 202 252 as7 476 486
Movements in fair value of plan assets during the year
Qther
Pension plans. post ratirement plans Total
2006 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m m £m £m £m
Opening fair value of plan assets 8,189 7,632 7.402 5 5 7 8,194 7.637 7,409
Movement n year
Effect of settlements 111 {23) 25) - - - (111} (23) (25}
Expected return on plan assets 43 414 414 - - - 43 a4 414
Contributions by plan participants 1 4 S5 - - - 1 4 5
Contributions by employer! 235 152 176 17 13 15 252 165 151
Benefits pad (594) {541) {541) (17) {13} (16) {611) {554) (557}
Actuanal gains (losses) (40) 495 229 - - - (40} 495 229
Exchange adjustments {72} 56 28) (1} - 1) {73} 56 (29}
Closing fair value of plan assets 8,039 8,189 7.632 4 5 5 8,043 8,194 7.637

t Ingludes amounts paid aganst restructuring and divestment provisions of £14m (2005 £12m, 2004 £40m), Includad within cutflows from speclal itams in oparating
profit in the Group cash flow statemant

Movements In reimbursement rights during the year

Other
fast-relremant plans

2006 2005

m £m

Opening retmbursement rights 1 5
Movement in year

Effect of plan amendment - 5)

Actuanal gains (losses) i -

Exchange adjustments - 1

Closing reimbursemant rights ~ 1
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

26 Post-retirement benefits {continued)
Defined benefit plans — pensions and other post-retirement plan disclosures {continued)

Estimated future benefit payments

Benefits expected to be pad, reflecting future service, as appropnate £m
Payable in the year to 31 December R
2007 565
2008 550
2009 550
2010 561
2011 562
2012 to 2016 2,850

Expected contributions

The Group expects to contribute £471m to its defined benefit pension plans in 2007 and £11m to the other post-retrement healthcare plans
The expected £47 1m contnbution to the defined benefit pension plans includes £274m to the ICI UK Pension Fund and £110m to the iICI UK
Specialty Chemicals Pensson Fund

Investment policies and strategies

ICI has established a sat of best practice principles for pension fund Investment so as to ensure a globally consistent approach These
principles, which have been determined and adopted by the fiduciarnies of ICl's penstan funds worldwide, nclude guidelines in the areas of
governance, risk budgeting strategic asset allocation and benchmarks, manager structure and selection, monitoring and other investment
1ssues (such as derivatives and self investment) The aver-arching principle clearly states that strategic asset allocation should be determined
through explheit consideration of each plan's specific lability profile and funding level and not by local comimon practice Furthermore all plans
must establish a strategic asset allocation benchmark, a relevant total plan performance benchmark and a process for controlling dewiations
from the strategic asset allocation benchmark Pension funds are expected to invest in a diversified range of asset classes and investment
managers These asseis may include dervatives up 1o a maximum of 10% of the ndmvdual fund unless a higher percenlage 1s agreed after
consultation with the Company However, no self-investment 1s permitted Whilst the Company expects to be consulted on these strategic
(and other) matiars, it recognisas that final responsibility for establishing investment strategy often rests with locat fiduciaries, who do not
publish target allocations to asset classes

27 Reconciliation of changes in equity

Sharg h?ld‘:tr:
Shara premium Translation Agsociate Hadging Retained of the Minerity Total
capaal accol reserve rasarva resarve gamings parant intergsts equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m fm
At 1 January 2004 (as reported) 1191 933 9 {2,773) (840) 68 (572)
IFRIC 4 adusiments (3) 3) {i) 4)
At 1 January 2004 (as restated) 1119 933 - 9 - 2779) (643) 67 (576)
Total recognised incoma and expense 31) 2 - 410 381 34 415
Dvidends (82) 82 (13) (95)
Share-based payments 8 8 - 8
Movements in respect of own shares 1 1 - 1
Other movementis - - - - - - - (4) {4
At 31 December 2004 (as restated) 1191 933 (31) 1 - (2,439) (335) 84 (251)
IFRS 2005 transition adjustments - - - - (1) (62) (53) - 63
Total recogrused incoma and expense 75 3 2 {200) (120) 38 82)
Dmvidends {91) 91) {17} (108)
Share-based payments 7 7 - 7
Shares issuetd/movement m respect
of own shares 1 1 5 7 - 7
Other movements - - - - - {21) {21) 21 -
At 31 December 2005 {as restated) 1,192 934 44 14 1 (2,801) {616) 126 (490)
Total recognised income and expense 70 2 1 452 111 22 407
DOradends (96} (96) (19} (115}
Share-based payments 6 ] 6
Shares issusd/movement in respect
of own shares 1 2 3] 9 9
Acquisition of additional minarity interests - B) (6)
Other movemnents [\ )] 1 -
At 31 December 2006 1,183 936 (26) 16 2 (2,434) (313) 124 (189)
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27 Reconciliation of changes in equity {continued)

As noted in the basis of presentation on page 69 IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease came into effect from

1 January 2006 In accordance with the transitonal provisions, thus has resulted in additional assets of £15m being recognised on the balance
sheet at 1 January 2004, oifset by the recognition of associated finance lease creditors of £19m As a result, equity as at 1 January 2004 was
restated from £(572}m to E(576)m

As noted in the basis of preparation on page 70 IAS 32 Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation, and 1AS 39 Financial Instruments
Recogmtion and Measurement came Into effect on 1 January 2005 and the Group took the exemption not to restate comparatives As a result
of these standards, a number of financial mstruments were recognused or revalued in the opering balance sheet at 1 January 2005 decreasing
reserves by £63m The own shares that the Group had acquired, or was committed to acquire under forward contracts, to hedge its obl:gations
under various share option schemes, were included in treasury stock under 1AS 32 and debited to reserves on transition This was partly offset
by the refease of a provision held under UK GAAP relating to the same liability, resulting in a debit of E56m to reserves Interest rate swaps and
loans previously held at carrying value were restated to far value on transition resuliing In an additional net debit {o reserves of £6m There
was also a further €1m debit ansing from the inclusion of corn futures in the National Starch business

Translatlon reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operations as well as from the
translation of habilities that hedge the Group's net invesiment i foreign subsidiares

Hedgsng reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the far value of cash flow hedging Instruments retated
to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred

Assoclate reserve
The associate reserve comprises profits less losses of the Group's associated undertakings (see note 15)

Retained earnings

Retaned earnings include net profit and loss for the year and the reserves relating to own shares Own shares relate to 2 5 milhion

{2005 4 3 million) shares of the Company held by the Impenal Chemical industries PLC Employee Benefit Trust which are under option to,
or condibionally aifted 1o, employees under the arrangements described in note 7 The deduction i reserves 1s £14m (2005 £27m) and the
shares have a market value at 31 December 2006 of £11m (2005 £14m)

Called up £1 Crdinary share capital of the parent company

Allotted

callad up

and tully

Autharsed pad

£€m £m

At 1 January 2004 1400 1,191
Employee share option schemes - options exercised -
At 31 December 2004 1400 1,191
Employes share option schemes - options exercised 1
At 31 Dacember 2005 1,400 1,192
Employee share option schemes — options exercised 1
At 31 December 2006 1,400 1,193

The Company has one class of erdinary shares which carries no right to fixed income

Limitation of borrowings

The Articles of Association of Impena!l Chamical Industnes PLC staie that borrowings after deducting cash, current asset investments and
shart-term deposits must not exceed two and a half hmes the shareholders’ equity after adding back sums, calculated in accordance with
US GAAP, egquivalent to the unamertised balance of goodwill ansing on acquisitions made after 1 January 1985 which had been written off
agamnst reserves under UK accounting practice Any borrowings, cash or short-term nvestments held by subsidianes in thew capacity as
trustae of a Group pension fund are excluded from the calculation For the purposes of calculating the basis of the berrowings mits, in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the totat of the sums standing to the cred:it of capital and revenue reserves of the Company and
its subsidiary undertakings, to be added to the nerminal amount of the share capital of the Company, was £1 245m at 31 December 2006
{2005 £930m}

The Group has acquired, or is committed to acquire under forward contracts, 25 6 milhon shares or ADSs of the Company to hedge its obligations
undler the Sericr Staff and Executive Share Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, the Performance Growth Plan and the Performance Share
Plan 2 5 million shares purchased in the market are held by a trust In addition, the trust has entered into forward commitments to purchase
23 1 million shares at a weighted average cost of £4 43 per share (total balance sheet hability of £102m} in 2007, although the trust has the
option o roll forward these commuitments for further periods if reqguired These forward commitments include collateral requirernents related

1o the prevailing share price of the Company At 31 December 2006, no collateral 1s posied with the counterparties to these transactions The
contracts include the right to either take delivery of shares or to "net settle™ the contracis in cash On 18 January 2007, the Group settled its
forward commitments and took delivery of 23 1m shares with a total cash outflow of £126m (£102m relating to the cost and £24m relating to
the accrued finance charges) These shares are intended to satisfy requirements for share awards and share options exercisable in the period
2007 to 20116
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28 Dwidends
2006 2008 2004 2006 2005 2004
Perice per £1 Ordinary Sharg £m £m £m
2005 second interm paid 14 Apnl 2006 395 380 350 47 4B 42
2008 first ntenm, pad 6 October 2006 415 375 340 49 45 40
Amounts recogmised as distributions to eguity holders in the pernad 810 765 690 96 91 82
2007
Pence per £1
Orctrary Share £m
2008 second interim, payable on 13 Aprl 2007 475 56

The proposed 2006 second intenm drvidend will be submitted io the shareholders for confrmation at the Annual General Meeting and has
not been recognised as a distribution to equity holders 1n reserves or included as a llability in these financial statements

Impkemix Trustee Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary which acts as a trustes for the Impenal Chamical Industries PLC Employee Benefit
Trust (the Trust) has waived the nght to receive dividends on shares held by the Trust in its own name Dwvidends received on shares allocated
to beneficianes and shares held in the form of American Depositary Shares {ADSs) are distributed, respectively, to beneficiaries and

ADS shareholders

29 Analysis of net debt

Financing - dabt

Loans
Short tem
bomowings Gash Current
Oup atter Dug withen other than Finance and cash asset

one year one ysr  Derlvatives ovardralts leases? Totai  equwvalgnts  invastments Net datst

£m £m £m £m £m Em £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 (as reported) {1,353) (534) (23} (4) {1.914) 588 - {1,326)
IFRIC 4 adjustments {19) {19) (19)
At 1 January (as restated) (1,353) (534) (23} {23) {1,933) 588 - (1 345)
Exchange adjustments 69 30 (20} 2 81 7) {16} 58
Cash flow 39 470 (84) 4 429 (108) 38 359
Acquistions and disposals 3) - - - (ic)} (4 - 7}
Other non-cash changes 134 (134) - {2) (2 - - 2
At 31 December 2004 (as restated) (1,114) {168} - {127) (19) {1,428) 469 22 {937}
IFRS 2005 transiticnal adjustments (37} 27 {73) 14 - {69) - - 69
Exchange adjustments (96) 2) 47 (8} 2 62) 18 2 (42)
Cash flow 5 126 {26) 114 2 221 29 B 256
Acquisitions and dispasals - - - - - - (3) - {3)
Far value movements 17 4 13 - - 32 - - 32
Other non-cash changes 153 (153} - - (1) (1} 3 {2} -
At 31 December 2005 (as restated) (1,072} {166} (41} (8) {20} (1,307) 516 28 (763}
Exchange adpstments 81 29 {1} 3] 2 117 {25) (4} a8
Cash flow - 142 70 7) 16 221 108 17 36
Acquisitions and disposals - - - 1 - 1 {19) - (18}
Far value movermnents 15 (7} 17 - - 25 - - 25
Other non-cash changss 452 {455) {12) (1) 6) (22) 9 ] (¢4
At 31 December 20086 (524) {457) 33 9 {8) (565) 589 47 {329)

“Cash and cash equivalents” In the analysis of nat debt inclucles cash at bank deposits repayable on demand overdrafts and invesiments and short-term deposits
which had a matunty of three months or less During the year an amount of £8m was reclassified from other invastments

t Cash flow on finance leases includes an interest element of £3m (2005 £3m 2004 £3m) included within interest paid In ¢ash flows from oparating actvities

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease came nto effect from 1 January 20086 and provides guidance on whether a
complex arrangement includes a lease As aresult of this requirement certain arrangements have required reclassiiication as leases This

has resulted in additional assets of £15m being recegrised on the balance sheet offset by the recognition of associated finance lease creditors
of £19m, which are included within net debt As a consequence, net debt at 1 January 2004 has been restated from £1,326m (o0 £1,345m
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29 Analysis of net debt (continued)
Reflacted in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2006

Financing - cabt

Loans
Shoct-teern
borrowngs Cash Current ~
Due after Due witen oiher than France angd casn asset
ona yaar onayear  Derivatives overdrafts laases Totl  eguialents  investments Nat dabt
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m fm
Current financial assets 63 63 47 110
Cash and cash equivalents - 596 596
Current financial habikties (457) (12) (9} {2) (480) (7} {487}
Non-current financal labilities {524) (18} (6) (548) (548)
At 31 December 2006 (524) (457} 33 (9} 8) (965) 589 47 (329)

As reported in note 31, a number of financia! Instruments were recognised in the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2005 Certain
nstruments were included in net debt resulting in net debt being adjusted at 1 January 2005 as shown on page 110 The own shares that the
Group had acquired, ar was committed to acquwe under forward contracts to hedge 1ts cbligations under vanous share option schemes were
included In treasury stock under IAS 32 The amount included in net debt as at 1 January 2005, reflecting the extent that the contracts were
‘out of the money’, was £63m, interest rate swaps were recognised at far value and certain loans praviously held at amortised cost were
adjusted for faw value attributable to hedged risk This resulted in an increase in net debt of £6m through an increase in the value of Joans of
£14m, partly offset by a reduction in the value of swaps of £8m

30 Acquisitions and disposals

Acguisitions

In April 20086, the Group acquired the fragrance business of Shaw Mudge & Company for £11m to support Quest’s market position particularly
in harr care in May 2008, ICl India Ltd (51% owned by ICI} acquired the remaining 49% of Quest International India Ltd from Hindustan Lever
Limited for a cash consideration of £6m {0 strengthen ICI's position in the region and enhance the growth opportunities for Quest In December
20086, ICI Paints completed the acquisition of the 20 trade stores and 2 smakl franchises in the UK currently operated by S J Dixon and Sons
Ltd for a cash consideration of £11m Cther acquisitions amounted to £3m

The results for the year include £1m of profit attnibutable to the acquisitions The revenue and profit after tax for 2006 for all acquisitions above,
assuming that afl acquisitrons occurred on 1 January 2006, would have been £43m and £4m respectively

The acquisitions had the following effect on the Group's assets and habilities

Net assets at the acquisition date

Book Fair vatua Fair
value adjustments values
£m £m
Progerty, plant and equipment 1 - 1
Intangible assats - iil 11
Inventones 5 - 5
Other assets {labtitties) (2) - 2)
Minonty interest acquired [ - 6
Net identfiable assets and habiities 10 il 21
Goodwill on acquisition 10
Consideration paid, satisfied n cash 3
Cash acqured -
Net cash outflow ki]

Intangible assets in the table above primarily relate to customer ists acquired Goodwill relates to the antscipated synergies ansing from
the acquisitions
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Notes relating to the Group accounts continued

30 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

Disposals

On t September 20086, ICI completed the sale of its oleochemucals and surfactants business, Umigema, to Croda International Plc for a gross
consideration of £410m, subject to closing balance sheet adjustments The disposal was effected in view of cther Investment opportunities
avallable across the Group, where there 15 the prospect of greater strategic and financial returns

On 7 February 2005, the Group completed the sale of the Vinamul Polymers business (part of National Starch) for £114m, satisfied in cash,
and the control of the business passed to the acguirer The net disposal proceeds were used to reduce Group debt

On 30 April 2004, the Group completed the sale of the Ques: Food Ingredients business for £253m, satisfied i cash, on which date the
control of the business passed to the acquirer The disposal was effected in order for Quest to focus on its flavour and fragrance businesses

The reconciliations of the profit on sale of Unigema Vinamu! Palymers and of Quest Food Ingredients disclosed on page 72, with the cash
proceeds and net assets disposed of are set out In the tables below

2005
Natioral
Starch 2004
2006 Viramul  Quest Food
Unigerna Polymers Ingredients
€m em £m
Consideration receved {see below) 410 114 253
Less Met assets at completion (see below) (235) {85) 69)
Lass Transacton costs and other increases in provisions as disclosed in note 25 {121) {23) 22)
Other (8) - 1
Gain on sale as disclosed innote 3 48 i1 163
2005
National
Starch 2004
2006 Vilamul  Quest Food
Unigema Polymars. ingradients
£m £m £m
Consideration received satishied in cash 410 114 253
Cash disposed of {19) (3) (4}
Net cash inflow 391 111 249
Net assets at completion
Property plant and equipment 250 96 80
Intangible assets 21 1 -
Inventaries 88 12 24
Trade and other recevables and other assets 16 17 13
Cash and cash equvalents 19 3 4
Trade and other payables and other liablities (164) (21) (1)
Post-retrement benefit habilities {95) (23) (21)
Net identiftable assets and labilities {at date of completion) 235 85 69
Reconciliation to Group cash flow statement
Net cash nilow from material disposals 3N 111 249
Cash inflow from other disposals [ 17 42
Payments in respect of disposals in 2004 or later (73) (20} {12)
Total cash inflow from disposals 324 108 279

31 Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, interest rate, commodity price and currency rnisks arnise i the normal course of the Group's business Derwvatve financial
instruments are used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates Interest rates and commaodity price movements The Graup's
treasury objectives, risk managemant strategies and policies are discussed in the financial review section of the Business review, on pages 29
to 31

The {inanciat instruments note discloses i full the Group's linancial assets and finanoal habiities, including held for sale balances of the Quest
business (see note 11}

(a) Interest rate nsk

The interest rate profile of the Group's financial assets and financial habilities at 31 December 2006, aiter taking into account the effect of
interest rate and currency swaps, Is set out In the tables below Further guantitative analysis of the sensitivity to movements in interest rates
15 reported n the financial review section of the Business review, on pages 29 and 30
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31 Financial instruments (contmued)

Hedging

Interest rate swaps, dencminated in US dollars and Sterling have been executed to hedge the Group's exposure to interest rate risks in
accordance with 1ts interest rate policy These swaps are matched in maturity to the underlying debt At 31 December 2008, the Group had
nterest rate swaps with a notional contract amount of £1,857m (2005 £2 330m) The maturity profile of the net {1xed rate exposure on loans
15 spread over several years to reduce re-financing and re-pricing risk and matures between 2007 and 2013

The fair value of interesi raie swaps recognised as hedges at 31 December 2006 1s a net liability of £13m (2005 £4m}, compnised of assets
of £7m (2005 £17m) and kabthties of £20m (2005 £21m)

From 1 January 2005 interest rale swaps designated as far value hedges are far valued through the income statement as part of net finance
expense Underlying toans that farm part of farr value hedge relationships are adjusted for far value attnbusable to hedged risk through the
income statement to offset any mark-1o-market adjustment ansing on tha interest rate swaps Hedge documentation 1s prepared for all far
value hedges at inception and effectiveness testing 1s carnied out quarterly All designated hedges have remained effective throughout the
current financial year

Financial assets

2008 2005
Atfixed At flogting Atfxed Al fioatng
interost Interast Interest intarast interest Intasest
rates rates {ree Total rates rates freg Totat
£m £m fm £m £€m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equwalents
Sterling - €6 20 86 - 7 10 81
US dollar - 60 3 91 - 21 9 a0
Canadian dollar - 50 - 50 - 38 - a8
Indian rupee - 40 3 43 - 10 3 13
Euro - 3 19 22 - 19 27 46
Japanese yen - 1 13 14 - 4 2 6
Other currencies - h1h| 66 177 - 101 79 180
- 3n 152 483 - 264 130 394
QOther financial assets
Sterling 107 107
US dallar 242 285
Euro 171 203
Brazilian real 67 68
Japanese yen 25 33
Other currencies 314 329
926 1,025
Total financial assets 1,40% 1,419
The financial assets of the Group comprised -
k=
2006 2005 3
£m £m 8
Non-cumrent assets <
Financial assets — nvestments (1) 19 20
Financial assets - loans (2} 9 20
Trade and other recevables (2) 30 a2
58 72
Current assets
Trade and other recewvables {2) B34 948
Fmnancial assets (1} a7 28
Cash and cash egunvalents 596 522
Less financial assets of insurance subsidiaries” {126) {151) L
1,351 1,347

1,409 1,418

* Includes cash and ¢ash equivalents of £113m {2005 £128m) and trado and other receivablas of £13m {2005 £23m}

Applying the categorisation rules of financial assets in accordance with IAS 39 the above classes of assets are (1) Held-to-maturity investments
and {2) Loans and receivables None of the Group’s financial assets, with the exceplion of dervative assets, are held at fair value
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Notes relating to the Group accounts coninued

31 Financial instruments {continued)

{(a) Interest rate nsk (continued)

Financial habilities

Purchases or sales of financial assets are accounted for at settlement date

Floating rate financtal assets comprise bank deposits bearng interest at rates fixed in advance for periods ranging from 1 day to 3 months by
reference to the relevant niter-bank rate The weighted average interest rates for fixed asset investment loans are 4 9% and for cash and cash
equivalents 4 3%

2006 2005
Atfixed At floating Al fxed Al floatng

interest interest Interest interast Interast Interest
rates rates free Total Eies ratas ree Total
£ £m £m Em £m £m £m £m
Sterling - {335} 436 101 - {68) 449 381
US doltar - 584 303 887 - 631 353 984
Euro - 491 200 691 - 433 251 744
Japanese yen - 95 35 130 - 10 45 155
Other currencies - 135 17 552 - 145 419 564
- 970 1,391 2,361 - 1,311 1,517 2828

Floating rate financial liabilities bear interest based upon short-term inter-bank rates

The financial lab:lities table above shows the Group's exposure to currency movernents, disclosing interest bearing debt after currency swaps
and hquidity forwards (as part of the net investment hedge ~ see section (d)) and other mainly interest free habilities

Interest rate swaps have been used to create floating debt during the current financral year in ine with Group policy The impact on foans,

in the financial review section of the Business review on page 30 indicates the Group's risks in relation to interast rate changes

The financiat labilities of the Group comprised

post interest rate swaps, 1S that interest rates will be refixed at intervals of between 3 months and 12 months The sensitvity analysis provided

The figures shown above take into account various interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward exchange contracts used to manage
the interest rate and currency profile of fnancsal assets and financial habilitias

2006 2005
£m £m
Non-current habilities

Loans 524 1,072

Derrvative babilities 18 25

Derwvative assets(*) - {33)

Finance leases 6 [¢]

Other creditors 32 a9

5280 1109

@ Current Llabilities

S Short-term borrowings 16 14
,_8, Current instaiments of loans 457 166
< Derwvative liabilities 12 51
Dervative assets (%) 63) 2

Trade and other payables 732 807

Finance leases 2 14

Other creditors 625 669

1,781 1,716

2,361 2,828

("} Note Dervative assets {relating to interest rate swaps currency swaps and iquidity farwards) are included within the financial habrlities table as the majonty arise
through the managerent af the debt bock The fair valus of the underlying loans and refated denvative habilities are also prasented in the financial habiities table
above and to understand tha fair value of financial labiities it is appropriate to atso include derivative assets
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31 Financial instruments (continued)

{b) Income statement and equity

In 1999 the Group entered a USS1bn interest rate swap that was used to manage Its interest rate exposure ‘When the underlying item was
removed from the Group's balance sheet as a result of a dwvestment transaction, the swap was na lenger performing as a hedge To manage
this exposure, the Group elected to trade 2 new “equal and opposite” swap that effectively closed out its exposure to the original US$1bn
swap By trading this “equal and oppoesite” swap, the Group was i substance terminating the US$1bn swap This transaction did, however,
lock in a negative carrying value {1 e a fixed nterest expense) until the maturity of both swaps in 2007 At 1 January 2005, as a result of the
transition to IAS 39, these two swaps were far valued through the hedging reserve They are fair valued through the income statement from
this date onwards, giving rise to very minimal interest rate nisk for the Group This has resulted in & gain of £2m dunng the year (2005 £1m)
Interest 1s paid and receved in US dollars each quarter

The interest rate component of cross currency swaps is recognised in the inceme statement as W 1s not part of an effective hedge relationship
QOnly the foreign exchange component (see section {(d) of this note) 1s utilsed to hedge net investments in accordance with Group policy The
far value movement on the interest rate component in 2006 was Enil (2005 E£nil) Cross currency swaps have a naminal value at the talance
sheet date of £248m

{c} Liguidrty nsk
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial kabilities, as defined in section (a) of this note, at 31 December 2006 was as follows

2006 2005

£m fm
In one year or less 1,781 1,719
In more than one year but not more than two years 3m 480
In more than two years but not more than three years 1 300
In more than three years but not more than four years 21 1
In more than four years but not more than five years 2 24
In more than five years 255 304

2,361 2 828

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group marnly 1s exposed to foreign currency risk anising on sales purchases and borrowings cutside of Group functional currencies Al
derivatives managing currency exposures are stated in the balance shest at far value The financial review section of the Business review
on pages 30 and 31 ndicates the Group's senstivty to currency risks

Transaction exposure hedging

The Group does not hedge exposures ansing from sales and purchases except where they are sigrificant and markets exist to hedge working
capttal exposure n ine with Group policy The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign cusrency nsk All of the forward
contracts have maturities of less than one year at the balance sheet date Hedge accounting 1s not applied for derivatives used to manage
these currency exposures Both the changes in far value of the forward contracts and the {oreign exchange gans and losses relating to the
underlying monetary tems are recognised as part of operating profit The fair value of forward exchange contracts used to manage transaction
exposure 15 £nil at 31 December 2006 {2005 £ny))

Cash flow hedging

The Group also hedges foreign exchange expasuras arising fraom significant firm cemmitments and forecast transactions After 1 January
2005, these transactions are accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with the defined accounting policy and hedge documentation
1s prepared for all cash flow hedges at inception and effectiveness testing 1s carried out quarterly

Gains and Yosses on cash fiow hedges that have been deferred in the cash flow hedging reserve during the period, in addition to those that
have been recycled through the income statement, are shown in the table below

Cash flow hedging reserve movements

£m
Brought forward cash flow hedging reserve at 1 January 2005 1
Amounts deferred in the peniod on effective cash flow hedges 2

Amounts removed from the reserve and recognised in the income statement -
Amounts removed from the reserve and capitalised in the balance shest -
Carmned forward cash flow hedging reserve at 31 December 2005 1

Brought forward cash flow hedging reserve at 1 January 2006 1

Amounts deferred in the peried on effective cash flow hedges 3
Amounts removed from the reserve and recognised in the ncome statement -
Amounts removed from the reserve and capitalised in the balance sheet {2)
Carned forward cash flow hedging reserve at 31 December 2006 2

The above table also includes effectwwe commodity pnice hedges where gains and losses have been deferred 1o future penods (see section {g)
of thts note)

The cash flows relating to firm commitments and forecast transactions are all expected to occur in the next 24 months
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‘ Accounts

Notes relating to the Group accounts continued

31 Financial instruments {continued)
(d} Foreign currency risk {continued}

Hedge of net investment in foreign subsidiartes

The Group hedges its net nvestment in foreign entities by dencminating external debt 1n a mix of fareign currencies and through the use

of cross currency swaps and lquidity forwards Section {a) of this note shows the currency mix of debt at 31 December 2006 after taking

into account the impact of derwvatives The Group applies hedge accounting in accordance with the defined accounting policy, for all net -
investment hedges Hedge documentation 1s prepared for all net investment hedges at inception and effectiveness testing 1s carried out quarterly

The Group recagnises gams and losses on debt cross currency swaps and liquidity forwards in equity, up te the level of net assets in
accordance with Group Policy Fer all or part of the year the borrowings have exceeded the net assets on a currency-by-currency basis
For the portian that has exceeded the net assets, the gans and losses are recognised 1n the income staterment This has resulted in a gan
of £156m {2005 £2m) for the year which has been disclosed on the face of the income statement within special items

(e} Commodity price nsk

The Group uses corn futures and call options in the USA to hedge its price exposure to this commodity These futures and call options are
accounted for as hedges in accerdance with the defined accounting policy from 1 January 2005 Hedge documentation 1s maintained for

all hedge relaticnships and effectiveness testing 1s carned out guarterly In 2006, the Group sold put options on corn in the USA to reduce the
costs of its corn hedging programme These put options were far valued through the Group's inceme statement At 31 December 2008, the
fair value of the call options was £nul and the far value of the put options was a gan of £1m

The fair value of unreahsed futures and call options 1s recognised on the balance sheet (included In trade and other recevables in the 1able
below) Once realised, all gains and losses on futures and call options are capitalised into the carrying value of the raw materals

The hedges have been fully effective durning the penod and at 31 December 2006 a gain of £3m has been deferred in the cash flow hedging
reserve The movements in the cash flow hedging reserve are included in the table in section (d) of this note

{f) Farr values
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown In the balance sheet are as follows

2006 2005
Notianaf Notional
pancipal Carrying Fair principal Carrying Fair
amaunts” valugs® values” amounts values values
At31 Dec At3Dec At3 Dec  Atdl Dec  At31Dec  Al31 Dec
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Other investmentst 28 28 28 40 40 40
Cash and cash equvalents? 483 483 483 394 394 304
Trade and other recenvables? 851 851 851 957 957 957
Current asset nvestments’ 47 47 47 28 28 28
Short-term borrowings (16) (16) (16) {14) {14) (14
Loans (995) {981) {1,001) (1245} [1238) {1,280)
Trade and other payables? (732 (732 (732) (B807) (807} (807)
Other creditors and accruals® {657) (657) (657) (08) {708) (708
Financial liabilities {14) {14} (14) 63) {(53) {53)
Currency swaps 52 51 5 2 (1) (1)
Interest rate swaps* 1,957 (16} (18) 2,330 (10} (10)
Liquidity forwards? - 4 4 - 3 3
Total net habilities (952) {972) (1,409 {1,451)
Financial assets 1,409 1419
Financial labilities (2,361} {2,828)
{952} (1,409)

* [ y=hability
t The fair value approximates to the carrying value For working capital balances this Is dua to their short-term nature
® Ligudity farwards are foreign exchangs forward gontracts used to hedge debt and are therefore included in the financial kabilities total

# The carrying valus of interest rate swaps (£16m) represents tha valus excluding the intersst payabls cr recevable on the swaps, which 1s included In trade and
other payables and trade and other receivablas, respectively

The decrease in the fair value of loans for the year ended 31 December 2006 arose principally on the net repayment of loans {£130m) and
favourable movements on foreign exchange (£106m)

Where interest rate and currency instruments are designated to a group of borrowings or cash and cash equivalents with similar
characteristics, altering thewr interest rate or currency profile, the net cash amounts to be received or paid on the agreements are accrued In
current assets or labilities and recognised as an adjustrnent to interest iIncome or expense (“accrual accounting™)

Loans that are part of far value hedge relationships {see section (a) of this note} are held in the balance sheet at far value and at 31 December
2006 amounted 1o £923m (2005 £1,170m) All other loans are held at amortised cost and the carrying value in the balance sheet 1s £58m at
31 December 2006 (2005 £68m)
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31 Financial instruments {continued)

{g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used, applied censistently, in estimating the far value of financtal Instruments
reflected in the tables in section (f)

Derivatives
The far vatue of all derivatives are estimated from discounted anticipated cash flows utiising a risk-adjusted zero coupen yeld curve in the -
relevant currencies

Interest-bearing leans and borrowings
The farr value of all the loans 1s estimated from discounted anticipated cash flows utilising a nsk-adjusted zero coupon yietd curve in the
relevant currencies A credit spread 1s added to yield curves to obtain an accurate basis for fair vaiuation

Trade and other receivables/payables
For all recevables and payables, the nctional amount 1s deemed te reflect the farr value

Securties
Where avatlable farr value 1s based on quoted market prices at 1he balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs

Where discounted cash flow techmques are used estimated cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate
1s & market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date

(h} Credit nisk

Surplus funds are deposited with hughly rated banks or invested in high quality hquid marketable investments, including money market
struments government securities and asset backed securtias in ine with Group Policy Investments are of a plain vanidla nature with no
embedded interest rate oplions The majority of asset backed securities have some risk of early redemption but are of a floating rate nature
and hence have mimimal fixed interest rate nsk There are no investments of a fixed rate nature with matunty greater than one year and
consequently the farr vatue of investments is considered to ba materally the same as the value in the Group's balance sheet The central funds
on depasit at the balance sheet date were £41m (2005 £76m}

The Group's exposure to credi nsk 1s controlled by setting a palicy for hmiting credit exposure 10 counterparties, which i1s reviewed annuatly,
and reviewing credit ratings and imiting individual aggregate credit exposures accordingly The Group considers the possibility of matenal loss
in the event of non-performance by a financial counterparty to be unhkely

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit sk The maximum exposure to credit nisk 1s represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments 1 the balance sheet

The notional amounts of financial nstruments used in debt and currency management do not represent amounts exchanged by the parties
and, thus, are not a measure of the credit risk to the Group arnising through the use of these instruments The immediate credit exposure of
financial instruments 1s represented by those financral instruments that have a positive faw value at the balance sheet date At 31 December
2006 the aggregate value of all financial instruments with a positwe far value (assets) was £51m for currency swaps (2005 £16m), E7m for

interest rate swaps (2005 £17m) and £8m for forward contracts (2005 £6m)

{i) Collateral
The Group has used financtal assets as collateral for the following securtisations programmes

Trade debtors includes £177m (2005 £196m) of receivables eligible for secuntisaticn with a financia! mstitution However, at 31 December
20086, the amount borrowed and included within short-term borrowings as abilities was £nil (2005 £n1))

The Company has also provided an asset-backed guarantee, via a wholly owned subsidiary, [Cl Recewables Funding Ltd {“the SPV") specifically
incorporated te provide the guarantee, for E250m to support the Company's commitments for the ICI Pension Fund (see note 34) The asset-
backed guarantee 15 secured by way of fixed and floating charges over ceriain trade debters and cash of Group companies, which hava been
assigned to the SPV At 31 December 20086, £228m (2005 £268m) of trade deblors included above were assigned to the SPV and €57m (2005
£5m) of cash and cash equivalents

‘ Accounts

{)} Borrowing facihities
Commiited undrawn faciities avallable to the Group at 31 December 2006 10 respect of which all conditions precedent had been met at that
date were as follows

2006 2005

em £m

Expinng in one year or less - 224
Expiring in more than one year and less than two years - _
Expiing in more than two years 357 406
357 B30
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

32 Leases
2006 2005 2004
£m tm £m
Total rentals under operating leases, charged as an expense i the ncome statement
Minimum lease payments 58 63 58
Sub-lease payments receved (2} (1} (2)
Total 56 B2 56

Future mimimum sub-lease payments of £2m {2005 £1m 2004 £1im) are expected to be recerved under non-cancellable sub-leases at the
balance sheet date Of the total leases above £2m (2005 £5m, 2004 £5m} relates to discontinued operations

2006 2005
£m £m
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases to pay rentals during the year following
the year of these accounts, analysed according to the pernod in which each lease expres
Expiring within 1 year 9 "
Expring nyears 2to 5 30 29
Expiring {hereaiter 17 22
56 62
Oparating leasas Finance leases
2006 2005 2006 2005
Obhgations under leases comprse £m fm £m £m
Rentals due within 1 year 56 82 2 16
Rentals due after more than 1 year
From 1 10 2 years a7 5 1 1
From 2 to 3 years 38 43 1 1
From 3 to 4 years 28 32 1 1
From 4 to 5 years 21 27 1 1
After 5 years from balance sheet date B84 107 2 2
218 260 6 6
274 322 8 22
Less amounts representng intergst - (2)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 8 20
Less current lease obligations {2} (14)
Non-current lease obligations 6 3]

The difference between tha futurs minimum lease payments at the balance sheet date and the present value 1s not significant Obhgations
under finance leases are included in financial habilities (note 23) The Group had no commuiiments under finance leases at the balance sheet
date which were due to commence thereafter

The Group leases items of land and buildings under operating leases, which are used In ongoing business activities The lease terms vary and
are subject to renewal clauses upon expiry
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33 Commitments and contingent habilittes

2006 2005
£m £m

Commitments for capital expenditure not prowided for in these accounts including acquisitions}
Contracts placed for future expenditure 26 19
Expenditure authonsed but not yet contracted 89 81
115 100

On a consolidated basis the Group had no contingent hability in
respect of guarantees of borrowings and uncalied capital for the
Group at 31 December 2006 (31 December 2005 Enil)

The Group 15 subject to contingencies pursuant to requirements

that it complies writh relevant laws, regulations and standards Failure
to comply, in particular with environmental, health and safety laws
and regulatians {including spills or other releases of hazardous
substances to the environment} and permit or approval reguirements
could result In restrictions on the gperation of the Group's faciities,
damages, fines increased costs of compliance, reputational damage,
requirements to correct effects on the environment of prnior disposal
or release of chemical substances by the Group or other parties or
other sanctions These matters are inherently difficult to guantify

The Ghdden Company ("Glidden”), a2 wholly owned subsidiary of
ICI, 15 a defendant, along with farmer producers of lead pigment and
former producers of lead pigment-based paint as well as other lead
product manufacturers and ther trade associations, 1n a number of
lawsuits 10 the United States These lawsuits seek damages for
alleged personal injury caused by lead pigment-based pant or the
costs of removing lead pigmeni-based pant An alleged predecessor
of Glidden manufactured lead pigments until the 1850s and lead
pigment-based consumer paint untid the 19608 Ghdden 15 currently
a defendant in three active suits (The City of New York v Lead
Industries Association, Inc , et al (1988} Smith v Lead Industrias
Association, In¢ et al {1999} and Hurkmans v Salczenco, et al
(2005)) Glidden continues to believe that it has strong defences

to all of the pending cases, has denied at liability and will continue
to defend all such actions With respect to these proceedings 1CI
15 unable to quantify meanmingfully the loss to which the proceedings
may give rise

In 1986, a subsidiary of ICI purchased a newly formed company,
now Glidden, from a pradecessor of Millenmum Holdings LLC

(the *Seller”), now a subsidiary of Lyonde!l Chemical Company
Under the sale agreement, the Seller agreed 1o indemnify Gidden
aganst certain claims relating to certain pre-completion habilities,
and Glidden also gave certain indemnities to the Seller Whilst
Glidden did not acquire any assets or habilities for the manufacture
or sale of lead pigments, the Seller, however has previously asserted
that it 1s entitled to ndemniftcation under the sale agreement for
certain liabihties st may have relating to lead pigment and/or lead
pigment-based paint ltgation Glidden, which has assumed ali of the
purchaser's rights and obligations under the sale agreement, believes
that it has no such obligation to Indemnify the Seller The above
indemnity claims have noi been ruled on by any court With respect
to these claims, IClis unable te quantify meaningfully the loss to
which the clams may give nse

On 31 May 2006, ICI was informed of the European Commission's
decision 1o fine IC| €81 4m relating to ICI's ownership of ICl Acrylics,
which ended in 1999 when that business was sold As described

in note 3, the fine has been charged as a special item i arnving at
the Group operating profd {loss) in 2006 1CI filed an appeal

before the European Court of First Instance on 17 August 2006

and the partes have since exchanged further pleadings in this matter
The final Comrmission pleadmng 1s expected 1n March 2007

www IC1 Com

During 2006, purported class action lawsuits were filed in

various jurisdictions in the USA on behalf of purchasers of methyl
methacrylate who claim ta have suffered anti-trust injury as a result
of alleged cartel activity in the European methacrylates market All of
the lawsuits were transferred to the US District Court for the Eastern
District of Pennsylvania and consolidated into two class actions,

one on behalf of direct purchasers and the other on behalf of Indirect
purchasers Three purported class actions were also filed In Canada
In November 2006, ICI filed motions to dismiss the US lawsuits
These motions are currently pending before the court With respect
ta these proceedings, ICl 1s unable (o quantify meaningfully the loss
to which the proceedings may give rise

From the early 19705 until 1996, ICI Americas Inc {“ICIA%, a
subsidiary, operated and maintained, on behalf of the US Army, two
manufaciuning faciities Employees at each facility were employed
by ICIA and wera members of ICIA pension schemes The US Army
reimbursed to ICIA the cost of contributions to each pension scheme
Upon termination of the centract in 1999, each of the schemes
carried a surplus In September 2004, the US Army Contracting
Officer 1ssued a final determination holding that termination of the
contract triggered a refund to the US Government of an amount
equa! to the value of the 1999 pension surplus CIA filed an appea!
of the final determination to the Armed Services Board of Contract
Appeals on 26 January 2005 On 22 April 2005 the US Army
re-1ssued 1ts final determination, amended to nclude an additional
thecry of lability ICIA filed an appeal of the new final deterrmination
on 14 July 2005 A four-day hearing was held in January 2006
Post-trial briefing has now concluded and a decision on hability 1s
expecied during 2007 ICI does not believe that the outcome of this
matter will have a material effect on the Group's financial position

In recent years, the Group has carred out a programme of strategic
disposals, in the course of which the Group has gwven to other
parties certain indernnities, warranties and guarantees, including
indemmities warranties and guarantees relating to known and
potential latent environmental, health and safety labiltties There
are also a number of contracts relating to businesses which the
Group exited as part of its disposal programme which have not
been novated to the purchasers of these businesses

’ Accounts

The Group's 50% interest In Teesside Gas Transportation Lid {*TGT")
was sold, during 1998, to a subsidiary of 115 other shareholder,
Enren Europe Ltd {"Enron™) which s currently in administration

TGT contracted with the cwners of a distnbution network {the CATS
parties) to purchase pipeline capacity for North Sea gas and the
commuiiment 15 guarantead severally on a 50 50 basis by ICl and
Enron The present value of the commiiment guaranieed by IC| at

31 December 2006 1s estimated at £29m On the sale of the Group’s
nterest in TGT to Enron, ICI received the benefit of a counter-
guarantee {rom Enron’s parent, Enron Corp Enron Corp sought
Chapter 11 bankruptey protection in the USA on 2 December 2001

The Group's Interest in Teesside Power Ltd (“TPL") was sold on

31 December 1998 to Enron Teesside Operations Ltd (“ETOL"} TPL
had previously centracted with certain gas sellers for the purchase
of gas Enron Corp and IClI had guaranteed on a several basis the
liability of TPL to the gas sellers n the proportions 70% and 30%
respectively On the sale of the Group's interest in TPL to ETOL,
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33 Commitments and contingent hiabilities {continued)

iCI receved the benefit of 2 counter-indemnity from ETOL and a
guarantee from Enron Corp i respect of ICI's 30% guarantee
commiiment 1o the gas sellers As mentioned above, Envon Corp
has sought Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection n the USA ETOL
went into administrative recevership in April 2003, and sold its
business and assets to Sembcorp Utilties Teesside Ltd (*Sembcorp™}
However the counter-indemnity to ICl was not transferred to
Sembcorp and remained a hability of ETOL which 15 now in
liquidation The present value of the gas purchase commitment
guaranteed by IC| at 31 December 2006 15 estmated at £50m

The only signuficant take-or-pay contract entered into by a member
of the Group 1s for the purchase of electric power in the UK which
commenced In the second quarter of 1998, for 15 years The value
of this commitment at 31 Becember 2008 15 estimated at £94m

The numbers quoted in the three preceding paragraphs are ICl's
current estimates of its maximum potential l:ability Although the
outcome of these matters 1s uncertain ICl considers it unlikely that a
matenal habthty wall arise

The ultimate outcome of the matters described in this note is subject
to many uncertainties, in¢ch:ding future events and the uncertainties
inherent n ihgaton As further described in notes 24 and 25, the
Group has made provision In its financial statements for habilities to
the extent they are considared probable and can e measured with
sufficient reliabtulity However, these liabilities are inherently difficuit
to predict and quantify, and the provisions we have established may
be inadequate to cover them These matters may involve substantial
sums and an unfavourable ouicome of one or more of these matters
could have a material eifect on the Group's results of operations
cash flow and/or financial position

34 Related party transactions

The following infarmation 1s provided in accordance with 1AS 24
Related Party Disclosures, as compnising material transactions
with related parties during 2006

Related party 1€ Insurance Liimited and 1ts substdianes

Transaction Funds on deposit with ICl Finance PLC amounting
to £10m (2005 £10m})

Related party IC! Pensions Trustee Limited

Transaction In recognition of a deficit for funding purposes of £657m
and a funding ratio of 90 9% as at 31 March 2005 identified as a
result of the completion of the valuation of the ICI UK Penston Fund
{the *Fund"), the Company agreed to make “top-up” coninbutions

to the Fund over ntne years, comprising annual payments of £122m
for the first four years, from 2006 to 2008, and annual payments of
£62m for the following five years, from 2010 to 2014

As from September 2004, the Company has also provided an asset-
backed guarantes, via a wholly owned subsidiary, ICI Recewvables
Funding Limited {the "SPVY") specifically ncorporated to provide the
guarantee, for £250m to be secured by way of iixed and floating
charge over the recervables of certain Group companies which have
been assigned to the SPV and by way of cash and cash equivalents
deposited with the SPV At 31 December 2006 £228m {31 December
2005 £268m) of trade debtors and £57m (31 December 2005 £5m)
of cash and cash equivalents were assigned to the SFPV
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Related party I1C! Specialty Chemicals Penstons Trustee Limited
(the “Trustee™)

Transaction In recognition of a deficit for funding purposes of £95m
and a funding ratio of 71 2% as at 31 March 2005 identiied as

a result of the completion of the valuation of the IC] UK Specialty
Chemicals Pension Fund (the “Fund®}, the Company agreed to make
*top-up” contributions to the Fund over ten years comprising annual”
payments of £12 3m, from 2006 to 2015

Key terms have been agreed between the Company and the Trustee
as to the re-apportionment of any debt ansing by virtue of section 75
of the Pensions Act 2004 relating to the sale of Quest International
Flavours and Fragrances Ltd (*Quest Lid") Both parties have agreed
that the Fund Trust Deed will be amended to permit the Trustee to
re-apportion section 75 debis artsing on the cessation of membership
of the Fund by participating employers An amount of £1 000 will be
payable by Quest Ltd once It ceases to be a participating employer,
and the remaining section 75 debt ansing on the sale of Quest Ltd
will be re-appartioned between the Company and the remaining
participating employers in consideration of the agreement, the
Company will provide the Fund with an amount to increase the Fund’s
assets up to full funding on an IAS 19 Employea Benefits basis {after
allowing for hlabilities correspending to the active members employed
by Unichema Chermicals Limated, Umigema Limiated and Quest Ltd)
gstimated 1o be £65m (the "Funding Amount”) and the Company

will provide the Trustee with a letter of crednt for a value rapresenting
the difference between the Funding Amount and the amount of the
section 75 debt anising on the divestment of Quest Lid (estimated

to be of the order of £75m) Such agreement 1s subject to obtaining
clearance from the Pensions Regulator
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35 Interest in joint ventures

The Group's joint ventures at 31 December 2006 are

Percentage held by a Principal

subsidiary of ICl % activities

Arkem (PTY) Limited 50 Sale of speciality chemicals
Purbond AG 50 Manufacturer of polyurethane adhesive products
National Starch Turkey 50 Local solutions prowder for emulsion polymers

Interest in joint ventures
tncluded in the censobdated financial statements are the following items that represent the Group's interest in the assets and habilities,
revenues and expenses of the joint ventures

2006 2005 2004
£m €m £m
Non-current assets 3 3 3
Current assets 3 3 1
Total assets 6 8 4
Current Yabiites {2) (2} -
Non-current liabilities - - -
Total habilibes {2) 2} -
Net assels 4 4 4
Revenue 9 8 8
Expense ()] (7) {8
Profit before taxation 1 1 -
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles

The accomganying Group financtal statements included in this report
are prepared in accordance with adopted IFRS The significant
differences between adopted IFRS and US Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (US GAAP) for the years ended 31 December
2006, 2005 and 2004 that affect the Group's net iIncome and
shareholders' equity are set out below

(a) Accounting for pension costs

In September 2006 the FASE 1ssued SFAS No 158 Employers’
accounting for Defined Benefit and other Post-retirement Plans,
which amends SFAS No 87 Employers’ Accounting for Pensions
SFAS No B8 Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtalments
of Defined Benelit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, SFAS
No 108 Employers’ Accounting for Post-retirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions, and SFAS No 132 (R) Employers' Disclosuras about
Penstons and Other Post-retirement Benefits (revised 2003) This
statement requires companes tg recognise an asset or hability for
the overfunded or underfunded status of ther benefit plans in therr
financial statements The asset or hability including previously
unrecognised prior service costs and credits actuarial gains or
losses and transition obligations and assets s recorded wia other
comprehensive incame

Whilst the adeption of SFAS No 158 more closely aligns the balance
sheet accounting between IFRS and US GAAP, (with the exceptian
of unvested prior service cost which 1s recogmsed on balance

sheet under US GAAP), there are a number of significant differences
between IFRS under IAS 19 Employes Benefits and US GAAP in
accounting for pension costs that have a particutar impact on ICI

() Under IAS 18, the Group has taken the option to recognise
actuaral gains and losses in full through the siatement of
Group recegnised iIncome and expenss In the period in which
they are incurred Under SFAS No 87 the Group recognises
actuanal gains and losses over the remaining average service
Iife of employees

(n) IAS 19 requires past service costs to be recegnised
immediately «f they are already fully vested, or on a straight-
line basis over the penod uniil the extra benefits are vested if
they do not vest immediately SFAS No 87 requires prior
service costs 1o ba recognised in the ncome statement over
the expected remaining service hves of the participants or in
certain circumstances their remairung lives, even if the benefits
arg already fully vested This also applies to negative past
service costs

() Difterences may also anse on settlement of post-retirement
benefit schemes based on the amount of post-retirernent
benefit assets and habilities recogrused on the balance sheet
under IFRS and US GAAP at settiement and recognition
under US GAAP of unrecognised gains/losses at the point
of settlement

Additional post-retirernent benefit digclosures are provided under
US GAAP in accordance with SFAS No 132{R})

{b) Purchase accounting adjustments, mcluding the amortisation
and impamment of goodwill and intangibles

The accounting pohcy for goodwll 1s sirmlar between IFRS and US
GAAP, with goodwill arising on acguisitions capitalised and reviewed
for wimparment annually and whenever indicators of impairment anse
The methodology for testing impairment ciffers between IFRS and
LJS GAAP However, due 10 the historic differences in agccounting
between UK GAAP and US GAAP for goodwill and other intangibles,
relating mainly to amounts capitalised and amounts amortised the
Group has recognised significantly mare goodwall on the balance
sheet under US GAAP compared to IFRS As a result, disposals of
goodwill, any mmparments and exchange on retranslation of goodwill
may vary between IFRS and US GAAP
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The historic differences in accounting between UK GAAP and US
GAAP {or goodwill and other intangibles relate to -

{) Goodwill and intangible assets that arose as a result of
acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998 Under UK GAAP, goodwill
arising on acquisiions prior to 1 January 1998 was charged ~
against ratained earnings Values were generally not placed
on intangible assets Under US GAAP, prior to the adoption
of SFAS No 142 Goodwill and other intangible Assets on
1 January 2002, all goodwill was capitalised and amortised
through charges agamst income over its estimated life not
exceeding 40 years In addibon, far values were ascribed to
identifiable intangibles The acquisition in 1997 of the Unilever
Speciality Chemicals business for a consideration of £4 2bn
resulted in significant differences betwesn UK and US GAAP
for the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangibles

{n) Differences in amortisation applied under UK GAAP and US
GAAP from 1 January 1898 to 31 December 2001 on goodwill
and intangibles arising from acquisitions from 1 January
1998 and 31 December 2001 Under UK GAAP goodwill
was capitalised and amortised over a period of 20 years,
as opposed to the 40 years In the penod Indicated abaove
for US GAAP

() Amortsation charged under UK GAAP but not under US GAAP
in the perigd from 1 January 2002 to 31 December 2003
(transition date of IFRS) Under US GAAP from 1 January 2002
under SFAS No 142 goodwill was no longer amortised but
tested for iImpawrment annually

{c} Capitahsation of interest

Capitalisation of borrowing costs s net required under [AS 23
Borrowing Costs and the Group expenses all borrowing costs as
incurred Under US GAAP, SFAS No 34 Caprtalization of Interest
Cost requires interest incurrad as part of the cost of constructing
fixed assets to be capitalised and amortised over the life of the asset

{d) Denvalive instruments and hedging activities

There are thwee significant differences between IFRS and US GAAP In
accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities that have
a particular impact on ICI

{) Upon adopting IAS 39 Financial instruments Recogmtion and
Measurement, ICl applied hedge accounting for interest rate
swaps and related debt, thersfore both the derwative and
the debt were brought onto the opening balance sheet at
fair value The Group therefore has an openting balance sheet
adjustment in the US GAAP balance shest to reverse the
impact of bringing the debt onto the IFRS balance sheet at
farr value This adjustment will reverse as the debt in existence
on transition matures As hedge accounting has been applied
under SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activitres from 1 January 2005, far value movements
on the debt can be recorded in the Income statement, as
under IFRS

{(n} Under IFRS, goodwill in reserves 1s not designated as an asset
and hence cannot be used in the calculation of the net nvestment
hedge Therefore foreign exchange differences are taken to
the income statement on retranslation of the part of the debt
that does not act as a hedge However, under US GAAP, this
goodwill 1s on balance sheet and therefore can be used in
the calculation of the investment hedge In the US GAAP
reconciliation, the Group reverses the amount taken to the
income statement and recogmises this in reserves (to the
extent that a2 hedging relationship exists)

(I} Under IFRS, the accounting far the forward contracts in place
to purchase shares in order to saiusfy option grants Is addressed
by 1AS 32 Financial instruments Disclosure and Presentatron
As the arrangements include an option for gross physical

www ici com




36 Differences between [FRS and US accounting principles (continued)

settlement, the arrangements have nat been treated as a
derivative but have been treated as an equity instrument and
recorded at cost wathin equity with the full hability recogrised
on the balance sheet The finance cost has also been accrued

Under US GAAP, SFAS No 150 Accounting for Certain
Financial instruments with Charactenstics of both Liabuities
and Equity refers to forward contracts on the 1ssuer's equity
shares that are to be physically settled or net cash settled
As these forward contracts specifically allow tor net cash
settlement, the Group has accounted for them in accordance
with paragraphs 23 and 24 of SFAS No 150 and measured
them at the farr value of the actual contracts

{e) Restructuring costs

The Group has incurred various restructuring costs that have
primarily comprised costs such as employee termination benefits
contract termmnation costs and costs to consobdate or close facilities
or relocate employees Under [FRS, habilities for restructuring costs
are recognised once a detalled formal plan is 1n place and vahd
expectations have been ratsed in those affected that the restructuning
will be carried out A lhability 1s recognised for voluntary redundancy
payments to the extent that it's expected that volunteers wiil come
forward Under US GAAP, restructuring casts are accounted for

as follows

{1 Prior to the adoptron of SFAS No 146 Accounting for Costs
Assocrated with Exit or Disposal Activities on 1 January 2003
involuntary employee termination benefits were recognised
as a ltability in accordance with EITF 94-3 in the period
management commitied the Group to a plan contingent
upon a number of factors including the prior communication
of termination benefits to affected employees SFAS No 146
requires some one-time benefit arrangements to be recorded
as cne-time charges foliowing a farr value model on the
communication date to employees Accretion expense 1s
recorded for discounting over the payment period Other
one-time benefits are recognised rataably over the future
service period Ongoing benefit arrangements are accounted
for under SFAS No 88 Employers’ Accounting for Settlements
and Curtailiments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for
Termination Benefits or SFAS Na 112 Employers™ Accounting
for Post-employment Benelits and are accrued once they
become probable and esttmable

{n} Under US GAAP, veluntary termination benefils are accrued
when the terms are accepted by the indvidual employee

(m} Unkke IFRS, which requires tangible fixed assets to be tested
for mpairment using discounied cashflows, under US GAAP,
a preliminary review of tangible fixed assets 1S camed out
using undiscounted future cash flows If the undiscounied
future cash {lows are less than the asset’s (or asset group’s)
carrying value, an impawment loss must be recognised The
imparment l0ss 15 calculated using discounted future cash
flows The asset 1s subsequently depreciated over its
remaining useful economic life

(f) Foreign exchange

Under US GAAF, on the sale of a foreign enterprise, cumulative
foreign exchange difterences within reserves are taken to net income
n arrving at a gamn or foss on disposal Although IFRS also requires
nclusion of the cumulative translation differences held in reserves as
part of the calculation of gains or loss on disposal, they were resat
to zero at transition to IFRS on 1 January 2004

(o) Discontinued operations

Under IFRS, a discontinued operation 1s a component of an entity
that has erther been disposed of, or 1s held for sale, where a
component of an entity comprises operations and cash flows that
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the entity, both
operationally and for financial reporting purposes IFRS further states
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that such a component of the entity must either represent a separate
major ine of business or geographical area of operation or 1s part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of either a separate major line
of businass or geographrcal area of operation, or s a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale A list of businessas which
have been treated as discontinued operations under IFRS 1s included
Innoie 1

Under SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal

of Long-Lived Assets a discontinued operation is also defined as a
companent of an entity that has been disposed of or held for sale,
where the component must have operations and cash flows that

can be clearly distinguished operationally and for financial reporting
purposes, from the rest of the entity However, US GAAP does not
require the component (o represent a separate major hne of business
or geographical area of operations or be part of a single co-ordinated
plan to dispose of either a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations SFAS No 144 also requires that the
results of operations and cash flows of the compaonent have been (or
will be) eliminated from the ongaing operations of the entity following
the disposal and the entity will not have any sigrificant ongoing
involvement in the operaticns of the component after the disposal

Under US GAAP, the Quest Food Ingredients disposal during 2004
met the SFAS No 144 conditions and therefore was classified as a
discontinued operation The disposal of the National Starch Vinamul
Polymers busingss in 2005 15 treated as continuing under US GAAP
as Vinamul continues to be a supplier to National Starch and the cash
flows of Vinamul are not eiminated from the cngoing operations of
National Starch following the disposal transaction The disposal of
Unigema that completed on 1 September 2006 met the SFAS No 144
conditions and therefore was classified as a discontinued operation
The disposal of Quest, which 15 expected to complete in the first
quarter of 2007, did not meet the conditions in SFAS No 144 to be
classified as held for sale or discontinued at the balance sheet date,
because the completion of the fransaction was subject to
shareholder approval Shareholder approval was subsequently
granted on 25 January 2007 The assets relating to Quest are set out
in note i1 In addition, under US GAAP balances of £528m goodwill
and £3m of intangible assets relate to the Quest business

Accordingly, under US GAAP, the results of the Quast Food
Ingredients operatrons and the gain on the disposal are classified
within discontinued operations In 2004, Quest Food Ingredients
sales were £50m and the pre-tax profit £7m Under IFRS, the profit
on sale in 2004 amounted to £145m Under US GAAP, goodwill in
respect of this business was included on the balance sheet SFAS
No 142 reguires that where part of a reporting unit 13 disposed, the
goodwill written off should be based on the relatve tair values of the
business being disposed and the portion of the reporting unit to be
retaned The goodwill allocated to Quest Food Ingredients under
US GAAP was £163m Quest Food Ingredients also had additional
post-retirement benefit labibties under IFRS of £19m ansing due to
measurement differences, which were included in the calculation of
the profit on sale Quest Food Ingredients also had an intangible
asset of £7m under US GAAP that was not recogmised under IFRS
IS GAAP also requies the cumulative translation differences of
£3m held in reserves o be recycled in the profit/loss on disposal
calculation Consequently, the loss reported under US GAAP amounted
to £39m and the adjustments totalling £184m have been included in
the US GAAP reconciliation under the headings to which they relate

The disposal of the Vinamul Polymers business completed in the
fust quarter of 2005 Sales for the business in 2005 and 2004 were
£15m and £163m respectively Under 1IFRS, the pre-tax profit for
2005 was £nil (2004 £12m) A loss of £57m was recognised under
US GAAP 1n 2004 on Initial write-down of the business to far value,
under the heading "Dhsposal of business”

The disposal of Unigema comgpleted in September 2006 Sales for
the business In 20086, 2005 and 2004 were £435m, £626m and
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36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles {continued)

£624m and pre-tax profit of £60m £36m and £28m respectively
Under IFRS, the profit en sale amounted to £48m Under US GAAP,
the profit on sale amounted to £23m as a result of differences
relating to pensions of £(27}m, capitalised interest of £{Sim, goodwill
of £8m and the recycling of cumulative translation differences of
E(1)m

Under IFRS neither the disposal of Quest Food Ingredients or Vinamul
Polymers business represented a separate major line of businass or
geographical area of operations or were part of a single co-ordinated
plan to dispose of either a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations As a result, they were both classified
as continuing under IFRS The Unigema disposal n 2006 and the
planned Quest disposal represented separate major lines of business
and therefore were treated as discontinued under IFRS

(h} Disposal adjustments

In 2000, the Group recorded the dispesal of its Chlor-Chemicals
business as a discontinued operatien Under US GAAP Staff
Accounting Butletin (SAB) Topic 5E due principatly to the continuing
15% equrty interest of the Group in the disposed operations and a
commitment by the Group to provide additional funding ta finance
the inecs Chlor business, the entity could not be deconsoldated

tn Cctober 2004 Inecs agreed 1o take over ICls outstanding funding
commitment to the Ineos Group of £55m As aresult, ICI wrote-off
all existing indebtedness from neos Chler and transferred its 15%
equity nterast to Ineos A charge of £5m was incurred in the IFRS
results for this transaction Under US GAAP the results of the
operatien of Ineos Chlor up to the date of disposal and the loss on
disposal of £5m are included within continuing operaticns in 2004

(1) Taxation

The adjustment in respect of taxation relates to the deferred tax effect
of US GAAP adustments, to the apphcation of different recognstion
criteria for the benefit of an uncertain tax exposure and to the
treatment of deferred tax income/expense resulting from changes in
tax rates or changes m valuation allowances In respect of the
uncertain tax exposures, under US GAAP a benefit of £38m,
recorded in 2005 under IFRS has been deferred until 2006 as final
confirmation was only received after the balance sheet date In
respect of the deferred tax income/expense resulting from changes in
tax rates or changes in valuation allowances arnsing from changes in
management’s assessment of the availability of future taxable income,
US GAAP requires these amounts to be recegnised in the income
statement regardless of the manner of recognition of the item to which
the deferred 1ax relates

{1) Guarantor’'s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements

for Guarantees

FiN No 45 Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others
addresses the disclosure to ba made by a guarantor in is financal
statements about its obligations under guarantees FIN Mo 45 also
requires the guaranior to recognise a liability for the non-contingent
component of the guarantee, that Is the obligation to stand ready

to perform in the event that specified triggering events or condittons
occur The initial measurement of this labilty 1s the far value of the
guarantee ai nception The Group adopted the disclosure requirements
of FIN No 45 m 2002 and ne guaraniees have been entered into or
modified after 31 December 2002 that would require recagnition of

a llabiiity under FIN No 45

Note 33 discloses the nature and circumstances of the matenal
guarantees together with ther present value The maxmum potential
amount of future undiscounted payments under all ICl's guaraniees as
defined by FIN No 45, including those disclosed in note 33, with terms
ranging between 1 to 12 years, amounted {0 £261m at 31 December
2006 (2005 £486m 2004 EB36m) After taking 1nto account varicus
mitigating and recourse factors, mainly the ability to procure products
from other sources and to onward sell the vanous products and
services, the maximum potential amount of future undiscounted
payments is reduced to £69m (2005 £162m, 2004 £150m})
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(k} Discounted provisions

Under SCP 96-1 a provision can only be discounted of the aggregate
amount of the lability and the timing of the future cash flow are fixed
or determinable reliably Under {FRS the Group holds discounted
provisions relating te environmental and legacy items associated -
with businesses disposed of, the lrabdity and timang of the future
cash flows of some of these prowvisions 15 not fixed or deterrminable
reliably The timing of the future cash flows of some of these
provisions 15 not fixed or determinable reliably As these discounts
are unwound under IFRS, a financing cost 1s charged to interest in
the Group inceme statement

{h Inventory prowisions

Under IFRS, reversals of inventory write-downs arose far reasons
including product reformulations and movements in market value

Under US GAAP, such reversals are not allowed and as a result a
reconciling difference for 2006 for £3m credit (2005 £7m charge

2004 £nil) has been included with the income reconciliation within
the line item of “Inventory provisions®

{m) New US Accounting Standards implemented 1n the penod
SFAS No 158 Employers’ Accounting far Defined Benefit Pension
and Qther Post-ratirement Plans

SFAS No 158 was 1ssued in September 2008 This Statement
requires an employer to recognise the overfunded or underfunded
status of a defined benefit post-retirement plan {other than a multi-
employer plan) as an asset or habibity n 1its statement of financial
position and to recognise changes in that funded status in the year
in which the changes oceur through comprehensive income This
Statement alse requires an employer 1o measure the funded status
of a plan to be measured as of the date of its year-end statement
of financial position, with imited exceptions

The requirement to recognise the funded status of a benefit plan and
the disclosure requirements are effective as of the end of the fiscal year
ending after 15 December 2006 The Group has measured plan assets
and benefit obligations at 31 December 2006 and has adopted the
requirements of SFAS No 158 in its consclidated financial statements
at this date

) New US Accounting Standards not yet implemented

FIN No 48, Accounting for Uncertamnty in income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No 108

FIN No 48 was issued in June 2C06 and clarifies the acgounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognised in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with SFAS No 109 Accounting for
Income Taxes FIN No 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement methodology for the financial statement recognition
and measurement of a tax posiion taken or expected to be taken
In a tax return This Interpretation alse provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting

In intenm pencds, disclosure, and transition

FIN No 48 1s effectiva for fiscal years beginning after 15 December
2006 The Group Is currently assessing the impact of FIN No 48 on
the consolidated results and net assets of the Group

SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements

SFAS No 157 was issued in September 2006 and defines farr
value, establishes a framework for measuring far value in generally
accepted accounting principles {GAAF} and expands disclosures
about far value measurements SFAS No 157 applies under other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit far value
measurements, the FASB having previcusly concluded in those
accounting pronouncements that far value 1s the relevant
measurement attribute Accordingly this Statement does not
require any naw far value measurements

SFAS No 157 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after 15 November
2007 The Group 1s currently assessing the impact of SFAS No 157
on the consolidated resulis and net assets of the Group
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36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles {continued)

The follawing i1s a summary of the material adjustments to net income and shareholders’ equity which would have been required if US GAAP

had been appled instead of IFRS

2006 2005 2004
notes €m £m £m
Net income aftar special items attributable to equity holders of the parent - IFRS 295 390 474
Continuing operations 277 302 439
Discontinued operations 18 88 a5
Adjustments to conform with US GAAP
Post-retirement expense (via) (164} (175 {75)
Purchase accounting adjusiments
Goodwil %) - 2 {162}
Other ntangibles [0} (27) [29) (a6)
Disposals and other adustments
Disposal of businesses (27) {12} {53)
Discounted provisions m 7 16 (14)
Capitalisation of interest (i) 7 2) {4)
Dervative instruments and hedging actvities
Net nvestment hedge ) {15) 2) (15)
Mark to market of derwatives ] 24 25 {12)
Restructuring costs (&) 4] 3 f47)
Inventory provisions (] 3 {7) -
Gthers 1 1 -
Tax effect of US GAAP adustments 29 41 49
Tax accounttng adustments 134 (38) -
Total US GAAP adjustments (30} {182) {368)
Net income (loss} attnbutable to equity holders of the parent - US GAAP 265 208 105
Continuing operations 264 181 127
Discontinued operations 1 27 22)
penca pancs pence
Basic earnings {loss) per Ordinary Share in accordance with US GAAP 222 176 89
Continuing operations 221 153 108
Discontinued operations 01 23 19
Diluted earnings (loss) per Ordinary Share in accordance wath US GAAP 219 175 89
Continuing operations 218 152 108
Discontinued operations 01 23 (19

Adjustments have been made between Continuing and Discontinued operations so that the presentation under US GAAP satisfies the definition
of a discontinued operationin accordance with SFAS No 144 For the purposes of segmental disclosures under IFRS, reference should be made

to page 73 where there IS a description of each class of business

Tax accounting adjustments include an amount of £92m (2005 Enil 2004 £nif} relating to changes n valuation allowances brought forward

tromn the prior year arising from a change in judgment about the realisatyity of deferred tax assets
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36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles {continued)

2005
{as restated
2006 note 1)
notes £m &m
Shareholders’ equity, as shown in the Group balance sheet — IFRS (313) (616}
Adjustments to conforrn with US GAAP
Intangible assets
Post-retirement benefit asset D) - 7
Purchase accounting adustments 1 (M 2,238 2,456
Tangible assets
Capitalisation of interest () 26 25
Other assets 1 3
Inventory provisions (3 K4
Deferred tax asset and tax effect of US GAAP adjustments (9) {49)
Financial habtities M 108 95
Prowisions
Restructuring (v) 1 3
Discounted provisions U] {15) (22)
Post-retirement benefit hability (viil} 21 173
Other liabiities 5 3
Deferred tax llabilty and tax effect of US GAAP adustments 8} (58)
Total US GAAP adjustments 2,366 2,626
Shareholders' equity - US GAAP 2,053 2,010

Under IFRS, the Group has classified the assets and habilities of Quest as held for sale in the Group balance sheset {(see note 11) Under US
GAAP, the disposal of Quest does not meet the criteria of held for sale and consequently the assets and habilities are not disclosed separately
but presented as part of the balance sheet categortes The effect of applying US GAAP to items other than those directly affecting net

income or shareholders' egusty 1s dealt with in other notes relating to the accounts The disclosures required by SFAS No 130 Reporting
Comprehensive Income have been made in the Group's financial statements 1n the statement of Group recognised income and expense

in note 27 and in the disclosure relating to pensions and other post-retirement benefits (US GAAP) on pages 128 to 131 and transition to

SFAS No 158 on page 130

Statement of Group cash flow Basis of preparation

The statement of Group cash flow 1s prepared in accordance with IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements, the objective and presentation of which
1s similar to that set out In SFAS No 95 Statements of Cash Flows The two statements differ, however, In ther defimitions of cash and

cash equivalents with overdrafts being included under IFRS and excluded under US GAAP

Notes refating to the differences between [FRS and US accounting principles
{1) Other intangible assets

At 31 December 2006 under US GAAP, the Group had intangible assets other than goodwll with a gross carrying amount of £270m
less accumulated amortisation of £257m The charge of £27m (2005 £29m, 2004 £36m) relating to other intangible assets 1s due 10 an

amortisation charge of £27m (2005 £27m, 2004 £29m) and loss on disposal of a business of £nil {2005 £2m, 2004 £7m) The amortisation
expense for the five succeeding years 1s estimated as follows 2007 £13m, 2008 €nil, 2009 £n)l, 2010 £nil and 2011 Endl

() Discounted provisions

Tha credit of £7m (2005 £18m credit, 2004 £14m charge) ansing on discountad provisions is due to the reversal of the discount unwind
{using a discount rate of 5 0%) of £2m {2005 £4m, 2004 £2m) and a retease of £5m (2005 £12m release, 2004 £16m Increase) The
undiscounted provision recognised under US GAAP at 31 December 2006 of £53m 15 £15m higher than the discounted prowsion held under

IFRS {2005 £22m tugher)

{m} Capitahisation of interest

At 31 December 2006, the Group had capialised interest with a gross carrying amount of £88m (2005 £100m) less accumulated amortisation
of £72m (2005 £75m)} The credst relating to capitalised interest of £7m (2005 charge £2m, 2004 charge £4m) s the net of additions in the

period of £11m (2005 £3m, 2004 £1m) offset by an amorusation charge of £4m (2005 £5m 2004 £5m)
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36 Differences hetween IFRS and US accounting principles {continued)
Notes relating to the differences between IFRS and US accounting principles (continued}

{iv) Goodwiil balance under US GAAP

Regonal

Natonat and
Paints Starch Cuest Industnal Total
£m £m £m £m o
At beginring of 2005 486 1,778 547 16 2827
Additions 5 B - - 13
Disposals - {2) -~ - 2)
Exchange adjustments 18 a2 22 2 134
At end of 2005 509 1,876 569 18 2,972
Additions 6 1 3 - 10
Disposals and other movements (1) - - - 1)
Exchange adjustments (25} (18%) (26} 2 (234)
At end of 2006 479 1,696 548 16 2,737

Includad abova I3 goodwall with a net bock value of £512m (2005 £556m 2004 £516m) recognised under !FRS (E18m classified as held for sale under IFAS)

Dunng the year, the Group changed its reporting segments The National Starch business, previcusly reported as one segment, 1S now
reported as four segments Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers and Electronic Materials This change reflects a move to global
business units during 2006

In accordance with SFAS No 142 gocdwill was reassigned to reporting units using a relative farr value allocation approach The National
Starch goodwill of £1,696m at 31 December 2006 was reassigned to Adhesives £662m, Specialty Starches £348m, Specialty Polymers
£333m and Electronic Materials £353m In accordance with the accounting policy, goodwill impairment testing was performed at 31 December
2006 based on the new reporting umt structure

{v) Dernvative instruments and hedging activities

The charge of £15m (2005 £2m charge, 2004 £15m charge) under the Iine item *net investiment hedge” represents the reversal of the
exchange gain recognised under IFRS on the part of the debt that cannot be hedged This 1s recogrised directly in reserves under US GAAP,
but in the income statement under IFRS The Group mark-to-market all derivatives under IFRS and US GAAP The credit of £24m (2005 £25m
credit, 2004 £12m charge) relating to the mark-to-market of derrvatives represents the movement in the employse share ownershyp plan
{ESOP) forward contracts to purchase own shares that are *out of the money™ ¢f £22m (2005 £22m credit, 2004 £10m credit} and an amount
of £2m {2005 £3m credit, 2004 £3m credit) representing the pariial unwind of transition adjusiments for the adoption of SFAS No 133 In
2004, the Group did not designate any of its derivative nstruments as hedges for US GAAP accounting purposes The income statement
reconcihiation In 2004 includes a charge ot £25m for the adjustment to farr value of the Greup's derivatives {(in 2004 the Group took tha
exemption in IFRS not to adopt IAS 32 and IAS 39 and therefore amounts were accounted for under UK GAAP) The difference in amounts
recogrused on the balance sheet under IFRS and US GAAP of £109m {2005 £98m) under the heading “Financial labilitres” include the
reduction n liabiiities relating to ESOP forward contracts of £96m (2005 £87m) and transition adjustments of £1m {2005 £3m}) relating 1o the
adoption of SFAS No 133 {additional liability) and a reduction in habilities of £14m (2005 £14m) upon adoption of |AS 39

{w1) Restructuring costs
The charge of £2m {2005 £3m credit) ralating 1o restructuring anses from the difference in employee termination

In 2003 the Group undertook a seres of restructuring programmes to improve cost effectivenass across each of Hs business segments

A charge of £201m was recogmsed under UK GAAP of which £48m related to asset wnte-downs The asset wnte-downs related to assets
to be abandoned and were recognised in connection with FRS 11 since the carrying value of the assets exceeded the recoverable amount

In making the assessment of recoverable amount under UK GAAP decisions were made on an individual asset basis Under US GAAP, as
the assets formed part of larger, profitable cash generating units, no impairment was recogmsed However, the remaining fives of the assets
were adjusted and the charge of £47m in the 2004 UK GAAP and [FRS to US GAAP reconciliations represented the “catch up” accelerated
depreciation under US GAAP Under tha exemptions provided in IFRS 1 paragraphs 16 and 17, the fixed asset values were included at

the date of transition to IFRS at the impared UK GAAP value resuiting in the GAAP difference in the 2004 IFRS to US GAAP income
statement reconciliation

{vu} Inventory write-down
The credit of £3m {2005 £7m charge, 2004 £nil) represents the net of amounts reinstated at the pnor year end and utiised the current peried
and reinstatement of inventory wnite-downs recognised under IFRS in the current period
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Notes relating to the Group accounts coninued

36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles (continued)
Notes relating to the difference between IFRS and US accounting principles (continued)

{vin) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits - US GAAP

For the purposes of the disclosure in accerdance with US GAAP, the financial information relating to pensions and other post-retirement
benefits has been presented in accordance with the reguirements of SFAS No 158 Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit and Other
Post-retirement Plans, SFAS No 87 Accounting for Pensions, SFAS No 88 Empioyers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtardments of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, SFAS No 112 Employers’ Accounting for Post-employment Benefits, SFAS No 106
Employers’ Accounting for Post-retirement Benefits other than Penstons and SFAS No 132(R) Employers” Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Post-retirement Benefits Prior to 2005, thus information was based on the Group’s major dafined benefit schemes As a result of the
transion from UK GAAP to IFRS, and to prowvide 2 more complete presentation the Group collected infermation on all the Group's defined
benefit schemes warldwide from 1 January 2004 under IFRS This extended data population has been included under US GAAP from

1 January 2005 Full accounting valuations as at 31 December are obtained each year under US GAAP

Assumphions

Assumed weighted average discount rates and rates of increase In remuneration used in calculating benefit obligations together with tong-term
rates of return on plan assets used in the Group's pension plans for SFAS No 87 purposes are shawn in the table below, together with the
assumptions relating to other post-retirement benefit plans for SFAS No 108

Pension plans Other post-retiremant plans
2006 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004
% % % % % %
Weighted average assumptions used te determine benefit
obligations at 31 December
Discount rate 51 48 53 57 53 58
Leng-term rate of increase in remuneration 44 42 39 42 36 33
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net cost for year
Discount rate 48 53 54 53 58 g2
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 58 58 59
Long-term rate increase In remuneration 42 39 39
Assumed healthcare cost trend rates at 31 December
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next year 90 90 97
Rate that cost trend gradually declines to 449 45 43
Year that rate reaches the rate it 1s assumed to reman at 201 2011 2010

Components of net penodic benefit cost

The net pericdic benefit cost under SFAS No 87 and SFAS Na 88 for the Group's pension beneint plans, and under SFAS No 106 in respect
of other post-retirement benefit plans, comprised

Pansion plans Other post retirement plans

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Companents of net perodic banefit cost
Serwvice cost 63 62 73 4 5 3
Interest cost 443 440 432 8 11 12
Expected return on plan assets for period {431} (413) {421) - - -
Amortisation of pnor service cost (1} {1} 7 (6) 2) (1)
Amortisation of unrecognised transition obligation - - 1 - - -
Amortisation of net actuarial loss {gain} 153 B8 39 3 2 2
Recogrised on termunation/curtaiment/settlement benefits (43) (2) 6) {16) - {2}
Net periodic benefit cost 184 154 125 (7) 16 14

Total amount credited to IFRS income statement £14m resulting in a GAAP difference of £191m This 15 presented as £164m within post-
retirement expense and £27m i disposal of businesses

There are n¢ charges in 2005 or 2006 for contractual terminations included in net peniodic benefit costs, which are included wathun the relevant
IFRS statutory headings

The healthcare cost trend has a sigrificant effect on the amounts reported For the Group, increasing the assumed healthcare cost rates by
1% in every vear would increase the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of 31 December 2006 by £4m (2005 £7m) and the
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net periodic post-retwement benefit cost for the year ended 31 December 2006
by £nil (2005 £1m})
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36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles (continued}

{vin) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits - US GAAP (continued)

Other comprehensive income

2006 2005 2004
£m £m em
Amounts included in other comprehensive ncoma (ansing from change n addiional _
minimum pension liability recogrised) befora application of SFAS Nao 158 (204) 488 9
Amount included in other comprehensive income on application of SFAS No 158 122 - -
Taxation 2 {26) (5
(84) 462 3

Qbhigations and funded status

The funded status of the Group's post-retirement defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans, covering both
continuing and discontinued operations under SFAS No 87 and SFAS No 106 1s as follows

Pension plans

Other post-retirement plans

at 31 Decamber at 31 December
2008 2005 2004 2008 2005 2004
£m fm £m £m £m £m

Changs n benefit obligation

Benefit cbligation at beginning of year - major plans nfa 8,363 8,186 nfa 215 198

Increase in reported population — minor plans recognised at 1 January 2005 n/a 206 nfa 37

Benefit chiigation at beginning of year 9,680 8 569 8,186 202 252 198
Service cost 63 62 73 5 3
Interest cost 443 440 432 8 11 12
Participants’ contributions 1 4 4 - - -
Ptan amendments 2) 23 [§)] {9 (63) &)}
Actuanal loss (gamn) {94) 1130 274 (11) (10} 34
Dwvastitures - (13 (19) - 4] -
Curtalments N - - = {12) -
Settlements (190) {23) (21) (9) - &
Business combinations - - 2 - - -
Benefit payments {594) (541) {521} {17} {13) (13)
Special termination benefits 2] - - - - -
Exchange {111) 75 (46) (24) 33 (13}

Benefit obligation at end of year 9,198 9,680 8363 144 202 215

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year - major plans n/a 7,564 7343 n/a 5 6

increase n reported poputation — minor plans recognised at 1 January 2005 n/a B2 nfa -

Far value of plan assets at beginning of year 8,204 7.646 7,343 § 5 4]
Actual return on plan assets 390 908 639 - - -
Business combinations - - 2 - - -
Ovestitures - {8) (1) - -
Settlements (111) {15) (14) - -
Employers’ contributions 235 152 153 17 13 12
Participants’ coniributions 1 4 4 - - -
Benefit payments (594} {341) 521} {17) (13) (13)
Exchange 1) 58 (31) [0)] - -

Farr value of plan assets at end of year 8,054 B 204 7,564 4 5 5

Funded status

Funded status at end of year {1,144) (1,476) (799) {140) (197) (210)
Unrecognised net actuanal loss {gain} 1,343 845 52 54
Unrecognised transition amount - 8 - -
Unrecogrused pnor service cost (20} 7 67) 4

Net amount recognised {153} 61 (212} (160}

Prepaid benefit cost 7 18 - -

Accrued benefit cost (1,320} B39 (212 (160}

Intangible assets 7 17 - -

Accumulated other comprehensive mcome 1,153 665 - -

Net amount recognised {(163) 61 (212) {(160)
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles (continued}

(vin) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits -~ US GAAP (continued)

Pansion benefits

at 31 December
T 2008 2005
£m £m
Supplementary analysis of pension plans -
All plans
Accumulated benefit obligation 9,047 9,513
Pension plans with an accumulated benefit obhgation in excess of plan assets
Projected benefit obligation 8,954 9,666
Accumulated benefit obligation 8,815 3,476
Faw value of plan assets 7,800 8,159

Asset allgcations

Pansicn benefits
at 31 Dacember

2006 2005
% %
Equity securities 15 18
Debt secunties 80 78
Other assets 5 4
100 100

Transition adjustments at 31 December 2006 in refation to the adoption of SFAS No 158

Pension plans

Batora After
application application
of SFAS of SFAS
No 158 at No 158 at
31 Dec  Adfustments 31 Dac
2006 2008 2006
£m £€m £€m
Prepaid benefit cost 15 {3) 12
Accrued benefit cost (1,019) (137} {1,156)
Intangible asset 6 (5} -
Net penston {habdity) (998) (146) {1,144)
Accumulated other comprehensve ncome {949) (1486) (1,095)
Net amount recogrused in retained eamings (49} - {49)
Effect on stockholders equily {gross of tax effects) (998) (148) (1,144)

Qn transition to SFAS No 158 an additional deferred tax asset of £25m was recognised in relation to pension plans This was offset in

accumulated other comprehenswve iIncome

QOther post-retlremeant plans

Bafore After

application application

of SFAS of SFAS

No 153 at No 158 at

3 Dot Adustments 31 Dec

2006 2008 2008

£m £m £m

Prepaid benefit cost - - -
Accrued benefit cost (164) 24 (140)
Intangible asset - - -
Net pension {liability) asset (164) 24 (140)
Accumulated other comprehensve income - 24 24
Net amount recognised in retained earnings (164) - (164)
Effect on stockholders equily {gross of tax effects) (164} 24 (140)

On transition to SFAS No 158 the deferred tax asset was reduced by £5m this was offset in accumulated other comprehensive incorne
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36 Differences between IFRS and US accounting principles {continued)

{vin} Pensions and other post-retirement benefits - US GAAP {continued)

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income

Other post

Pension retirement

pians plans at

21 Dec 31 Dec

2006 2006

£m £m

Net pnor service cost 12 58
Net actuanal (loss) (1,107} (34}
Accumulated other comprehensive income at 31 December 2006 {1,095) 24

Amaortisation expected to be recogmsed in pension cost during next fiscal year

Other post

Pension retwement
___pons A

2007 2007

£€m £m

Net pricr servace cast - [}
MNet actuanal {loss) gan (122} {3)
(122} 3

37 Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates

The Group's man accounting policies affecting its results of operations
and financial condition are set out on pages 60 to 63 Judgments
and assumptons have bean required by management n applying

the Group’s accounting policies in many areas Actual results may
differ irom the estimates calculated using these judgmenis and
assumptions Key sources of estimation uncertainty and cntical
accounting Judgments are as follows

Disposal provisions

As at 31 December 2006, the Group had disposal prowisions of
£317m These disposal provisions have arisen as a result of the
reshaping of the Group's portfolio of businesses and include
amounts relating to long-term residual obligations such as legacy
management pension administration, envwonmental costs and
direct disposal costs such as termination costs, transaction costs
and separation costs The inhal determination of the size of these
provisions, and the subsequent trmung and amounts of the
expenditure in relation to these prowsions, 1S Inherently difficult 1o
estimate and 15 based on best management judgment at tha time
The provisions are regularly reviewed in the ight of the most cusrent
information available

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit retirement plans
The Group's total obligation in respect of defined benefi plans otals
£9 3bn, plan assets total £8 Obn, gvng a net deficit position of

£1 3bn for the Group

Assumptions

Key financial assumptions are set and agreed based on advice
from independent, qualified actuanes on an annual basis n respect
of all the Group's rajor defined benefit plans These assumptions
are then used to calculate the present value of the defined benefit
obligation for each plan Apprepriate discount rates to be used

are dernved from selected indices of high qualily corporate bonds
in each of the countries relevant to those plans, having regard io
the average duration of the pension plan labiities Long-term rates
of return on plan assets are agreed after consideration of trends
and recent experience with the fund investment managers and

the actuanes The weighted average rate of return calculation
takes account of any planned changes in the investrnent portfolio
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The price inflation assumption 15 derved, for the most significant
companent of the calculation {1 e that relating to the UK funds)
from published Bank of England inflation curves The long-term
rate of increase of future earnings 18 based on discussions within
the operating businessses in each country, also taking account of
recent experience Increases in pension payments are based on
local legislation or scheme requirements

Mortality and longevity assumptons are set and agreed based ¢on
advice from the actuanes with regard to the demographics of each
scheme In respect of the ICI UK Pension Fund, which represented
82% of the tota! Group's defined benefit pension obligations at the
end of 2006, the mortality assumptions are formally reviewed at least
every 3 years The current assumptions are disclosed in note 26 on
pages 103 and 104 This disclosure shows the mortalty table used
together with a table showing the expected age at death of an
average mamber refinng at the current date compared with one
retining in ten years time, in order ¢ communicate the impact of
assumed improvements in longevity The other material assumptions
are those concerning healthcare cost trend rates and thess are also
disclosed Iin note 26 on page 104

| Accounts

Average remaining life expectancy and remaining service assumptions
are based on demographic assumptions reflecting the Group's
penston plan populations, as advised by the actuares These are
considered annually as part of the accounting valuations but tend

to be revised less frequently based on whether a change in mortaliity
table 1s considered appropnate during a full fund vatuation

The size of the toial obligation 1s sensitive to actuartal assumptions
These include demographic assumptions covenng mortality and
longevity, and economic assumptions covering price and medical
costs inflation, benefit and salary increase rates together with the
discount rate used A 0 1% decrease in the discount rate would
increase the Group's total obligation In respect of defined benefit
plans by approximately £125m, and, independently, a 0 1% decrease
in the nflation rate would decrease the Group’s total obligation tin
respect of defined benefit plans by approximately £99m wath all
other assumptions unchanged As required under 1AS19 Employee
Benefits, the sensitivity of a 1% change in the healthcare cost irend
rate on service and Interest cost, as well as on the defined benefit
obligation, 18 shown in note 26
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Notes relating to the Group accounts contnued

Asset returns

Actual rates of return on assets will vary from the expecied rates of
return used to calculate the post-retirement benefit finance iIncome
A companson between the expected and actual long-term rates of
return 1s disclosed in note 26, showing the actual less expectad
return on plan assets and reimbursement rights separately, in both
absolute and percentage terms

Contributions

The regular Company contributions 1o pension funds relating to
active members of the funds are expected to be breadly in the range
of £80-120m each year, subject to changes in contributicn rates
determined from updated actuarial assumptions, changes in numbers
of employees and the numbers of early retiraments

In addition, recurring contributions are required to address funding
shortfalis and in particular, as a result of the most recent funding
valuation of the ICl UK Pensicn Fund, additional "top-up” contributions
In respect of the funding deficit will be made at £122m per year for
three years from 2007 to 2009, and £62m per year for five years
from 2010 to 2014, and for the ICl1 UK Specialty Chemicals Fund
“top—up” contributions are recurrng at £12m per year over the ten
year pericd fraom 2006 to 2015 These contributions are subject to
review at the trienmial funding valuations for both funds, and could
vary up or down depending on the outcomes of those valuations
Additionally, as a consequence of the Unigema divestment,
contributtons totalling £48m will be made to the ICl UK Specialty
Chemtcal Fund and the ICI UK Pensten Fund and, as a consequence
of the sale of the Quest business, the Company Is expected to make
a contribution to the ICH UK Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund of
approximately £65m and a contribution to the IC| UK Pension Fund
of approximately £138m

Taxation

Prowisions for tax contingencies require management to make
Jjudgments and estimates in relation to tax issues and exposures
Amounts prowded are based on management's interpretation of
country specific tax law and the hkelihood of settlement In arrving
at this position, management reviews each material tax benefit to
assess whether a provision should be taken aganst full recogrition
of the benefit on the basis of full disclosure to any relevant taxing
authority and potential settlement through negctiation and/or
ii)gation  All such provisions are included in current tax kabilities

The matenal tax provisions are discussed below

The current tax kability of £217m (2005 £360m) represents the
amount of ncome taxes payable in respect of current and prior
periods It includes total prowvisions far uncertamn tax positions of
£148m (2005 £248m) These exposures, where significant, arise
principalty In the UK, US and Australian jurisdictions where the

Group conducts or conducted the major part of its business, where
its principal assets are or were located and from where 1ts major
sharehalding investments are or were held Lesser exposures exist

In a number of other jurnisdictions ncluding the Netherlands, Pakistan,
France Germany, Span, ltaly, Belgium and Mexico

Over the past nine years, the Group has established a portfolio of
specialty chemicals and coatings businesses through a number of
acquisitions and disposals Since 1997, the Group has bought and
sold businesses worth n excess of £12bn Consequent on these
disposals and acquisitions the Group has also undertaken substantial
internal restructunng both of its holding structure and business models
As aresult of this activity, 2 number of potential tax exposures have
ansen In addiion, the Group faces a number of potential transfer
pricing 1ssues in junsdictions around the world The Group also
faces expaosures relating to refief from double taxation and foreign
tax credits, country specific technical 1ssues and a number of other
exposures The Issues are often complex and can require many
years to resolve Further details on these exposures and the relevant
provisions are Included In note 22
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The Group has stignificant unreccgnised deferred tax assets Gross
deferred tax assets of £894m have been reduced by deferred tax
labilities of £172m arising on taxable temparary differences The
remaining potential deferred tax assets of £722m have been reduced
by valuation allowances of £486m and reclassification of £7m to
assets held for sale, giving recognised deferred tax assets of £229m
The calculation of these valuation allowances involves considerable -
management judgment as to the hkelihood of realisation of these
deferred tax assets The yurisdiction most impacted 1s the UK,

where large amounis of potental deferred tax assets anse due to

a combination of post-retirement benefyt habilities and operating
losses, but only £78m of deferred tax assets are recogrnsed Other
Junisdictions where uncertainties have caused unrecognised deferred
tax assets include in particutar the USA, and to a lesser extent the
Netherlands, Germany, Spain and Canada

Management's judgment on the requirement for valuation allowances
13 based on a number of factors, which seek to assess the
expectation that the benefit of deferred tax assets will be realised n
a number of junsdictions {UX, Netherlands, Germany, Spain, Canada
and the USA) there are insufficient taxable temporary timing
differences to allow recognition of these assets and either forecasts
in these junisdictions show recurning taxable losses or our forecasts
do not indicate that it 1s probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits in future pericds to support full recognition In assessing the
sufficiency of future taxable income the Group takes account of tax
planning strategses which it believes to be prudent and appropnate

Both recognition and non-recognition of deferred tax assets are
dependent on an ongoing review by management of assumptions

in forecasting future profits and trading condittons Changes In
conditions may lead te both ingreases or decreases in farecast
profits and in such circumstances continuted or ncreased recogniticn
of deferred tax assets will be reviewed

Further detail on the Group's deterred taxation position 1s included
In note 17

Contingent habilities

The Group s exposed to a variety of events which might result in
labilities anising No prevision has been made for these contingent
habsdities since either the obligations have been evaluated as “possible”
and therr existence wilt be confirmed by uncertain future events, or
they have nat been recegnised because erther a transfer of economic
benefits 1s not *probable” or the amount cannot be measured with
sufficient reliabtity Details of the Group's contingent liabihties are

set gut 1n note 33

Goodwill

The Group has capitalised geodwill under US GAAFP of £2 7bn at
31 December 2006 Goodwill 1s required te be tested for imparment
at least annually or more frequently If changes in circumstances or
the occurrence of events indicated potential imparrment exists The
Company uses the present value of future cash flows to determine
mpled ar value In calculating the implied far value, significant
management judgment 1s required in forecasting cash flows of the
reporiing unit, In estimating terminal grawth values and In selecting
an appropriate discount rate If alternatve management judgments
were adopted then different impawrment outcomes could result

No impairment resulted from the annual impairment test in 2006

The headroom in the annual impairment test under US GAAP for
the Paints North America reporting unit was £290m {total US GAAP
goodwill of £145m at 31 December 2006}, a 1% increase in the
discount rate applied would have resulted In 2 £60m reduction in
the headroom
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Principal subsidiary undertakings

at 31 December 2006

l Accounts

Class of Held by ICE Principal actlvities in 2006
capital %
UNITED KINGDOM
ICI Finance PLC QOrdinary 1001 Financial services
England
J P McDougall & Co Limited Ordinary 1007 Merchanting of paints, wall covenings and
England allied products
National Starch & Chemical Lid Ordinary 1007 Manufacture of adhesives, electroric materiais,
England specialty starches and specialty polymers
Quest International Flavours and Ordwnary 1001 Manufacture of flavours and fragrances
Fragrances Limited?
England
CONTINENTAL EUROPE
Deutsche ICl GmbH Ordinary 100t Manufacture of paints and adhesives
Germany
Elotex AG Qrdinary 100t Manufacture of redispersible emulsion
Switzerland powder polymers
Quest International Nederland Bv® QOrdinary 100t Manufacture of flavours
The Netherlands
THE AMERICAS
1C1 American Holdings Inc Common 1007 Holding company
UsA
The Ghidden Company Common 1001 Manufacture of paints
USA
Indopco Inc Common 100t Manufacture of adhesives, specialty starches,
USA electronic matenals, resins and other specialty
polymers
Quest International Flavours and Fragrances Inc® Common 100% Manufacture of flavours and fragrances
USA
ICl Canada Inc Common 1001 Manufacture of pamnts, merchanting of ICI and
Canada other products
Tintas Coral Ltda Ordinary 1007 Manufacture of pants
Brazil
ASIA PACIFIC
ICIl India Ltd Equity* 51 Manufacture of pants and adhesives
India
{Accounting date 31 March
reporting date 31 December)
{Cl Pakistan Limited Ordinary* 76t Manufacture of polyester staple fibre, soda ash,
Pakistan paints, specialty chemicals, sodum bicarbonate
and polyurethanes, marketing of seeds toll
manufactured and imported pharmaceuticals
and animal health products, merchanting of
general chemicals
Pakistan PTA Limited Ordinary® 75% Manufacture of pure terephthalic acid
Pakistan
National Starch and Chemical Ordinary 1007 Manufacture of specialty starches and adhesives
{Thailand) Ltd
Thailand
Nippon NSC Ltd Common 100t Manufacture of adhesives and specialty
Japan polymers, merchanting of specialty starches
* Listed

1 Held by subsidiaries

? These subsidiary undertakings are included as part of the disposal of the Quest business announced i the fourth quarter 2008

The country of principal operations and registration or incorperation 1s stated below each company The accouniing dates of the principal
subsidiary undertakings are 31 December untess otherwise stated

The companies listed above are those whose resuits 1n the opimion of the Drrectors, princepally affected the profits or net assets of the Group
A full list of subsidiary and associated undertakings at 31 December will be annexed to the next annual raturn of the Company to be fited with

the Registrar of Companies
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independent auditor’s report to the
Members of Imperial Chemical Industries PLC

We have audited the parent company accounts of Impenal Chemical
Industries PLC for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise
the balance sheet and the related notes These parent company
accounts have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
theren We have also audited the nformation in the Directors’
Remuneration report that 1s described as having been audited

Woe have reported separately on the Group accounts of Impenal
Chemicat Industries PLC for the year ended 31 December 2006

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,

in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are requied to state to them in an
auditar's report and for no other purpese To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members

as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions

we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

Tha Directors' responsibiities for preparing the Annuat Report, the
Directors' Remuneration report and the parent company accounts
in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards
{UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice} are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities cn page 57

Qur responsibility 1s to audit the parent company accounts and
the part of the Drrectors’ Remuneration report to be audited in

accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company
accounts give a true and farr view and whether the parent company
accounts and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to

be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 We also report to you whether in our opirmon
the information given in the Directors’ report 18 consistent with the
parent company accounts In addition, we report to you If, in our
opinicn, the Company has not kept proper accounting records

if we have not received alf the Information and explanations we
require for cur audit, or 1f information specified by law regarding
Directors' remuneration and ether transactions 15 not disclosed

We read the other information containad in the Annual Report and
consider whether it 1s consistent with the audited parent company
accounts We constder the implications for our report If we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or materal inconsistencies
with the parent company accounts Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We canducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Pracitces Board
An audit includes examination on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company accounts and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited 1t also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the parent company
accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the nformation
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to

provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance

that the parent company accounts and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration report to be audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or ather iregularity or error In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation -
of iInformation in the parent company accounts and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited

Opinion
In our opimon

+ the parent company accounts gve a true and fair view, in
accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 Decembear 2006

+ the parent company accounts and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985, and

» the information given in the Directors’ report 15 egpsistent with
the parent company accounts V(v

KPMG Audit Plufpw W

Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
London

22 February 2007
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Company accounting policies

As used in the ftnancial statements and related notes the term
‘Company’ refers to Impenal Chemical Industries PLC The separate
financial statements of the Campany are presented as required by
the Companies Act 1985 As permiited by the Act, the separate
hinancial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("UK GAAPT}

The financial statements have beean prepared an the histoncal cost
tasis The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below
By wirtue of Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company
15 exempt from presenting a profit and loss account The Company
has taken the exemption not to prepare a cash flow statement under
the terms of FRS 1 (Rewised 1986) Cash Flow Statements

The fellowing paragraphs describe the main accounting policies
These policties have been consistently applied to all the years presented

Turnover

Turnover represents the farr value of consideration received and
recervable for goods supphed to customers after dectucting sales
allowances, rebates and value added taxes Revenue from the sale of
goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods have been transferred to the customar, the revenue can
be measured rehably and collectability 1s reasonably assured

Depreciation

The Company's policy I1s to write off the book value of each tangible
fixed asset excluding land to its residual value evenly over its estimated
remaing ife Reviews are made annually of the estimated remaning
lives of iIndwvidual productive assets, taking account of commercial
and technological cbsolescence as well as normal wear and tear
Under this policy, the lives approximate to 32 years for bulldings and
14 years for plant and equipment Depreciation of assets quahfying
for grants 15 calculated on therr full cost No depreciation has been
provided on land Impairment reviews ara performed where therg

1s an indication of potential impairment [f the carrying value of an
asset exceeds the higher of the discounted estimated future cash
flows and net realisable value, the mparment 1s charged to the

profit and loss account

Retirement benefits

Retrement benefits are accounted for under FRS 17 Retirement
Benefits The Company operates definad contribution and benefit
schemes for its employses The Company is unable to identify its
share of assets of the underlying assets and habibties of its defined
benefit schemes In accordance with FRS 17, the Company accounts
for them as though they were defined contribution schemes

Research and development
Research and development expenditure 1s charged to profit in the
year in which it 15 incurred

Foreign currencies

Assets and babilities are translated at exchange rates ruling at the
date of the Company balance sheet Exchange differences on foreign
currency borrowings and deposiis are included within net interest
payable Exchange differences on all other balances are taken to
operating profit

Financial derivatives

Financial instruments are reported in accordance with FRS 26
Financral instruments Recognition and Measurement The
accounting policies are presented below

Financral derivatives

The Company uses various dervative financial instruments to
manage exposure to foreign exchangs risks The Company does not
use denvative financtal instruments for speculative purposes

www icl com

Hedge accounting
The accouniing for the Company’s vanous hedging actvities are
detalled below

Transaction exposure hedging
Forward currency contracls hedging transaction exposures are far
valued through the iIncome statement No hedge accounting s appled

Cash flow hedging

Derwatives used to economically hedge the currency risks associated
with forecast cash flows are fair valued through the ncome statement
Where these derwatives form part of designated, effective cash flow
hedges, the portion of the gan or loss that 1s determined to be an
effective hedge in terms of FRS 26 Financial instruments Recogrition
and Measurement 1s recognised directly in equity as a separate
component of reserves Amounts that have been recognised directly
n equity are recognised in the income staterment in the same period
or penods during which the hedged forecast transaction impacts the
income statement

Discontinuance of hedge accounting

Hedge accounting Is discontinued prospectively when the hedging
instrument expires or 15 sold, terminated, or exercisad, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting At the time, the following accounting
treatment will be adopted

Fair value hedges

Any farr value adjustment made to the carrying amount of the hedged
item, as a consequence of the far value hedge relationship shall be
amertised to profit or loss through the income staternent over the
rematning life of the hedged item

Cash flow hedges

Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised
in equity IS retained tn equity until the forecasted transaction occurs
If a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recogrused in equity 1s transferred to net
prefit or 10ss for the period through the income statement

Investments
Investments are held at cost less provisions for impairmant

Operating leases
The cost of operating leases 1s charged on the straight ine basis
over the period of the lease

Taxation

Full provision for deferred tax 1s made for timing differences between
the recogniton of gans and losses in the financral statements and
thewr recognition in the tax computation, using current tax rates
except as otherwise required by FRS 19 Deferred Tax The Company
does not discount these balances No deferred tax is provided in
respect of any future remittance of earrings of foreign subsidianes
or associates where ne commitment has been made to remit

such earnings

| Accounts

Stock valuation

Finished goods, raw materials and other stocks are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value The first i, first out or an
average cost method of valuation 1s used In determining cost for
stock valuation purpases, depreciation 1s included but selling
expenses and certain overhead expensas are excluded

Environmental habilities

The Company Is exposed to environmental habilities relating primarily
to 1is past operations, principally in respect of soil and groundwater
remediation costs Provisions for these costs are made when
expenditure on remedial work 1s probable and the cost can be
estimated within a reascnable range of possible outcomes
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Company accounting policies contnued

Disposal provisions

The Company 1s exposed (o certain habihties when businesses
are divested and disposal provisions are created as part of the
gan or loss on disposal calculation Typical costs include pension
liabilities, environmental costs, transaction costs and separation
costs Prowvisions are only established when the Company has

a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it 1s probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate ¢an be
made of the amount of the obligation The Company reviews Its
disposal provistons regularly to determine whether they accurately
reflect the present obhgations of the Company based on the latest
available facts

Contingent kablities

Contingent habilities are possible obligations that arise from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one

or more uncertan future events not wholly within the Company’s control
or are present oblgaticns ansing from past events that are not
racogrised as It 1s not probable a transfer of economic benefits will
occur or the amount cannot be measured with sufficient gertainty
The Company's reviews Its obligations regularly
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Share-based payments

The Company has applied the requirements of FRS 20 Share-based
Payment and has elected not 1o adopt the exemption {o apply

FRS 20 only to awards made after 7 November 2002, instead a

full retrospectve approach has been followed on all grants not fully
vested al the date of adoption to maintain consistency across
reporting periods

The Company 1ISSues equity settled share-based payments to certain
employees Equity settled share-based payments are measured at
fair value at grant date Faw value 1s measured using the Black-
Scholes model, taking nto account the terms and conditions upen
which the instruments were granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting cenditions

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod 1s determined
by reference to the {ar valus of the equity mstruments granted and
the number of equity INstruments which eventually vest At each
balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates in respect of
non markat condiions of the nurnber of equity Instruments that are
expected to vest It recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, If any, in the ncome statement, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining vasting penod
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Company balance sheet

at 31 December 2006

2006 2005
notes £m £m
Assets employed
Fixed assets
Tangible assets (m} 56 61
Investments
Subsidiary undertakings (i) 11,965 12,710
Parucipating and other interests {v) 1 1
12,022 12,772
Current assets
Stocks [\l k¥ <3
Debtors {w) 3,355 2,627
Cash 1 12
3,403 2,670
Total assets 15,425 15,442
Creditors due within one year
Other creditors {vu) {8,311) (7,641)
Net current (iabilities) {4,908} (4,971}
Total assets less current habilities 7,114 7.801
Financed by
Craditors due after more than one year
Loans (wilt) 20 23
Other creditors (vin) 2,390 3,085
2,410 3,108
Provisions for habihities {x} 126 81
Shareholders’ funds - equity
Called-up share capital {xi} 1,193 1,192
Share premum account 936 934
Profit and loss account 2,449 2,488
Total shareholders® funds 4,578 4,612
7.114 7 801

See accompanying notes o parent company financeal statements

‘The accounts on pages 135 {0 144 were aut]

P B Ellwood CBE Director

A J Brown Director

A 1—

www el com

sed for 1ssue by the Bo.

of Drectors on 22 February 2007 and were signed on its behalf by
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Notes relating to the Company accounts

(1) Basis of presentation

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985 As permiited by the Act,
the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principals ("UK GAAP®}
The accounting policies under UK GAAP are presented on pages 135 to 136

A list of principal subsidiary undertakings 1s presented on page 133
Implementation of UK Accounting Standards

New accounting standards

The following standards 1ssued by the ASB came into effect during the year

Amendment to FRS 23 Net Investment i1 a Foreign Operation

In December 2005, the ASB 1ssued an amendment to FRS 23 in respect of an entity’s investment in forexgn operations Thes replicates the
amendment 1o IAS 21 that the Group has adopted in its 2006 consolidated financial statements The amendment 15 effective for accounting
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2006

FRS 28 Corresponding Amounts
FRS 28 seis out the requirements for the disclosure of corresponding amounts for items shown in a company’s pnmary financial statements
and notes to the financial statements

The adoption of the above standards did not have a significant effect on the resulis or financial position of the Company

The following standards 1ssued by the ASB only become effective for penods after 31 December 2006
Amendment to FRS 17 Retirement Benefits {effective for periods beginning on ar after & April 2007)

Amendment to FRS 26 Financial instruments Measurement — Recogmition and Derecognition (effective for periods commencing on
or after 1 January 2007)

FRS 29 Financial Instruments Disclosures (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007)

UITF Abstract 42 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives {should be adopted in financial statements related to accounting periods
beginning on ar after 1 June 2006}

UITF Abstract 41 Scope of FRS 20 (IFRS 2) (effective for perods beginning on or afier 1 May 2006)

The Company 1s currently assessing the impact of these standards, which are not ye! effective
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(n) Tangible assets

Payments on
accounts and
assals m
Land and Prant and course of
buldings equepment  constructon Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 34 193 7 231
Capital expenditure 6 ]
Transters of assets into use & (B} -
Disposals and other movements (1) {5 - (6}
At end of year 30 194 7 231
Depreciation
At beginnung of year 17 153 - 170
Charge for year " 11
Disposals and other rmovements (1) 5} (6)
At end of year 16 159 - 175
Net book value at end 2006 14 35 7 56
Net book value at end 2005 14 40 7 61
Analysis of land and buildings
2006 2005
£m m
Tre ret book value of land and bulldngs comprises
Freeholds 4 4
Long leases {over 50 years unexpired) - -
Shart leases 10 10
14 14
{i1) Investments in subsicdhary undertakings
Shares Loans. Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 3,886 8,699 12,785
New mnvestments/new loans 345 281 626
Digposals/loans repaid/transfers (9) (1,212) {1,221)
Exchange adjustments (5) (70 {75)
At end of year 4,217 7,898 12,115
Provisions
At beginning of year (74) (1) (75)
Amounts written off investments (86) - {86)
Exchange adjustments 4 4
Disposals and other movements 7 - 7
At end of year (149) (1) (150)
Balance sheet value at end 2006 4,068 7,897 11,965
Balance sheet value at end 2005 3.812 8,898 12,710

The carrying value of investment in Ergon Investments UK Limited has been reassessed during the period and a charge of £86m has been
taken In the opimion of the Direciors the value of investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the amount at which they are stated
in the balance sheet

2006 2005
£m £m

Shares in subsidiary undertakings which are listed investments
Balance sheet value 4 4
Market value 103 a5

The Company's nvestments i its subsidiary undertakings consist of either equity or long-term loans or both Normal trading balances are
included in either debtors or creditors Information on principal subsidiary undertakings is given on page 133
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contnued

(1v) Investments in participating and other interests

Qther

shares
€m
Cost
At the beginning and end of year 2
Provisions .
At the beginning and end of year (4]
Balance sheet value at end 2006 1
Batance sheet value at end 2005 1
(v} Stocks
2006 2005
€m fm
Raw materials and consumables 7 5
Stocks in process - -
Finished goods and goods for resale 30 26
37 31
{vi} Debtors
2006 2005
£m £m
Amounts due within one year
Trade debtors - -
Less amounts set aside for doubtful accounts - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 3,317 2,612
Other prepayments and accrued ingome 8 10
Deferred tax assets 2 -
QOther debtors 15 5
3,342 2,627
Amounts due after more than one year
Detferred tax assets 13 -
Total debtors 3,385 2,627

The Company has also provided an asset-backed guarantes, via a wholly owned subsidiary, IC] Recevables Funding Ltd (“the SPV"}
specifically nmcorporated to pravide the guarantes, for £250m to support its commitments for the IC| Pension Fund (see note 34 relating to
the Group accounts) The asset-backed guarantee 1s secured by way of fixed and floating charges aver the trade debtors of certain Group
compameas which have been assigned to the SPV At 31 December 20086, £41m of the Company's gross trade debtors (2005 £41m) were

assigned to the SPV
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{vi) Other creditors

2006 2005
£m £m
Amounts due within one year
Trade creditors 77 B3
Arnounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 8,068 7,336
Corporate taxation 100 187
Accruals 34 28
Other creditors 32 27
8,311 7.641
Amounts due after more than cne year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertalangs 2,385 3074
Qther creditors 5 1
2,390 3,085
(vin} Loans
Repayment 2006 2005
dates £m £m
Unsecured loans
US dollars
Varable rate medium-term notes 2010 20 23
Total unsecured 20 23
2006 2005
£m £m
Loan maturities
Loans or mstalments therecf are repayable
After 5 years from balance sheet date - -
From 2 to 5 years 20 23
From 1 to 2 years - -
Total due after more than one year 20 23
Total due within one year - _
Total loans 20 23
Aggregate amount of loans any instalment of which falls due after 5 years - -
{ix} Provisions for habilitties
Defarred Disposal Aestructunng Other %
taxatan PONSONS provisions, PIOVISIING Total =]
£m £m £m £m Em 8
At beginning of 2006 13 58 4 6 81 <
Profit and loss account (28) 19 18 60 69
Net amounts paid or becoming payable (30) (9) - (39)
Transfer to debtors 15 15
At end of 2006 - 47 13 66 126
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contnued

Disposal and legacy provisions
Dwestmeni provistons relate to long-term residual activities principally relating to pensien administration and environmental costs
The nature of these provisions Is such that expenditure 1s expected to occur over the period from 2007 10 at least 2030

Restructuring provisions
In 20086, the Group initiated an extensive new restructuring and transformation programme  This programme wilf include a number
of key activities

« separate projecis to intagrate many of ICI's Human Resource and Finance activities across the Group,

» manufactuning plant improvement and plant network restructuring actvities to create significant further efficiencies and supply
chain performance improvements,

» improvement In sales force effectivensss and customer service projects across ICI, and
+ general efficiency and overhead reduction initiatves
Other provisions

Other provisions relats to a fine of €91 4m (£62m) imposed by the European Commussion relating to ICl's ownership of 1CI Acrylics,
which has been provided for in full

{x) Deferred tax

2006 2005
£m £m
Deferred tax habilittes
UK fixed assets/other (3) 22)
() (22)
Deferred tax assets
Restructuring prowvisions/business prowsions/other 18 9
15 13
Deferred tax assets (habilities) accounted for at the balance sheet date
Analysed as
Current 2 {4}
Non-current 13 {9}
15 (13)
{x1) Called-up share capital
Allotted
calied-up
and fully
Authonsed pald
£m £m
Ordinary Shares of £1 each
At beginnmng of 2005 1,400 1,11
Employee share option schemes - options exercised 1
At end of 2005 1,400 1,192
Employee share option schemes — options exercised 1
At end of 2006 1,400 1,193
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(xn) Share capital and reserves

Share Profiz
Share premeET and loss
caprtal acoount account Total
fm £m £m £m
At 1 January 20086 1,192 934 2 486 4,612
Net profit for the year 57 57
Dradends {96) (96)
Share-based payments 2 2
Shares i1ssued/nghts issue 1 2 3
At 31 December 2006 1,193 936 2,449 4,578
By wirtua of s230(4} of the Compantes Act 1985, the Company Is exempt from preparing a profit and loss account
For details on dwvidends paid and payable duning the year, see note 28 relating 1o the Group accounts
{xiii) Commitments and contingencies
2006 2005
£m fm
Commitments for capital expenditure not provided for In these accounts (including acquistions)
Contracts placed for future expenditure 2 2
Expenditure authorised but not yet contracted 4 4
8 3]

Contingent labihties existed at 31 December 2006 1n connection with guarantees and uncalled capital relating to subsidiary and other
undertakings and guarantees relating to pension funds, including the solvency of pension funds The maximum contingent hability for

the Company, mainly on guarantees of borrowings by subsidiaries, was £8955m (2005 £1 203m) In particular, the Cempany has fully and
uncenditionally guaranteed the debt securities of its wholly owned subsidiary IC1 Witmington (ne From time 10 time, the Company in

the ordinary course of business, also provides guarantees to its wholly owned subsidiaries

From 1 January 2006, the Company has adopted the amendments te FRS 26 n relation to financial guarantee contracts Where the Company
enters into financial guarantee coniracts and guarantees the indebtedness of other companies within the Group, the Company considers these
to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such In this respect, the Company treats the guarantes contract as a contingent
liability until such time that 1t becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantse

{x1v) Post-retirement benefits

The Company operates defined contribution and mulii-employer defined benefit schemes for its employees The cost recognised in the period
for defined contnbution schemes amounted to £82m 1n 2006 {2005 £45m) Qutstanding contributions at the balance sheet date amounted to
£nif (2005 £nil} The principal multi-employer defined benefit schemes in operation in the UK are the ICI Pension Fund and the IC! Spectaity
Chemucals Pension Fund The date of the most recent {ull actuanal funding valuatien for the ICI Pension Fund and the iCl Specialty Chemicals
Pension Fund was 31 March 2005 The Company i1s unatle to identify its share of the underlying assets and iabilities of these funds The
deficit on the ICI Pension Fund and ICI Specialty Chemicals Pensien Fund amounted to £697m (2005 £817m) and £111m (2005 £140m)
raspectively at 31 December 2006 Under FRS 17, the Company treats its contrioutions into these schemes as though they were defined
contributions and has consequently not recogmised any deficit relating to these schemes

The Company agreed te make "top-up® contributions to the ICI UK Pension Fund aver nine years, comprising annual payments of £122m
for the first four years, from 2006 to 2009, and annual payments of £62m for the following five years, from 2010 to 2014 1t also agreed to
make “top-up” contributions to the ICI UK Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund over ten years, comprising annual payments of £12 3m, from
2006 to 2015

{xv) Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Company (including Directars) durning the year, was as follows

Number of employees

2006 2005

Average number of persons employed by the Company 1,139 1177
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows

2006 2005

frn £m

Wages and salaries 69 63

Share-based payments (see note xvi) 2 3

Social securnty costs
Other pension costs 85 47
163 120
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Notes relating to the Company accounts contnued

(xvi) Directors’' remuneration

Information covering Directors’ remuneration, interests in shares, debentures, share options and pension benefits 1s included in note 2 relating

to the Group accounts and in the Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 56

{xvu) Share-based payments

For details of ICI’'s employee share option schemes and other share-based plans refer 10 note 7 relating to the Group accounts

The Company has apphed the requrement of FRS 20 Share-based Payment and has elacted not to adopt the exemption to apply FRS 20 only
to awards made after 7 November 2002, nstead a full retrospective approach has been foliowed on ali grants not fully vestad at the date of

transition In crder to maintain consistency across the reporting periods

The far value of share options granted 15 determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, refer to note 7 relating to the Group accounts

for the farr value assumptions used

Transactions on Option Schemes

Sentor Statf Scheme UK - Sharesave SARP
Welghted Waighted Weightad
average average Number average
Numbar exercise Number exercise of optians exercisa
of options prica of optlons price In ADRs price
000 £ 000 £ 000 $
Qutstanding
At beginning of 2005 15,129 290 2,147 208 803 16 82
Granted 2,584 2 81 - - 160 2t 25
Exercised (2 293) 178 (107} 216 - -
Forfeited/expred {1,709) 4 41 17) 2 66 - -
At beginning of 2006 13,711 289 1,623 193 963 17 55
Granted 2,228 348 - - 140 2419
Exercised {840) 288 (281) 232 {406} 1514
Forfeited/expired (581) 519 (38) 226 (560} 22 63
At end of 2006 14,518 249 1,254 182 137 1077
Options exercisable at 31 December 2006 1,272 525 209 183 - -
Summary of options outstanding at 31 December 2006
Weighted
average Waighted
Number of  contractual average
options remaining exerclse
outstanding hte prica
000 Years 74
Exercise price range
Senior Staff Scheme
£0-£5 13,803 673 270
£5-£10 418 226 5864
£10-£15 197 138 1008
14,518 249
UK Sharesave
£G-£5 1,254 14 182
1,254 182
SARP {ADRs)
$0-$20 137 593 1077
137 1077

{xvin} Audstors’ remuneration

Remuneration of the Audstor for the audit of the Group n note 6 relating to the Group accounis includes fees and expenses of the Auditor in
respect of the statutory report to the members of the Company for the year 2006 armounting to £69,000 (2005 £66,000, 2004 £65,000)
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Group selected financial data

The selected financial data on pages 145 to 149 1s shown in accordance with IFRS for 2006 to 2004, and in accordance with UK GAAP for
2004 tc 2002 The UK GAAP data should be read n conjunction with the IFRS transition adjustments in note 35 relating to the Group accounts
in the 2005 Annual Report and Accounts to gain an understanding of the nature of the adjustments made to UK GAAP data to comply with
IFRS

The IFRS data has been selected from the financial statements of the 1CI Group for this year or, where certain items are not shown in those
annual audited financial statements, has been prepared for the purpose of this report This data should be read i conjunction with, and

1s qualified in 1ts entirety with reference to, the financial statements and notes refating to the accounts included elsewhere in this report
The IFRS data has been restated where appropriate to accord with the Group's current accounting policies {which precede and form part
of the Group's financial statements) and basis of prasentation of financial nformation {described in note 1 relaing to the Group accounts)

The UK GAAP data has been selected from the financial statements of the ICI Group from the three years ended 2004 or, where certamn
items are not shown in those annual audited financial statements, has been prepared for the purpose of this report This data should e
read in cenunction with and 1s qualified in its entirety with reference to, the financial statements and notes relating to the accounts included
elsewhere 1n those reports The UK GAAP data has been restated where appropriate to accord with the Group's accounting policies as
presented In the 2004 Annual Report and Accounts, being the most recent set of Group consolidated stalements presented under UK GAAP
(the classification of operations between continuing and disconbinued has not been restated for disposals occurring in 2005 or 2006)

The net profit for the financial periods In the summary Group income statement and Shareholders' funds - equity in the summary Group
balance sheets are stated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted under IFRS Refer to note 36 relating to the Group
accounts for a discussion of tha main differences between IFRS and accounting principles generally accepted in the USA (US GAAP)

2008 2005 2004
netes £m £m £m
Summary of Group incoma statement - IFRS
Continuing operations
Revenue 4,845 4,601 4,419
Operating profit before special items 2 502 479 481
Special items (charged) credited to operating profit (71) 5 @)
Operating profit after special items 2 431 484 478
Share of profits less losses of associates 2 3 4
Profits less losses on sale of continuing operations 4 13 185
Interest expense (123) (131} (172)
Interest income 44 56 85
Foreign exchange gains on debt previousty hedging goodwill written off to reserves 15 2 15
Past-retirement benafit nterest cost (422) {411) (407)
Post-retirement benefit expected return on assets 404 381 381 °
Net finance expense (82) {103) {98) ,'é
Profit before taxation 355 397 567 ;n;
Income tax expense 3 {56) {68) {©7) =
Net profit for the financial year from continuing operations 299 329 470 b
Discontinued operations %
Profit from discontinued operations before special items 62 52 42 %
Special items charged to profit from discontinued operations (69) 39 1 a
Profits less losses on sale of discontinued operations a7 - (5) 8
Net profit for the year from discontinued operations 30 91 38 —
Net profit for the financial year 329 420 508
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 295 380 474
Attributable to minority interests 34 30 34
Net profit for the financial year 329 420 508
Profit before ncome tax expense and special items for continuing operations 407 377 370
Profit before ncome tax expense and special tems for continuing and discontinued operations 482 444 422
Earnings and dwvidends
Adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 5 31 6p 271p 25 8p
Earmings per £1 Ordinary Share 5 24 9p 329p 401p
Basic Earmings per £1 Ordinary Share
Continumng operations 23 3p 255p a7 1ip
Discantinued operations 13 16p 7 4p 30p
Total basic earmngs per £1 Ordinary Share 24 9p 32 S%p 401p
Diluted Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share
Continuing operatans 23 0p 254p 37 1p
Discontnued operatons 13 15p 74p 30p
Total diluted earmings per £1 Ordinary Share 24 5p 32 8p 43 1p
Dwadends per E1 Ordinary Share — pence 8 9p 77 73p
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Group selected financial data connued

2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m

Summary of Group profit and loss account - UK GAAP
Turmover 5,601 5,849 6125
Operating profit before exceptional items 2 444 394* 496"
Exceptional tems charged to operating profit (5) {200} -
Operating profit alter exceptonal items H 439 194 496
Share of operating profits less losses of assoctates before exceptienal items 4 2 18
Share of exceptional items of associates - - -
Profit less losses on sale of operations 3 32 50
Profits less losses on disposal of fixed assets (1) 5 3
Amounts written off investments - (57) (99)
Net nterest payable

Group {86) (92) {123)

Associates 1 (28)

{86) e1) {(151)

Profit before taxation 359 85 317
Taxation 3 (118) {41) (411}
Attnibutable to minarities (33) (24) (27)
Net profit for the financial year 210 20 179
Continuing operations 4 224 23 166
Discontinued operations 12 {14) {3) i3
Total 210 20 178
Profit before taxation, exceptional tems and goadwill amortisation 397 341 400
Earnings per £1 Crdinary Share before goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items [3 21 89p 18 5p 23 7p
Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share 5
Basic Earnings (loss) per £1 Ordinary Share
Continuing operations 18 9p 20p 14 Sp
Discontinued operations 13 {11)p 0 3p 1 2p
Total basic earnmgs per £1 Ordinary Share 17 Bp 17p 161p
Diluted Earmings (loss) per £1 Ordinary Share
Continuing operations i8 8p 2 0p 14 Bp
Discontinued operations 13 11)p {C 3)p 12p
Total diluted earrungs per £1 Ordinary Share 17 7p 17p 16 Op
Dividends per £1 Ordinary Share - pence 73p 63p 7 5p

* After amortsation of goodwll {2004 £35m, 2003 E38m 2002 £27m)

The financial nformation for 2004, 2003 and 2002 has been extracied from the 2004 Annual Report and Accounts The classification of

operations between continuing and discontinued has not been restated for disposals occurring w 2005 or 2006

146 IC) Annual Report and Accounts 2006

WWww IC) cOom




Summary of Group balance sheets - IFRS
The notes to the selected financial data apply to both IFRS and UK GAAP except where specified otherwise

2006 2005 2004
£m £m tm
Non-current assets 1,917 2612 2,778
Current assets 2,372 2,253 2,133
Total assets 4,285 4,865 4,911
Current habilites (2,370) (2,195) (2,212}
Non-current habiities {2,108) {3,160) (2,950)
Total habilities {4,478) {5,355) {5,162)
Net assets {189) {490} 251}
Attributable to equity holders of the parent (313) 616) {335)
Minondy interests 124 126 84
Total equity (189) (490) {251)
Summary of Group balance sheels - UK GAAP
2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m
Non-current assets 2,200 2,383 2,568
Current assets 2736 2,825 2,898
Total assets 4,936 5,208 5,466
Current habiities (2077) (2,226} (2 418)
Non-current kabuities {2,051) {2,463) {2,516)
Total liabilities (4,128} (4,689} {4,934)
Net assets 808 519 532
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 721 450 4863
Minonty interests 87 69 59
Total equity 808 519 532 "
g
Summary of Group cash flow statement - IFRS §
2006 2005 2004 ]
£m £m £m =
Net cash inflow from operating actmues 191 359 327 E
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing actmities 110 (112) 9) :}’:
Net cash [outflow) from financing actvities (212) (218) {4286) §
S
Cash and cash egunalents at beginning of period 516 469 588 —
Net cash inflow (outflow) from all actwvities 89 29 (108}
Movement arising on forelgn currency transtation and other movemenis {16) 18 {11
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 589 516 469
Summary of Group cash flow statement - UK GAAP
2004 2003 2002
3] £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating actmties 327 327 305
Net cash inflow {outflow} from mwvesting actmties 29 {61) 44
et cash {outflow} from financing actmties {201) (278) {357}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod 243 246 260
Net cash inflow {outflow) from all actraties 155 {12} {8}
Mevement ansing on foreign currency translation and other movements {12} 9 (6}
Cash and cash equvalents at end of peried 386 243 246
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Notes relating to the Group selected financial data

1 Discontinued operations

The basis on which operations have been included under the heading of *Discontinued operations™ 1s explained in note 1 relating to the Group
accounts, togsther with a st of these operations i respect of which transactions have been recorded since 1 January 2004 Transactions
relating to discentinued operations n 2002 and 2003 additionally includes the disposal of the Group's 50% equity shareholding in
Philips—Imperial Petroleum Ltd

2 Operating profit

Operating profit consists of revenue, royalties and other iIncome, less related costs of sales, distnbution, research and development,
administration and other expenses Depreciation is included in each category, as appropriate, i the Group ncome statement

3 Interest incomae, interest expense and income tax expense

Interest income, nterest expense and income tax expense has been allocated to Discontinued operations to reflect the legal entity
incidence of these items within the businesses divested

4 Special items — Continuing operations

IFRS
Special items relating to Continuing operations included in the Group iIncome statement were as {ollows

2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m

Conttnuing operations

Spectal tems before taxation (52 20 157

Taxation on special items 14 9 (19}

Special items attnbutable 1o minonties {10) 1 8

Net profit {loss) on special items attributable to equity holders of the parent (48) 30 172

Note 3 relating to the Group accounts gives detalls of special items for 2004 to 2006

Special items disclosed separately in the IFRS income statement would be incorporated in individual line items under US GAAP
Special tems under IFRS do not represent extraordinary items under US GAAP

UK GAAP
2004 2003 2002
£m €m £m
Exceptional items before taxation 17 {211) (56)
Taxation on exceptional ltems (11} 52 1
Exceptonal tems attributable to minonties {6} 1) {6)
Net {loss) on exceptional items - (160) {61)

The financial information for 2004, 2003 and 2002 has been extracted from the 2004 Annual Report and Accounts The classification of
operations between continuing and discontinued has not been restated for disposals occurrng in 2005 or 2008

5 Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share - pence per share

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
million mifon milion mdlion MEBGN
Average Ordinary Share
Weighted average Ordinary Shares 1 1ssue dunng the year 1193 1,192 1,191 1,191 1,123
Waeighted average shares held by Group’s employee share ownership plan (4) {7) 8) 9) )
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in 1ssua dunng the year 1,189 1,185 1183 1,182 1,114
Ditutive effect of share options 15 3 1 - 2
Diluted weighted average Crdinary Shares 1,204 1,188 1,184 1,182 1,118

Basic earnings per £1 Ordinary Share and diluted earrungs per £1 Ordinary Share for & perlod are calculated by diveding the appropriate value
{continuing discontinued or total) of net profit (loss) for the financial year (see tables on pages 145 and 146) by, respectively, basic weighted
average Ordinary Shares inissue during the peried or diluted weighted average Ordinary Shares i 1ssue during the period
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5 Earnings per £1 Ordinary Share - pence per share (continued}

Basic earmings per £1 Ordinary Share - IFRS

2006 2005 2004
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent £m 295 390 474
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in issue million 1,189 1,185 1,183
Basic earnings per £1 Ordinary Share penca 249 329 401
Basic earnings per £1 Ordinary Share - UK GAAP

2004 2002 2002
Net profit attributable to equsty holders of the parent £m 210 20 179
Basic weighted average Qrdinary Shares n issue miltion 1,183 1,182 1,114
Baswx earnings per £1 Ordinary Share pence 178 17 161
Adjusted earmings per £1 Ordinary Share - IFRS

2006 2005 2004
Earnings £m 295 390 474
Special tems after tax and minorities £m a0 (69) (168)
Adjusted earnings £m 375 3 306
Basic weighted average Ordinary Shares in 1ssue million 1,189 1185 1183
Basic adjusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Shara pence 316 271 258
Diluted weighted average Ordinary Shares n 1ssue millien 1,204 1,188 1,184
Diluted adjpusted earnings per £1 Ordinary Share pence N2 270 258

Adjusted earnings per share has been calculated, since special items can have a distoriing effect on the trend of underlying earnings

Adjusted earmings per £1 Ordinary Share - UK GAAP

2004 2003 2002
Net profit {loss) for the financial year em 210 20 179
Exceptional terns (after tax and minonities) and goodwill amortisation £m 49 199 85
Net profit befare exceptional tems and goodwall amoriisation £m 259 219 264
Basic weighted average Qrdinary Shares n 1ssus million 1,183 1,182 1,114
Basic earnngs per £1 Ordinary Share before exceptional items

and goodhwill amaortsaton penca 219 185 237
Dxuted weighted average Crdinary Shares in 1ssue milllon 1184 1,182 1,116
Drluted earnings per ©1 Ordinary Share before exceptional tems

and goodwill amortisation pence 219 185 237
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' Shareholder Information

Shareholder information

Trading market for Ordinary Shares
The authorised share capital of the Company compnises 1,400 000,000 Ordwnary Shares of £1 each At the close of busingss on 31 December
2006, 1,192 801,567 Ordinary Shares were in 1ssue At the close of business on 19 February 2007, 1,194,718,655 Ordinary Shares were in 1ssue

The principal trading market for the Company’s Ordinary Shares 1s the London Stock Exchange ADSs (each representing four Ordinary
Shares) evidenced by ADRs 1ssued by Citibank as depositary, are isted on the New York Stock Exchange

Inthe_
Tetat USA

Number of record holders of

Ordinary Shares as at 19 February 2007 118,141 686

ADSs as at 19 February 2007 1,985 1,934

As of 19 February 2007 the proportion of Ordinary Shares represented by ADSs was 4 50% of the Ordinary Shares i issue

The following table shows far the years and months ndicated, the reported high and low middle market values for the Company’s Crdinary
Shares on the London Stock Exchange and the reported high and low sale prices of ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange

£1 Ordinary Shares ADSs
Year/month Year/month Year/month Year/month
high low high low
€ € uss uss$
Year
2002 430 203 1990 12 85
2003 238 080 1543 582
2004 247 193 18 60 1365
2005
First quarter 283 231 21 61 17 31
Sacond quarter 278 244 20 95 18 01
Third quarter 308 254 22 33 i7 89
Fourth quarter 336 278 2374 1973
Year 336 231 2374 17 31
20086
First quarter 367 330 2610 22 83
Second quarter 399 337 2079 24 24
Third quarter 398 346 3023 2534
Fourth quarter 4 52 381 3523 29 29
Year 452 330 3523 2288
2006
Juty 375 346 2770 2534
August 377 355 28 34 26 89
Septernber 398 366 3023 27 65
October 406 387 3118 29 46
November 4 35 381 3315 29 29
December 4 52 415 3523 32 87
2007
January 479 451 3809 3528
February (through 10 18 February 2007) 478 463 37 68 36 44

The share price on 19 February 2007 was £4 74, the ADR prica was US$37 05

On 4 Fabruary 2002 ICl announced a seven for eleven Rights Issue Dealings in nil pard Ordinary Share rights and ADS rights began on
26 February 2002

Defaults, diidend arrearages and delinquencies

{a) Thera has been no matarial default in the payment of principal, interest, a sinking or purchase fund instalment, or any other matenal
default with respect to any indebtedness for or in respect of monies borrowed or raised by whatever means of the Company or any
of its significant subsidianes

{b) There have been no arrears in the payment of dividends on and no material delinquency with respect to any class of preferred stock
of any significant subsidhary of the Company
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Analyses of shareholdings
The following tables analyse the holdings of Ordinary Shares at the end of 2006

By size of account Number By category
of Ordinary Number
shargholders of shares

Size of holding accounts {millions) % %
1-250 51,166 6 - UK .
251-500 25 523 9 ] Pension funds 15
501-1,000 21,645 16 1 Life assurance 13
1,001-5,000 18,782 36 3 Mutual funds 25
5,001-10,000 982 7 1 Indmiduals 12
10,001-50,000 541 11 1 Others 5
50 001-1,000,000 516 143 12 70
Over 1,000,000 174 964 a1 Overseas 30
All holdings 119,329 1,182 1G0 00
In addition to the number of registered shareholders shown, there are approxinately 8,300 holders of ADRs The ADRs, each of which
evidences one ADS, which represents four £1 Ordinary Shares, are 1ssued by Citibank Shareholder Services
Control of Company
{a) So far as the Company 1s aware, it s neither directly nor indirectly owned or controlled by one or mare corporations
{b) () Set out below is infarmation regarding Interests in the Company's £1 Ordinary Shares
Idertity of Group As at 10 February 2005 As a1t 13 Febiruary 2006 As at 19 February 2007

Amount Amount Amounm

owned owned owned
{nurmnber Percent {number Parcent {number Percent
of shares) of class of shares} of class of shares) of class

millions % millions % mitlions %
Legal & General Investment Management 446 374 481 403 716 599
Capital International Limited 463 3 89 729 611 714 598
Barclays Bank PLC 101 4 8 51 1189 6 10 03 713 598
Citibank Sharehclder Serwces® 1017 853 628 527 538 450
Standard Ufe Investments Ltd 554 4 64 3g 2 321 A7 4 397
Dodge & Cox Investment Managers n/a n/a n/a n/a 4086 340
Morley Fund Management Ltd 361 303 47 9 402 n/a nfa
Brandes Investment Partners LLC 94 3 791 n/a n/a n/a n/a

* Thig Interest relates to ADRs Issued by Citibank Shareholder Services, when acting as Depositary, ADRs evidence ADSs

No other person held an interest in shares, compnsing 3% or more of the 1ssued Ordinary Share Capital of the Company

The voting nghts of the major shareholders, listad in the table above, do not ditfer from those of any other shareholder of the Company's
Qrdinary Shares

(n) As of 19 February 2007 the total amount of the Company's voting securities owned by Diractors and Officers of ICl, as a group was

Title of class

Amourt
owned Percent
(numbar of of class
shares) Y
Qrdinary Shares 1,030,894 0086

() During the period from 31 December 2006 to 19 February 2007 there were ne changes In the beneficial or non-beneficial interests of
the Directors in the Ordinary Share Capital of the Company other than the vesting of Performance Growth Plan (PGP) shares and the
employee benefit trust

{c) The Company does not know of any arrangemenis the operation of which might result in a change in control of the Company

Exchange controls and other imitations affecting secunty holders

(a) There are no governmental laws, decrees or regulations i the UK restricting the import or export of capital or affecting tha remittance of
dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of the Company's Ordinary Shares or ADSs However, a 1 5% stamp duty
reserve tax 1s payable upon the deposit of ICI Ordinary Shares in connection with the creation of, but not subsequent dealing in, ADRs
This 15 10 lieu of the normal 0 5% stamp duty on all purchases of Ordinary Shares

{b) There are no hmitations under Enghsh Law or the Company's Memorandum and Articles of Association on the night of non-resident or
toreign owners to be the registered holders of and to vote Ordinary Shares of the Company
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Shareholder information contnues

Taxation

The following discussion 15 ntended as a general guide only
Sharehalders who are in any doubt with regard to tax matters, or
wha are residant in countrias other than the USA should consult
therr own tax adwvesers

Taxation of US resident shareholders

Tha following summary of the principal UK and certatn tederal US
tax consequences of ownershep of Ordinary Shares or ADSs, held
as capttal assets by US resident shareholders 1s based on current
UK and US federal tax law and practice as well as the current
Double Taxation (fncome) Convention {"the Convention™) between
the UK and the USA which came into force on 31 March 2003

The following summary is also based in part on representations by
JPMargan Chase Bank as Depositary for the ADSs and assumes
that each oblgation in the deposit agreement amang the Company
the Depositary and the holders of ADSs and any related agreement
will be performed in accordance with its terms The US Treasury has
expressed concerns that parties to whom ADRs are pre-released
may be taking actions that are inconsisient with the claming by

US holders of ADRs of foreign tax credits for US federal income tax
purposes Such actions would also ba inconststent with the claiming
of the reduced tax rate, described below, zpplicable to dvidends
recewed by certain non-corporate US resident shareholders
Accordingly, the avallability of the reduced tax rate for dvidends
recewvead by certain non-corporate US restdent sharehalders could
be affected by actions that may be taken by parties 1o whom ADRs
are pre-released

Taxation of dividends paid to US resident shareholders
The UK does not currently impose a withholding tax on dividends
paid by a UK company such as the Company

Distnbutions paid by the Company to a US resident shareholder

will be treated for US federal income tax purposes as foreign source
ordinary dividend income to the extent of the Company's current

or accumulated earrmings and profits for US federal income tax
purposes The amount of the dvidend will be the US doltar value

of the pounds Sterhng received on the date the dividend 1s recenved
by the Depository for US residant shareholders of ADSs (or In the
case of Ordinary Shares, received by the US resident shareholder),
regardless of whether or not the divdend 1s converted into US
dollars No deduction for dividends recewved 1s allowed for corporate
US resident shareholders with respect to dwidends paid by the
Company W the dwidend 15 converted into US dollars on the date

of receipt, you generally should not be required to recognise foreign
currency gain or loss in respect of the dnadend income You may
have foreign currency gan or loss f the amount of such dmidend

15 not converted nto US dollars on the date of its receipt

Subject to applicable Imitations that may vary depending upon a US
resident shareholder's individual circumstances and the discussion
above regarding concerns exprassed by the US Treasury, dividends
paid to non-corporate US resident shareholders in taxable years
beginning before 1 January 2011 will be taxable at a maximum tax
rate of 15% Non-gorporate US resident shareholders should consult
their own tax advisers to determine whether they are subject to any
specsal rules that hmit their abihly to be taxed at this favourable rate

Taxation of capital gains for US restdent shareholders

Under the Canvention, each contracting state may in general,

tax capital gamns in accordance with the provisions of its domestic
law Under present UK law, individuals who are nesther resident nor
ordinanly resident in the UK, and companies whrch are not resident in
the UK, generally will not be llable (o UK tax on capital gains mace on
the disposal of thetr Ordinary Shares or ADSs, unless such Qrdinary
Shares or ADSs are held in connection with a trade, profession or
vocation carried on 1n the UK through a branch or agency

A US resident shareholder will recognise capital gain or joss for US
federal Income tax purpoeses on the sale or exchange of the Ordinary
Shares or ADSs in the same manner as on the sale or exchange of
any other shares held as capital assels Any gain or loss will generaily
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be US source capitat gain or loss, which will be long-term if the
Ordinary Shares or ADSs were held for longer than one year

UK inherrtance tax

Under the current Bouble Taxation (Estates} Convention (the Estate
Tax Convenlion) between the USA and the UK, Crdinary Shares

or ADSs held by an individual shareholder who 15 domiciled for the
purposes of the Estate Tax Convention in the USA, and is not for
the purposes of the Estate Tax Convention a national of the UK,

nor resident in the UK for seven out of the last ten tax years, will
generally not be subject to the UK inheritance tax on the individual's
death nor on a chargeable gift of the Ordinary Shares ar ADSs during
the individual s lifetime prowvided that any applicable US federal gift
or eslate tax lability 1s paid, unless the Ordinary Shares or ADSs are
part of the business property of a permanent establishment of the
indwvidual in the UK or, in the case of a shareholder who performs
independent personal services, periain o a fixed base situated in
the UK Where the Ordinary Shares or ADSs have been placed in
trust by a settlor who at the time of settlement, was a US resident
shareholder, the Ordinary Shares or ADSs will generally not be
subject to UK inherntance tax unless the settlor, at the time of
settlement was not domiciled in the USA or was a UK national

In the exceptional case where the Ordinary Shares or ADSs are
subject both to UK inhentance tax and to US federal gift or estate
tax, the Estate Tax Convention generally provides for double taxation
10 be relieved by means of credit relief

Stamp Dutly

In practice, no UK stamp duty 1s payable on any 1ssue or transfer
of ADSs prowided that the nstrument of transfer 1s executed and
remains at all imes outstde the UK In practice, no stamp duty
reserve tax (s payable on an agreement {o transfer ADSs

Capital gamns tax information for UK shareholders

In certain circumstances, when a shareholder in the UK sells shares,
hability to tax in respect of capital gains 1s computed by reference to
the market value of the shares on 31 March 1982 The market value
of ICI Ordinary Shares at 31 March 1982, for the purposes of capital
gans tax, was 308p

iCl demerged 1ts bioscience business to Zeneca Group PLC on
1 June 1993 Post-demerger ICI shares inhented a base cost for
capital gains equivalent to 0 50239 of ther pre-demerger base cost

For the purposes of UK taxation of capital gains {CGT), the 1ssue
of new IC! shares in the 2002 rnights issue was regarded as a
reorgarmsation of the share capital of ICI New shares acquired by
taking up an entittement under the nghts 1ssue were treated as the
same asset as, and having been acquired at tha same time as and
at the same aggregate cost as, the prior helding of IC! shares The
subscription money for the new shares was added 1o the base cost
of the existing halding (In the case of shareholders within the charge
to corporation tax, indexation allowance apples to the amount paid
for the new shares only from the date the amount was paid or liable
to be paid }

Incorporation of the Company

Impenal Chemical Industnes PLC was originally incorporated in the
UK and registered in England, under the Companies Acts, 1808 to
1917 on 7 December 1926 as a Iimited company It was re-registered
under the Companies Acts, 1948 to 1980 as a public imited
caompany on 3¢ June 1981

Memorandum and Articles of Association

A summary of certain provisions of the Company's Memorandum

and Articles of Association was provided in the Company's Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2008, filed
with the SEC

Reagistered Office

20 Manchester Square

London W1l 3AN

Telephone +44(0}20 7008 5000
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Annual Report on Form 20-F 2006

The informatign in this report comprises the Annual Report and
Accounts of the Company in accordance with UK requirements,
certain portions of which will be included in the Annual Report
on Form 20-F that will be filted with the SEC for the yvear ended
31 December 2006 Unless specifically otherwise indicated thus
report has been prepared as at 22 February 2007, the date on
which the Dirgctors presented therr Annual Repert and Accounts
and ¢n which the independent auditors 1ssued their opinion In
comphance with UK requirements

When the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December
2006 15 filed with the SEC certa:n information contained in this
report may be updated or supplemented

Quarterly results
Unaudited trading results of the ICI Group for 2007 are expected
to be announced as follows

First quarter 3 May 2007
Half year 2 August 2007
Nine months 1 November 2007
Futl year 7 February 2008

Dividend payments

A second interim dwidend for the year 20086, which the Annual
Genaral Meeting will be asked to confirm, 1s payable on 13 Apnl
2007 10 holders of Ordinary Shares registered in the books of the
Company cn 2 March 2007 Dmdends are normally pard as follows

First intenm announcged with the half vear results and paid

In earty October, and

Second interm  announced with the full year results and paid

i mid to late Apnl

Registrar and Transfer Office
Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway

Worthing

West Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephone 0870 600 3993

Dividend mandate

Any shareholder wishing dividends to be paid directly into a barnk or
building society account should contact the Registrar for a dividend
mandate form Dwidends paid in this way will be pad through the
Bankers Automated Clearing System (BACS)

Company Website
ICI's corporate website, www 1c1 com, provides financial and other
usefulinformation about IC1 mcluding

» the latest news about the Company together with information on
1ts strategy, technclogy, the markets in which 1t operates and its
leadership team

* an archive of past financial announcements presentations and
financial statements,

+ details of the Company's commitment to corporate governance,

* documentation mailed to shareholders, such as the Notige of
Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report,

+ important information for investors, such as dividend payment
dates, current and historic share pnce data, AGM volng results
and details of services and facilities available to shareholders, and

» sustainability programmes and performance information

Shareholders can register via the ICl website to receive an autornatic
notification when any press releases are made by the Company

An e-matl facility 15 also provided to enable shareheolders to contact
the Company

Wwww ICI Com

Electromic Communications

Shareholders may now recewve the Annual Report and Accounts and
the Annual Review electronically There are a number of advantages
i opting to recewe shareholder documentation in electronic form
nclueding faster delivery of documents documents may be read
and downloaded at the shareholder’s convenience confirmation

of transmisston of proxy forms improved security procedures for -
verifying proxy forms, potential cost savings for the Company, and
the saving ef environmental resources To register for electronic
communicattons, shareholders should visit ICI's corporate website
{www 1c1 comy)

Share dealing service

The Company has arranged a shara dealing service through The
Share Centre Limited, a member of the London Stock Exchange,
under which existing and new UK resident shareholders may buy
or sell ICl shares Further information may be obtained from

The Share Centre Limited
PC Box 2000

Aylesbury

Buckinghamshire HP21 BZB
Telephone 01296 414 144

The publication of the Infermation above 10 relation to the share
dealing service has been approved for the purposes of Section 21

of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 by The Share Centre
Limited, which 1s a member of the London Stock Exchange and Is
authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authorty under
reference 146768

ADR Depositary
Citipank Shareholder Services ts Depositary for ICI's Amernican
Depositary Receipts Shargholder enquiries may be directed to

Citibank Shareholder Services

PO Box 43077

Providence, Rl 02840-3077

USA

US calls (tolt free number) 1-877-CITI-ADR (1-877-248-4237)
Non US calls 1-781-575-4555

E-mail enquiries to citibank@shareholders-onling com

Documents on display - Securihes and Exchange

Commission (SEC)

IC1 frles annual, semi-annual and special reporis and other
information with the SEC Any document that [CI files may be read
and copied at the SEC’s public reference room at Headquarters
Office, 100 F Street, N E, Room 1580, Washington, D C 205489,
USA Please call the SEC at +1-800-732-0330 for further information
or view reports filed since 4 November 2002 onting at www sec gov

The ADSs representing ICl's Ordinary Shares are listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE} and ICI's Ordinary Shares are listed
on the Official List of the Financial Services Authority and traded on
the Londen Stock Exchange Reports and other information about
the Group that ICl has filed pursuant to the rules of the NYSE, the
Fimancial Services Authority and the London Stock Exchange are
availlable via those bodies

A copy of each report filed within the preceding 12 months can
also be inspected by any shareholder or ADR holder during normal
business hours at the offices of the Company at 20 Manchester
Square, London, W1U 3AN

I Sharehelder information
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Shareholder information continued

Exchange rates

The following table sets forth, for the years, months and dates
indicated, the noen buying rate in New York City for cable transfers
in pounds Sterling as certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York far customs purposes {the “noon buying rate”)

Average
Highest Lowast rate At
rate rate dunng Year

uUS$ to pound Sterling (T (1) during dunng perod and
Year pertod period 4% {2}
2002 161 K 180 161
2003 178 155 164 178
2004 185 177 184 192
2005 183 171 181 172
2006 198 173 186 196
2006
August 191 187
September 191 186
Cctaber 191 185
Novermber 197 189
December 188 195
2007
January 198 193
February (as of 19 February) 197 194
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The noon buying rate on 19 February 2007 was $1 85 = £1

(1) All igures have been taken directly or denved from figures
released through the Public Information Office of the Federal
Reserve in Washington, D C or New York City

{2) The noon buying rate cn such dates differed from the rates
used in preparation of the Group's financial statements as of
such dates

(3} The average 1s the average of the noon buying rate on the ast
day of each month during the period indicated

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the pound Sterling and

the US dollar will affect the US dollar equivalent of the pound Sterling
prices of the Ordinary Shares of Imperial Chemical Indusiries FLC on
the London Stock Exchange and, as a result, will affect the market
prices of ADSs on the NYSE Cash dwidends, if any, will be paid by
the Company In respect of Ordinary Shares in pounds Sterling, and
exchange rate fluctuations will affect the US dollar amounts receved
by holders of ADSs en conversion by the Depositary of such dnadends

A substantial proportion of the Group's assets, habtlities, revenues
and expenses are dencmnated in currencies other than pounds
Sterling Accordingly, fluctuations in the value of the pound Sterling
relative to other currencies can have a significant effect on the
translation into Sterling of non-Sterling assets, habitities, revenues
and expenses (see relevant sections of the financial review section of
the Business review, on pages 30 to 31}
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report and Accounts contains statements
concerning the Group's business, financial condition, results

of operations and certan of the Group's plans, objectives,
assumptions, projections, expectations or beliefs with respect to
these items These statements are intended as forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the US Private Securities
Littgations Reform Act of 1995 These statements include,
without hmitation, those concerning

+ strategies and the Group's ability to achieve them

* the benefits of the restructuring praogrammes in the
Group's businesses,

= the Group's net debt,

+ the Group's credit rating,

* expectations regarding sales, operating profit and growth,
+ plans for the launch of new products and services,

+ the impact of regulatory inihiatives on operations and costs,
* the Group's possible or assumed future results of cperations,
+ capital expenditure and investment plans,

+ adequacy of capital and hiquidity,

+ financing plans,

+ the Group’s retirement benefit schemes,

+ the outcome of claims and hihgation, and

+ statements preceded by, followed by, or that included
tha words "beleve”, "expect”, “intend”, "will”, “plan”,
", “seeks”, or similar expressions

“anticipate”, “goal”, “aim”,

The Company cautions that any ferward-looking statements in
this Annual Report and Accounts may, and often do, vary from
actual results and the differences between these statements
and actual results can be material Accordingly, readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which speak only at their respective dates

The Company undertakes no obligation to release publicly the
results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements that
may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
this Annual Report and Accounts, including, without imitation,
changes in the Group's business or acquisition or divestment
strategy or planned caprtal expenditures, or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events
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By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and
uncertainty because they relate te events and depend on
circumstances that will occurin the future There are a number
of factors that could cause actual results and developments

to differ matertally from those expressed or imphed by these
forward-tooking statements These factors include, among
other things -

+ the impact of competitive products and pncing,
+ changes in the prices of raw materals,

+ the occurrence of major operational problerns,
* rnisks associated with significant projects,

* the loss of key personnel,

s the loss of major customers,

+ reliance on key suppliers,

+ hmitations imposed by the Group's indebtednass
and leverage,

« acredit rating downgrade by the rating agencies,

+ contingent habiliies, including those arising in connection
with disposed businesses,

+ risks associated with the Group's international operations,

* gconomic, social and political conditions in developing
countries,

+ risks of claims and litigation,

+ wviolations of environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations,

* risks associated with corporate governance compliance,

+ financial performance of the Group's retirement benefit
schemes, and

+ other factors described in the Company's filings with the
US Secunities and Exchange Commission

You should read “Risk Factors”" on pages 33 to 35 for more
information regarding factors that could cause actual results
and developments to differ from those expressed or implied
by the forward-looking statements tn this document

Forward-locking statements
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Definitions

In this document the following words and expressions shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted net profit

Adjusted profit before taxation

Adjusted tax rate

ADR
ADS

As reported performance

bn

Cash flow before acquisitions

and divestments®
Company

Comparable”
Continuing cperatians
Deposiary

Dervative

Directors

Earnings before interest,

tax, depreciation and
amortisation [EBITDA)*

Earnings per share

ESOP

Fawr value

Financial instrument

Gross margin®

Hedging

IAS/IASE
IC1 ICH Group or the Group

IFRIC
IFRS

Interest cover”

156 |C1 Annual Report and Accounts 2006

Net prafit before special items attributable to the equity holders of the parent divided by weighted average
number of shares in 1ssue (fess weighted average number of shares held by the Group’s employee share
plans) during the perniod

Net profit before special items attributable to equity holders of the parent
Profit of continuing operations before taxation and special items

Taxation on continuing operations {excluding taxation on special items) divided by adjusted profit
before taxation

Amencan Depositary Receipt evidencing title to an ADS
Amerncan Depositary Share representing four underlying Ordinary Shares of the Company

Performance including the effects of currency translation differences and the impact of acquisitions
and divestments

bilon — 1,000 rmullion

Cash flow from operating activities after capital expenditure and proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment less payments made n respect of disposals prior to 2004

Impertal Chemical industries PLC

Results excluding the effects of currency translation differences and the impact of acquisittons and
divestments At a Group level this refers to continuing operations only Comparable profits and loses
are quoted before accounting for special nems

ICI's continuing cperations comprise the Paints, Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers,
Electronic Materials and Regional and Industrial businesses, Corporate and other

Citibank Shareholder Services, as depositary under the deposit agreement pursuant 1o which the
ADRs are 1ssued

A financia! itnstrument whose value changes in response to a change in a specified underlying
for which there 1s little or no inibial net investmant, and that i1s settled at a future date

The Directors of Impenial Chemical Industries PLC

Profit befors interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation of Intang:bles and before special iterns

Net profit after special items atiributable to the equity holders of the parent, dvided by the weighted
average number of shares in 1ssue (tess the weighted average number of shares held by the Group's
employee share plans} during the period

Employee share ownerstup plans, of which the principal plans are the 2004 Executive Share Optien Plan,
the 1994 Senior Staff Share Option Scheme, the 1994 Stock Apprecration Rights Plan, the Periormance
Growth Plan and the Perfermance Share Plan

The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a hability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties In an arm's length transaction

Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial hability or equity instrument
of another entity

Sales valua less the variable and fixed costs directly associated with the manufacture and distribution of
the goods sold

A strategy used in risk management whereby an entity seeks to reduce or eltminate financial risks by
entening nto transactions that give an ofisetting nsk profilte This may or may not allow an entity to use
hedge accounting, whereby special accounting rules may be used i specific hedge effectiveness and
other critena are met

International Accounting Standard/International Accounting Standards Board

Imperal Chemical Industries PLC and s subsidiary compar:es (its consolidated subsidianies and 1ts
propertionally consolidated joint ventures but not 11s associates)

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
International Finangial Reperting Standard(s)

Calcutations of interest cover are based on the sum of the Group's operating profit before special tems,
from continuing and discontinued operations, post-retrement benefit finance charges, the Group's share
of net associated company income {associates’ trading profit less taxation and net finance expense of
assoctates) dvided by the net of interest expense and incoms of the Group {excluding share of net finance
expense of assoclates and post-retirement benefit finance expense)

Www ICI cem




The London Stock Exchange
m

Net debt

NYSE
Ordinary Shares
pound Sterling, £, pence or p

Reporting segments

Return on capital employed
(RGCE)

Revenue
SEC
SFAS

Special items

Trading margin®

Tracing profit

UK or United Kingdom

US dollar, dollar US$ or $
USA or US or United States
Us GAAP

* Management believes these measures are important financial indicators However, they should not be considered inisolation, or as an alternative to
operating profit or net profit or cash flow from operating activities in each case, detarmined in accordance with IFRS

www ic1 com

London Stock Exchange plc
million

The beorrowings of ICI — comprising loans and short-term borrowings other than overdrafts together

with retated derivatives, obligations under finance leases and the habilities associated with the forward
contracts for the acquisition of own shares {tc the extent that the contracts are “out of the money™} —
less cash (iIncluding overdrafis) cash equivalents and current asset investments -

New Yerk Stock Exchange
Ordinary shares of £1 each in the capital of imperial Chemical Indusiries PLC
Refers 1o urits of UK currency

The Reporting segments comprise the Group's Paints, Adhesives, Specialty Starches, Specialty Polymers
Electronic Materials and Regional and Industrial businesses

Trading profit after amortisation of intangibles, before special tems, after restructuring amortisation®
and after a tax charge! for the last twelve months divided by the average of capital empioyed for this
current penod end and that of the twelve months previously, expressed as a percentage

Notes

)

Cash expenditure on restructuring 1s capitalised in each year that expenditure occurs and 1s then
amortised over three years starting on 1 January following the year of the expenditure

T Atax charge 1s applied to the trading profit (before amortisation of ntangibles and after restructuring
amortisation} in view of the potential volatility in the Group's adjusted tax rate, a rate of 20% has been
used In 2006 (2005 21%)

Capital employed Net operating assets plus net operating special tems

Net operating assets Praperty plant and equipment plus geedwill cn acquisitions? pius operating
working capital

2 Goodwill on acquisitions relates to goodwill capitalised on the balance sheet and, therefore, excludes
goodwilf arising prior to 31 December 1997 (largely that arising on the acquisition of the Unslever
Speciality Chemical businesses) which has been charged directly to reserves

Net operating speciai items For financial ratio calculation purpeses only this i1s defined as

Asset write downs arising on restructurng plus cash cost of restructuring before tax and after
amortisation for finangial ratio purpeses only, cash expenditure 1s capitalised in each year that
expenditure occurs and Is then amortsed over three years starting on 1 January following the
year of expendiure

IFRS equivalent of salas and turnover
The United States Secunties and Exchange Commuission
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (US)

Special items are those items of financial performance that should be separately disclosed to assist in
the understanding of the financial performance achieved by the Group and in making projectiens of future
results, as explained In 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Special items include items relating

to both continuing and discontinued businesses (see also Group Accounting Policies, page 61}

Trading proiit, expressed as a percentage of sales

Operating profit before speciai items At a Group feve! this refers te continuing cperations only
United Kingdem of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Refers to units of US currency

United States of America

United States generally accepted accounting principles

| Definitions
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This report 1s the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2006

A summary report for the year, the Annual Rewview 2006 1s produced
as a separate document and 1s issued to shareholders unless they
have elected to recerve the full Annual Report and Accounts The
Annual Review includes a statement from the Chairman and the Chief
Executive, a summary review of actiites, Summary Remuneration
Report and Summary Financial Statements

As noted on pages 43 and 153, shareholders may elect to receve
the Annual Report and Accounts and the Annual Review in electronic
form by registering on ICI's corporate website (www ici com)

Words within single quotation marks within the text of thus document
Ablestik Acheson Alabastine, Alba Alco, Applesense Berrysense,
Bic-Captive Citrusense, Coral, Cuprinol, Cuprinel Sprayable

Devoe, Dulux, EASY-PAC, Elotex Emerson and Cuming, Glidden,
Hammente, Hi-marze ImpaQ Taste Technology, Light & Space,
l.umiTeg, National Starch, Neutrozone, Polycell, Polycell Smoothover,
Polyfilta, Gsense, Quest, Quisine, Valentine, Weathershield
Easyspray, Weathershield Max and Xyladecor, as well as the letters
1Cl and the Roundel Device, are trademarks of the ICI Group

Other named products appearng within ttus document that are
non-ICl trademarks are Dolce&Gabbana's The One, Elizabeth
Arden’s Hilary Duff, Lacoste’s Inspiration, Donna Karan and
Hugo Boss, Paludrine, Perspex and Reguette Fréres' NUTRIOSE

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc,

8 Salisbury Square,
L.ondon EC4Y 8BB

ICI Registered Office

20 Manchester Square,

London W1U 3AN

Telephone +44(0)2C 7009 5000
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